ADVANCES IN APPLIED MICROBIOLOGY VOLUME 69



Advances in APPLIED MICROBIOLOGY



Advances in **APPLIED MICROBIOLOGY**



Edited by

ALLEN I. LASKIN Somerset, New Jersey, USA

SIMA SARIASLANI Wilmington, Delaware, USA

GEOFFREY M. GADD *Dundee, Scotland, UK*



AMSTERDAM • BOSTON • HEIDELBERG • LONDON NEW YORK • OXFORD • PARIS • SAN DIEGO SAN FRANCISCO • SINGAPORE • SYDNEY • TOKYO Academic Press is an imprint of Elsevier



Academic Press is an imprint of Elsevier 525 B Street, Suite 1900, San Diego, CA 92101-4495, USA 30 Corporate Drive, Suite 400, Burlington, MA 01803, USA 32, Jamestown Road, London NW1 7BY, UK

First edition 2009

Copyright © 2009 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved

No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise without the prior written permission of the publisher

Permissions may be sought directly from Elsevier's Science & Technology Rights Department in Oxford, UK: phone (+44) (0) 1865 843830; fax (+44) (0) 1865 853333; email: permissions@elsevier.com. Alternatively you can submit your request online by visiting the Elsevier web site at http://elsevier.com/locate/permissions, and selecting *Obtaining permission to use Elsevier material*

Notice

No responsibility is assumed by the publisher for any injury and/or damage to persons or property as a matter of products liability, negligence or otherwise, or from any use or operation of any methods, products, instructions or ideas contained in the material herein. Because of rapid advances in the medical sciences, in particular, independent verification of diagnoses and drug dosages should be made

ISBN: 978-0-12-374824-9 ISSN: 0065-2164

For information on all Academic Press publications visit our website at www.elsevierdirect.com

Printed and bound in the USA 09 10 10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1

Working together to grow libraries in developing countries

www.elsevier.com | www.bookaid.org | www.sabre.org

ELSEVIER BOOK AID Sabre Foundation

CONTENTS

Contributors		ix
1.	Variation in Form and Function: The Helix-Turn-Helix Regulators of the GntR Superfamily	
	Paul A. Hoskisson and Sébastien Rigali	
	 Introduction Helix-Turn-Helix DNA-Binding Proteins GntR Regulators Distribution of GntR Regulators Distribution of GntR Regulators Structure and Classification of GntR Regulators DNA Binding, Operator Sequences and Regulation Evolution of GntR Regulators OntR Regulators in Primary Metabolism GntR Regulators in Virulence GntR Regulators in <i>Streptomyces</i> Development and Antibiotic Production Biotechnology Implications Concluding Remarks Acknowledgments References 	2 2 3 4 6 11 13 15 15 15 16 17 18 18
2.	Biogenesis of the Cell Wall and Other Glycoconjugates of Mycobacterium tuberculosis Devinder Kaur, Marcelo E. Guerin, Henrieta Škovierová,	
	Patrick J. Brennan, and Mary Jackson	
	1. Introduction 11. The Mycobacterial Cell Envelope 111. The Capsular Polysaccharides 114. The Non-Covalently Bound Glycocopiumates of the	24 26 28
	Outer Membrane A. Phosphatidylinositol mannosides, lipomannan and lipoarabinomannan B. Acyltrehaloses	34 34 44
	C. <i>p</i> -Hydroxybenzoic acid derivatives and phenolic glycolipids	47

D. Mannosyl-β-1-phosphomycoketides	48
E. Glycoproteins	49
V. The Glycoconjugate Polymers of the Cell Wall Core	50
A. Arabinogalactan	50
B. Peptidoglycan	54
VI. Cytosolic Glycoconjugates	58
A. Polymethylated polysaccharides	58
B. Glycogen	60
C. Mycothiol	61
VII. Conclusions and Future Prospects	
Acknowledgements	
References	

3. Antimicrobial Properties of Hydroxyxanthenes

Joy G. Waite and Ahmed E. Yousef

I. Definitions and Chemical Structures	
II. Synthesis	81
III. Applications	
A. Dyestuffs	83
B. Pesticides	83
C. Medical applications	84
D. Antimicrobials	84
IV. Antimicrobial Mechanism	
A. Photooxidation and antimicrobial properties	85
B. Localization of hydroxyxanthenes in microbial cell	88
C. Relative resistance of microorganisms to hydroxyxanthenes	91
V. Conclusions	
References	

4. In Vitro Biofilm Models: An Overview

Andrew J. McBain

I. Introduction	100
II. Choosing the Experimental System	
A. Pure culture, defined consortium or microcosm?	102
B. Continuous, semi-continuous or batch culture?	103
III. Closed System Biofilm Models	103
A. The agar plate: A simple biofilm model?	103
B. Biofilm models based on multi-well plates: Potential	
for high-throughput analyses	105
IV. Open System Biofilm Models	
A. Suspended substratum reactors	106
B. Rotating reactors for control of shear stress	110

C. The Robbins device and flow cells	110
D. Drip-fed biofilms	112
E. Perfused biofilm fermenters	116
V. Overview and Conclusions	126
References	126

5. Zones of Inhibition? The Transfer of Information Relating to Penicillin in Europe during World War II

Gilbert Shama

I. Introduction	134
II. Early Penicillin Research in Great Britain	134
III. Germany	137
IV. Holland	144
V. France	148
VI. Conclusions	155
Acknowledgements	156
References	156

6. The Genomes of Lager Yeasts

Ursula Bond

I. Introduction	160
II. Classification	160
III. The Lager Yeasts: Saccharomyces pastorianus	162
IV. Lager Yeast Chromosomes: Types	162
V. Genome Sequence Analysis of the Lager Yeast Strain	167
VI. Chromosome Copy Number	168
VII. Consequences of Genome Rearrangements	169
VIII. The Dynamic Genome of Lager Yeasts	170
IX. Gene Expression Patterns of Lager Yeasts	175
X. Expression Compared to Haploid S. cerevisiae	178
XI. Conclusions	178
References	179
Index	183
Contents of Previous Volumes	189

Color Plate Section

CONTRIBUTORS

Ursula Bond

School of Genetics and Microbiology, Trinity College Dublin, Dublin 2, Ireland

Patrick J. Brennan

Department of Microbiology, Immunology and Pathology, Mycobacteria Research Laboratories, Colorado State University, Fort Collins, CO 80523-1682, USA

Marcelo E. Guerin

Department of Microbiology, Immunology and Pathology, Mycobacteria Research Laboratories, Colorado State University, Fort Collins, CO 80523-1682, USA

Paul A. Hoskisson

Strathclyde Institute of Pharmacy and Biological Science, University of Strathclyde, Royal College Building, George Street, Glasgow, United Kingdom.

Mary Jackson

Department of Microbiology, Immunology and Pathology, Mycobacteria Research Laboratories, Colorado State University, Fort Collins, CO 80523-1682, USA

Devinder Kaur

Department of Microbiology, Immunology and Pathology, Mycobacteria Research Laboratories, Colorado State University, Fort Collins, CO 80523-1682, USA

Andrew J. McBain

School of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences, The University of Manchester, Oxford Road, Manchester M13 9PL, United Kingdom

Sébastien Rigali

Centre d'Ingénierie des Protéines, Université de Liège, Institut de Chimie B6, Sart-Tilman, B-4000 Liège, Belgium

Gilbert Shama

Department of Chemical Engineering, Loughborough University, Loughborough, Leicestershire LE11 3TU, United Kingdom

Henrieta Škovierová

Department of Microbiology, Immunology and Pathology, Mycobacteria Research Laboratories, Colorado State University, Fort Collins, CO 80523-1682, USA

Joy G. Waite Department of Food Science and Technology, The Ohio State University, Columbus, OH 43210, USA

Ahmed E. Yousef Department of Food Science and Technology, The Ohio State University, Columbus, OH 43210, USA

CHAPTER

Variation in Form and Function: The Helix-Turn-Helix Regulators of the GntR Superfamily

Paul A. Hoskisson* and Sébastien Rigali[†]

Contents	I. Introduction	2
	II. Helix-Turn-Helix DNA-Binding Proteins	2
	III. GntR Regulators	3
	IV. Distribution of GntR Regulators	4
	V. Structure and Classification of GntR Regulators	6
	VI. DNA Binding, Operator Sequences and Regulation	11
	VII. Evolution of GntR Regulators	13
	VIII. GntR Regulators in Primary Metabolism	15
	IX. GntR Regulators in Virulence	15
	X. GntR Regulators in <i>Streptomyces</i>	
	Development and Antibiotic Production	16
	XI. Biotechnology Implications	17
	XII. Concluding Remarks	18
	Acknowledgments	18
	References	18

Abstract

One of the most abundant and widely distributed groups of Helixturn-helix (HTH) transcription factors is the metabolite-responsive GntR family of regulators (>8500 members in the Pfam database; Jan 2009). These proteins contain a DNA-binding HTH domain at the N terminus of the protein and an effector-binding and/or

Advances in Applied Microbiology, Volume 69 ISSN 0065-2164, DOI: 10.1016/S0065-2164(09)69001-8 © 2009 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

^{*} Strathclyde Institute of Pharmacy and Biological Science, University of Strathclyde, Royal College Building, George Street, Glasgow, United Kingdom

[†] Centre d'Ingénierie des Protéines, Université de Liège, Institut de Chimie B6, Sart-Tilman, B-4000 Liège, Belgium

oligomerisation domain at the C terminus, where upon on binding an effector molecule, a conformational change occurs in the protein which influences the DNA-binding properties of the regulator resulting in repression or activation of transcription. This review summarises what we know about the distribution, structure, function and classification of these regulators and suggests that they may have a future role in biotechnology.

...endless forms most beautiful and most wonderful have been and are being, evolved.

Charles Darwin, 1859

I. INTRODUCTION

As bacteria sense different micro-environments, they modify their gene expression appropriately to enable them to respond to the prevailing conditions. Often the signal sensed within the cell is a metabolic intermediate, and these are sensed by many classes of helix-turn-helix (HTH) transcription factor, through which they modulate gene expression. The effector molecules bound by these proteins are often related catabolic substrates, substrates and/or intermediates of the pathway controlled by the transcription factor.

One of the most abundant groups of HTH bacterial metabolite-responsive transcription factors is the GntR family of regulators (>8500 members in the Pfam database; Jan 2009). These multi-domain transcription factors are widely distributed throughout the bacterial world where they play a fundamental role in modulation of gene expression to respond appropriately to the environment context.

This review aims to bring together and summarise our current thinking on GntR regulators, their structure, function, evolution, and how they may be exploited in biotechnology.

II. HELIX-TURN-HELIX DNA-BINDING PROTEINS

The identification of a tri-helical domain and its critical role in DNA binding within the bacteriophage Lambda proteins, cI and cro and the *lac* operon repressor, LacI, were early advances in the pioneering work of Matthews and co-workers (Ohlendorf *et al.*, 1982, 1983) and Sauer *et al.* (1982). The importance of helix two and helix three of the domain led to the identification of what became known as the HTH motif. The third α -helix is often referred to as the 'recognition' helix, which fits within

the major groove of the DNA mediating the protein–DNA interaction (Aravind *et al.*, 2005). Ohlendorf *et al.* (1983) and Sauer *et al.* (1982) suggested, through extensive sequence analysis and secondary structure analysis, that this domain was present in several DNA-binding bacterial activators and repressors, and they hypothesised that these domains descended from a common ancestor.

Throughout the 1980s and 1990s, extensive sequencing, the emergence of whole genome sequencing and experimental work confirmed the ubiquity and central role this domain played in gene regulation in both prokaryotes and eukaryotes and led to the identification of the HTH motif in all domains of life, suggesting that the HTH domain is one of the most ancient protein folds, although it appears to be most prevalent in prokaryotes (Aravind and Koonin, 1999). The development of specific algorithms for recognition of the HTH motif has become indispensible in genome annotation such as that of Dodd and Egan (1990), enabling rapid identification of HTH-containing proteins.

III. GntR REGULATORS

The HTH-containing GntR family is widely distributed throughout the bacteria where they regulate many diverse biological processes. It was named GntR after the first member identified, the *Bacillus subtilis* repressor of the gluconate operon (Haydon and Guest, 1991; Prosite Family PS50949; Pfam family: PF00392). GntR regulators are often located on the chromosome adjacent to the genes that they control, which in many cases allows insight into the metabolites that they may bind. There are however many examples where this is not the case, and identifying their cognate ligands remains a significant barrier to understanding their function.

In general, these proteins contain a DNA-binding HTH domain at the N terminus of the protein and an effector-binding and/or oligomerisation domain at the C terminus (Fig. 1.1). Upon binding an effector molecule at the C-terminal domain, a conformational change occurs in the protein which influences the DNA-binding properties of the regulator resulting in repression or activation of transcription. The DNA-binding domain is conserved throughout the GntR family yet the regions outside the DNA-binding domain are more variable; however, this is not surprising given the diversity of molecules that they bind, and this feature is used to define the GntR-like sub-families (Rigali *et al.*, 2002). Despite the large number of GntR-like regulators identified there are few examples where their effector molecules are known and the complete regulatory circuitry elucidated. Knowledge of this is of particular importance where GntR-like regulators control genes of unknown biochemical function and can



FIGURE 1.1 Schematic representation of a GntR protein. Indicates the N-terminal helixturn-helix DNA-binding domain and the longer C-terminal effector-binding/oligomerisation domain (E-b/O).

provide information of their cellular function and will enable these processes to be built into modelling frameworks in terms of using systems biology approaches. GntR-like regulators are known to control many fundamental cellular processes such as motility (Jaques and McCarter, 2006), development (Hoskisson *et al.*, 2006), antibiotic production (Hillerich and Westpheling, 2006), antibiotic resistance (Truong-Bolduc and Hooper, 2007), Plasmid transfer (Reuther *et al.*, 2006) and virulence (Casali *et al.*, 2006; Haine *et al.*, 2005). In all these cases the exact ligand regulating gene expression through these proteins is unknown.

There are many cases where GntR-like regulators are not located next to genes that they control (orphan regulators), or without their effectors they are activators of gene expression elsewhere in the genome. One wellstudied example is FadR, the fatty acid metabolism regulator in *Escherichia coli*, where it is known to negatively control 12 genes or operons and activate transcription of at least three genes when a fatty acid precursor is bound (DiRusso *et al.*, 1993; See section VIII).

The identification of the small molecules that bind to these regulators has traditionally been difficult and has mainly relied on gene context and bioinformatics to identify possible effector molecules. This area remains a significant challenge to researchers in this field and urgently requires novel methods to aid identification of effector molecules.

IV. DISTRIBUTION OF GntR REGULATORS

Examination and analysis of GntR regulator distribution throughout completely sequenced genomes demonstrate some interesting trends in terms of their abundance and may give clues to how an organism is distributed in a particular ecological niche or the kind of plasticity it experiences within its natural environment.

There are 8561 GntR regulators in the Pfam database (PfAM family GntR: PF00392: Finn *et al.*, 2008). The bulk of these (8561 sequences) are found in 764 bacterial taxa indicating that this protein fold has been widely adopted as a regulatory mechanism. Examination of taxonomic distribution of these regulators throughout the bacteria demonstrates a wide distribution; however, the predominant phyla (from current

sequences available in Pfam) are the Proteobacteria, Firmicutes and the Actinobacteria (Fig. 1.2). Detailed examination of the distribution within well-characterised species (Fig. 1.3) shows an interesting trend, not only with increasing genome size, but also with ecological niche. The trend suggests that organisms that live in complex, highly variable environments such as soil (e.g. Streptomyces, Burkholderia, Rhizobium) have a larger complement of the metabolite-responsive GntR regulators than obligate intracellular parasites and endosymbionts (e.g. Chlamydia and Buchnera). This trend is reinforced even within genera with Mycobacterium smegmatis having a complement of about 60 GntR regulators (Vindal et al., 2007), where all these have been lost in the obligate intracellular pathogen Mycobacterium leprae during the extensive gene decay observed in this species (Cole et al., 2001). These data indicate that, whilst there is a trend to increase metabolite-responsive regulators in the genome to enable rapid response to changing conditions in complex environments, this is lost when a stable niche is occupied and this requirement ameliorated.

There are twelve GntR regulators known in the Archaea. Two known from Eukaryotes, one from the sea anemone (*Nematostella vectensis*) and one from *Trichomonas vaginalis*; however, the exact functions of these are unknown. The two known GntRs in viruses are both in bacteriophages,



FIGURE 1.2 Distribution of GntR proteins throughout the bacterial Phyla. Please see text in Section IV. Data were taken from the sequences deposited in the Pfam database.



FIGURE 1.3 Distribution of GntR regulators in selected bacterial whole genomes. See text in Section V.

one in the *Streptomyces* phage ϕ C31 and one in an enterophage ϕ p27. Whilst the function of these within the bacteriophages is unknown, it is likely that they have been acquired from host strains.

V. STRUCTURE AND CLASSIFICATION OF GntR REGULATORS

Haydon and Guest (1991) first described the GntR family based on a common sequence at the N terminus of the proteins. They showed that a highly conserved 69-amino acid N-terminal region, containing a predicted HTH motif was conserved (Fig. 1.4). Further analysis of the domain using Pfam has indicated that the HTH domain can be refined to an average of 62.2 amino acids within the GntR domain (Finn *et al.*, 2008). Whilst overall sequence identity in the N-terminal HTH domain is low, the prediction of secondary structure is highly conserved with the three α -helices, characteristic of the HTH domain being apparent (Fig. 1.4). Despite the abundance of GntR sequences in the databases there are few crystal structures available to fully examine structure/function relationships at a detailed level.

Haydon and Guest (1991) also noted that there was extensive variation in the C-terminal domain suggesting heterogeneity in the effector molecules that they bind. Interestingly analysis of all full-length GntR-like sequences in the Pfam database indicates that on average the N-terminal



FIGURE 1.4 Alignment of the HTH domain of GntR regulators. This alignment demonstrates conservation of sequence structure within the HTH domain. Alignment was performed using the Seed alignment from Pfam (Finn *et al.*, 2008) used to generate the GntR family hidden Markov Model; the alignment was performed in ClustalW (Larkin *et al.*, 2007) with the residues coloured using Boxshade (http://www.ch.embnet. org/software/BOX_form.html). Secondary structural predictions were performed using the ProteinPredict webserver (Rost *et al.*, 2004) and were checked against the 3D structure of FadR.

domain accounts for 21.8% of the amino acid sequence, yet homology across the whole protein is around 30% reinforcing the concept of extensive C-terminal heterogeneity.

Despite only limited knowledge of two operator sequences at the time, Haydon and Guest (1991) noted that the recognition sequence for the GntR and HutC regulators was identical at seven of the eleven residues. These observations indicated that there are three interacting components of the GntR regulator: the DNA-binding domain, the so-called effectorbinding and/or oligomerisation domain (E-b/O) and the *cis*-acting operator sequence. Rigali *et al.* (2002) exploited this idea through extensive analysis of the C-terminal domain of 270 GntR sequences, the N-terminal DNA-binding domain and the operator site. This led to the first extensive work on the family after its initial designation by Haydon and Guest (1991) and the formation of four sub-families within the GntR regulators, and subsequent work led to the designation of a further three: the AraR, DevA and PlmA sub-families (Franco et al., 2006; Hoskisson et al., 2006; Lee et al., 2003).

Due to the abundance of sequences in the databases, the sub-division of HTH DNA-binding proteins has become an issue in bioinformatics with regard to informing genome annotators. There are relatively few studies where extensive analysis of a protein and its operators has been attempted to inform on protein function (Brown et al., 2003; Busenlehner et al., 2003; Korner et al., 2003; Maddocks and Oyston, 2008; Molina-Henares et al., 2006; Weickert and Adhya, 1992).

The classification of the GntR sub-families was based on alignment of the C terminus and secondary structural predictions to reveal distinct structural topologies within each sub-family (Rigali et al., 2002). Extensive analysis was verified by comparison of the predicted topology with that of the known crystal structure of FadR (van Aalten et al., 2000a) which added confidence to the findings. Comparison of the predicted secondary structures is shown in Fig. 1.5 and illustrates the diversity and length differences in each sub-family described so far.

The most abundant GntR sub-family is FadR, named after the fatty acid biosynthesis and degradation regulator of the same name. This subfamily accounts for approximately 40% of GntR regulators, with the C terminus averaging 160 amino acids and consisting of six or seven α-helices. The crystal structure of the C-terminal of FadR of Escherichia coli is known (van Aalten et al., 2000a,b, 2001) and served as a validation of the secondary structural predictions of Rigali et al. (2002). FadR is an acyl-CoA-responsive member of the GntR family (van Aalten et al., 2001). The regulator exhibits an unusual protein fold overall. The winged helix-turnhelix (wHTH) is fused to a seven α -helix bundle which has crossover topology, containing a large internal cavity required for binding acyl-CoA (Raman and DiRusso, 1995; van Aalten et al., 2000a,b). One unclear aspect of this study was how an effector-binding domain, located 30 Å from the DNA-binding domain, can affect transcription. van Aalten et al. (2001) elucidated this through showing, that upon binding acyl-CoA, the protein backbone undergoes dramatic conformational shifts, which results in a 7.2-Å movement of the DNA recognition helix preventing DNA binding and subsequent transcriptional repression.

Recently a cluster within the FadR sub-family was identified that appears to have evolved in Gram-positive organisms for citrate utilisation, with the authors inferring that this lineage arose through E-b/O domain replacement in an ancestral protein (Blancato et al., 2008).

The second sub-family is the HutC grouping, which represents a highly diverse family in terms of effector molecules and processes regulated and accounts for around 30% of GntR regulators. The HutC subfamily C terminus consists of α -helices and β -sheets and averages 170



FIGURE 1.5 Structural representation of the C-terminal domains of the GntR sub-families. Secondary structural predictions were performed using the ProteinPredict webserver (Rost *et al.*, 2004) and were checked against the 3D structure of FadR. The α -helices and β -sheets are not to scale and just represent the structural arrangement of these domains.

amino acids in length. Named after the Histidine utilisation operon regulator, members of this family have been shown to regulate processes as diverse as amino acid uptake and plasmid transfer (Allison and Phillips, 1990; Kendell and Cohen, 1988). Three-dimensional crystal structural and analysis of the HutC family member, PhnF from E. coli (the regulator of transport and biodegradation of phosphonates) (Gorelik et al., 2006), confirmed earlier bioinformatic work of Aravind and Anantharaman (2003) that the C-terminal domain had homology to the chorismate lyase fold, comprising a six-stranded antiparallel β -sheet, a two-stranded parallel β -sheet and four short α -helices. There is a large cavity present on the surface of the PhnF C terminus which may represent a putative effector molecule-binding pocket which shows conservation within other HutC family members (Gorelik et al., 2006).

The MocR sub-family is remarkable for the average length of the C terminus being 350 amino acids and the presence of good homology to the class I aminotransferase enzymes. These enzymes act as dimeric proteins to catalyse the transfer of an amino group to an acceptor molecule such as a keto acid (Ko et al., 1999). Interestingly this raises the possibility of the C terminus of MocR-like regulators being catalytic or that homology is linked to the dimerisation of these proteins and may suggest the recruitment of such a domain to facilitate protein-protein interaction (Rigali et al., 2002).

The YtrA sub-family contains the shortest E-b/O domain, which consists of only two α -helices and often appears to be associated with ATPbinding cassette (ABC) transporters. The homology observed between this group is low (Rigali et al., 2002), which may indicate further sub-division of this family may occur. Interestingly the shortened E-b/O in this subfamily, averaging only 50 amino acids, may not be efficient for binding effector molecules, but may still be effective for dimerisation (Rigali et al., 2002; Yoshida et al., 2000). It is interesting to hypothesise that given the shortened C terminus of the YtrA sub-family, the binding of small molecules may impair dimerisation resulting in loss of DNA binding.

The DevA sub-family of GntR regulators has only been found in streptomycetes (Hoskisson et al., 2006). DevA-like proteins are most similar in the N-terminal domain to the HutC sub-family; however, the C-terminal domain has a novel topology (Fig. 1.5). Phylogenetic analysis and BLAST results confirmed that DevA and its relatives (orthologues in Streptomyces avermitilis and S. scabies) form a novel GntR sub-family due to the distinct C-terminal topology. The exact role of these proteins has yet to be elucidated; however, DevA is required for correct development in S. coelicolor (Hoskisson et al., 2006).

The PlmA sub-family of GntR regulators represent a minor grouping that were first identified in playing a role in plasmid maintenance in the filamentous Cyanobacterium Anabaena sp. Strain PCC7120 (Lee et al., 2003). This sub-family has a novel domain topology when compared to other GntR sub-families (Fig. 1.5) and appears to be confined to the Cyanobacteria. Alignments of the N-terminal appear to cluster this sub-family closely with the MocR and YtrA sub-families suggesting that despite their similarity in the DNA-binding domain, the E-b/O domain may have been replaced during evolution.

The AraR sub-family is another minor grouping (Franco *et al.*, 2006; Lee *et al.*, 2003). The GntR regulator AraR from *B. subtilis* is responsible for the control of a range of carbon catabolic genes. The N-terminal domain is classically GntR-like; however, the C-terminal domain has extensive homology to the LacI/GalR regulator family, reinforcing the paradigm of modular repressors in a one-component regulatory system. This protein has reasonably well-characterised binding sites (Mota *et al.*, 1999, 2001) which results in a high-level repression by co-ordinately binding two in-phase operators causing DNA looping. The second results from single operator binding which is autoregulatory and results in low levels of transcription.

The emergence of further GntR sub-families is highly likely and preliminary screening of bacterial genomes for novel C-terminal domains fused to a GntR-like DNA-binding domain has already revealed three new effector-binding domain topologies (Rigali, Unpublished). The structure/function relationship of these new GntR domains is currently under investigation in order to highlight whether these chimeric anomalies have emerged within strains in response to a specific need or a particular environmental context.

VI. DNA BINDING, OPERATOR SEQUENCES AND REGULATION

The HTH DNA-binding domain is the best characterised of all transcription factors, exhibiting significant structural and functional versatility despite its simple structural scaffold (Aravind *et al.*, 2005). Most prokaryotic HTH transcriptional regulators bind DNA as homodimeric proteins either stable in solution or dimerisation occurring on binding (Raman *et al.*, 1997). Studies on FadR (Raman *et al.*, 1997; van Aalten *et al.*, 2000a, 2001) demonstrated the protein binds DNA as a dimer through interaction of specific regions of the C-terminal domain, as does the crystal structure of PhnF (Gorelik *et al.*, 2006). Surface-enhanced laser desorption ionisation (SELDI) mass spectrometry analysis of DevA also revealed a likely dimeric arrangement of this protein (Jakimowicz and Hoskisson, Unpublished). These data suggest that this is a common arrangement of these proteins; however, this must also be considered along with the operator-binding site. Operator-binding sites can be in the form of inverted repeats or as directed repeats (Rigali *et al.*, 2002). The directed repeat arrangement of the operator would impact on the dimerisation mode and also on the arrangement of the operator site, which would lack the classical palindromic sequence. This lack of a symmetrical operator is the likely arrangement for TraR (Rossbach *et al.*, 1994), AphS (Arai *et al.*, 1999), BphS (Watanabe *et al.*, 2000) and FucR (Hooper *et al.*, 1999).

Rigali et al. (2004) suggested that sterical constraints on the HTH domain from the binding of effector molecules ultimately impact on the accommodation of the HTH in cis-acting elements. Considering this, alignment of the known symmetrical operator sequences by Rigali et al. (2002) showed that the family binds a palindromic operator comprising 5'-(N)_{ν}GT(N)_xAC(N)_{ν}-3' with the number of residues (γ) and the nature of the central residues (x) varying. Interestingly the operator sites of the HutC, FadR and YtrA sub-families show degrees of family identity suggesting a common ancestry. The FadR consensus is 5'-t.GTa.tAC.a-3' and HutC sub-family consensus is 5'-GT.ta.AC-3', which indicates high levels of conservation in the HTH domain, which is also demonstrated in the phylogenetic tree presented in Rigali et al. (2002). The YtrA sub-family shows only 5'-GT.AC3' identity over a much larger palindromic sequence; this diversity observed in the YtrA operator is also reflected in the looser phylogenetic association of the family members. The remaining sub-families do not have enough or any experimentally confirmed binding sites to draw conclusions on operator sites. However given the negative autoregulatory nature of many of these proteins, insight can be gained from analysis of the upstream region of the GntR regulator. This approach was used by Rigali et al. (2004) in Streptomyces coelicolor. Using a systematic analysis of the HutC sub-family members in the S. coelicolor genome a consensus sequence was identified for this grouping (5'-GT- $N_{(1)}$ -TA- $N_{(1)}$ -AC-3') which was then searched against the genome. The presumed target genes are then identified through appropriate location of the *cis*-acting site and a list of candidate genes for testing experimentally is compiled. Compilation of a weight matrix refined the consensus sequence and the most likely GntR regulator could then be identified. Rigali and coworkers found this strategy worked extremely well, enabling insight into the regulon of DasR through experimental confirmation of the in silico predictions. This work identified genes of the phosphotransferase system specific for the uptake of N-acetylglucosamine, and electrophoretic mobility assays confirmed their promoters were bound by DasR. Indicating that such in silico approaches can identify targets for experimental work. Further development of this method led to the inception of the PREDetector tool (Hiard et al., 2007) which allowed the weight matrix to be constructed for all bacterial genomes to help elucidate the regulons of a range of DNA-Binding proteins.

The identification and characterisation of GntR regulators by many authors has led to increasing numbers of binding sites being characterised and identified. Interestingly the majority of these studies have demonstrated the negative autoregulatory nature of the GntR regulator. It is not unprecedented that these proteins can also act as activator proteins. In E. coli the FadR regulator is known to regulate 12 genes or operons, repressing genes encoding enzymes for the catabolism of fatty acids (including fadL, fadD, fadE, fadBA and fadH) and activating the genes of the anabolic fatty acid pathway (DiRusso and Nyström, 1998; Henry and Cronan, 1991). Indeed it is fascinating from a physiological point of view that this metabolic-responsive regulator acts in a positive and negative way to maintain poise within lipid metabolism through binding of lipid intermediates. Another member of the FadR sub-family exhibits this dual regulation role; NorG from Staphylococcus aureus appears to act as a repressor of an ABC-like transporter involved in cell wall autolysis and a direct activator of drug efflux proteins (Truong-Bolduc and Hooper, 2007). Interestingly transcriptional activation by GntR regulators has been observed in the citrate regulator CitO in *enterococcus* (Blancato *et al.*, 2008), antibiotic biosynthesis in *Serratia* (Fineran *et al.*, 2005), Taurine utilisation via TauR in Rhodobacter (Wiethaus et al., 2008). Whether activator function or activator/repressor function is widespread within this family is unknown and at this point it is impossible to elucidate with reliability the differences in positively and negatively regulated operator sites. Yet it does indicate the flexibility of this modular metabolite-responsive regulator framework and sets scene for further investigation.

VII. EVOLUTION OF GntR REGULATORS

Several families of HTH-containing transcription factors are conserved throughout the bacteria and archaea. Despite the high levels of horizontal gene transfer between these groups, the distribution the GntR regulators suggests that a pan-bacterial and pan-archaeal distribution may represent a lineage that can be traced back to the last universal common ancestor, indicating that this domain is extremely ancient (Aravind *et al.*, 2005). The recruitment of sensor domains to the HTH domain has occurred frequently throughout evolution and has resulted in the diversity of functions known for this group of proteins. The sub-family separation observed for the GntR regulators indicates that domains may have been swapped or fused, creating chimeric proteins able to respond to novel metabolites and regulate cellular processes in response to changing conditions. Although there is little direct evidence for evolution of GntR regulators in this manner we can infer several scenarios from genome comparisons and sequence analysis.

The presence of multiple E-b/O domains that have fused to a common HTH domain accounts for the observed sub-families in Rigali *et al.* (2002), with the increase in each lineage likely to be the result of horizontal transfer and gene duplication events (Hoskisson, unpublished; Rigali *et al.*, 2002). This scenario would account for the higher levels of sequence similarity amongst sub-family members.

Interestingly the fusion of the HTH domain can be explained with two examples: the presence of aminotransferase-like proteins in the MocR sub-family and the presence of enzyme-like protein folds in HutC subfamily members. Fusion of genes can occur through gene fission, horizontal gene transfer or gene decay (Suhre and Claverie, 2004), so it is clear that adjacent genes can easily become fused with HTH domains. The recruitment of protein-protein interaction domains through this route may also explain the frequency of dimeric interactions in this and other HTH-containing families. Analysis of the HutC GntR-like protein in Pseudomonas by Aravind and Anantharaman (2003) using iterative BLAST searching on the C-terminal E-b/O domain recovered the chorismate lyase protein (UbiC) of E. coli. Structural analysis in silico revealed that this specific protein fold is widespread and is likely to have evolved for ligand binding and evolved into the enzyme chorismate lyase, whilst another version was recruited to the HTH domain and diversified to interact with various ligands from which it can mediate gene expression through ligand binding and the HTH domain.

A second scenario is gene duplication, which is an important evolutionary force that provides an organism an opportunity to evolve new functions. One of the duplicated gene copies diverges, to acquire differential regulation, or mutations occur, followed by evolution into a gene product with a new function. In the case of oligomeric proteins, duplicate copies sometimes evolve to function as hetero-oligomers (Dickson et al., 2000). Duplication is also used as a mechanism to acquire a varied substrate spectrum. Thus, functional variations and differential regulation can be obtained as a result of gene duplication and provide an adaptive or fitness advantage in the natural environment. Indeed, data available for E. coli and S. cerevisae suggest that gene duplication plays a key role in the growth of gene networks (Teichmann and Babu, 2004). Classically, gene duplication is thought to enable duplicates to become specialised in different tissues or developmental stages (Ohno, 1970). Recently, we identified a novel developmental locus, devA, in S. coelicolor (Hoskisson et al., 2006). It belongs to a novel sub-family of GntR regulators, of which several others have been implicated in development of S. coelicolor (see Section X). Interestingly, the *devA* gene is duplicated on the chromosome of all sequenced streptomycetes (with the exception of S. griseus; Hoskisson, Unpublished). Each paralog exhibits around 60% identity to each other, and suggests divergence following the duplication event and

represents an ideal model for studying evolution of regulatory proteins following duplication and on evolution of GntR regulators.

VIII. GntR REGULATORS IN PRIMARY METABOLISM

Given that GntR regulators respond to many and varied metabolites it is unsurprising that they have been recruited to regulate many primary metabolic processes, responding to changing metabolite concentrations to modulate genes expression. This enables the cell to respond to rapidly changing conditions, or maintain precise balance of specific metabolites. GntR regulators have been shown to play roles in maintenance of fatty acids in response to changing fatty acid concentrations (DiRusso and Nyström, 1998), amino acid catabolism (Allison and Phillips, 1990; Hänssler et al., 2007; Ortuño-Olea and Durán-Vargas, 2000), organic acids (Fujita and Fujita, 1987; Lee et al., 2000; Morawski et al., 2000; Núñez et al., 2001; Pellicer, et al., 1996; Robert-Baudouy et al., 1981; Shulami et al., 1999), regulation of carbon catabolism (Mota et al., 1999; Rigali et al., 2002, 2006; Titgemeyer et al., 1995) and degradation of complex organics (Arai et al., 1999; Watanabe et al., 2000). The range of metabolites bound by GntR regulators is reflected in the diversity of C-terminal domains, and our understanding of how these regulators accommodate and respond to different metabolites is likely to increase in the future.

IX. GntR REGULATORS IN VIRULENCE

Despite the large numbers of GntR regulators associated with metabolism it is increasingly becoming apparent that these proteins can regulate virulence in pathogenic bacteria. It is likely that these proteins regulate virulence through responding to host factors through sensing and responding to specific metabolites. Recently studies have shown that the mammalian cell entry (mce) genes of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* are regulated by a GntR regulator, *mce1R* (Casali *et al.*, 2006). Mce1R is negatively autoregulated and a mutant is impaired in its ability to survive in murine models. Mce1R is a member of the FadR sub-family and recently this gene cluster has been implicated in cholesterol transport (Mohn *et al.*, 2008) which fits with the types of molecules bound by other members this sub-family.

A screen for mutants that were impaired in virulence in *Brucella melitensis* identified three GntR regulators (Haine *et al.*, 2005). Further work is required to elucidate the regulon of these proteins, but it opens a new avenue of research into how these proteins control virulence.

Interestingly these studies again highlight the need to develop robust methods for identifying the metabolites bound by these proteins, to understand how pathogenic organisms integrate host signals to increase survival *in vivo*.

X. GntR REGULATORS IN STREPTOMYCES DEVELOPMENT AND ANTIBIOTIC PRODUCTION

Several GntR-like regulators have been implicated in development of S. coelicolor such as WhiH (Ryding et al., 1998), agl3R and SE69 (Hillerich and Westpheling, 2006; Sprusansky et al., 2003), yet none of their effector molecules are known. However a remarkable example of a GntR superfamily member acting as a master switch of gene expression is provided by DasR (Deficient in aerial mycelium and spore formation) whose predicted regulon includes hundreds of genes in S. coelicolor (Rigali et al., 2008). The 'core' of the DasR regulon consists of chitinase genes, and genes involved in the transport and utilisation of aminosugars such as N,N'-diacetylchitobiose by the DasABC ATP-binding cassette transporter (Colson et al., 2008) and N-acetylglucosamine (GlcNAc) by the phosphoenolpyruvate phosphotransferase uptake system (PTS^{GlcNAc}) (Rigali et al., 2006). The importance of chitin's contribution to primary metabolism is obvious from end products of its complete catabolism via enzymes encoded by nagA (N-acetylglucosamine-6-phosphate deacetylase) and nagB (Glucosamine-6-phosphate isomerase), both DasR-dependent genes. These end products are acetate, ammonia, and fructose-6-phosphate, which are further metabolised via the tricarboxylic acid cycle, fatty acid metabolism, nitrogen metabolism and glycolysis. By controlling the access to the metabolites at the crossroad of these major catabolic pathways, DasR imposes itself as an essential checkpoint to sense and enable the cell to respond to the environment. In addition to the obvious exploitation of this rich carbon and nitrogen source in primary metabolism, GlcNAc has been demonstrated to be a strong nutritional signal for both morphological (sporulation) and physiological (secondary metabolites production) differentiations in S. coelicolor. Indeed, under rich culture conditions, the addition of GlcNAc completely blocks development (Rigali et al., 2006), while on minimal media the addition of the same molecule triggers *S. coelicolor* antibiotic production (Rigali *et al.*, 2008). The inactivation of *dasR*, *dasA* and central PTS^{GlcNAc} genes results in developmental arrest of S. coelicolor, clearly indicating that sensing and uptake of chitin and/or cell wall and their degradation products are key elements in the decision of streptomycetes to produce reproductive aerial mycelium (Colson et al., 2008; Rigali *et al.*, 2006).

Recently, in *S. coelicolor* we identified another GntR-like regulator of development, *devA*, which forms a new sub-family of these regulators (Hoskisson *et al.*, 2006). Interestingly, the *devA* gene is duplicated (*devE*) on the chromosome of all sequenced streptomycetes including the adjacent divergently transcribed genes *devC* and *devD* genes. *devA* is co-transcribed with a putative phosphatase/hydrolase, *devB*, which is of unknown function, but it would appear that tight control of *devB* during growth is required for normal development, as a mutant of *devB* is conditionally bald. *devB* is also unusual in that it is one of only a handful of developmental genes known in *Streptomyces* that does not encode a regulatory protein.

The recruitment of metabolite-responsive regulators to sporulation and antibiotic production pathways demonstrates that tight control of these developmental gene cascades is required to respond to changing environmental conditions to ensure survival in stressful or unfavourable conditions, linking primary metabolites to secondary metabolism and development.

XI. BIOTECHNOLOGY IMPLICATIONS

The tight regulation and highly responsive nature of the GntR superfamily of regulators offers an interesting opportunity in the development of inducible expression systems. The modular nature of these regulators enables the creation of chimeric proteins that respond rapidly and predictably to changing conditions, whether these are intrinsic changes in the environment or through the addition of inducer molecules. Whilst a great understanding of the molecular mechanisms of regulation is required, the three interacting components of the GntR regulator system can be exploited to facilitate the construction of vector systems containing well-characterised operator, DNA-binding domain and a metaboliteresponsive effector-binding domain, whether natural or synthesised by molecular biology.

The elucidation of the GlcNAc/DasR regulon has highlighted the first complete signalling cascade for antibiotic production from nutrient sensors to antibiotic pathway-specific activators leading to a new strategy for activating pathways for secondary metabolite biosynthesis in streptomycetes, thereby offering new prospects in the fight against multi-drug resistant pathogens and cancers. Activating these pathways has proved challenging and several approaches to activate these pathways have proved unsuccessful. Rigali *et al.* (2008) demonstrated that *N*-acetylglucosamine (GlcNAc) acts as a checkpoint in the onset of secondary metabolism in several streptomycetes and a simple screen, using the addition of GlcNAc to cultures, is sufficient to induce antibiotic pathways through

derepression of DasR-regulated promoters and offers the opportunity to develop novel bioactive metabolites for the clinic in a wide range of producing strains.

XII. CONCLUDING REMARKS

The one-component regulatory proteins of the GntR family represent a highly diverse group of proteins from a structural, functional and biochemical aspect. They are widespread throughout the bacterial kingdom and regulate a wide range of processes from primary metabolism to developmental processes. The fusion of a DNA-binding domain to a diverse range of effector-binding/oligomerisation domains enables flexibility and has probably contributed to the expansion of the gene family through recruitment of new effector-binding/oligomerisation domains. This flexibility makes these proteins prime candidates for use in biotechnology creating highly effective inducible systems, responding to wellcharacterised metabolites in a rapid and predictable way.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

PAH would like to thank The Society for General Microbiology (SGM), the Scottish Universities Life Science Alliance (SULSA) and the University of Strathclyde for funding the work in his laboratory. We would also like to thank Dr Lorena Fernandez for helpful comments on the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Allison, S. L., and Phillips, A. T. (1990). Nucleotide sequence of the gene encoding the repressor for the histidine utilization genes of *Pseudomonas putida*. J. Bacteriol. 172, 5470–5476.
- Arai, H., Akahira, S., Ohishi, T., and Kudo, T. (1999). Adaptation of *Comamonas testosteroni* TA441 to utilization of phenol by spontaneous mutation of the gene for a trans-acting factor. *Mol. Microbiol.* 33, 1132–1140.
- Aravind, L., and Anantharaman, V. (2003). HutC/FarR-like bacterial transcription factors of the GntR family contain a small molecule-binding domain of the chorismate lyase fold. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 222, 17–23.
- Aravind, L., Anantharaman, V., Balaji, S., Babu, M. M., and Iyer, L. M. (2005). The many faces of the helix-turn-helix domain: Transcription regulation and beyond. *FEMS Microbiol. Rev.* 29, 231–262.
- Aravind, L., and Koonin, E. V. (1999). DNA-binding proteins and evolution of transcription regulation in the archaea. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 27, 4658–4670.
- Blancato, V. S., Repizo, G. D., Suarez, C. A., and Magni, C. (2008). Transcriptional regulation of the citrate gene cluster of Enterococcus faecalis involves the GntR family transcriptional activator CitO. J. Bacteriol. 190, 7419–7430.

- Brown, N. L., Stoyanov, J. V., Kidd, S. P., and Hobman, J. L. (2003). The MerR family of transcriptional regulators. FEMS Microbiol. Rev. 27, 145–163.
- Busenlehner, L. S., Pennella, M. A., and Giedroc, D. P. (2003). The SmtB/ArsR family of metalloregulatory transcriptional repressors: Structural insights into prokaryotic metal resistance. *FEMS Microbiol. Rev.* 27, 131–143.
- Casali, N., White, A. M., and Riley, L. W. (2006). Regulation of the *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* mce1 operon. J. Bacteriol. 188, 441–449.
- Cole, S. T., Eiglmeier, K., Parkhill, J., James, K. D., Thomson, N. R., Wheeler, P. R., Honoré, N., Garnier, T., Churcher, C., Harris, D., Mungall, K., Basham, D., et al. (2001). Massive gene decay in the leprosy bacillus. *Nature* 409, 1007–1011.
- Colson, S., van Wezel, G. P., Craig, M., Noens, E. E., Nothaft, H., Mommaas, A. M., Titgemeyer, F., Joris, B., and Rigali, S. (2008). The chitobiose-binding protein, DasA, acts as a link between chitin utilization and morphogenesis in *Streptomyces coelicolor*. *Microbiology* **154**, 373–382.
- Dickson, R., Weiss, C., Howard, R. J., Alldrick, S. P., Ellis, R. J., Lorimer, G., Azem, A., and Viitanen, P. V. (2000). Reconstitution of higher plant chloroplast chaperonin 60 tetradecamers active in protein folding. *J. Biol. Chem.* 275, 11829–11835.
- DiRusso, C. C., Metzger, A. K., and Heimert, T. L. (1993). Regulation of transcription of genes required for fatty acid transport and unsaturated fatty acid biosynthesis in *Escherichia coli* by FadR. *Mol. Microbiol.* 7, 311–322.
- DiRusso, C. C., and Nyström, T. (1998). The fats of *Escherichia coli* during infancy and old age: Regulation by global regulators, alarmones and lipid intermediates. *Mol. Microbiol.* 27, 1–8.
- Dodd, I. B., and Egan, J. B. (1990). Improved detection of helix-turn-helix DNA-binding motifs in protein sequences. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 18, 5019–5026.
- Fineran, P. C., Everson, L., Slater, H., and Salmond, G. P. C. (2005). A GntR family transcriptional regulator (PigT) controls gluconate-mediated repression and defines a new, independent pathway for regulation of the tripyrrole antibiotic, prodigiosin, in *Serratia*. *Microbiology* **151**, 3833–3845.
- Finn, R. D., Tate, J., Mistry, J., Coggill, P. C., Sammut, J. S., Hotz, H. R., Ceric, G., Forslund, K., Eddy, S. R., Sonnhammer, E. L., and Bateman, A. (2008). The Pfam protein families database. *Nucleic Acids Res. Database Issue* 36, D281–D288.
- Franco, I. S., Mota, L. J., Soares, C. M., and de Sá-Nogueira, I. (2006). Functional domains of the *Bacillus subtilis* transcription factor AraR and identification of amino acids important for nucleoprotein complex assembly and effector binding. J. Bacteriol. 188, 3024–3036.
- Fujita, Y., and Fujita, T. (1987). The gluconate operon gnt of Bacillus subtilis encodes its own transcriptional negative regulator. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 84, 4524–4528.
- Gorelik, M., Lunin, V. V., Skarina, T., and Savchenko, A. (2006). Structural characterization of GntR/HutC family signaling domain. *Protein Sci.* 15, 1506–1511.
- Haine, V., Sinon, A., Van Steen, F., Rousseau, S., Dozot, M., Lestrate, P., Lambert, C., Letesson, J. J., and De Bolle, X. (2005). Systematic targeted mutagenesis of *Brucella melitensis* 16M reveals a major role for GntR regulators in the control of virulence. *Infect Immun.* 73, 5578–5586.
- Hänssler, E., Müller, T., Jessberger, N., Völzke, A., Plassmeier, J., Kalinowski, J., Krämer, R., and Burkovski, A. (2007). FarR, a putative regulator of amino acid metabolism in *Coryne*bacterium glutamicum. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. **76**, 625–632.
- Haydon, D. J., and Guest, J. R. (1991). A new family of bacterial regulatory proteins. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 63, 291–295.
- Henry, M. F., and Cronan, J. E. (1991). Escherichia coli transcription factor that both activates fatty acid synthesis and represses fatty acid degradation. J. Mol. Biol. 222, 843–849.
- Hiard, S., Maree, R., Colson, S., Hoskisson, P. A., Titgemeyer, F., van Wezel, G. P., Joris, B., Wehenkel, L., and Rigali, S. (2007). PREDetector: A new tool to identify regulatory elements inbacterial genomes. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 357, 861–864.

- Hillerich, B., and Westpheling, J. (2006). A new GntR family transcriptional regulator in *streptomyces coelicolor* is required for morphogenesis and antibiotic production and controls transcription of an ABC transporter in response to carbon source. J. Bacteriol. 188, 7477–7487.
- Hooper, L. V., Xu, J., Falk, P. G., Midtvedt, T., and Gordon, J. I. (1999). A molecular sensor that allows a gut commensal to control its nutrient foundation in a competitive ecosystem. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 96, 9833–9838.
- Hoskisson, P. A., Rigali, S., Fowler, K., Findley, K., and Buttner, M. J. (2006). DevA, a GntRlike Transcriptional Regulator Required for Development in *Streptomyces coelicolor*. *J. Bacteriol.* **188**, 5014–5023.
- Jaques, S., and McCarter, L. L. (2006). Three new regulators of swarming in Vibrio parahaemolyticus. J. Bacteriol. 188, 2625–2635.
- Kendell, K., and Cohen, S. (1988). Complete nucleotide sequence of the *Streptomyces lividans* plasmid pIJ101 and correlation of the sequence with genetic properties. *J. Bacteriol.* **170**, 4634–4651.
- Ko, T.-P., Wu, S.-P., Yang, W. Z., Tsai, H., and Yuan, H. S. (1999). Crystallization and preliminary crystallographic analysis of the *Escherichia coli* tyrosine aminotransferase. *Acta Cryst.* D55, 1474–1477.
- Korner, H., Sofia, H. J., and Zumft, W. G. (2003). Phylogeny of the bacterial superfamily of Crp-Fnr transcription regulators: Exploiting the metabolic spectrum by controlling alternative gene programs. *FEMS Microbiol. Rev.* 27, 559–592.
- Larkin, M. A., Blackshields, G., Brown, N. P., Chenna, R., McGettigan, P. A., McWilliam, H., Valentin, F., Wallace, I. M., Wilm, A., Lopez, R., Thompson, J. D., Gibson, T. J., et al. (2007). ClustalW and ClustalX version 2. *Bioinformatics* 23, 2947–2948.
- Lee, H. Y., An, J. H., and Kim, Y. S. (2000). Identification and characterization of a novel transcriptional regulator, MatR, for malonate metabolism in *Rhizobium leguminosarum* bv. *trifolii. Eur. J. Biochem.* 267, 7224–7230.
- Lee, M. H., Scherer, M., Rigali, S., and Golden, J. W. (2003). PlmA, a new member of the GntR family, has plasmid maintenance functions in *Anabaena* sp. strain PCC 7120. J. Bacteriol. 185, 4315–4325.
- Maddocks, S. E., and Oyston, P. C. F. (2008). Structure and function of the LysR-type transcriptional regulator (LTTR) family proteins. *Microbiology* 154, 3609–3623.
- Mohn, W. W., van der Geize, R., Stewart, G. R., Okamoto, S., Liu, J., Dijkhuizen, L., and Eltis, L. D. (2008). The actinobacterial mce4 locus encodes a steroid transporter. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 35368–35374.
- Molina-Henares, A. J., Krell, T., Guazzaroni, M. E., Segura, A., and Ramos, J. L. (2006). Members of the IclR family of bacterial transcriptional regulators function as activators and/or repressors. *FEMS Microbiol. Rev.* **30**, 157–186.
- Morawski, B., Segura, A., and Ornston, L. N. (2000). Repression of Acinetobacter vanillate demethylase synthesis by VanR, a member of the GntR family of transcriptional regulators. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 187, 65–68.
- Mota, L. J., Sarmento, L. M., and de Sá-Nogueira, I. (2001). Control of the arabinose regulon in Bacillus subtilis by AraR in vivo: Crucial roles of operators, cooperativity, and DNA looping. J. Bacteriol. 183, 4190–4201.
- Mota, L. J., Tavares, P., and Sá-Nogueira, I. (1999). Mode of action of AraR, the key regulator of L-arabinose metabolism in *Bacillus subtilis*. *Mol. Microbiol.* 33, 476–489.
- Núñez, M. F., Pellicer, M. T., Badía, J., Aguilar, J., and Baldomà, L. (2001). The gene yghK linked to the glc operon of *Escherichia coli* encodes a permease for glycolate that is structurally and functionally similar to L-lactate permease. *Microbiology* 147, 1069–1077.
- Ohlendorf, D. H., Anderson, W. F., Fisher, R. G., Takeda, Y., and Matthews, B. W. (1982). The molecular basis of DNA-protein recognition inferred from the structure of cro repressor. *Nature* **298**, 718–723.

- Ohlendorf, D. H., Anderson, W. F., and Matthews, B. W. (1983). Many gene-regulatory proteins appear to have a similar alpha-helical fold that binds DNA and evolved from a common precursor. *J. Mol. Evol.* **19**, 109–114.
- Ohno, S. (1970). Evolution by gene duplication. Springer-Verlag, Berlin.
- Ortuño-Olea, L., and Durán-Vargas, S. (2000). The L-asparagine operon of *Rhizobium etli* contains a gene encoding an atypical asparaginase. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* **189**, 177–182.
- Pellicer, M. T., Badía, J., Aguilar, J., and Baldomà, L. (1996). glc locus of *Escherichia coli:* Characterization of genes encoding the subunits of glycolate oxidase and the glc regulator protein. *J. Bacteriol.* **178**, 2051–2059.
- Raman, N., Black, P. N., and DiRusso, C. C. (1997). Characterization of the fatty acidresponsive transcription factor FadR. Biochemical and genetic analyses of the native conformation and functional domains. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 30645–30650.
- Raman, N., and DiRusso, C. C. (1995). Analysis of acyl coenzyme A binding to the transcription factor FadR and identification of amino acid residues in the carboxyl terminus required for ligand binding. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 1092–1097.
- Rigali, S., Derouaux, A., Giannotta, F., and Dusart, J. (2002). Subdivision of the helix-turnhelix GntR family of bacterial regulators in the FadR, HutC, MocR, and YtrA subfamilies. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 12507–12515.
- Rigali, S., Nothaft, H., Noens, E. E., Schlicht, M., Colson, S., Müller, M., Joris, B., Koerten, H. K., Hopwood, D. A., Titgemeyer, F., and van Wezel, G. P. (2006). The sugar phosphotransferase system of *Streptomyces coelicolor* is regulated by the GntR-family regulator DasR and links N-acetylglucosamine metabolism to the control of development. *Mol. Microbiol.* **61**, 1237–1251.
- Rigali, S., Schlicht, M., Hoskisson, P. A., Northaft, H., Merzbacher, M., Joris, B., and Titgemeyer, F. (2004). Extending the classification of bacterial transcription factors beyond the helix-turn-helix motif as an alternative approach to discover new cis/trans relationships. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 32, 3418–3426.
- Rigali, S., Titgemeyer, F., Barends, S., Mulder, S., Thomae, A. W., Hopwood, D. A., and van Wezel, G. P. (2008). Feast or famine: The global regulator DasR links nutrient stress to antibiotic production by *Streptomyces. EMBO Rep.* 9, 670–675.
- Robert-Baudouy, J., Portalier, R., and Stoeber, F. (1981). Regulation of hexuronate system genes in *Escherichia coli* K-12: Multiple regulation of the uxu operon by exuR and uxuR gene products. *J. Bacteriol.* 145, 211–220.
- Rossbach, S., Kulpa, D. A., Rossbach, U., and de Bruijn, F. J. (1994). Molecular and genetic characterization of the rhizopine catabolism (mocABRC) genes of Rhizobium meliloti L5-30. *Mol. Gen. Genet.* 245, 11–24.
- Rost, B., Yachdav, G., and Liu, J. (2004). The PredictProtein server. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **32**(Web Server issue), W321–W326.
- Reuther, J., Wohlleben, W., and Muth, G. (2006). Modular architecture of the conjugative plasmid pSVH1 from *Streptomyces venezuelae*. *Plasmid* 55, 201–209.
- Ryding, N. J., Kelemen, G. H., Whatling, C. A., Flardh, K., Buttner, M. J., and Chater, K. F. (1998). A developmentally regulated gene encoding a repressor-like protein is essential for sporulation in *Streptomyces coelicolor* A3(2). *Mol. Microbiol.* **29**, 343–357.
- Sauer, R. T., Yocum, R. R., Doolittle, R. F., Lewis, M., and Pabo, C. O. (1982). Homology among DNA-binding proteins suggests use of a conserved super-secondary structure. *Nature* 298, 447–451.
- Shulami, S., Gat, O., Sonenshein, A. L., and Shoham, Y. (1999). The glucuronic acid utilization gene cluster from *Bacillus stearothermophilus* T-6. J. Bacteriol. 181, 3695–3704.
- Sprusansky, O., Zhou, L., Jordan, S., White, J., and Westpheling, J. (2003). Identification of three new genes involved in morphogenesis and antibiotic production in *Streptomyces coelicolor*. J. Bacteriol. 185, 6147–6157.

- Suhre, K., and Claverie, J.-M. (2004). FusionDB: A database for in-depth analysis of prokaryotic gene fusion events. Nucl. Acids Res. 32, D273–D276.
- Teichmann, S. A., and Babu, M. M. (2004). Gene regulatory network growth by duplication. Nat. Genet. 36, 492–496.
- Titgemeyer, F., Reizer, J., Reizer, A., Tang, J., Parr, T. R. Jr, and Saier, M. H. Jr. (1995). Nucleotide sequence of the region between crr and cysM in *Salmonella typhimurium*: Five novel ORFs including one encoding a putative transcriptional regulator of the phosphotransferase system. *DNA Seq.* 5, 145–152.
- Truong-Bolduc, Q. C., and Hooper, D. C. (2007). The Transcriptional Regulators NorG and MgrA Modulate Resistance to both Quinolones and {beta}-Lactams in *Staphylococcus aureus*. J. Bacteriol. 189, 2996–3005.
- van Aalten, D. M., DiRusso, C. C., and Knudsen, J. (2001). The structural basis of acyl coenzyme A-dependent regulation of the transcription factor FadR. *EMBO J.* **20**, 2041–2050.
- van Aalten, D. M., DiRusso, C. C., Knudsen, J., and Wierenga, R. K. (2000a). Crystal structure of FadR, a fatty acid-responsive transcription factor with a novel acyl coenzyme A-binding fold. EMBO J. 19, 5167–5177.
- van Aalten, D. M., Knudsen, J., DiRusso, C. C., Kokko, T., and Wierenga, R. K. (2000b). Crystallization and X-ray diffraction studies of the fatty-acid responsive transcription factor FadR from Escherichia coli. Acta Crystallogr. D. Biol. Crystallogr. 56, 469–471.
- Vindal, V., Suma, K., and Ranjan, A. (2007). GntR family of regulators in Mycobacterium smegmatis: A sequence and structure based characterization. BMC Genomics 23, 289.
- Watanabe, T., Inoue, R., Kimura, N., and Furukawa, K. (2000). Versatile transcription of biphenyl catabolic bph operon in *Pseudomonas pseudoalcaligenes* KF707. J. Biol. Chem. 6, 31016–31023.
- Weickert, M. J., and Adhya, S. (1992). A family of bacterial regulators homologous to Gal and Lac repressors. J. Biol. Chem. 267, 15869–15874.
- Wiethaus, J., Schubert, B., Pfänder, Y., Narberhaus, F., and Masepohl, B. (2008). The GntRlike regulator TauR activates expression of taurine utilization genes in *Rhodobacter capsulatus. J. Bacteriol.* **190**, 487–493.
- Yoshida, K. I., Fujita, Y., and Ehrlich, S. D. (2000). An operon for a putative ATP-binding cassette transport system involved in acetoin utilization of *Bacillus subtilis*. J. Bacteriol. 182, 5454–5461.

CHAPTER 2

Biogenesis of the Cell Wall and Other Glycoconjugates of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*

Devinder Kaur, Marcelo E. Guerin, Henrieta Škovierová, Patrick J. Brennan, and Mary Jackson

Contents I.	Introduction	24
II.	The Mycobacterial Cell Envelope	26
III.	The Capsular Polysaccharides	28
IV.	The Non-Covalently Bound Glycoconiugates of the	
	Outer Membrane	34
	A. Phosphatidylinositol mannosides. lipomannan	
	and lipoarabinomannan	34
	B. Acyltrehaloses	44
	C. <i>p</i> -Hydroxybenzoic acid derivatives and	
	phenolic glycolipids	47
	D. Mannosyl-β-1-phosphomycoketides	48
	E. Glycoproteins	49
V.	The Glycoconjugate Polymers of the Cell Wall Core	50
	A. Arabinogalactan	50
	B. Peptidoglycan	54
VI.	Cytosolic Glycoconjugates	58
	A. Polymethylated polysaccharides	58
	B. Glycogen	60
	C. Mycothiol	61
VII.	Conclusions and Future Prospects	63
Ack	nowledgements	64
Ref	erences	64

Department of Microbiology, Immunology and Pathology, Mycobacteria Research Laboratories, Colorado State University, Fort Collins, CO 80523-1682, USA

Advances in Applied Microbiology, Volume 69 ISSN 0065-2164, DOI: 10.1016/S0065-2164(09)69002-X © 2009 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved. Abstract The re-emergence of tuberculosis in its present-day manifestations single, multiple and extensive drug-resistant forms and as HIV-TB coinfections - has resulted in renewed research on fundamental questions such as the nature of the organism itself, Mycobacterium tuberculosis, the molecular basis of its pathogenesis, definition of the immunological response in animal models and humans, and development of new intervention strategies such as vaccines and drugs. Foremost among these developments has been the precise chemical definition of the complex and distinctive cell wall of M. tuberculosis, elucidation of the relevant pathways and underlying genetics responsible for the synthesis of the hallmark moieties of the tubercle bacillus such as the mycolic acid-arabinogalactanpeptidoglycan complex, the phthiocerol- and trehalose-containing effector lipids, the phosphatidylinositol-containing mannosides, lipomannosides and lipoarabinomannosides, major immunomodulators, and others. In this review, the laboratory personnel who have been the focal point of some to these developments review recent progress towards a comprehensive understanding of the basic physiology and functions of the cell wall of *M. tuberculosis*.

ABBREVIATIONS

arabino-furanose
galacto-furanose
galacto-pyranose
lipoarabinomannan
lipomannan
manno-pyranose
<i>myo</i> -Inositol
peptidoglycan
phosphatidyl-myo-inositol
phosphatidyl- <i>myo</i> -inositol mannosides
polyprenol-monophospho-mannose

I. INTRODUCTION

The latest complete data as assembled by such bodies as the World Health Organization (http://www.who.int/tb/publications/global_report/en/index.html, 2008) indicate an estimated 9.2 million new cases of TB in 2006 (139 per 100,000 population), including 4.1 million new smear-positive cases (44% of the total) and 0.7 million HIV-positive cases (8% of the total). This is an increase from 9.1 million cases in 2005, due to population growth. India, China, Indonesia, South Africa and Nigeria

rank first to fifth, respectively, in terms of absolute numbers of cases. The African Region has the highest incidence rate per capita (363 per 100,000 population). There were an estimated 14.4 million prevalent cases of TB in 2006. There were an estimated 0.5 million cases of multi-drug-resistant TB (MDR-TB) in 2006 and an estimated 1.5 million deaths from TB in HIV-negative people and 0.2 million among people infected with HIV.

What is now recognized as a human tragedy of the first order, compounded by the fear of even more widespread dissemination of MDR and XDR strains of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*, has had the benefit of evoking new interest and resulting research towards a better understanding of the organism and its effects on the host, driven by the need for new diagnostic tools and new intervention strategies, whether chemotherapeutic or immunological. The cell wall of *M. tuberculosis*, its most distinctive feature and the basis of much of the characteristics of tuberculosis pathogenesis, is a case in point benefitting from this renewed attention.

The envelope of *M. tuberculosis* consists of two distinct parts: the plasma membrane and the cell wall as such (Brennan and Draper, 1994); the question of a true capsule is controversial (see below). Clearly, *M. tuberculosis*, especially within a host, is devoid of a classical capsule adhering to the cell with sufficient tenacity to be observed by simple techniques such as negative staining and India ink. On the other hand extracellular materials do exist - glucans, arabinans and arabinomannans and some proteins, mostly reflective of internal structures - representing more of an outer layer than a true capsule (Daffé and Draper, 1998). As for Gram-positive bacteria, there probably exists an anatomically and functionally distinct periplasmic space (Matias and Beveridge, 2006). The cell wall and the membrane can readily be mechanically separated and have been studied independently (Crick and Brennan, 2008). Repeated attempts have been made to relate chemical and ultrastructural features, and these attempts have been successful as far as the major components and compartments of the cell envelope are concerned, such as those of the insoluble 'cell wall core', namely peptidoglycan (PG), arabinogalactan (AG), and mycolic acids and the plasma membrane. Thus, the images of two electron dense layers separated by a transparent zone are in accord with a typical plasma membrane bilayer. Additional triple-layered images have been attributed to the cell wall proper, and these consist of an inner layer of moderate electron density, reflective of mycobacterial peptidoglycan; a wider electron-transparent layer, attributable to the arabinogalactan-mycolic acid complex; and an outer electron opaque layer of extremely variable appearance and thickness, apparently the negatively charged so-called outer capsular layer containing mostly polysaccharides, glucans, arabinans and arabinomannans (Lemassu and Daffé, 1994; Ortalo-Magné et al., 1995).

However, the arrangement and the distribution of the numerous soluble cell wall entities, such as lipoarabinomannan (LAM) and lipomannan (LM), the other phosphatidylinositol-containing glycolipids, the phthiocerol- and trehalose-containing lipids, (lipo)proteins, so important to the pathogenesis of *M. tuberculosis*, are poorly understood. An exception is the elegant topological studies of the MspA porin in the cell wall of Mycobacterium smegmatis and its possible extrapolations to M. tuberculosis (Faller et al., 2004) and, in that context, the clear evidence from cryoelectron tomography of an outermost morphologically symmetrical lipid bilayer, despite the presence of considerable amounts of mycolic acids with their inherently asymmetrical hydrocarbon chains (Hoffmann et al., 2008; Zuber et al., 2008). In this review we present the rather spectacular progress made since the re-emergence of TB as a pressing public health problem, in the chemical definition of the cell wall/envelope of *M. tuberculosis*, in its assembly and underlying genetics, and functions in the disease induction process.

II. THE MYCOBACTERIAL CELL ENVELOPE

The cell envelope distinguishes species of the *Mycobacterium* genus from other prokaryotes. It consists of three major segments: the plasma membrane, the cell wall core and the outermost layer (Fig. 2.1). The cell wall core is made up of PG in covalent attachment via phosphoryl-*N*-acetyl-glucosaminosylrhamnosyl linkage units with AG which is in turn esterified to α -alkyl, β -hydroxy long-chain (C₇₀–C₉₀) fatty acids known as the mycolic acids. The outermost layer consists of a variety of non-covalently attached (glyco)lipids, polysaccharides, lipoglycans and proteins, including pore-forming proteins. In *M. tuberculosis*, the surface-exposed material of this outer layer, also called capsule, is essentially composed of polysaccharides and proteins with only minor amounts of lipids (Lemassu and Daffé, 1994; Ortalo-Magné *et al.*, 1995). Thus, *M. tuberculosis* is known to expose a hydrophilic surface.

Until recently, our view of the cell envelope architecture was essentially based on the model proposed by Minnikin (1982). In this model, the mycolic acids are packed in a monolayer, parallel to each other, and oriented perpendicular to the plasma membrane. Interspersed somehow are the free lipids of the outer membrane (OM) with their fatty acyl chains intercalating into the mycolic acid layer. It was proposed that the covalently bound mycolic acids of the cell wall core and the free lipids of the outermost layer form the inner and the outer leaflets, respectively, of a highly impermeable asymmetrical bilayer that confers to mycobacteria their characteristic resistance to many therapeutic agents (Jarlier and Nikaido, 1994; Minnikin, 1982). A second model proposed by Rastogi (1991)


FIGURE 2.1 A current perspective of the cell envelope of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. Represented is a theoretical model of the outer membrane (OM) wherein similar extractable lipids are present in both leaflets and the meromycolates of bound mycolic acids span the entire hydrophobic region. Another model proposes the meromycolate

suggested a similar organization except that the non-covalently linked lipids form a monolayer that does not intercalate with the mycolic acids. Only recently have developments in microscopy techniques allowed the different layers of the mycobacterial cell envelope to be visualized in their native state (Hoffmann et al., 2008; Zuber et al., 2008). Cryo-electron microscopy observations of vitreous sections of M. smegmatis, M. bovis BCG and of the closely related Corynebacterium glutamicum provided direct evidence of the existence of an outer bilayer and periplasmic space in these species. Although these studies confirmed mycolic acids as key components of the OM, the findings that the outer bilayer is apparently symmetric and much thinner than expected from the proposed models led to a significant revision of the current view of the cell envelope's architecture. In a revised model presented in Fig. 2.1, similar extractable lipids are present in both leaflets of the OM and the meromycolate chain of bound mycolic acids span the entire hydrophobic region (Hoffman et al., 2008). Another model proposes the meromycolate chains of mycolic acids to be folded upon themselves to create a more compact structure, compatible with the observed thickness of the OM (Zuber et al., 2008).

III. THE CAPSULAR POLYSACCHARIDES

The outermost compartment of the cell envelope of pathogenic mycobacterial species consists of a loosely bound structure called capsule (Chapman *et al.*, 1959; Daffé and Draper, 1998; Hanks, 1961). Although mycobacteria shed some of this material in the culture medium during *in vitro* growth (Ortalo-Magné *et al.*, 1995), capsular components clearly coat *in vivo*-grown bacteria (Schwebach *et al.*, 2002), probably retained by the phagosomal membrane (Daffé and Draper, 1998). The capsular material primarily consists of proteins and polysaccharides (~97% of the total material) with only small amounts of lipids (Lemassu and Daffé, 1994; Ortalo-Magné *et al.*, 1995).

chains to be folded upon themselves to create a more compact structure, compatible with the observed thickness of the OM (see text for details). The capsular material is not represented here. Extractable lipids represented in the outer membrane include PIMs and acyltrehaloses whereas those of the plasma membrane include phospholipids and PIMs. PM, plasma membrane; PG, peptidoglycan; AG, arabinogalactan; OM, outer membrane. The Galf and Araf residues of AG are represented in blue and red, respectively. The succinyl and galactosamine residues of AG are in green. Manp residues in PIM, LM and LAM are in red; Araf residues are purple.

Three types of polysaccharides are found in the capsular material of *M. tuberculosis*: a high-molecular-weight (>100,000 Da) α -D-glucan composed of a \rightarrow 4- α -D-Glc-1 \rightarrow core branched every five or six residues by oligoglucosides, D-arabino-D-mannan (AM), and a D-mannan composed of a \rightarrow 6- α -D-Man-1 \rightarrow core substituted at some positions 2 with a α -D-Man residue (Dinadayala *et al.*, 2004; Lemassu and Daffé, 1994; Ortalo-Magné *et al.*, 1995). All are neutral compounds, devoid of acyl substituents (Lemassu and Daffé, 1994). The structure of AM appears to be identical to that of LAM (see Section IV.A), except for the loss of the phosphatidyl-*myo*-inositol anchor, suggesting that it may be formed from LAM by a specific hydrolytic enzyme. However, there is at present no evidence for this hypothesis.

 α -D-glucan is the major carbohydrate constituent of the capsule of M. tuberculosis, representing up to 80% of the extracellular polysaccharides. Recent studies have begun to shed light on its biosynthesis. Based on the observation that α -D-glucan displays a glycogen-like structure, the orthologues of the *glg* genes involved in the biosynthesis of glycogen in Escherichia coli were identified in M. tuberculosis H37Rv and inactivated by allelic replacement. Biochemical analyses of the mutants indicated that the biosynthetic pathways of α -D-glucan and glycogen involve common enzymes, among which are the α -1,4-glucosyltransferases Rv3032 and GlgA (Rv1212c) (Table 2.1), the ADP-glucose pyrophosphorylase GlgC (Rv1213) and the branching enzyme GlgB (Rv1326c) (Sambou et al., 2008) (see Section VI.B). The disruption of glgC or glgA reduces by half the capsular α-D-glucan content of M. tuberculosis H37Rv. The involvement of common enzymes in the synthesis of the intracellular glycogen and capsular α -D-glucan suggests that the latter polysaccharide is synthesized inside the cytoplasm before being translocated to the cell surface by as yet unknown transporters.

Various biological functions have been associated with the polysaccharides of the capsule suggestive of a role in immunopathogenesis. Cywes *et al.* showed that capsular polysaccharides, among which the α -D-glucan, mediated the non-opsonic binding of *M. tuberculosis* H37Rv to Complement Receptor 3 (Cywes *et al.*, 1997). Given that CR3 is one of the principal phagocytic receptors of monocytes and neutrophils and that CR3-mediated phagocytosis can result in the diminution or absence of respiratory burst and suppression of IL-12 secretion, it was proposed that this route of entry may be favourable to the intracellular survival of the tubercle bacillus (Ehlers and Daffé, 1998; Fenton *et al.*, 2005). Other studies have highlighted the anti-phagocytic and immunomodulatory activities of the capsular polysaccharides of *M. tuberculosis* (Gagliardi *et al.*, 2007; Stokes *et al.*, 2004). Owing to its glycogen-like structure, α -D-glucan was also proposed to be involved in *M. tuberculosis* evasion of the immune

Protein		Function	GT fold	CAZy family	PDB code	References
PIM, LM a	and LAM					
Rv2610c	PimA	α-d-Mannose- α-(1,2)-phosphatidyl; <i>myo</i> -inositol mannosyltransferase	GT-B	GT4	2GEJ (79)	Korduláková et al. (2002)
Rv0557	PimB	Mannosyltransferase	GT-B	GT4	2gej (23), 3c4v (20), 2jjm (19), 2iv3 (18), 2r66 (14), 2iw1 (13)	Schaeffer <i>et al.</i> (1999) and Tatituri <i>et al.</i> (2007)
Rv2188c	PimB'	α-d-Mannose-α-(1,6)- phosphatidyl <i>; myo</i> -inositol mannosyltransferase	GT-B	GT4	2gej (24), 2jjm/3c4v (23), 2iw1 (19), 2r66 (15), 2iv3 (16)	Lea-Smith <i>et al.</i> (2008)
Rv2051c	Ppm1	Polyprenol phosphomannose synthase	GT-A	GT2	1qgq (10), 3bcv (17) ^{<i>a</i>}	Gurcha <i>et al</i> . (2002)
Rv1159	PimE	Polyprenol-P-Man; α-(1,2)- mannosyltransferase	GT-C	GT87	N.D.	Morita <i>et al</i> . (2006)
Rv2174	MptA	Polyprenol-P-Man; α-(1,6)- mannosyltransferase	GT-C	NC	N.D.	Kaur <i>et al.</i> (2007) and Mishra <i>et al.</i> (2007)
Rv1459c	MptB	Polyprenol-P-Man; α-(1,6)- mannosyltransferase	GT-C	NC	N.D.	Mishra <i>et al.</i> (2008)

TABLE 2.1 The glycosyltransferases of *M. tuberculosis*

Rv2181		Polyprenol-P-Man lipo (arabino)mannan; α-(1,2)- mannosyltransferase	GT-C	GT87	N.D.	Kaur <i>et al</i> . (2006, 2008)
Rv3793	EmbC	Arabinosyltransferase	GT-C	GT53	N.D.	Zhang <i>et al</i> . (2003)
Rv1635c		Polyprenol-P-Man ManLAM- capping; α-(1,2)- mannosyltransferase	GT-C	GT83	N.D.	Dinadayala et al. (2006)
Arabinogal	actan					
Rv3265c	WbbL	dTDP-Rha: α -D-GlcNAc-PP- C ₅₀ α -(1,3)-L- Rhamnosyltransferase	GT-A	GT2	1qgq (12), 3bcv (14)	Mills <i>et al.</i> (2004)
Rv3782	GlfT1	UDP-Gal <i>f</i> : Galactan β -(1,4)-/ β -(1,5)- galactofuranosyltransferase	GT-A	GT2	1qgq (13), 3bcv (14)	Belanová <i>et al.</i> (2008) and Mikušová <i>et al.</i> (2006)
Rv3808c	GlfT2	UDP-Gal <i>f</i> : Galactan β-(1,5)-/ β-(1,6)- galactofuranosyltransferase	GT-A	GT2	1qgq (9), 3bcv (11) ^a	Belanová <i>et al.</i> (2008), Kremer <i>et al.</i> (2001) and Mikušová <i>et al.</i> (2000)
Rv3792	AftA	Arabinosyltransferase	GT-C	GT85	N.D.	Alderwick <i>et al.</i> (2006)

(continued)

				CAZv				
Protein		Function	GT fold	family	PDB code	References		
Rv3794	EmbA	Arabinosyltransferase	GT-C	GT53	N.D.	Escuyer <i>et al.</i> (2001)		
Rv3795	EmbB	Arabinosyltransferase	GT-C	GT53	N.D.	Escuyer <i>et al.</i> (2001)		
Rv3805c	AftB	β -(1,2) Arabinosyltransferase	GT-C	GT89	N.D.	Seidel <i>et al.</i> (2007)		
Rv2673	AftC	α-(1,3) Arabinosyltransferase	GT-C	NC	N.D.	Birch <i>et al.</i> (2008)		
Glycogen, s	glucan and	MGLPs						
Rv3032	5	α-(1,4)-Glucosyltransferase	GT-B	GT4	3c4v (26), 2gej (24), 2jjm/2iw1 (19), 2r66 (16), 2iv3 (17)	Sambou <i>et al.</i> (2008) and Stadthagen <i>et al.</i> (2007)		
Rv1212c	GlgA	α-(1,4)-Glucosyltransferase	GT-B	GT4	3c4v (26), 2gej (21), 2jjm (20), 2iv3 (17), 2r66 (16), 2iw1 (14)	Sambou <i>et al.</i> (2008)		
Rv1208		Glucosyl-3-phosphoglycerate synthase	GT-A	GT81	3CKQ (83)	Empadinhas et al. (2008)		
Acyltrehaloses, <i>p</i> HBADs and phenolic glycolipids								
Rv3490	OtsA	Trehalose-6-phosphate synthase	GT-B	GT20	1uqu (32)	Pan <i>et al</i> . (2002)		

Rv2958c		PGL/pHBAD Rhamnosyltransferase	GT-B	GT1	1rrv (20), 1iir (18), 2d0r/2iyf/2p6p/ 2vg8/ 2c9z (17), 1pnv (16), 2iya/ 2acw/2pa6 (15)	Pérez <i>et al.</i> (2004)
Rv2962c		PGL/pHBAD Rhamnosyltransferase	GT-B	GT1	2d0r/1rrv/1pnv/ 1iir (17), 2iyf/ 2c9z/2iya (16), 2p6p (15), 2pq6 (14), 2vg8/2acw (13),	Pérez <i>et al.</i> (2004)
Rv2957		PGL/pHBAD Fucosyltransferase	GT-A	GT2	1qgq (15), 3bcv (16)	Pérez <i>et al.</i> (2004)
Mycothiol						
Rv0486	MshA	UDP-GlcNAc: 1L <i>-myo-</i> inositol-1-P α <i>-N</i> -acetylgluco aminyltransferase	GT-B	GT4	3C4V (51)	Newton <i>et al.</i> (2003)
Glycoprotei	ins	-				
Rv1002c		Protein-O- mannosyltransferase	GT-C	GT39	N.D.	VanderVen <i>et al.</i> (2005)
LOS						
Rv1500	LosA	?	GT-A	GT2	1qgq (11), 3bcv (16)	Burguière <i>et al.</i> (2005)

Uncharacterized GTs: GT-A fold; Rv0539 (GT2), Rv0696 (GT2), Rv1514c (GT2), Rv1516c (GT2), Rv1518 (GT2), Rv1520 (GT2), Rv1525 (GT2), Rv3631 (GT2) and Rv3786c (GT2); GT-B fold, Rv1524 (GT1), Rv1526c (GT1), Rv2739c (GT1), Rv0225 (GT4), Rv2153c (GT28) and Rv1328 (GT35); GT-C fold, Rv0051 (N.C.), Rv0236c (N.C.), Rv0541c (N.C.), Rv1508c (N.C.) and Rv3779 (N.C.).N.C., Non-classified in CAZy (http://www.cazy.org); N.D., no structures determined.

PDB codes indicate representative protein structures for each GT family (see http://www.pdb.org). The percentage identity to the M. tuberculosis protein is indicated between parentheses. PDB codes in bold indicate percentages of identity to the M. tuberculosis protein greater than 50%.^a Only the GT domain of the mycobacterial enzyme was used for sequence alignment.

system by molecular mimicry (Lemassu and Daffé, 1994). Independent from its role in tuberculosis, α -D-glucan was reported to exhibit antitumour activity (Wang *et al.*, 1995; Zlotta *et al.*, 2000).

IV. THE NON-COVALENTLY BOUND GLYCOCONJUGATES OF THE OUTER MEMBRANE

A. Phosphatidylinositol mannosides, lipomannan and lipoarabinomannan

1. Localization in the cell envelope and biological activities

One of the unique features of the mycobacterial cell envelope is its high content of mannosylated molecules, including (lipo)glycans and (lipo)glycoproteins. The mannosyl-phosphatidyl-myo-inositol-based glycolipids and metabolically related lipoglycans comprising phosphatidyl-myo-inositol mannosides (PIMs¹), lipomannan (LM) and LAM in particular, are found in abundant quantities in the cell envelope of all mycobacterial species. These molecules are non-covalently anchored through their phosphatidylmyo-inositol (PI) moiety to the inner and the outer membranes of the cell envelope (Pitarque et al., 2008). The importance of these molecules in promoting the entry of M. tuberculosis inside phagocytic cells through mannosespecific C-type lectins, regulating phagosome maturation and modulating the host immune response in vitro has been well documented (for recent reviews, Briken et al., 2004; Fenton et al., 2005; Gilleron et al., 2008). However, care should be taken in the interpretation of these studies since the majority of them have focused on the interactions of purified PIM, LM and LAM with cellular models and, thus, may not accurately reflect the relevance and individual contribution of these glycoconjugates in mycobacterial infections. In support of this assumption, a recent study on isogenic knock-out mutants of Mycobacterium bovis BCG and Mycobacterium marinum deficient in the synthesis of mannose-capped LAM (ManLAM) (see Section IV.A.2) revealed only marginal differences between wild-type and mutant strains in terms of uptake by phagocytic cells, phagosome/lysosome fusion, replication in vivo and induction of immune responses in infected animals (Appelmelk et al., 2008). On the other hand, clinical isolates of M. tuberculosis defective in some aspects of the synthesis and exposure of ManLAM at the cell surface were found to display important defects in phagocytosis by human primary macrophages (Torrelles et al., 2008). Further studies are thus clearly required to determine the individual contribution of ManLAM

¹ PIM is used to describe the global family of PIM that carries one to four fatty acids and one to six Manp residues. In Ac_xPIM_y, *x* refers to the number of acyl groups esterified to available hydroxyls on the Manp or *myo*-inositol residues, *y* refers to the number of Manp residues; for example Ac₁PIM₆ corresponds to the phosphatidylinositol hexa-mannoside PIM₆ carrying two acyl groups attached to the glycerol (the diacylgly-cerol substituent) and one acyl group esterified to the Manp residue.

to the pathogenicity of virulent species of the *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* complex. A better defined role for the most polar forms of PIMs (containing up to six Man*p* residues) in virulence has recently emerged from the study of an *M. tuberculosis pimE* mutant deficient in the production of these lipids. The mutant was found to be greatly impaired for replication and persistence in mice (Larrouy-Maumus *et al.*, unpublished results). The impact that polar PIM production has on the permeability of the mycobacterial cell envelope is likely to account, at least in part, for the role of these lipids in intracellular survival (Larrouy-Maumus *et al.*, unpublished results).

Despite nearly two decades of studies, the role of PIM, LM and LAM in the physiology of mycobacteria is less clear. Emerging data suggest that PIMs play important roles in the permeability barrier of the cell envelope, cell membrane integrity and regulation of cell septation and division (Korduláková *et al.*, 2002; Larrouy-Maumus *et al.*, unpublished results; Morita *et al.*, 2005, 2006; Parish *et al.*, 1997; Patterson *et al.*, 2003). The physiological functions of LM and LAM are unknown. While the nonpathogenic species *Mycobacterium smegmatis* appears to be permissive to a variety of mutations affecting PIM, LM and LAM synthesis, the inability to generate mutants of *M. tuberculosis* deficient in the acylation of PIMs or LAM synthesis (Goude *et al.*, 2008; Jackson *et al.*, unpublished results) indicates that these molecules probably play a more crucial role in the physiology of the tubercle bacillus than in that of fast-growing *Mycobacterium* species.

2. Structure of PIM, LM and LAM

PIMs, LM and LAM all share a conserved PI anchor with mannosylation extension at the C-6 position of the myo-inositol (myo-Ins) indicative of a metabolic relationship (for a recent review on the structure of PIM, LM and LAM, see Gilleron et al., 2008) (Figs. 2.1 and 2.2A). The anchor structure is heterogeneous, with variations occurring with respect to the number, location and nature of the fatty acids. The major PIM species are PI-dimannosides (Ac₁PIM₂ and Ac₂PIM₂) and PI-hexamannosides (Ac₁PIM₆ and Ac₂PIM₆). Ac₁PIM₂ and Ac₁PIM₆ contain one fatty acid linked to the Manp residue attached to position 2 of myo-Ins in addition to a diacylglycerol moiety, whereas Ac₂PIM₂ and Ac₂PIM₆ contain a fourth fatty acyl chain linked to position 3 of myo-Ins (Figs. 2.1 and 2.2A). LM and LAM possess a mannan core composed on average of 20–25 $\alpha(1\rightarrow 6)$ linked Manp residues occasionally substituted at C-2 by single Manp units in all mycobacterial species investigated with the exception of M. chelonae which was reported to have branching occurring at C-3 (Guérardel et al., 2002). The length of the mannan core of LM and degree of branching varies depending on the mycobacterial species. Recently, the use of MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry has allowed the precise length of the mannan domains of LM in *M. bovis* BCG, *M. smegmatis* and *M. tuberculosis* H37Rv to be defined (Gilleron *et al.*, 2006; Kaur *et al.*, 2007). A few unanswered questions remain, however, concerning the structure of this molecule. Firstly, it is at present unclear whether the linear and branched portions of the mannan core form distinct domains or whether 2,6-Man*p* and 6-Man*p* units intercalate at frequent regular intervals within the chain. Secondly, little is known about the position and



FIGURE 2.2 (Continued)



FIGURE 2.2 Biogenesis of PIM, LM and LAM. (A) Schematic representation of the current understanding of the PIM, LM and LAM biosynthetic pathways in *M. tuberculosis*. (B) Three-dimensional structure of a PimA–GDP-Man complex. Representation of the monomeric form of PimA from *M. smegmatis*. The structure is "colour ramped" from the N terminus (NTD) (blue) to the C terminus (CTD) (red).

number of arabinofuranose (Araf) residues attached to the LM backbone. In the case of LAM, a branched arabinan polymer is further attached to the mannan core and cap motifs decorate the non-reducing termini of the arabinosyl side chains. The arabinan polymer contains about 60 Araf units and consists of a linear $\alpha(1\rightarrow 5)$ -linked Araf backbone punctuated with branched hexarabinofuranosides (Ara₆) and linear tetraarabinofuranosides (Ara₄). A recent study of the LAM-arabinan of *M. smegmatis* suggested the occurrence of an Ara₁₈ motif resembling the internal structure of AG arabinan (Shi et al., 2006) (see Section V.A.1). However, the length of the terminal extensions linked at the non-reducing ends of this motif seems to vary in LAM-arabinan (Ara₁₈-Ara₂₂) (Shi et al., 2006). The nature of the motifs capping the non-reducing termini of the arabinan domain of LAM differs among mycobacterial species. To date, three types of LAM have been described: mannose-capped LAM (ManLAM) found in M. tuberculosis, M. bovis, M. bovis BCG, M. leprae, M. avium, M. xenopi, M. marinum and M. kansasii; phospho-myo-inositol-capped LAM (PILAM) found in *M. smegmatis* and *M. fortuitum*; and non-capped LAM (AraLAM) found in M. chelonae. LAM also differs between species in terms of the presence of recently discovered substitutions such as succinyl group and 5-deoxy-5-methylthio-xylo-furanose (MTX) (Delmas et al., 1997; Guérardel et al., 2003; Joe et al., 2006; Treumann et al., 2002; Turnbull et al., 2004).

The fundamentals of how LM and LAM are built up are unknown, whether on a lipid carrier, growing from the reducing or non-reducing end, being built in blocks that are then put together, assembled on an enzyme complex much like polyketides or growing one glycosyl residue at a time analogous to an *N*-linked glycan.

3. Biosynthesis of PIMs

a. The early steps of PIM synthesis The first step in PIM synthesis involves the transfer of a Man*p* residue from GDP-Man*p* to the 2-position of the myo-Ins ring of PI to form phosphatidyl-myo-inositol monomannoside, PIM₁ (Fig. 2.2A). We have identified PimA (Rv2610c) as the α -mannosyltransferase (ManT) responsible for this catalytic step (Korduláková et al., 2002). The characterization of PimA and the acyltransferase Rv2611c, which substitutes the 6-OH group of the Manp residue transferred by PimA with a fatty acyl chain, provided evidence that two distinct pathways then lead to the formation of Ac₁PIM₂ from PIM₁ (Fig. 2.2A) (Korduláková et al., 2003). PimA is essential for the growth of M. smegmatis and M. tuberculosis (Korduláková et al., 2002; Jackson et al., unpublished results). Recently, the crystal structure of PimA from *M. smegmatis* has been solved (Guerin *et al.*, 2007) (see later) (Table 2.1). PimB (Rv0557) was originally characterized as an α-ManT responsible for the synthesis of Ac₁PIM₂ from Ac₁PIM₁ and GDP-Man in M. smegmatis (Schaeffer et al., 1999). However, the fact that the disruption of pimB did not affect the biosynthesis of PIMs in M. tuberculosis suggested that either compensatory activities existed in the cells or that PimB performed another function in M. tuberculosis (Kremer et al., 2002; Tatituri et al., 2007). Recently, the second mannosylation step in the biosynthesis of PIM in C. glutamicum has been shown to be catalysed by PimB' (NCgl2106, orthologous to Rv2188c), whereas PimB, now renamed MgtA, was implicated in the synthesis of a novel mannosylated glycolipid $(1,2-di-O-C_{16}/C_{18:1}-(\alpha-D-mannosyl)-(1\rightarrow 4)-(\alpha-D-mannosyl)-(1\rightarrow 4)-(1\rightarrow 4)$ gluco-pyranosyluronic acid)- $(1 \rightarrow 3)$ -glycerol) and hypermannosylated 'LM-like' variant produced by C. glutamicum (Lea-Smith et al., 2008; Tatituri et al., 2007). Although Rv2188c was able to restore Ac₁PIM₂ synthesis in the NCgl2106 mutant of C. glutamicum, clear definition of the substrate specificities of Rv2188c in mycobacteria will require its purification to homogeneity and direct demonstration of in vitro ManT activity using purified substrates. Ac1PIM2 can accumulate as an end product or be further modified with an acyl chain and/or additional Manp residues to form higher PIM species, such as Ac₁PIM₃-Ac₁PIM₆/Ac₂PIM₃-Ac₂PIM₆ or LM and LAM. The ManT PimC from M. tuberculosis strain CDC1551 was shown to catalyse the formation of Ac₁PIM₃ from GDP-Man and Ac₁PIM₂ in cellfree extracts (Kremer et al., 2002). However, this enzyme is absent from most M. tuberculosis isolates as well as M. smegmatis suggesting that another as yet

unidentified enzyme is involved. Likewise, the ManT that catalyses the transfer of a Manp residue onto PIM₃ to produce PIM₄ remains to be identified. A summary of the characterized GTs of *M. tuberculosis* is provided in Table 2.1.

b. The biosynthesis of polar PIMs PimE (Rv1159) was recently identified as a ManT involved in the synthesis of the most polar forms of PIM bearing $\alpha(1\rightarrow 2)$ -linked terminal Man*p* residues. PimE belongs to the GT-C superfamily of integral membrane polyprenol-monophospho-sugarutilizing GTs, suggesting that, in contrast to the ManTs, PimA, PimB, PimB' and PimC, it probably utilizes polyprenol-phosphomannose (PPM) as a sugar donor and catalyses Manp transfer on the periplasmic side of the plasma membrane (Berg et al., 2007). The disruption of pimE in M. tuberculosis H37Rv and *M. smegmatis* resulted in mutants which failed to produce PIM₆ (Morita et al., 2006; Larrouy-Maumus et al., unpublished results). Using M. smegmatis cell lysates as an enzyme source, evidence was provided that cell-free extracts from the *M. smegmatis pimE*-deficient mutant were able to produce PIM intermediates up to PIM₄ but not PIM₅ and PIM₆ (Morita et al., 2006). While this result implicated PimE in at least one $\alpha(1\rightarrow 2)$ -Manp transfer onto PIM₄ to form PIM₅, the use of *M. smegmatis* extracts in the assay made it impossible to distinguish whether the transfer of the sixth Manp residue was also the result of PimE or that of another endogenous enzyme. Using a recombinant form of *M. tuberculosis* PimE produced in E. coli and purified AcPIM₄ and PPM as acceptor and donors substrates respectively, we recently showed that PimE catalyses the formation of one single PIM₅ product and not that of PIM₆, thereby clearly implicating this enzyme in the transfer of only one Manp residue onto PIM₄ to form PIM₅ (Larrouy-Maumus et al., unpublished results). The $\alpha(1\rightarrow 2)$ ManT responsible for the transfer of the sixth and last Manp residue in the formation of PIM₆ thus remains to be identified. Like PimE, this enzyme is expected to belong to the GT-C superfamily of integral membrane PPM-utilizing GTs.

It is proposed that PIM₆ is a terminal product, as it contains two $\alpha(1\rightarrow 2)$ -linked Manp, a structure which is not found in LM and the mannan core of LAM (Khoo *et al.*, 1995). Thus, PIM₄ appears as the last common intermediate in the biosynthesis of polar PIMs and LM/LAM. LpqW (Rv1166), a putative lipoprotein, was shown to play a role in regulating polar PIM and LAM biosynthesis in *M. smegmatis*. Disruption of the *lpqW* gene of *M. smegmatis* yielded a mutant with wild-type apolar and polar PIM profiles but unable to make LAM, although it apparently retained the ability to produce LM (Kovacevic *et al.*, 2006). The mutant displayed, however, an unstable phenotype and rapidly recovered the ability to synthesize LAM at the expense of apolar PIM, a property accounted for by the accumulation of secondary mutations in the *pimE*

gene (Crellin *et al.*, 2008). Altogether, results thus suggested that LpqW might function to channel the PIM intermediate, AcPIM₄, into LAM synthesis. The crystal structure of the LpqW protein of *M. smegmatis* has been reported (Marland *et al.*, 2006).

c. Topology of PIM synthesis As evidenced by the nature of the GTs involved, the biosynthesis of PIM is topologically complex. Whereas the first three mannosylation steps of the biosynthetic pathway involve GDP-Man-dependent GT-B enzymes and occur on the cytoplasmic face of the plasma membrane (Morita *et al.*, 2004, 2005), further steps in the pathway of polar PIMs (PIM₄–PIM₆), LM and LAM most likely rely upon integral membrane GT-C-type GTs and take place on the extra-cytoplasmic side of the plasma membrane (Berg *et al.*, 2007; Besra *et al.*, 1997; Morita *et al.*, 2005) (Fig. 2.2A). Such a compartmentalization implies that as yet unidentified transporters/flippases translocate PIM intermediates from the cytoplasmic to the periplasmic side of the plasma membrane. It is at present not clear whether a form of PIM₂, PIM₃ or PIM₄ is translocated (for simplicity, only Ac₁PIM₃ is shown in Fig. 2.2A).

Little is known of the mechanisms that govern the interaction of GTs with membranes and/or lipid substrates. Members of the GT-B superfamily, to which PimA, PimB, PimB' and PimC belong, bind membranes using a variety of mechanisms including transmembrane α -helices, amphipathic α -helices and protein–protein interactions (Martinez-Fleites *et al.*, 2006; Miley et al., 2007; Wang et al., 2008). The determination of the crystal structure of PimA from M. smegmatis in complex with the donor substrate GDP-Man and subsequent in vitro studies have shed some light on the molecular mechanisms involved in the very initial steps of PIM synthesis (Guerin et al., 2007) (Fig. 2.2B). The notion of membrane-association through electrostatic interactions is consistent with the finding of an amphipathic α -helix and surface-exposed hydrophobic residues in the N-terminal domain of PimA. Although the sugar transfer is catalysed between the mannosyl group of GDP-Man and the *myo*-Ins ring of the PI acceptor substrate, both fatty acyl chains of PI are absolutely required for the transfer reaction to occur. Further, the fact that PimA was capable to bind mono-disperse PI but that its activity was stimulated by high concentrations of non-substrate anionic surfactants indicated that the reaction requires a lipid-water interface. Altogether, experimental data thus supported a model of interfacial catalysis in which PimA recognizes the fully acylated PI substrate with its polar head within the catalytic cleft and the fatty acid moieties only partially sequestered from the bulk solvent (Guerin et al., 2007). Membrane attachment is likely to be mediated by an interfacial-binding surface located in the N-terminal domain of the protein. Structural changes or allosteric effects are expected to result from this interaction with the membrane and/or the lipid substrate and may be necessary for the formation of a competent enzyme-substrate complex.

A search for possible proteins responsible for flipping PIM intermediates (whether PIM_2 , PIM_3 or PIM_4) across the plasma membrane has highlighted two possible candidates in the vicinity of the putative $\alpha(1\rightarrow 6)$ ManT Rv1459c, implicated in the initial steps of the elongation of the mannan core of LM/LAM from PIM in C. glutamicum (Mishra et al., 2008) (see Section IV.A.4). Three genes, Rv1458c, Rv1457c and Rv1456c, which are conserved in all Corynebacterinaeae, are apparently translationally coupled with Rv1459c (Wang et al., 2006). These genes encode two ABC-transporter integral membrane proteins, with Rv1458c encoding the putative ATP-dependent binding protein. Rv1458c exhibits remote structural similarities to sugar-binding proteins of ABC carriers, such as the sugar-binding protein of Pyrococcus horikoshii (Marabotti et al., 2004) or the maltose/maltodextrin-binding protein MalK of E. coli (Lu et al., 2005). Rv1457c encodes a permease component of an ABC-2-type transporter, typically involved in the export of drugs and carbohydrates (Reizer et al., 1992). As transmembrane channels of ABC-2-type transporters are either homo- or hetero-oligomers and Rv1456c also displays features of a transporter protein, it is reasonable to assume that Rv1456c forms with Rv1457c a membrane channel coupled to the GT, Rv1459c. On the basis of the altered mycolic acid profile of a Corynebacterium matruchotii transposon mutant carrying an insertion in the Rv1456c-Rv1459c cluster, Wang et al. (2006) proposed one or more of these genes to be involved in mycolic acid transport. However, in light of the recent finding that Rv1459c catalyses the initial $\alpha(1\rightarrow 6)$ elongation of the mannan core of LM/LAM in C. glutamicum, this change in mycolylation may only have been an indirect consequence of the loss of LM/LAM in this species. Moreover, with our recent data suggesting a different function for Rv1459c in mycobacteria than in corynebacteria (see Section IV.A.4), it has become clear that the further examination of the Rv1456c-Rv1459c cluster directly in mycobacterial species will be required to precisely define the role of these genes in the transport of cell envelope precursors across the plasma membrane.

4. Biosynthesis of LM and LAM

Nothing was known until recently about the enzymes, intermediates and steps involved in the biosynthesis of the mannan backbone of LM/LAM. 'Linear LM', devoid of mannan core $\alpha(1\rightarrow 2)$ branching, has been recognized as a precursor but only through metabolic labelling of cell-free extracts (Besra *et al.*, 1997). Given the complexity of the mannan chain found in LM and LAM, a number of ManTs are expected to be involved in its elongation and branching.

Through genetic and biochemical studies, the membranous GT-C superfamily members relying on polyprenyl-linked sugar donors have emerged as the GTs responsible for much of its synthesis (Dinadayala

et al., 2006; Kaur *et al.*, 2006, 2007; Mishra *et al.*, 2007, 2008) (Table 2.1). The NCgl1505 protein of *C. glutamicum* (MptB; which shares ~35 % amino acid identity with Rv1459c from *M. tuberculosis*) has been shown to be an $\alpha(1\rightarrow 6)$ ManT involved in the initiation of the mannan core of corynebacterial LM (Mishra *et al.*, 2008). Although Rv1459c and its orthologue in *M. smegmatis*, MSMEG3120, demonstrated similar $\alpha(1\rightarrow 6)$ ManT activity in cell-free extracts, the facts that these enzymes were not able to restore LM production in the *C. glutamicum* mutant and that the disruption of *MSMEG3120* in *M. smegmatis* had no effect on LM/LAM synthesis, suggest that Rv1459c and MSMEG3120 may have a distinct function in whole mycobacterial cells. Our recent work on a recombinant strain of *M. smegmatis* (see Section V.A.2). Hence, the $\alpha(1\rightarrow 6)$ ManTs responsible for the initial polymerization steps leading to the mannan backbone of LM from PIM₄–PIM₅ in mycobacteria is (are) currently unknown.

We and others recently characterized Rv2174 (MptA) as the $\alpha(1\rightarrow 6)$ ManT involved in the latter stages of the elongation of mannan in mycobacteria and corvnebacteria (Kaur et al., 2007; Mishra et al., 2007). We also identified Rv2181 as the $\alpha(1\rightarrow 2)$ ManT responsible for the synthesis of the $\alpha(1\rightarrow 2)$ Man*p*-linked branches, characteristic of the mannan backbone of LM and LAM (Kaur et al., 2006). LM is further arabinosylated to produce LAM in a set of poorly defined reactions involving the GT-C protein, EmbC (Zhang et al., 2003). EmbC is an essential enzyme of M. tuberculosis (Goude et al., 2008). Site-directed mutagenesis of an aspartic acid in the GT-C motif of EmbC led to the abolition of LAM synthesis (Berg et al., 2005). Furthermore, introduction of point mutations in the conserved proline motif of EmbC proximal to the C-terminal domain led to the synthesis of smaller arabinan domains largely devoid of linear Ara₄, resembling the arabinan structure of AG (Berg et al., 2005). Altogether, these data suggest that EmbC is most likely a multi-functional protein possessing polymerization and chain length regulating activities in addition to arabinosyltransferase (AraT) activity. The presence of two to three Araf residues attached to the mannan backbone of LM in an M. smegmatis embC knock-out strain (Zhang et al., 2003) suggests the existence of additional AraTs required for arabinan priming/synthesis.

Based on the hypothesis that the Man-capping of ManLAM probably takes place on the periplasmic side of the plasma membrane and on the assumption that the enzymes responsible should be missing from those *Mycobacterium* spp. devoid of ManLAM (e.g., *M. smegmatis*), we previously identified the GT-C member MT1671 of *M. tuberculosis* CDC1551 (orthologous to *Rv1635c* of *M. tuberculosis* H37Rv) as responsible for the addition of the first Manp unit of the mannose capping motifs of Man-LAM (Dinadayala *et al.*, 2006). However, the extension of this strategy to search for the subsequent $\alpha(1\rightarrow 2)$ ManTs responsible for the formation of the immunomodulatory di- and tri-mannoside caps of ManLAM failed to identify putative candidates. The only other putative GT-C enzyme devoid of an orthologue in *M. smegmatis* is Rv3779. However, the encoding gene belongs to an AG biosynthetic gene cluster (Berg et al., 2007). An alternative hypothesis was that the mannoside caps arose from the action of a promiscuous $\alpha(1\rightarrow 2)$ ManT, such as PimE (Rv1159) or Rv2181, responsible for the transfer of α -1,2-linked Manp units to PIM₄ and the mannan backbone of LM and LAM, respectively (Kaur et al., 2006; Larrouy-Maumus et al., unpublished; Morita et al., 2006). Indeed, the $\alpha(1\rightarrow 2)$ -linkages of the di- and tri-Manp units on the non-reducing ends of ManLAM, the terminal mono- and di-Manp units of PIM₅ and PIM₆, the $\alpha(1\rightarrow 2)$ Manp branching residues of the mannan core of LM/LAM and the di- and tri-mannoside units of the 45-47 kDa glycoprotein of *M. tuberculosis*, are all identical. Moreover, the enzymes catalysing the addition of these Manp residues use lipid-linked sugar donors, belong to the GT-C superfamily of GTs, and catalyse the reactions on the extracytoplasmic side of the plasma membrane (Kaur et al., 2006; Morita et al., 2006; vanderVen et al., 2005) (Table 2.1). To investigate this hypothesis, knock-out mutants of *pimE* and *Rv2181* were generated in *M. tuberculosis* H37Rv. Structural analyses of the LM and LAM variants produced by the *M. tuberculosis Rv2181* mutant revealed the presence of but a single Manp residue on the non-reducing arabinan termini of LAM in addition to a complete absence of $\alpha(1 \rightarrow 2)$ -linked Man*p* branching on the mannan backbones of LM and LAM (Kaur et al., 2008). A novel recombinant strain was constructed in ManLAM-deficient Mycobacterium smegmatis that coexpressed Rv2181 and Rv1635c – the ManT responsible for the addition of the first Manp capping residue of ManLAM. Analysis revealed LAM termini fully capped with di- and tri-Manp motifs in addition to $\alpha(1\rightarrow 2)$ Manp branching on the mannan backbones of LM and LAM, confirming the involvement of the $\alpha(1\rightarrow 2)$ ManT Rv2181 in the dual role of Mancapping and mannan-core branching (Kaur et al., 2008). It is intriguing then that the expression of Rv1635c in M. smegmatis yielded a LAM population that had t-Araf residues capped only with a single Manp (Dinadayala et al., 2006), despite M. smegmatis expressing an active orthologue of Rv2181 (MSMEG_4247) (Kaur et al., 2006). Indeed, while MSMEG_4247 from *M. smegmatis* clearly participated in mannan-core branching, it displayed no detectable Manp-capping activity on Man-LAM. The catalytic activity of MSMEG 4247 may be too low to mannosylate this heterologous substrate in addition to the mannan backbone. Alternatively, if LAM-capping has evolved to play a role in host cell interactions, it is tempting to speculate that Rv2181 from M. tuberculosis has acquired the ability to $\alpha(1\rightarrow 2)$ -mannosylate ManLAM while MSMEG_4247 from M. smegmatis has not. Further delineation of the

structure-function aspects of Rv2181 is required to understand its role in the biosynthesis of LM and ManLAM.

Interestingly, disruption of *pimE* in *M. tuberculosis* H37Rv led to a significant and consistent decrease in the amounts of the dimannoside motif capping ManLAM in addition to the abolition of polar PIM synthesis (Larrouy-Maumus *et al.*, unpublished). Both phenotypes were restored in the complemented mutant strain. Whether PimE is directly or only indirectly involved in ManLAM-capping, however, is at present not clear given the exclusive role Rv2181 seems to be playing in this process (Kaur *et al.*, 2008). Rv2181 and PimE may act jointly in ManLAM capping, as proposed for other mycobacterial GT-Cs involved in the biosynthesis of AG (Khasnobis *et al.*, 2006), the first enzyme playing the predominant role. Clearly, the precise delineation of the functions of PimE will have to await the development of cell-free assays using purified enzyme and substrates.

The biosynthetic origins of the MTX motif linked to t-Man*p* residues of ManLAM and succinyl residues linked to the arabinan domain of LAM have not yet been determined.

B. Acyltrehaloses

The search for virulence factors and immunodominant species-specific antigens in the envelopes of mycobacteria has led to the definition of a remarkable array of glycolipids, among which are several families of trehalose-containing lipids and the phenolic glycolipids (PGL) described in Section IV.C.

Trehalose is a simple non-reducing disaccharide of glucose (α -p-Glc*p*-(1 \leftrightarrow 1)- α -p-Glc*p*) found in bacteria, yeast, fungi, plants and invertebrates, but not in mammalian cells. It is found free in the cytosol of mycobacteria or esterified to a variety of fatty acyl groups in the OM of their cell envelope. Under its free form, trehalose is thought to function as a storage carbohydrate and as a stress protectant. The acyltrehaloses found in the cell envelope of *M. tuberculosis* include sulphatides (SL), diacyltrehaloses (DAT), triacyltrehaloses (TAT), polyacyltrehaloses (TDM) (Fig. 2.3). In addition, a few strains of *M. tuberculosis*, known as Canetti strains, produce highly polar species-specific lipooligosaccharides (LOS) (Daffé et al., 1991) (Fig. 2.3).

Mycobacteria are unusual amongst microorganisms in possessing three pathways for trehalose synthesis (de Smet *et al.*, 2000). One pathway involves condensation of glucose-6-phosphate with UDP-glucose to form trehalose-6-phosphate followed by dephosphorylation to release the free disaccharide. These reactions are catalysed by trehalose-6-phosphate synthase (OtsA, Rv3490) (Pan *et al.*, 2002) and trehalose-6-phosphate phosphatase (OtsB2,











FIGURE 2.3 (Continued)

Rv3372). The second pathway generates trehalose from glycogen in a twostep mechanism involving the maltooligosyltrehalose synthase (TreY, Rv1653c) and the maltooligosyltrehalose trehalohydrolase (TreZ, Rv1562c). The third pathway consists of the conversion of maltose to trehalose by the trehalose synthase (TreS, Rv0126). While the three pathways are functionally redundant in *M. smegmatis* (Woodruff *et al.*, 2004), the OtsAB pathway was found to be predominant in *M. tuberculosis* (Murphy *et al.*, 2005). OtsB2 was demonstrated to be strictly essential for growth in *M. tuberculosis* (Murphy *et al.*, 2005). Thus, consistent with its pleiotropic role in several other functions than stress protection alone, trehalose is essential for growth of *M. tuberculosis* (Murphy *et al.*, 2005). In view of the absence of trehalose in mammalian cells and essentiality, the OtsB2 enzyme may provide a useful target for novel drugs.

In TDM, trehalose is esterified by mycolates at positions 6 and 6'. It was proposed that mycolic acids can be transferred via a mycolylmannosylphosphoheptaprenol donor (Besra *et al.*, 1994) to trehalose 6-phosphate, arising from the OtsAB pathway, to yield phosphorylated TMM, which then can be dephosphorylated to yield TMM (bearing only one mycolyl chain) (Takayama *et al.*, 2005). The subsequent synthesis of TDM, from two TMM molecules and the transfer of mycolates to the non-reducing ends of AG have been shown to involve antigens 85A, 85B and 85C (Belisle *et al.*, 1997; Jackson *et al.*, 1999). However, the precise functions of these enzymes remain unclear, as is the process through which mycolates are translocated from the cytoplasm where they are synthesized to the cell envelope.

The reactions leading to the acylation of trehalose with short chain fatty acyl substituents and long-chain multi-methyl-branched fatty acids to form SL, DAT, TAT and PAT have not been fully elucidated either. The only two acyltransferases characterized to date are PapA2, involved in the transfer of a palmitoyl group to the 2'-position of trehalose-2-sulphate in

FIGURE 2.3 Structures of some trehalose-derived molecules from *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. The major sulpholipid SL-I (2,3,6,6'-tetraacyl α - α' -trehalose-2'-sulphate) is represented. In SL-I, trehalose is sulphated at the 2' position and esterified with palmitic acid and the multi-methyl-branched phthioceranic and hydroxyphthioceranic acids. In DAT (2,3-di-O-acyltrehalose), trehalose is esterified with stearic acid and the multi-methyl-branched phthioceranic acids. In DAT (2,3-di-O-acyltrehalose), trehalose is esterified with stearic acid and the multi-methyl-branched mycosanoic acid. In PAT, trehalose is esterified with stearic acid and the multi-methyl-branched mycolipenic acids. In TMM and TDM, trehalose is esterified with mycolic acids. The oligosaccharide of the LOS of *M. tuberculosis* Canetti strains consists of 2-O-methyl- α -L-Fucp-(1 \rightarrow 3)- β -D-Glcp-(1 \rightarrow 3)-2-O-methyl- α -L-Rhap-(1 \rightarrow 3)- β -D-Glcp-(1 \rightarrow 3)-4-O-methyl- α -L-Rhap-(1 \rightarrow 3)- β -D-Glcp-(1 \rightarrow 3)- β

SL biosynthesis, and PapA1, apparently responsible for the transfer of the first (hydroxy)phthioceranoyl group onto the product of PapA2 (Kumar et al., 2007). Both acyltransferases are essential for the synthesis of SL-1 (Bhatt et al., 2007; Kumar et al., 2007). The identity and the localization of the enzymes responsible for the final acylation steps have yet to be determined. Based on what is known of the biosynthesis of related polyketide-derived lipids known as the phthiocerol dimycocerosates, it is tempting to speculate that the biosynthesis of the entire acyltrehalose molecules takes place on the cytoplasmic side of the membrane and that biosynthesis and translocation are coupled (Jain and Cox, 2005). Alternatively, the accumulation within interior layers of the cell envelope of partially acylated SL intermediates by M. tuberculosis mutants deficient in the membrane transporter MmpL8 could be interpreted as the initial acylation reactions taking place in the cytosol and the remaining in the cell envelope (Converse et al., 2003; Domenech et al., 2004). At present, there is no clear experimental evidence supporting any of these two models.

Sft0 (Rv0295c) was characterized as the sulphotransferase responsible for the formation of the trehalose-2-sulphate moiety of SL (Mougous *et al.*, 2004). The topics of the synthesis of the polyketide or mycolic acid moieties of these molecules are beyond the scope of this review but have been extensively reviewed recently (Guilhot and Daffé, 2008; Jackson *et al.*, 2007; Marrakchi *et al.*, 2008; Natarajan *et al.*, 2008). Likewise, the translocation and biological activities of trehalose esters have been reviewed recently and will thus not be further detailed here (Bertozzi and Schelle, 2008; Glickman, 2008; Guilhot and Daffé, 2008; Jackson *et al.*, 2007).

Although the genetics of the species-specific LOS of *M. marinum* (Burguière *et al.*, 2005; Ren *et al.*, 2007) has begun to be explored, nothing is known of LOS biosynthesis in the Canetti strains of *M. tuberculosis*.

C. p-Hydroxybenzoic acid derivatives and phenolic glycolipids

Recent interest has focused on the PGL produced by some strains of *M. tuberculosis*. Their structure is presented in Fig. 2.4. Although their role in the pathogenesis of some W-Beijing isolates has been documented (Reed *et al.*, 2004; Tsenova *et al.*, 2005), most strains of *M. tuberculosis* do not produce PGL due to a frameshift mutation in the polyketide synthase gene *pks15/1*, which is required for the assembly of the lipid moiety of the molecule (Constant *et al.*, 2002). However, all *M. tuberculosis* isolates analysed to date have retained the ability to produce and secrete *p*-hydroxybenzoic acid derivatives (*p*-HBADs)-glycoconjugates which share with PGL the same glycosylated aromatic nucleus (Fig. 2.4) (Constant *et al.*, 2002). The biosynthesis and biological activities of PGLs



FIGURE 2.4 Structures of phenolic glycolipids and *p*-hydroxybenzoic acid derivatives from *M. tuberculosis*. The lipid core of PGL from *M. tuberculosis* is composed of phenolphthiocerol esterified by mycocerosic acids (m = 15-17; n = 20-22, n', n'' = 16, 18; p, p' = 2-5; $R = -CH_2-CH_3$ or $-CH_3$). The trisaccharide substituent of PGL and *p*-HBAD-II consists of 2,3,4-tri-O-methyl- α -L-Fucp- $(1\rightarrow 3)-\alpha$ -L-Rhap- $(1\rightarrow 3)$ -2-O-methyl- α -L-Rhap. The monosaccharide substituent found in *p*-HBAD-I consists of 2-O-methyl- α -L-Rhap.

and related *p*-HBADs have been reviewed recently and will thus not be described here (Berg *et al.*, 2007; Guilhot *et al.*, 2008; Jackson *et al.*, 2007; Malaga *et al.*, 2008).

D. Mannosyl- β -1-phosphomycoketides

Mannosyl-β-1-phosphomycoketides consist of a mannosyl-β-1-phosphate moiety identical to that found in mannosyl-β-1-phosphodolichols from mammalian cells and a C30–C34 fully saturated 4, 8, 12, 16, 20-pentamethylpentacosyl unit (Fig. 2.5) (Matsunaga *et al.*, 2004). They have been found in *M. tuberculosis*, *M. avium* and *M. bovis* BCG but not in the rapidly growing saprophytes, *M. phlei*, *M. fallax* and *M. smegmatis*. Suggestive of a role in pathogenesis, this family of lipids activates human CD1c-restricted T-cells (Matsunaga *et al.*, 2004). With the exception of the polyketide synthase Pks12 which has been found to be required for the production of these lipids (Chopra *et al.*, 2008; Matsunaga *et al.*, 2004) the biosynthetic pathway of mycoketides has not yet been elucidated.



FIGURE 2.5 Structure of the predominant mannosyl- β -1-phosphomycoketides from *M. tuberculosis* H37Rv.

E. Glycoproteins

The glycosylation patterns of the only two mycobacterial glycoproteins that have been biochemically characterized to date – the MBP83 antigen of *M. bovis* and the 45–47 kDa (Apa) antigen of *M. tuberculosis* – indicate that they are modified at threonine residues with one to three $\alpha(1\rightarrow 3)$ -(MBP83) or $\alpha(1\rightarrow 2)$ (Apa)-linked Manp, a glycosylation pattern reminiscent of eukaryotic short-chain mannoproteins (Dobos *et al.*, 1996; Michell *et al.*, 2003). The decorating mannose motifs of Apa have been implicated in various biological activities, including the ability of this protein to induce a delayed-type hypersensitivity response in guinea pigs, stimulate primed T-cells *in vitro*, and bind C-type lectins such as the surfactant protein A and, potentially, DC-SIGN (Horn *et al.*, 1999; Pitarque *et al.*, 2005; Ragas *et al.*, 2007; Romain *et al.*, 1999). Several other proteins of *M. tuberculosis* are believed to be glycosylated even though their glycosyl appendages have not been characterized (Espitia and Mancilla, 1989; Garbe *et al.*, 1993).

The glycosyltransferases involved in protein glycosylation in *M. tuberculosis* remain largely unknown. Bioinformatic approaches identified a single *M. tuberculosis* protein, Rv1002c, sharing amino acid identity with the *O*-mannosyltransferases of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* and a similar hydropathy profile (VanderVen *et al.*, 2005). This integral membrane protein, which belongs to the GT-C superfamily of glycosyltransferases, was shown to catalyse the initial step of the mannosylation of Apa. Moreover, evidence was provided that, analogous to eukaryotic systems, Sec-translocation is required for protein mannosylation in *M. tuberculosis*. The glycosyltransferases involved in the further elongation of the $\alpha(1\rightarrow 2)$ or $\alpha(1\rightarrow 3)$ -linked oligomannoside motifs have not yet been identified. Our recent work on a knock-out mutant of *M. tuberculosis* H37Rv deficient in the $\alpha(1\rightarrow 2)$ -mannosyltransferase Rv1159 (PimE) suggests that this enzyme is not involved in the glycosylation of Apa (Larrouy-Maumus *et al.*, unpublished).

V. THE GLYCOCONJUGATE POLYMERS OF THE CELL WALL CORE

A. Arabinogalactan

1. Structure of AG

AG was recognized as the major cell wall polysaccharide of mycobacteria as early as the 1950s. Its apparent function as a whole is the tethering of the mycolic acid layer to the PG. The function of the galactan region beyond where arabinan attaches is unknown, but it was proposed to produce a viscous hydrophilic region between the PG and mycolic acid layers. The most recent model of AG indicates that it contains 125 glycosyl residues in total distributed between a galactan domain made of 30 Galf residues, three arabinan domains each containing 31 Araf residues, and a specific linker unit ensuring its covalent attachment to PG made of a rhamnosyl residue attached to a N-acetylglucosaminosyl-1phosphate residue (Bhamidi et al., 2008). The galactan of AG is made of a disaccharide repeating unit, $[\rightarrow 6\text{-}D\text{-}Galf\beta]\rightarrow 5\text{-}D\text{-}Galf\beta]_{15}$. Arabinan chains are attached to O-5 of Galf residues 8, 10 and 12 of galactan. The characteristic non-reducing termini of the arabinan domain of AG consist of an Ara₆ motif, Ara $f\beta 1 \rightarrow 2$ Ara $f\alpha 1 \rightarrow 5$ (Ara $f\beta 1 \rightarrow 2$ Ara $f\alpha 1 \rightarrow 3$)-Araf α 1 \rightarrow 5Araf α 1 \rightarrow , where position 5 of both the terminal β -Araf and the penultimate 2- α -Araf serve as the anchoring points for the mycolic acids. Under physiological conditions, approximately two-thirds of the Ara₆ motifs are mycolylated (McNeil *et al.*, 1991). The inner core of the arabinan domain is essentially made of stretches of α -1,5-linked Araf residues with a critically positioned α -3,5-branch site (Fig. 2.1). Some of the interior α -3,5-Araf residues are substituted at position 2 with either a non-N-acetylated galactosamine residue or a succinyl residue (Bhamidi et al., 2008; Lee et al., 2006). The inner core of the *D*-arabinan portion of AG is very similar to that of LAM in that the same linkages of Araf units are found and both structures share an internal Ara₁₈ motif extending from the α -3,5-Araf interior residues (Fig. 2.1). The interior regions of LAM arabinan, however, have been shown to be more variable in terms of the length of this Araf motif (Ara₁₈–Ara₂₂) (Bhamidi *et al.*, 2008; Shi *et al.*, 2006).

2. AG biosynthesis

The galactan and arabinan domains of AG are synthesized as a unit on a decaprenyl phosphate (Dec-P) carrier lipid before being transferred onto PG by an as yet unidentified ligase (Yagi *et al.*, 2003). The synthesis of AG is thus initiated on a Dec-P molecule with formation of the linker unit, followed by what appears to be the simultaneous addition of Galf and Araf residues (Mikušová *et al.*, 1996, 2000; Yagi *et al.*, 2003) (Fig. 2.6). Many of the enzymes involved in this complex process have been identified.



Ara70-Gal30-Rha-GlcNAc-P-P-polyprenol

FIGURE 2.6 Proposed pathway for the biosynthesis of mycobacterial arabinogalactan. AG synthesis is initiated by a transfer of GlcNAc-1-phosphate onto a polyprenyl-phosphate and continues with the sequential addition of glycosyl residues to this lipid carrier. The enzymes that have been proposed to be involved in this process are indicated on the figure.

Detailed reviews of the biosynthesis of polyprenyl phosphate have been published (Barry *et al.*, 2007; Crick and Brennan, 2008; Crick *et al.*, 2001; Wolucka *et al.*, 2008). It is predicted that a transferase encoded by *Rv1302* (a putative orthologue of WecA) in the genome of *M. tuberculosis* H37Rv transfers GlcNAc-1-phosphate to Dec-P to form Dec-P-P-GlcNAc (GL-1) (Dal Nogare *et al.*, 1998; McNeil, 1999; Mikušová *et al.*, 1996). This step is followed by the attachment of a rhamnosyl residue to the 3 position of GlcNAc in a reaction catalysed by WbbL (Rv3265c) to form GL-2, 'the linker unit' (Mills *et al.*, 2004). dTDP-Rha, which serves as the Rha donor in this reaction, is synthesized from glucose-1-phosphate through a four-step reaction catalysed by the α -D-glucose-1-phosphate thymidylyl transferase RmIA (Rv0334) (Ma *et al.*, 1997), the dTDP-D-glucose 4,6-dehydratase RmlB (Rv3464) (Ma *et al.*, 2001), the dTDP-4-keto-6-deoxy-D-glucose 3,5 epimerase RmlC (Rv3465) (Stern *et al.*, 1999) and the dTDP-rhamnose synthetase RmlD (Rv3266c) (Hoang *et al.*, 1999).

Galf residues are then added to the linker unit from UDP-Galf which originates in UDP-Galp in a reaction catalysed by UDP-Galp mutase (Glf; Rv3809c) (Mikušová *et al.*, 2000; Weston *et al.*, 1997). UDP-Galp is synthesized from UDP-glucose by UDP-Galp epimerase, likely encoded by *Rv3634*. The galactosyltransferase Rv3782 (GlfT1) catalyses the first stages of galactan synthesis transferring the two first Galf residues onto the linker unit (Belanová *et al.*, 2008; Mikušová *et al.*, 2006), while Rv3808c (GlfT2) continues with the subsequent polymerization events (Belanová *et al.*, 2008; Kremer *et al.*, 2001; Mikušová *et al.*, 2000; Rose *et al.*, 2006). GlfT2 is a bifunctional galactosyltransferase that catalyses the synthesis of the alternating 5- and 6-linked, linear, galactofuran in a processive manner. It is thought to be responsible for the polymerization of the bulk of the galactofuran.

As in the case of LAM, knowledge of the enzymes involved in the elongation of the *D*-arabinan structures of AG is more limited. Polyprenolmonophosphoryl-β-D-arabinose (DPA) is the only known Araf donor in mycobacteria (Wolucka et al., 1994). It is synthesized from 5-phosphoribose-pyrophosphate (Scherman et al., 1995, 1996) following four catalytic steps which have been characterized (Huang et al., 2005, 2008; Mikušová et al., 2005). Since DPA is the only known Araf donor, it is expected that the arabinosylation of AG and LAM is catalysed by membrane-associated polyprenyl-dependent glycosyltransferases (GTs) on the periplasmic side of the plasma membrane (Berg et al., 2007). We and others have recently reported of the potential existence of seventeen such enzymes in M. tuberculosis H37Rv, the implication of twelve of which in the glycosylation of various proteins, glycolipids or polysaccharides has now been established (for a review, Berg et al., 2007; Birch et al., 2008; Kaur et al., 2007; Mishra et al., 2008; Seidel et al., 2007). Arabinofuranosyltransferases characterized to date include AftA (Rv3792), involved in the transfer of the very first Araf residues to the galactan domain of AG (Alderwick et al., 2006; Shi et al., 2008), the terminal β 1,2-capping arabinosyltransferase AftB (Rv3805c) (Seidel *et al.*, 2007), Rv2673 (AftC) involved in the α -1,3branching of the arabinan domain of AG (Birch et al., 2008) and the EmbA and EmbB proteins involved in the formation of the Ara₆ motif (Escuyer et al., 2001; Khasnobis et al., 2006). Although EmbA and EmbB, acting alone or as heterodimers, have also been proposed to participate in the α -1,5-elongation of the linear portion of arabinan, experimental evidence for this assumption is still lacking (Bhamidi et al., 2008). Our most recent results suggest that Rv0236c, the largest putative GT-C identified in the genome of *M. tuberculosis* displays, like Rv2673, α-1,3-branching arabinofuranosyltransferase activity, catalysing *in vitro* the transfer of an Araf residue from DPA to a synthetic linear α -1,5-linked Ara₅ acceptor.

We found the orthologue of Rv0236c in *M. smegmatis* mc²155 to be an essential enzyme and its activity to be rate limiting for the synthesis of AG as a whole (Skovierová et al., unpublished results). As proposed earlier for the Emb proteins (Berg et al., 2005, 2007), the large size of Rv0236c (1400 amino acids) suggests that it might have additional functions - for example controlling the length of the various interior or exterior segments of the arabinan polymer, acting a scaffold for a multi-enzyme machinery involved in arabinosylation - in addition to the direct transfer of Araf units from a Dec-P-Araf donor. Interestingly, our recent results also indicate that Rv1459c, another GT-C enzyme whose distantly related orthologue in *C. glutamicum* was shown to be an α-1,6-mannosyltransferase involved in the elongation of PIM₂ (Mishra et al., 2008), displays *in vitro* the same α -1,3-branching arabinosyltransferase activity as Rv2673 and Rv0236c on a synthetic linear α-1,5-linked Ara₅ acceptor. In contrast to what has been reported (Mishra et al., 2008), we found the orthologue of Rv1459c in M. smegmatis mc²155 to be essential for growth (Korduláková, Škovierová et al., unpublished). The reason for this discrepancy between the results of these two studies is unknown. The reason for the apparent existence of three non-redundant α -1,3-arabinosyltransferases, Rv2673, Rv1459c and Rv0236c, is at present unclear but could be related to the existence of a multi-protein complex participating in the formation of the arabinan domain or to their different involvement in the branching of the interior or outermost domains of arabinan in AG and/or LAM (Fig. 2.1). Alternatively, one cannot exclude that under physiological conditions, these enzymes participate in the α -1,5 elongation rather than in the branching of the arabinan domains of AG and LAM. Indeed, although elongating α -1,5 arabinofuranosyltransferase activities – some of which apparently unrelated to the Emb proteins - have been detected in cell-free assays using mycobacterial cell wall preparations and synthetic linear or branched arabinan acceptors (Lee et al., 1997, 1998; Zhang et al., 2007), the identity of the responsible enzymes remains to be determined. Likewise, the enzymes responsible for the transfer of the galactosamine and succinyl residues onto some of the interior α -3,5-Araf residues of arabinan are not yet known.

The fact that the addition of Gal*f* and Ara*f* residues appears to occur simultaneously makes it unclear whether polymerization events leading to the formation of AG take place inside or outside the plasma membrane. While the involvement of GT-C enzymes in the polymerization of the arabinan domain clearly points to the periplasmic localization of arabinan formation, the donor of Gal*f* residues in galactan synthesis is a nucleotide sugar expected to be cytoplasmic. The fact that the data leading to the conclusion of simultaneous galactosylation and arabinosylation events were generated using cell-free assays in which the natural topology of the membrane was disrupted may be the basis of this apparent

discrepancy. In that case, the transporters involved in the translocation of the galactan polymer synthesized inside the cytosol to the periplasm remain to be identified.

Interestingly, many of the genes involved in the biogenesis of the galactan and arabinan domains of AG and LAM, the formation of mycolic acids and the transfer of mycolates onto AG or trehalose are clustered in a region of the *M. tuberculosis* chromosome often referred to as the 'cell wall biosynthetic cluster' (Fig. 2.7). This cluster also carries a number of as yet uncharacterized sugar-modifying enzymes and transporters.

3. AG biosynthesis and drug discovery

The inhibitory activity of ethambutol, a first-line anti-TB drug shown to target the Emb proteins, first illustrated the essentiality of AG in *M. tuberculosis* and other mycobacteria (Belanger *et al.*, 1996; Lee *et al.*, 1995). Other studies have since provided genetic evidence of the essentiality of multiple steps of the biogenesis of AG (Barry *et al.*, 2007). Genes found to be essential in *M. tuberculosis* or *M. smegmatis* include those involved in the biogenesis of Dec-P (Eoh *et al.*, 2007), the formation of dTDP-Rha (Li *et al.*, 2006; Ma *et al.*, 2002), the linker unit (Mills *et al.*, 2004), the UDP-Galf mutase gene *Rv3809c* (Pan *et al.*, 2001), the galactosyltransferase genes *Rv3782* and *Rv3808c* (Pan *et al.*, 2001) and the arabinosyltransferase or putative arabinosyltransferase genes *embA*, *embC*, *Rv3792* (*AftA*), *Rv1459c* and *Rv0236c* (Amin *et al.*, 2008; Shi *et al.*, 2008; our unpublished results).

In view of the absence of most of the biosynthetic pathway of AG in mammalian cells and essentiality, there is considerable interest in exploiting several of the enzymes of this pathway as therapeutic targets. The few drug discovery enzyme assays that have been designed and the target enzymes whose crystal structures have been determined have recently been reviewed (Barry *et al.*, 2007; Brennan and Crick, 2007; Wolucka, 2008).

B. Peptidoglycan

Two opposing models of the secondary structure of the mycolyl–AGpeptidoglycan complex (mAGP) have been proposed and reviewed (Crick and Brennan, 2008). One predicts that the PG and galactan are parallel to the plasma membrane (McNeil and Brennan, 1991). This orientation is consistent with traditional models of the PG structure; however, other modelling studies suggest that the PG and AG strands may be coiled and perpendicular to the plane of the plasma membrane (Dmitriev *et al.*, 1999, 2000). Recently, the relevant studies on the secondary structure of PG in Gram-negative bacteria were reviewed (Vollmer and Holtje, 2004), and the preponderance of data appears to favour the parallel model in these organisms, but the perpendicular model recently



FIGURE 2.7 A schematic representation of the *M. tuberculosis* H37Rv cell wall biosynthetic gene cluster (*Rv3779-Rv3809c*) encompassing genes involved (or likely to be) in the biosynthesis of mycolic acids (*accD4*, *pks13*, *fadD32*, *fbpD*, *fbpA*), arabinogalactan (*glfT1*, *Rv3790*, *Rv3791*, *aftA*, *embA*, *embB*, *aftB*, *ubiA*, *glfT2*, *glf*), and LAM (*embA*, *embB*, *embC*, *aftB*, *ubiA*). Genes annotated or suggested as glycosyltransferases are marked in bold.

gained support from the three-dimensional solution structure of a synthetic fragment of the cell-wall as determined by NMR. These results indicate that the glycan backbone of the synthetic PG fragment forms a right-handed helix with a periodicity of six sugar residues, leading the authors to conclude that the glycan strand of PG is orthogonal to the plane of the membrane *in vivo* as opposed to the parallel hypothesis (Meroueh *et al.*, 2006). Thus, the overall structure and topology of the mAGP complex in *Mycobacterium* spp. remains open to debate as does the threedimensional structure of PG in other eubacteria.

The detailed primary structure of the PG of Mycobacterium spp. has been reviewed many times, as recently as 2008 (see Crick and Brennan, 2008) (Fig. 2.8). PG is a complex polymer forming a rigid layer outside the plasma membrane providing cellular shape and the strength to withstand osmotic pressure, as well as a scaffold for the structures described (Fig. 2.1). PG from *M. tuberculosis* has been classified as $A1\gamma$ as has that of Escherichia coli and Bacillus spp. according to the classification system of Schleifer and Kandler (1972) and is composed of linear chains of N-acetylα-D-glucosamine (GlcNAc) and modified muramic acid (Mur) substituted with peptide side chains that are heavily cross-linked providing added structural integrity to the bacterium; the overall degree of cross-linking is 70-80% in Mycobacterium spp. (Matsuhashi, 1966) compared to 50% in E. coli (Vollmer and Holtje, 2004). The tetrapeptide side chains of PG consist of L-alanyl-D-isoglutaminyl-meso-diaminopimelyl-D-alanine (L-Ala-D-Glu-A₂pm-D-Ala) with the Glu and A₂pm being further amidated (Adam et al., 1969; Kotani et al., 1970; Lederer et al., 1975; Petit et al., 1969; Wietzerbin-Falszpan et al., 1970). About two-thirds of the peptide crosslinks found in M. tuberculosis PG are between the carboxyl group of a terminal D-Ala and the amino group at the D-centre of A₂pm resulting a D, D bond (Wietzerbin et al., 1974), and approximately one-third of the peptide cross-links occur between the carboxyl group of the L-center of one A₂pm residue and the amino group of the D-center of another A₂pm residue forming a LD-cross-link (Wietzerbin *et al.*, 1974). LD-cross-links are relatively rare, but recently have also been reported in the PG of Streptomyces spp., Clostridium perfringens (Leyh-Bouille et al., 1970) and stationary phase E. coli (Goffin and Ghuysen, 2002; Templin et al., 1999). In addition, in mycobacterial PG some of the Mur residues are N-acylated with glycolic acid (MurNGlyc) rather than N-acetylated (MurNAc) (Mahapatra et al., 2000, 2005a; Raymond et al., 2005), and the hydroxyl moiety of C-6 of some of the Mur residues forms phosphodiester bonds to C-1 of MurN-Glyc which in turn is $(1\rightarrow 3)$ linked to a α -L-rhamnose (Rha) residue providing the 'linker unit' between the galactan of AG and PG (McNeil et al., 1990).

In terms of PG biosynthesis, the arrangement of genes responsible for PG synthesis in *M. tuberculosis* is similar to that in other bacteria



FIGURE 2.8 Structure of a representative monomer of mycobacterial PG prior to peptide trimming. R₁, *N*-glycolylmuramic acid residue of another monomer; R₂, *N*-acetylglucosamine residue of another monomer; R₃, H or the linker unit of AG; R₄, H, COCH₃ (*N*-acetyl) or COCH₂OH (*N*-glycolyl); R₅, R₆, R₈, OH, NH₂ or OCH₃; R₇, H, or cross-linked to penultimate D-Ala or to the D-centre of another *meso*-DAP residue.

(Mahapatra *et al.*, 2000), and in all probability, so is the biochemistry (Mahapatra *et al.*, 2005b). Hence, the excellent reviews on bacterial PG synthesis, in general (van Heijenoort, 1994, 1996, 1998, 2001a,b), are applicable. However, there are some unusual aspects related to PG synthesis in mycobacteria. As noted earlier, the glycan chains are composed of alternating units of $\beta 1 \rightarrow 4$ linked GlcNAc, MurNAc and MurNGlyc, whereas, most other bacteria contain *N*-acetylmuramic acid. The oxidation of the *N*-acetyl group to *N*-glycolyl is catalysed by a recently identified enzyme

designated NamH (Raymond *et al.*, 2005). Although there is no indication that this modification is essential for *M. tuberculosis* survival, *M. smegmatis* mutants devoid of *namH* show increased sensitivity to β -lactams and lysozyme (Raymond *et al.*, 2005). In addition, the free carboxylic acid groups of the A₂pm or p-isoglutamic acid residues of mycobacterial PG may be amidated, and some of the free carboxylic groups of the p-isoglutamic acid residues may also be modified by the addition of a glycine residue in peptide linkage (Adam *et al.*, 1969). The importance of these modifications to the survival of the bacillus awaits identification of the enzymes responsible.

VI. CYTOSOLIC GLYCOCONJUGATES

A. Polymethylated polysaccharides

Polymethylated polysaccharides (PMPS) are unusual carbohydrates unique to the order Actinomycetales. Although all mycobacteria were originally thought to produce two classes of them, the 3-O-methylmannose polysaccharides (MMPs) and the 6-O-methylglucose lipopolysaccharides (MGLPs), our preliminary evidence suggests that MMPs may be restricted to fast-growing mycobacterial *spp*. and thus, absent from *M*. tuberculosis (Stadthagen et al., 2007). MGLPs and MMPs were first isolated from M. phlei, M. smegmatis and M. tuberculosis in Dr. Clinton Ballou's laboratory (Gray and Ballou, 1971; Lee, 1966; Lee and Ballou, 1964), and much of the information we have about these molecules comes from early work from this group. A remarkable property associated with PMPS is their ability to form stable 1:1 complexes with long-chain fatty acids and acyl-coenzyme A derivatives and to regulate the activity of Fatty Acid Synthase I in vitro (reviewed in Bloch, 1977). These findings have led to the suggestion that they may be important regulators of lipid metabolism in mycobacteria. Physiological evidence for this assumption is however lacking.

The MGLPs of *M. tuberculosis* are cytoplasmic lipopolysaccharides of intermediate size containing up to 20 sugar units, many of which are partially *O*-methylated. The structure of MGLPs from the closely related species *M. bovis* BCG has been characterized in detail (Tuffal *et al.*, 1998a) (Fig. 2.9A). The fact that both MMPs and MGLPs are composed of hexose units predominantly or exclusively in α -(1 \rightarrow 4)-linkage confers on these molecules a proclivity to assume the helical conformation characteristic of amylose. The fact that many of these hexoses are partially *O*-methylated further confers on the molecules a slight hydrophobicity. These structural features in turn confer on PMPS the ability to form complexes with fatty acyl chains (Hindsgaul and Ballou, 1984; Machida and Bloch, 1973;



FIGURE 2.9 Methylglucose lipopolysaccharides. (A) Structure of the MGLPs from *M. bovis* BCG. The non-reducing end of the polymer is acylated by a combination of acetate, propionate and isobutyrate (R'), whereas octanoate (R) esterifies position 1 of glyceric acid, and zero to three succinate groups (R") esterify the Glc residues of the reducing end. MGLPs occur as a mixture of four main components that differ in their content of esterified succinic acid. (B) Three-dimensional structure of the glucosyl-3-phosphoglycerate synthase from *M. avium* subsp. *paratuberculosis* (MAP2569c) in complex with UDP-Glc. Representation of the dimeric form of the MAP2569c. One monomer is 'colour ramped' from the N terminus (blue) to the C terminus (red). The second monomer is in grey and UDP-Glc is shown in yellow.

Maggio, 1980; Tuffal *et al.*, 1998b; Yabusaki and Ballou, 1978; Yabusaki *et al.*, 1979), accounting for their unique regulatory roles on fatty acid metabolism *in vitro* (Bloch, 1977; Forsberg *et al.*, 1982; Yabusaki and Ballou, 1979).

Only in recent years has the genetics of the biosynthesis of MGLPs in *M. tuberculosis* begun to be explored. Two gene clusters have been described which seem to carry much of the genes required for the gluco-sylation, acylation and methylation steps of these molecules (Kaur *et al.*, unpublished results; Sambou *et al.*, 2008; Stadthagen *et al.*, 2007). The glucosyl-3-phosphoglycerate synthase from *M. tuberculosis* (Rv1208) and orthologue in *M. avium* subsp. *paratuberculosis* (MAP2569c), which likely catalyse the first glucosyl transfer in the pathway (Empadinhas *et al.*, 2008), have been crystallized and the structure of the latter enzyme solved without substrate and in complex with the donor substrate, UDP-Glc (Fulton *et al.*, 2008a,b; Gest *et al.*, 2008). The structure of the protein displays the typical organization of GT-A fold enzymes with a conserved

DxD motif that coordinates a Mg^{2+} ion (Fig. 2.9B). Current knowledge of the biosynthesis and genetics of MGLPs in *M. tuberculosis* has recently been reviewed, and we would like to refer the reader to this publication (Jackson and Brennan, 2009).

B. Glycogen

Glycogen is an intracellular polysaccharide which serves as a major carbohydrate reserve in most bacteria. Glycogen content in mycobacteria, including *M. tuberculosis*, was shown to vary with growth phase and nitrogen concentration in the medium (Antoine and Tepper, 1969a,b; Elbein and Mitchell, 1973). Furthermore, the constant recycling of this molecule during exponential phase seems to be essential for growth of *M. smegmatis* (Belanger and Hatfull, 1999).

The structure of glycogen is almost undistinguishable from that of the capsular α -D-glucan described earlier (see Section III). Recently, the application of analytical centrifugation and dynamic light scattering to α -D-glucan and glycogen purified from *M. bovis* BCG indicated, however, that the α -D-glucan possessed a slightly higher molecular mass (13 × 10⁶ versus 7.5 × 10⁶ Da) and was more compact than glycogen (Dinadayala *et al.*, 2008).

Not surprisingly, the biosynthetic pathways of glycogen and α -D-glucan share common enzymes (see Section III) (Sambou et al., 2008). Two partially redundant α-1,4-glucosyltransferases, GlgA (Rv1212c) and Rv3032, apparently participate in the elongation of glycogen in M. tuberculosis, although in whole cells Rv3032 seems to be the main enzyme involved in this task (Sambou et al., 2008). The molecular mechanisms underlying the preferred involvement of GlgA and Rv3032 in one or the other pathway are at present not known. Rv3032 is also involved in the elongation of the MGLPs described earlier (Stadthagen et al., 2007). GlgB (Rv1326c) was identified as the branching enzyme and reported to be essential for growth (Garg et al., 2007; Sambou et al., 2008). To our knowledge, this is the first glycogen-branching enzyme reported to be essential in a prokaryotic organism. The reason of its essentiality in the tubercle bacillus is unknown. As GlgB seems to be the only branching enzyme committed in the synthesis of α -D-glucan and glycogen, its essentiality may be related to the physiological requirement of M. tuberculosis to produce at least one of these two polysaccharides. This assumption is also supported by the inability to generate a double glgA/Rv3032 knockout of *M. tuberculosis* (Sambou et al., 2008). By analogy with glgB mutants of E. coli (Lares et al., 1974), one may also speculate that a deficiency in GlgB could lead to the accumulation of poorly water-soluble linear polymers of 4-linked α -glucosyl residues, either in the cytosol or in the periplasmic space of the cell envelope, causing the death of the bacterium.

The fact that significant amounts of α -D-glucan and glycogen were still produced by an ADP-Glc pyrophosphorylase glgC mutant of M. tuberculosis H37Rv indicates that the GlgC-dependent ADP-Glc pathway is not the only route to glycogen/glucan synthesis in *M. tuberculosis* H37Rv. Other as yet unidentified enzymes with low sequence similarity to the usual prokaryotic ADP-Glc pyrophosphorylases may exist in *M. tuberculosis.* It is also possible that one of the two α -1,4-glucosyltransferases, Rv3032 or GlgA, utilizes UDP-Glc instead of ADP-Glc as the sugar donor in the elongation reactions. A recent study has implicated the trehalose synthase, TreS, of M. smegmatis in the (reversible) utilization of trehalose for the production of glycogen, in addition to its role in the interconversion of trehalose and maltose (Pan et al., 2008). The TreS enzyme of *M. tuberculosis* is likely to function similarly. Finally, the presence of a putative amylomaltase gene (Rv1781c, malQ) in the *M. tuberculosis* genome suggests that this bacterium might have the ability to synthesize α -1,4-glucans when grown on maltose or maltodextrin (Preiss and Romeo, 1989).

C. Mycothiol

Mycothiol is a low-molecular-weight thiol produced by Actinobacteria whose primary role is to maintain a reducing environment in the cells which is necessary for standard metabolic activities to occur. It also represents a stabilized form of cysteine which is required for protein and CoA synthesis in the cells. Mycothiol has been shown to protect mycobacteria against oxidative stress, alkylating stress, acid stress and a broad range of antibiotics (Fig. 2.10A) (for a review, Buchmeier *et al.*, 2003, 2006; Miller *et al.*, 2007; Newton *et al.*, 2008; Rawat *et al.*, 2002, 2007). Like glutathione in Gram-negative bacteria and eukaryotes, mycothiol also serves as an enzyme cofactor (Newton *et al.*, 2008; Rawat and Av-Gay, 2007), and it is thus thought that either mycothiol or mycothiol-dependent proteins account for the protection of mycobacteria against oxidants and other toxic agents (Rawat and Av-Gay, 2007).

Mycothiol biosynthesis proceeds through a five-step pathway. *N*-acetylglucosaminylinositol phosphate is the product of the UDP-GlcNAc:1L*myo*-Ins-1-P α -N-acetylglucoaminyltransferase MshA (Rv0486), a nucleotide-sugar utilizing GT-B glycosyltransferase (Newton *et al.*, 2003, 2006a). An unidentified phosphatase dephosphorylates this molecule to yield *N*-acetylglucosaminylinositol (GlcNAc-Ins) (Newton *et al.*, 2006a). Deacetylation of GlcNAc-Ins by the deacetylase MshB (Rv1170) yields 1-D-*myo*-inosityl-2-deoxy- α -D-glucopyranoside (GlcN-Ins) (Newton *et al.*, 2000, 2006b) which is then linked to cysteine by the ATP-dependent ligase MshC (Rv2130c) to yield Cys-GlcN-Ins (Sareen *et al.*, 2002). The final step



FIGURE 2.10 Mycothiol. (A) Structure of mycothiol; (B) Three-dimensional structure of a *Cg*MshA–UDP–Ins-P complex. Representation of the dimeric form of *Cg*MshA. One monomer is 'colour ramped' from the N terminus (blue) to the C terminus (red). The second monomer is in grey and the UDP and Ins-P substrates are shown in yellow. The dimer interface is entirely composed of residues from the N-terminal domain.

of the pathway is the conversion of Cys-GlcN-Ins to acetyl Cys-GlcN-Ins (mycothiol) by the acetyltransferase MshD (Rv0819) (Koledin *et al.*, 2002).

Gene disruption studies initially showed that *mshA* and *mshC* are essential for the growth of *M. tuberculosis*, thereby implicating mycothiol as vital components of the tubercle bacillus (Buchmeier and Fahey, 2006; Sareen et al., 2003). This assumption was recently questioned when spontaneous isoniazid- and ethionamide-resistant mutants of M. tuberculosis carrying mutations in *mshA* and deficient in mycothiol production were found to display a wild-type growth phenotype in vitro and in mice (Vilchèze et al., 2008). The reason for this discrepancy is unknown but could be due to the different M. tuberculosis strains used in the two studies or to the ability of the spontaneous mutants to produce undetectable but sufficient amounts of mycothiol to sustain growth. mshB and mshD are clearly not essential in *M. tuberculosis* as knock-out mutants still produced significant amounts of mycothiol and biosynthetically related thiol compounds (Buchmeier et al., 2003, 2006). In view of the absence of mycothiol in mammalian cells and potential essentiality, the MshA and MshC proteins may represent attractive targets for novel anti-TB drugs. Consistently, the crystal structures of MshB and MshD from M. tuberculosis
and MshA from the closely related *C. glutamicum* have been determined, and inhibitors of MshB and MshC have been reported (Metaferia *et al.*, 2007; Newton *et al.*, 2006c).

The catalytic mechanism of 'retaining' GTs that leads to retention of the anomeric sugar binding is still a matter of debate and controversy. A double-displacement mechanism via the formation of a covalent glycosyl-enzyme intermediate was first proposed. However, in the absence of direct evidence of a viable covalent intermediate, an alternative mechanism was suggested, the S_Ni 'internal return' (Lairson *et al.*, 2008). The crystal structure of MshA (*Cg*MshA, pdb code 3C4V), solved in the absence of substrates and in complex with UDP and Ins-P, has shed some light into the catalytic mechanism of 'retaining' GTs (Fig. 2.10B) (Vetting *et al.*, 2008). Vetting *et al.* (2008) proposed a substrate-assisted mechanism, in which the β -PO₄ of UDP-*N*-acetylglucosamine promotes the nucleophilic attack of the 3-hydroxyl group of Ins-P and assists in the cleavage of the sugar-nucleotide bond.

VII. CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PROSPECTS

From this comprehensive review one can see that the primary biosynthetic pathways responsible for the synthesis of the individual entities of the cell wall of *M. tuberculosis* have been defined or are nearing so, and the roles of the individual enzymes and genes in the processes are known. Certainly this general statement applies to the synthesis of peptidoglycan, much of the arabinogalactan, the mycolic acids, LAM, the phthioceroland trehalose-containing lipids and glycolipids. In these respects the next great challenges are the definition of the mechanisms of assembly of the final mAGP complex, precisely the enzymology and genetics of the ligation of peptidoglycan to the arabinogalactan and recognition of the juncture at which mycolic acids are attached to the complex. Beyond these challenges are the issues of the assembly of the whole, a topic still to be faced in the case of cell wall assembly of the better studied Grampositive and Gram-negative bacteria. Nevertheless, the elegant studies on the assembly of Gram negative LPS provide a paradigm for such future studies (Raetz and Whitfield, 2002). For instance completion of the Smooth-LPS molecule involves the ligation of the O-polysaccharide to the nascent Lipid A-Core and these events are located on the periplasmic face of the inner membrane, and the *waaL* gene product may be solely responsible for this ligation. Moreover the central role of MsbA in the delivery of the Lipid A-Core to the periplasmic face is now well recognized. Already searches in the M. tuberculosis genomes for homologues of such as the *msbA* gene, an ABC transporter, are under way. Likewise from the literature on LPS deposition (Raetz and Whitfield, 2002), we know of the roles of, for instance, WecA, WbbE and F, in the assembly of O polysaccharides in a synthase-dependent pathway, and the necessity that the *O*-polysaccharide be still in its polyprenyl-linked format. Thus, we speculate that the AG complex of *M. tuberculosis* is exported to the cell wall in an equivalent form perhaps mediated by WecA, WbbE and F homologues. Thus, despite impressive progress over the past 20 years in our understanding of the biogenesis of the cell wall of *M. tuberculosis*, the challenges remaining are substantial. Yet, this avenue of research is particularly pressing in light of the present-day reality of drug-resistant TB and the need for new antidotes. Enzymes located beyond the cytoplasmic membrane involved in unique assembly mechanisms offer great promise as new therapeutic target with novel mechanisms of action.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors wish to thank Dr. Jana Korduláková (Comenius University, Bratislava, Slovakia) for sharing unpublished results. Figure 2.1 was adapted from a figure generously provided by M. Scherman and Dr. M. McNeil (Colorado State University). Research conducted in the authors' laboratory was supported by grants from the NIH-NIAID (AI064798 and AI018357) and Colorado State University's Infectious Disease SuperCluster.

REFERENCES

- Adam, A., Petit, J. F., Wietzerbin-Falszpan, J., Sinay, P., Thomas, D. W., and Lederer, E. (1969). Mass spectrometric identification of N-glycolylmuramic acid, a constituent of *Mycobacterium smegmatis* walls. *FEBS Lett.* 4, 87–92.
- Alderwick, L. J., Seidel, M., Sahm, H., Besra, G. S., and Eggeling, L. (2006). Identification of a novel arabinosyl transferase (AftA) involved in cell wall arabinan biosynthesis in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 15653–15661.
- Amin, A. G., Goude, R., Shi, L., Zhang, J., Chatterjee, C., and Parish, T. (2008). EmbA is an essential arabinosyltransferase in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. *Microbiology* 154, 240–248.
- Antoine, A. D., and Tepper, B. S. (1969). Characterization of glycogens from mycobacteria. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* **134**, 207–213.
- Antoine, A. D., and Tepper, B. S. (1969). Environmental control of glycogen and lipid content of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. J. Bacteriol. 100, 538–539.
- Appelmelk, B. J., den Dunnen, J., Driessen, N. N., Ummels, R., Pak, M., Nigou, J., Larrouy-Maumus, G., Gurcha, S. S., Movahedzadeh, F., Geurtsen, J., Brown, E. J., et al. (2008). The mannose cap of mycobacterial lipoarabinomannan does not dominate the *Mycobacterium*host interaction. *Cell Microbiol.* **10**, 930–944.
- Barry, C. E., Crick, D. C., and McNeil, M. R. (2007). Targeting the formation of the cell wall core of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. *Infect. Disord. Drug Targets* 7, 182–202.
- Belanger, A. E., Besra, G. S., Ford, M. E., Mikušová, K., Belisle, J. T., Brennan, P. J., and Inamine, J. M. (1996). The *embAB* genes of *Mycobacterium avium* encode an arabinosyl transferase involved in cell wall arabinan biosynthesis that is the target for the antimycobacterial drug ethambutol. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 93, 11919–11924.
- Belanger, A. E., and Hatfull, G. F. (1999). Exponential-phase glycogen recycling is essential for growth of *Mycobacterium smegmatis*. J. Bacteriol. 181, 6670–6678.

- Belanová, M., Dianišková, P., Brennan, P. J., Completo, G. C., Rose, N. L., Lowary, T. L., and Mikušová, K. (2008). Galactosyl transferases in mycobacterial cell wall synthesis. *J. Bacteriol.* **190**, 1141–1145.
- Belisle, J. T., Vissa, V. D., Sievert, T., Takayama, K., Brennan, P. J., and Besra, G. S. (1997). Role of the major antigen of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* in the cell wall biogenesis. *Science* 276, 1420–1422.
- Berg, S., Kaur, D., Jackson, M., and Brennan, P. J. (2007). The glycosyltransferases of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* Roles in the synthesis of arabinogalactan, lipoarabinomannan, and other glycoconjugates. *Glycobiology* **17**, 35R–56R.
- Berg, S., Starbuck, J., Torrelles, J. B., Vissa, V. D., Crick, D. C., Chatterjee, C., and Brennan, P. J. (2005). Roles of the conserved proline and glycosyltransferase motifs of EmbC in biosynthesis of lipoarabinomannan. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 5651–5663.
- Bertozzi, C. R., and Schelle, M. W. (2008). Sulfated metabolites from *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*: Sulfolipid-1 and beyond. *In* "The Mycobacterial Cell Envelope" (M. Daffé and J.-M. Reyrat, Eds.), pp. 291–304. ASM Press, Washington, DC.
- Besra, G. S., Morehouse, C. B., Rittner, C. M., Waechter, C. J., and Brennan, P. J. (1997). Biosynthesis of mycobacterial lipoarabinomannan. J. Biol. Chem. 272, 18460–18466.
- Besra, G. S., Sievert, T., Lee, R. E., Slayden, R. A., Brennan, P. J., and Takayama, K. (1994). Identification of the apparent carrier in mycolic acid synthesis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 91, 12735–12739.
- Bhamidi, S., Scherman, M. S., Rithner, C. D., Prenni, J. E., Chatterjee, D., Khoo, K.-H., and McNeil, M. R. (2008). The identification and location of succinyl residues and the characterization of the interior arabinan region allows for a model of the complete primary structure of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* mycolyl arabinogalactan. *J. Biol. Chem.* 283, 12992–13000.
- Bhatt, K., Gurcha, S. S., Bhatt, A., Besra, G. S., and Jacobs, W. R. Jr. (2007). Two polyketidesynthase-associated acyltransferases are required for sulfolipid biosynthesis in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. *Microbiology* **153**, 513–520.
- Birch, H. L., Alderwick, L. J., Bhatt, A., Rittmann, D., Krumbach, K., Singh, A., Bai, Y., Lowary, T. L., Eggeling, L., and Besra, G. S. (2008). Biosynthesis of mycobacterial arabinogalactan: Identification of a novel α(1→3) arabinofuranosyltransferase. *Mol. Microbiol.* 69, 1191–1206.
- Bloch, K. (1977). Control mechanisms for fatty acid synthesis in *Mycobacterium smegmatis*. *In* "Advances in Enzymology and Related Areas of Molecular Biology" (A. Meister, Ed.), Vol. 45, pp. 1–84. John Wiley & Sons, New York.
- Brennan, P. J., and Crick, D. C. (2007). The cell-wall core of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* in the context of drug discovery. *Curr. Top. Med.Chem.* 7, 475–488.
- Brennan, P. J., and Draper, P. (1994). Ultrastructure of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. *In* "Tuberculosis: Pathogenesis, Protection and Control," (B. R. Bloom, Ed.), pp. 271–284. ASM Press, Washington, DC.
- Briken, V., Porcelli, S. A., Besra, G. S., and Kremer, L. (2004). Mycobacterial lipoarabinomannan and related lipoglycans: From biogenesis to modulation of the immune response. *Mol. Microbiol.* 53, 391–403.
- Buchmeier, N., and Fahey, R. C. (2006). The *mshA* gene encoding the glycosyltransferase of mycothiol biosynthesis is essential in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* Erdman. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 264, 74–79.
- Buchmeier, N., Newton, G. L., and Fahey, R. C. (2006). A mycothiol synthase mutant of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* has an altered thiol-disulfide content and limited tolerance to stress. J. Bacteriol. 188, 6245–6252.
- Buchmeier, N. A., Newton, G. L., Koledin, T., and Fahey, R. C. (2003). Association of mycothiol with protection of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* from toxic oxidants and antibiotics. *Mol. Microbiol.* 47, 1723–1732.

- Burguière, A., Hitchen, P., Dover, L. G., Kremer, L., Ridell, M., Alexander, D. C., Liu, J., Morris, H. R., Minnikin, D. E., Dell, A., and Besra, G. S. (2005). LosA, a key glycosyltransferase involved in the biosynthesis of a novel family of glycosylated acyltrehalose lipooligosaccharides from *Mycobacterium marinum*. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 42124–42133.
- Chapman, G. B., Hanks, J. H., and Wallace, J. H. (1959). An electron microscope study of the disposition and fine structure of *Mycobacterium lepraemurium* in mouse spleen. *J. Bacteriol.* 77, 205–211.
- Chopra, T., Banerjee, S., Gupta, S., Yadav, G., Anand, S., Surolia, A., Roy, R. P., Mohanty, D., and Gokhale, R. S. (2008). Novel intermolecular iterative mechanism for biosynthesis of mycoketide catalyzed by a bimodular polyketide synthase. *PLoS Biol.* 6, 1584–1598.
- Constant, P., Pérez, E., Malaga, W., Lanéelle, M.-A., Saurel, O., Daffé, M., and Guilhot, C. (2002). Role of the *pks15/1* gene in the biosynthesis of phenolglycolipids in the *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* complex. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 38148–38158.
- Converse, S. E., Mougous, J. D., Leavell, M. D., Leary, J. A., Bertozzi, C. R., and Cox, J. S. (2003). MmpL8 is required for sulfolipid-1 biosynthesis and *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* virulence. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **100**, 6121–6126.
- Crellin, P. K., Kovacevic, S., Martin, K. L., Brammananth, R., Morita, Y. S., Billman-Jacobe, H., McConville, M. J., and Coppel, R. L. (2008). Mutations in *pimE* restore lipoarabinomannan synthesis and growth in a *Mycobacterium smegmatis lpgW* mutant. J. Bacteriol. **190**, 3690–3699.
- Crick, D. C., and Brennan, P. J. (2008). Biosynthesis of the arabinogalactan-peptidoglycan complex of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. *In* "The Mycobacterial Cell Envelope" (M. Daffé and J.-M. Reyrat, Eds.), pp. 25–40. ASM Press, Washington, DC.
- Crick, D. C., Mahapatra, S., and Brennan, P. J. (2001). Biosynthesis of the arabinogalactanpeptidoglycan complex of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. *Glycobiology* **11**, 107R–118R.
- Cywes, C., Hoppe, H. C., Daffé, M., and Ehlers, M. R. W. (1997). Nonopsonic binding of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* to human complement receptor type 3 is mediated by capsular polysaccharides and is strain dependent. *Infect. Immunol.* 65, 4258–4266.
- Daffé, M., and Draper, P. (1998). The envelope layers of mycobacteria with reference to their pathogenicity. Adv. Microb. Physiol. 39, 131–203.
- Daffé, M., McNeil, M. R., and Brennan, P. J. (1991). Novel type-specific lipooligosaccharides from *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. *Biochemistry* **30**, 378–388.
- Dal Nogare, A. R., Dan, N., and Lehrman, M. A. (1998). Conserved sequences in enzymes of the UDP-GlcNAc/MurNAc family are essential in hamster UDP-GlcNAc:dolichol-P GlcNAc-1-P transferase. *Glycobiology* 8, 825–832.
- Delmas, C., Gilleron, M., Brando, T., Vercellone, A., Gheorghiu, M., Rivière, M., and Puzo, G. (1997). Comparative structural study of the mannosylated-lipoarabinomannans from *Mycobacterium bovis* BCG vaccine strains: Characterization and localization of succinates. *Glycobiology* 7, 811–817.
- De Smet, K. A. L., Weston, A., Brown, I. N., Young, D. B., and Robertson, B. D. (2000). Three pathways for trehalose biosynthesis in mycobacteria. *Microbiology* 146, 199–208.
- Dinadayala, P., Kaur, D., Berg, S., Amin, A. G., Vissa, V. D., Chatterjee, D., Brennan, P. J., and Crick, D. C. (2006). Genetic basis for the synthesis of the immunomodulatory mannose caps of lipoarabinomannan in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 20027–20035.
- Dinadayala, P., Lemassu, A., Granovski, P., Cérantola, S., Winter, N., and Daffé, M. (2004). Revisiting the structure of the anti-neoplastic glucans of *Mycobacterium bovis* bacille Calmette-Guérin. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 12369–12378.
- Dinadayala, P., Sambou, T., Daffé, M., and Lemassu, A. (2008). Comparative structural analyses of the alpha-glucan and glycogen from *Mycobacterium bovis*. *Glycobiology* 18, 502–508.
- Dmitriev, B. A., Ehlers, S., and Rietschel, E. T. (1999). Layered murein revisited: A fundamentally new concept of bacterial cell wall structure, biogenesis and function. *Med. Microbiol. Immunol. (Berl)* 187, 173–181.

- Dmitriev, B. A., Ehlers, S., Rietschel, E. T., and Brennan, P. J. (2000). Molecular mechanics of the mycobacterial cell wall: From horizontal layers to vertical scaffolds. *Int. J. Med. Microbiol.* 290, 251–258.
- Dobos, K. M., Khoo, K. H., Swiderek, K. M., Brennan, P. J., and Belisle, J. T. (1996). Definition of the full extent of glycosylation of the 45-Kilodalton glycoprotein of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. J. Bacteriol. 178, 2498–2506.
- Domenech, P., Reed, M. B., Dowd, C. S., Manca, C., Kaplan, G., and Barry, C. E., III (2004). The role of MmpL8 in sulfatide biogenesis and virulence of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. *J. Biol. Chem.* **279**, 21257–21265.
- Empadinhas, N., Albuquerque, L., Mendes, V., Macedo-Ribeiro, S., and da Costa, M. S. (2008). Identification of the mycobacterial glucosyl-3-phosphoglycerate synthase. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 280, 195–202.
- Ehlers, M. R. W., and Daffé, M. (1998). Interactions between *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* and host cells: Are mycobacterial sugars the key? *Trends Microbiol.* 6, 328–335.
- Elbein, A. D., and Mitchell, M. (1973). Levels of glycogen and trehalose in *Mycobacterium smegmatis* and the purification and properties of the glycogen synthetase. *J. Bacteriol.* **113**, 863–873.
- Eoh, H., Brown, A. C., Buetow, L., Hunter, W. N., Parish, T., Kaur, D., Brennan, P. J., and Crick, D. C. (2007). Characterization of the *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* 4-diphosphocytidyl-2-C-methyl-D-erythitol synthase: Potential for drug development. J. Bacteriol. 189, 8922–8927.
- Escuyer, V. E., Lety, M.-A., Torrelles, J. B., Khoo, K.-H., Tang, J.-B., Rithner, C. D., Frehel, C., McNeil, M. R., Brennan, P. J., and Chatterjee, C. (2001). The role of the *embA* and *embB* gene products in the biosynthesis of the terminal hexaarabinofuranosyl motif of *Mycobacterium smegmatis* arabinogalactan. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 48854–48862.
- Espitia, C., and Mancilla, R. (1989). Identification, isolation and partial characterization of Mycobacterium tuberculosis glycoprotein antigens. Clin. Expr. Immunol. 77, 378–383.
- Faller, M., Niederweis, M., and Schulz, G. E. (2004). The structure of a mycobacterial outermembrane channel. *Science* 303, 1189–1192.
- Fenton, M. J., Riley, L. W., and Schlesinger, L. S. (2005). Receptor-mediated recognition of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* by host cells. *In* "Tuberculosis and the Tubercle Bacillus" (S. T. Cole, K. Davis Eisenach, D. N. McMurray and W. R. Jacobs, Jr., Eds.), pp. 405–426. ASM Press, Washington, DC.
- Forsberg, L. S., Dell, A., Walton, D. J., and Ballou, C. E. (1982). Revised structure for the 6-Omethylglucose polysaccharide of *Mycobacterium smegmatis*. J. Biol. Chem. 257, 3555–3563.
- Fulton, Z., Crellin, P. K., Brammananth, R., Zaker-Tabrizi, L., Coppel, R. L., Rossjohn, J., and Beddoe, T. (2008). Expression, purification, crystallization and preliminary X-ray characterization of a putative glycosyltransferase of a GT-A fold found in mycobacteria. *Acta Cryst.* F64, 428–431.
- Fulton, Z., McAlister, A., Wilce, M. C. J., Brammananth, R., Zaker-Tabrizi, L., Perugini, M. A., Bottomley, S. P., Coppel, R. L., Crellin, P. K., Rossjohn, J., and Beddoe, T. (2008). Crystal structure of an UDP-glucose specific glycosyltransferase from a *Mycobacterium* species. *J. Biol. Chem* 283, 27881–27890.
- Gagliardi, M. C., Lemassu, A., Teloni, R., Mariotti, S., Sargentini, V., Pardini, M., Daffe, M., and Nisini, R. (2007). Cell wall-associated alpha-glucan is instrumental for *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* to block CD1 molecule expression and disable the function of dendritic cells derived from infected monocyte. *Cell Microbiol.* 9, 2081–2092.
- Garbe, T., Harris, D., Vordermeier, M., Lathigra, R., Ivanyi, J., and Young, D. (1993). Expression of the *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* 19-Kilodalton antigen in *M. smegmatis*: Immunological analysis and evidence of glycosylation. *Infect. Immunol.* **61**, 260–267.
- Garg, S. K., Alam, M. S., Kishan, K. V. R., and Agrawal, P. (2007). Expression and characterization of α-(1, 4)-glucan branching enzyme Rv1326c of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* H37Rv. *Protein Expr. Purif.* **51**, 198–208.

- Gest, P., Kaur, D., Pham, H. T., van der Woerd, M., Hansen, E., Brennan, P. J., Jackson, M., and Guerin, M. E. (2008). Preliminary crystallographic analysis of GpgS, a key glucosyltransferase involved in methylglucose lipopolysaccharide biosynthesis in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. Acta Crystallogr. Sect. F. Struct. Biol. Cryst. Commun. F64, 1121–1124.
- Gilleron, M., Jackson, M., Nigou, J., and Puzo, G. (2008). Structure, activities and biosynthesis of the Phosphatidyl-myo-Inositol-based lipoglycans. *In* "The Mycobacterial Cell Envelope" (M. Daffé and J.-M. Reyrat, Eds.), pp. 75–105. ASM Press, Washington, DC.
- Gilleron, M., Nigou, J., Nicolle, D., Quesniaux, V., and Puzo, G. (2006). The acylation state of mycobacterial lipomannans modulates innate immunity response through toll-like receptor 2. *Chem. Biol.* **13**, 39–47.
- Glickman, M. S. (2008). Cording, cord factors and trehalose dimycolate. *In* "The Mycobacterial Cell Envelope" (M. Daffé and J.-M. Reyrat, Eds.), pp. 63–73. ASM Press, Washington DC.
- Goffin, C., and Ghuysen, J. M. (2002). Biochemistry and comparative genomics of SxxK superfamily acyltransferases offer a clue to the mycobacterial paradox: Presence of penicillin-susceptible target proteins versus lack of efficiency of penicillin as therapeutic agent. *Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev.* 66, 702–738.
- Goude, R., Amin, A. G., Chatterjee, D., and Parish, T. (2008). The critical role of *embC* in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis. J. Bacteriol.* **190**, 4335–4341.
- Gray, G. R., and Ballou, C. E. (1971). Isolation and characterization of a polysaccharide containing 3-O-methyl-D-mannose from *Mycobacterium phlei*. J. Biol. Chem. 246, 6835–6842.
- Guérardel, Y., Maes, E., Briken, V., Chirat, F., Leroy, Y., Locht, C., Strecker, G., and Kremer, L. (2003). Lipomannan and lipoarabinomannan from a clinical isolate of *Mycobacterium kansasii*: Novel structural features and apoptosis-inducing properties. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 36637–36651.
- Guérardel, Y., Maes, E., Elass, E., Leroy, Y., Timmerman, P., Besra, G. S., Locht, C., Strecker, G., and Kremer, L. (2002). Structural study of lipomannan and lipoarabinomannan from *Mycobacterium chelonae*. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 30635–30648.
- Guerin, M. E., Korduláková, J., Schaeffer, F., Svetliková, Z., Buschiazzo, A., Giganti, D., Gicquel, B., Mikušová, K., Jackson, M., and Alzari, P. M. (2007). Molecular recognition and interfacial catalysis by the essential phosphatidylinositol mannosyltransferase PimA from mycobacteria. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 20705–20714.
- Guilhot, C., Chalut, C., and Daffé, M. (2008). Biosynthesis and roles of phenolic glycolipids and related molecules in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. *In* "The Mycobacterial Cell Envelope" (M. Daffé and J.-M. Reyrat, Eds.), pp. 273–289. ASM Press, Washington DC.
- Guilhot, C., and Daffé, M. (2008). Polyketides and polyketide-containing glycolipids of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*: Structure, biosynthesis and biological activities. *In* "Handbook of Tuberculosis. Molecular Biology and Biochemistry" (S. H. Kaufmann and E. Rubin, Eds.), pp. 21–51. Wiley-VCH, Weinheim.
- Gurcha, S. S., Baulard, A. R., Kremer, L., Locht, C., Moody, D. B., Muhlecker, W., Costellos, C. E., Crick, D. C., Brennan, P. J., and Besra, G. S. (2002). Ppm1, a novel polyprenol monophosphomannose synthase from *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. *Biochem. J.* 365, 441–450.
- Hanks, J. H. (1961). The origin of the capsules on *Mycobacterium leprae* and other tissue-grown mycobacteria. *Int. J. Lepr.* 26, 172–174.
- Hindsgaul, O., and Ballou, C. E. (1984). Affinity purification of mycobacterial polymethyl polysaccharides and a study of polysaccharide-lipid interactions by ¹H NMR. *Biochemistry* **23**, 577–584.
- Hoang, T. T., Ma, Y., Stern, R. J., McNeil, M. R., and Schweizer, H. (1999). Construction and use of low-copy number T7 expression vectors for purification of problem proteins:

Purification of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* RmlD and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* LasI and Rh1I proteins, and functional analysis of purified Rh1I. *Gene* **237**, 361–371.

- Hoffmann, C., Leis, A., Niederweis, M., Plitzko, J. M., and Engelhardt, H. (2008). Disclosure of the mycobacterial outer membrane: Cryo-electron tomography and vitreous sections reveal the lipid bilayer structure. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **105**, 3963–3967.
- Horn, C., Namane, A., Pescher, P., Riviere, M., Romain, F., Puzo, G., Barzu, O., and Marchal, G. (1999). Decreased capacity of recombinant 45/47-kDa molecules (Apa) of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* to stimulate T lymphocyte responses related to changes in their mannosylation pattern. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 32023–32030.
- Huang, H., Berg, S., Spencer, J. S., Vereecke, D., D'Haeze, W., Holsters, M., and McNeil, M. R. (2008). Identification of amino acids and domains required for catalytic activity of DPPR synthase, a cell wall biosynthetic enzyme of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. *Microbiology* 154, 736–743.
- Huang, H., Scherman, M. S., D'Haeze, W., Vereecke, D., Holsters, M., Crick, D. C., and McNeil, M. R. (2005). Identification and active expression of the *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* gene encoding 5-phospho-α-D-ribose-1-diphosphate: Decaprenyl-phosphate 5-phosphoribosyltransferase, the first enzyme committed to decaprenylphosphoryl-D-arabinose synthesis. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 24539–24543.
- Jackson, M., and Brennan, P. J. (2009). Polymethylated polysaccharides from *Mycobacterium* species revisited. J. Biol. Chem. 284(4), 1949–1953.
- Jackson, M., Raynaud, C., Lanéelle, M.-A., Guilhot, C., Laurent-Winter, C., Ensergueix, D., Gicquel, B., and Daffé, M. (1999). Inactivation of the antigen 85C gene profoundly affects the mycolate content and alters the permeability of the *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* cell envelope. *Mol. Microbiol.* 31, 1573–1587.
- Jackson, M., Stadthagen, G., and Gicquel, B. (2007). Long-chain multiple methyl-branched fatty acid-containing lipids of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*: Biosynthesis, transport, regulation and biological activities. *Tuberculosis* 87, 78–86.
- Jain, M., and Cox, J. S. (2005). Interaction between polyketide synthase and transporter suggests coupled synthesis and export of virulence lipid in *M. tuberculosis*. *PLoS Pathog*. 1, 12–19.
- Jarlier, V., and Nikaido, H. (1994). Mycobacterial cell wall: Structure and role in natural resistance to antibiotics. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* **123**, 11–18.
- Joe, M., Sun, D., Taha, H., Completo, G. C., Croudace, J. E., Lammas, D. A., Besra, G. S., and Lowary, T. L. (2006). The 5-deoxy-5-methylthio-xylofuranose residue in mycobacterial lipoarabinomannan. Absolute stereochemistry, linkage position, conformation, and immunomodulatory activity. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 128, 5059–5072.
- Kaur, D., Berg, S., Dinadayala, P., Gicquel, B., Chatterjee, D., McNeil, M. R., Vissa, V., Crick, D. C., Jackson, M., and Brennan, P. J. (2006). Biosynthesis of mycobacterial lipoarabinomannan: Role of a branching mannosyltransferase. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 103, 13664–13669.
- Kaur, D., McNeil, M. R., Khoo, K.-H., Chatterjee, D., Crick, D. C., Jackson, M., and Brennan, P. J. (2007). New insights into the biosynthesis of mycobacterial lipomannan arising from deletion of a conserved gene. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 27133–27140.
- Kaur, D., Obregón-Henao, A., Pham, H., Chatterjee, D., Brennan, P. J., and Jackson, M. (2008). Lipoarabinomannan of *Mycobacterium*; mannose capping by a multifunctional terminal mannosyltransferase. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **105**, 17973–17977.
- Khasnobis, S., Zhang, J., Angala, S. K., Amin, A., McNeil, M. R., Crick, D. C., and Chatterjee, D. (2006). Characterization of a specific arabinosyltransferase activity involved in mycobacterial arabinan synthesis. *Chem. Biol.* **13**, 787–795.
- Khoo, K.-H., Dell, A., Morris, H. R., Brennan, P. J., and Chatterjee, D. (1995). Structural definition of acylated phosphatidylinositol mannosides from *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*:

Definition of a common anchor for lipomannan and lipoarabinomannan. *Glycobiology* **5**, 117–127.

- Koledin, T., Newton, G. L., and Fahey, R. C. (2002). Identification of the mycothiol synthase gene (*mshD*) encoding the acetyltransferase producing mycothiol in actinomycetes. *Arch. Microbiol.* **178**, 331–337.
- Korduláková, J., Gilleron, M., Mikušová, K., Puzo, G., Brennan, P. J., Gicquel, B., and Jackson, M. (2002). Definition of the first mannosylation step in phosphatidylinositol synthesis: PimA is essential for growth of mycobacteria. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 31335–31344.
- Korduláková, J., Gilleron, M., Puzo, G., Brennan, P. J., Gicquel, B., Mikušová, K., and Jackson, M. (2003). Identification of the required acyltransferase step in the biosynthesis of the phosphatidylinositol mannosides of *Mycobacterium* species. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 36285–36295.
- Kotani, S., Yanagida, I., Kato, K., and Matsuda, T. (1970). Studies on peptides, glycopeptides and antigenic polysaccharide-glycopeptide complexes isolated from an L-11 enzyme lysate of the cell walls of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* strain H37Rv. *Biken J.* **13**, 249–275.
- Kovacevic, S., Anderson, D., Morita, Y. S., Patterson, J., Haites, R., McMillan, B. N., Coppel, R. L., McConville, M. J., and Billman-Jacobe, H. (2006). Identification of a novel protein with a role in lipoarabinomannan biosynthesis in mycobacteria. *J. Biol. Chem.* 281, 9011–9017.
- Kremer, L., Dover, L. G., Morehouse, C., Hitchin, P., Everett, M., Morris, H. R., Dell, A., Brennan, P. J., McNeil, M. R., Flaherty, C., Duncan, K., and Besra, G. S. (2001). Galactan biosynthesis in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. Identification of a bifunctional UDP-galactofuranosyltransferase. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 26430–26440.
- Kremer, L., Gurcha, S. S., Bifani, P., Hitchen, P. G., Baulard, A., Morris, H. R., Dell, A., Brennan, P. J., and Besra, G. S. (2002). Characterization of a putative α-mannosyltransferase involved in phosphatidylinositol trimannoside biosynthesis in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Biochem. J.* **363**, 437–447.
- Kumar, P., Schelle, M. W., Jain, M., Lin, F. L., Petzold, C. J., Leavell, M. D., Leary, J. A., Cox, J. S., and Bertozzi, C. R. (2007). PapA1 and PapA2 are acyltransferases essential for the biosynthesis of the *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* virulence factor sulfolipid-1. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 104, 11221–11226.
- Lairson, L. L., Henrissat, B., Davies, G. J., and Withers, S. G. (2008). Glycosyltransferases: Structures, functions and mechanisms. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 77, 521–555.
- Lares, C., Frixon, C., and Creuzet-Sigal, N. (1974). Characterization and ultrastructure of mutants of Escherichia coli deficient in α-1, 4-glucan-α-1, 4-glucan 6-glycosyltransferase (branching enzyme). J. Gen. Microbiol. 82, 279–293.
- Lea-Smith, D. J., Martin, K. L., Pyke, J. S., Tull, D., McConville, M. J., Coppel, R. L., and Crellin, P. K. (2008). Analysis of a new mannosyltransferase required for the synthesis of phosphatidylinositol mannosides and lipoarabinomannan reveals two lipomannan pools in *Corynebacterineae*. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 6773–6782.
- Lederer, E., Adam, A., Ciorbaru, R., Petit, J. F., and Wietzerbin, J. (1975). Cell walls of mycobacteria and related organisms; chemistry and immunostimulant properties. *Mol. Cell Biochem.* 7, 87–104.
- Lee, Y. C. (1966). Isolation and characterization of lipopolysaccharides containing 6-Omethyl-D-glucose from *Mycobacterium* species. J. Biol. Chem. 241, 1899–1908.
- Lee, Y. C., and Ballou, C. E. (1964). 6-O-Methyl-D-glucose from Mycobacteria. J. Biol. Chem. 239, 3602–3603.
- Lee, R. E., Brennan, P. J., and Besra, G. S. (1997). Mycobacterial arabinan biosynthesis: The use of synthetic arabinoside acceptors in the development of an arabinosyl transfer assay. *Glycobiology* 7, 1121–1128.

- Lee, R. E., Brennan, P. J., and Besra, G. S. (1998). Synthesis of β-D-arabinofuranosyl-1monophosphoryl polyprenols: Examination of their function as mycobacterial arabinosyl transferase donors. *Biorog. Med. Chem. Lett.* **8**, 951–954.
- Lee, R. E., Mikušová, K., Brennan, P. J., and Besra, G. S. (1995). Synthesis of the mycobacterial arabinose donor β-D-arabinofuranosyl-1-monophosphoryldecaprenol, development of a basic arabinosyltransferase assay, and identification of ethambutol as an arabinosyltransferase inhibitor. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **117**, 11829–11832.
- Lee, A., Wu, S.-W., Scherman, M. S., Torrelles, J. B., Chatterjee, C., McNeil, M. R., and Khoo, K.-H. (2006). Sequencing of the oligoarabinosyl units released from mycobacterial arabinogalactan by endogenous arabinanase: Identification of distinctive and novel structural motifs. *Biochemistry* 45, 15817–15828.
- Lemassu, A., and Daffé, M. (1994). Structural features of the exocellular polysaccharides of Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Biochem. J. 297, 351–357.
- Leyh-Bouille, M., Bonaly, R., Ghuysen, J.-M., Tinelli, R., and Tipper, D. (1970). LL-Diaminopimelic acid containing peptidoglycans in walls of *Streptomyces* spp. and of *Clostridium perfringens* (Type-A). *Biochemistry* 9, 2944–2952.
- Li, W., Xin, Y., McNeil, M. R., and Ma, Y. (2006). rmlB and rmlC Genes are essential for growth of mycobacteria. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **342**, 170–178.
- Lu, G., Westbrooks, J. M., Davisdson, A. L., and Chen, J. (2005). ATP hydrolysis is required to reset the ATP-binding cassette dimer into the resting-state conformation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 102, 17969–17974.
- Ma, Y., Mills, J. A., Belisle, J. T., Vissa, V., Howell, M., Bowlin, K., Scherman, M. S., and McNeil, M. R. (1997). Determination of the pathway for rhamnose biosynthesis in mycobacteria: Cloning, sequencing and expression of the *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* gene encoding alpha-D-glucose-1-phosphate thymidylyltransferase. *Microbiology* 143, 937–945.
- Ma, Y., Pan, F., and McNeil, M. R. (2002). Formation of dTDP-rhamnose is essential for growth of mycobacteria. J. Bacteriol. 184, 3392–3395.
- Ma, Y., Stern, R. J., Scherman, M. S., Vissa, V. D., Yan, W., Jones, V. C., Zhang, F., Franzblau, S. G., Lewis, W. H., and McNeil, M. R. (2001). Drug targeting *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* cell wall synthesis: Genetics of dTDP-Rhamnose synthetic enzymes and development of a microtiter plate-based screen for inhibitors of conversion of dTDPglucose to dTDP-rhamnose. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* 45, 1407–1416.
- Machida, Y., and Bloch, K. (1973). Complex formation between mycobacterial polysaccharides and fatty acyl-CoA derivatives. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 70, 1146–1148.
- Maggio, J. E. (1980). Structure of a mycobacterial polysaccharide-fatty acyl-CoA complex: Nuclear magnetic resonance studies. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 77, 2582–2586.
- Mahapatra, S., Basu, J., Brennan, P. J., and Crick, D. C. (2005). Structure, biosynthesis and genetics of the mycolic acid-arabinogalactan-peptidoglycan complex. *In* "Tuberculosis and the Tubercle Bacillus" (S. T. Cole, K. D. Eisenach, D. N. McMurray and W. R. Jacobs, Eds.), pp. 275–285. ASM Press, Washington, DC.
- Mahapatra, S., Crick, D. C., and Brennan, P. J. (2000). Comparison of the UDP-N-acetylmuramate: L-alanine ligase enzymes from *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* and *Mycobacterium leprae*. J. Bacteriol. 182, 6827–6830.
- Mahapatra, S., Scherman, H., Brennan, P. J., and Crick, D. C. (2005). N-glycolylation of the nucleotide precursors of peptidoglycan biosynthesis of *Mycobacterium* spp. is altered by drug treatment. J. Bacteriol. 187, 2341–2347.
- Malaga, W., Constant, P., Euphrasie, D., Cataldi, A., Daffé, M., Reyrat, J.-M., and Guilhot, C. (2008). Deciphering the genetic bases of the structural diversity of phenolic glycolipids in strains of the *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* complex. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 15177–15184.
- Marabotti, A., D'Auria, S., Rossi, M., and Facchiano, A. M. (2004). Theoritical model of the three-dimensional structure of a sugar-binding protein from *Pyrococcus horikoshii*: Structural analysis and sugar-binding simulations. *Biochem. J.* 380, 677–684.

- Marland, Z., Beddoe, T., Zaker-Tabrizi, L., Lucet, I. S., Brammananth, R., Whisstock, J. C., Wilce, M. C., Coppel, R. L., Crellin, P. K., and Rossjohn, J. (2006). Hijacking of a substratebinding protein scaffold for use in mycobacterial cell wall biosynthesis. *J. Mol. Biol.* 359, 983–997.
- Marrakchi, H., Bardou, F., Lanéelle, M.-A., and Daffé, M. (2008). A comprehensive overview of mycolic acid structure and biosynthesis. *In* "The Mycobacterial Cell Envelope" (M. Daffé and J.-M. Reyrat, Eds.), pp. 41–62. ASM Press, Washington, DC.
- Martinez-Fleites, C., Proctor, M., Roberts, S., Bolam, D. N., Gilbert, H. J., and Davies, G. J. (2006). Insights into the synthesis of lipopolysaccharide and antibiotics through the structures of two retaining glycosyltransferases from family GT4. *Chem. Biol.* 13, 1143–1152.
- Matias, V. R. F., and Beveridge, T. J. (2006). Native cell wall organization shown by cryoelectron microscopy confirms the existence of a periplasmic space in *Staphylococcus aureus*. J. Bacteriol. 188, 1011–1021.
- Matsuhashi, M. (1966). Biosynthesis in the bacterial cell wall. Tanpakushitsu Kakusan Koso 11, 875–886.
- Matsunaga, I., Bhatt, A., Young, D. C., Cheng, T.-Y., Eyles, S. J., Besra, G. S., Briken, V., Porcelli, S. A., Costello, C. E., Jacobs, W. R. Jr., and Moody, D. B. (2004). *Mycobacterium tuberculosis pks12* produces a novel polyketide presented by CD1c to T cells. *J. Expr. Med.* 200, 1559–1569.
- McNeil, M. R. (1999). Arabinogalactan in mycobacteria: Structure, biosynthesis, and genetics. In "Genetics of Bacterial Polysaccharides" (J. B. Goldberg, Ed.), pp. 207–223. CRC Press, Washington DC.
- McNeil, M. R., and Brennan, P. J. (1991). Structure, function and biogenesis of the cell envelope of mycobacteria in relation to bacterial physiology, pathogenesis and drug resistance; some thoughts and possibilities arising from recent structural information. *Res. Microbiol.* **142**, 451–463.
- McNeil, M., Daffé, M., and Brennan, P. J. (1990). Evidence for the nature of the link between the arabinogalactan and peptidoglycan of mycobacterial cell wall. *J. Biol. Chem.* **265**, 18200–18206.
- McNeil, M. R., Daffé, M., and Brennan, P. J. (1991). Location of the mycolyl ester substituents in the cell walls of mycobacteria. *J. Biol. Chem.* **266**, 13217–13223.
- Metaferia, B. B., Fetterolf, B. J., Shazad-ul-Hussan, S., Moravec, M., Smith, J. A., Ray, S., Guttierrez-Lugo, M.-T., and Bewley, C. A. (2007). Synthesis of natural product-inspired inhibitors of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* mycothiol-associated enzymes: The first inhibitors of GlcNAc-Ins deacetylase. J. Med. Chem. 50, 6326–6336.
- Meroueh, S. O., Bencze, K. Z., Hesek, D., Lee, M., Fisher, J. F., Stemmler, T. L., and Mobashery, S. (2006). Three-dimensional structure of the bacterial cell wall peptidoglycan. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 103, 4404–4409.
- Michell, S. L., Whelan, A. O., Wheeler, P. R., Panico, M., Easton, R. L., Etienne, T., Haslam, S. M., Dell, A., Morris, H. R., Reason, A. J., Herrmann, J.-L., Young, D. B., *et al.* (2003). The MBP83 antigen from Mycobacterium bovis contains O-linked mannose and (13)-mannobiose moieties. *J. Biol. Chem.* **278**, 16423–16432.
- Mikušová, K., Belánová, M., Korduláková, J., Honda, K., McNeil, M. R., Mahapatra, S., Crick, D. C., and Brennan, P. J. (2006). Identification of a novel galactosyl transferase involved in biosynthesis of the mycobacterial cell wall. J. Bacteriol. 188, 6592–6598.
- Mikušová, K., Huang, H., Yagi, T., Holsters, M., Vereecke, D., D'Haeze, W., Scherman, M. S., Brennan, P. J., McNeil, M. R., and Crick, D. C. (2005). Decaprenylphosphoryl arabinofuranose, the donor of the D-arabinofuranosyl residues of mycobacterial arabinan, is formed via a two-step epimerization of decaprenylphosphoryl ribose. J. Bacteriol. 187, 8020–8025.
- Mikušová, K., Mikus, M., Besra, G. S., Hancock, I., and Brennan, P. J. (1996). Biosynthesis of the linkage region of the mycobacterial cell wall. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 7820–7828.

- Mikušová, K., Yagi, T., Stern, R., McNeil, M. R., Besra, G. S., Crick, D. C., and Brennan, P. J. (2000). Biosynthesis of the galactan component of the mycobacterial cell wall. *J. Biol. Chem.* 275, 33890–33897.
- Miley, M. J., Zielinska, A. K., Keenan, J. E., Bratton, S. M., Radominska-Pandya, A., and Redinbo, M. R. (2007). Crystal structure of the cofactor-binding domain of the human phase II drug metabolism enzyme UDP-glucuronosyltransferase 2B7. J. Mol. Biol. 369, 498–511.
- Miller, C. C., Rawat, M., Johnson, T., and Av-Gay, Y. (2007). Innate protection of *Mycobacte-rium smegmatis* against the antimicrobial activity of nitric oxide is provided by mycothiol. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* **51**, 3364–3366.
- Mills, J. A., Motichka, K., Jucker, M., Wu, H. P., Uhlik, B. C., Stern, R. J., Scherman, M. S., Vissa, V. D., Pan, F., Kundu, M., Ma, Y. F., and McNeil, M. R. (2004). Inactivation of the mycobacterial rhamnosyltransferase, which is needed for the formation of the arabinogalactan-peptidoglycan linker, leads to irreversible loss of viability. *J. Biol. Chem.* 279, 43540–43546.
- Minnikin, D. E. (1982). Lipids: Complex lipids, their chemistry, biosynthesis and roles. In "The Biology of Mycobacteria" (C. Ratledge and J. Stanford, Eds.), Vol. 1, pp. 95–184. Academic Press, London.
- Mishra, A. K., Alderwick, L. J., Rittmann, D., Tatituri, R. V., Nigou, J., Gilleron, M., Eggeling, L., and Besra, G. S. (2007). Identification of an alpha(1→6) mannopyranosyltransferase (MptA), involved in *Corynebacterium glutamicum* lipomannan biosynthesis, and identification of its orthologue in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. *Mol. Microbiol.* 65, 1503–1517.
- Mishra, A. K., Alderwick, L. J., Rittmann, D., Wang, C., Bhatt, A., Jacobs, W. R. Jr., Takayama, K., Eggeling, L., and Besra, G. S. (2008). Identification of a novel alpha(1→6) mannopyranosyltransferase MptB from *Corynebacterium glutamicum* by deletion of a conserved gene, NCgl1505, affords a lipomannan- and lipoarabinomannan-deficient mutant. *Mol. Microbiol.* 68, 1595–1613.
- Morita, Y. S., Patterson, J. H., Billman-Jacobe, H., and McConville, M. J. (2004). Biosynthesis of mycobacterial phosphatidylinositol mannosides. *Biochem. J.* 378, 589–597.
- Morita, Y. S., Sena, C. C. B., Waller, R. F., Kurokawa, K., Sernee, M. F., Nakatani, F., Haites, R. E., Billman-Jacobe, H., McConville, M. J., Maeda, Y., and Kinoshita, T. (2006). PimE is a polyprenol-phosphate-mannose-dependent mannosyltransferase that transfers the fifth mannose of phosphatidylinositol mannoside in mycobacteria. *J. Biol. Chem.* 281, 25143–25155.
- Morita, Y. S., Velasquez, R., Taig, E., Waller, R. F., Patterson, J. H., Tull, D., Williams, S. J., Billman-Jacobe, H., and McConville, M. J. (2005). Compartmentalization of lipid biosynthesis in mycobacteria. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 21645–21652.
- Mougous, J. D., Petzold, C. J., Seraratne, R. H., Lee, D. H., Akey, D. L., Lin, F. L., Munchel, S. E., Pratt, M. R., Riley, L. W., Leary, J. A., Berger, J. M., and Bertozzi, C. R. (2004). Identification, function and structure of the mycobacterial sulfotransferase that initiates sulfolipid-1 biosynthesis. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* **11**, 721–729.
- Murphy, H. N., Stewart, G. R., Mischenko, V. V., Apt, A. S., Harris, R., McAlister, M. S. B., Driscoll, P. C., Young, D. B., and Robertson, B. D. (2005). The OtsAB pathway is essential for trehalose biosynthesis in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 14524–14529.
- Natarajan, V. T., Mohanty, D., and Gokhale, R. S. (2008). Biosynthesis of mycobacterial lipids by multifunctional polyketide synthases. *In* "The Mycobacterial Cell Envelope" (M. Daffé and J.-M. Reyrat, Eds.), pp. 235–248. ASM Press, Washington, DC.
- Newton, G. L., Av-Gay, Y., and Fahey, R. C. (2000). N-acetyl-1-D-myo-inosityl-2-amino-2-deoxy-(-D-glucopyranoside deacetylase (MshB) is a key enzyme in mycothiol biosynthesis. J. Bacteriol. 182, 6958–6963.

- Newton, G. L., Buchmeier, N., and Fahey, R. C. (2008). Biosynthesis and functions of mycothiol, the unique protective thiol of Actinobacteria. *Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev.* 72, 471–494.
- Newton, G. L., Ko, M., Ta, P., Av-Gay, Y., and Fahey, R. C. (2006). Purification and characterization of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* 1D-*myo*-inosityl-2-acetamido-2-deoxy-alpha-Dglucopyranoside deacetylase, MshB, a mycothiol biosynthetic enzyme. *Protein Expr. Purif.* 47, 542–550.
- Newton, G. L., Koledin, T., Gorovitz, B., Rawat, M., Fahey, R. C., and Av-Gay, Y. (2003). The glycosyltransferase gene encoding the enzyme catalyzing the first step of mycothiol biosynthesis (mshA). J. Bacteriol. 185, 3476–3479.
- Newton, G. L., Ta, P., Bzymek, K. P., and Fahey, R. C. (2006). Biochemistry of the initial steps of mycothiol biosynthesis. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 33910–33920.
- Newton, G. L., Ta, P., Sareen, D., and Fahey, R. C. (2006). A coupled spectrophotometric assay for 1-cysteine:1-D-myo-inosityl 2-amino-2-deoxy-alpha-D-glucopyranoside ligase and its application for inhibitor screening. *Anal. Biochem.* 353, 167–173.
- Ortalo-Magné, A., Dupont, M. A., Lemassu, A., Andersen, A. B., Gounon, P., and Daffé, M. (1995). Molecular composition of the outermost capsular material of the tubercle bacillus. *Microbiology* 141, 1609–1620.
- Pan, Y.-T., Carroll, J. D., Asano, N., Pastuszak, I., Edavana, V. K., and Elbein, A. D. (2008). Trehalose synthase converts glycogen to trehalose. *FEBS J.* 275, 3408–3420.
- Pan, Y. T., Carroll, J. D., and Elbein, A. D. (2002). Trehalose-phosphate synthase of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. Eur. J. Biochem. 269, 6091–6100.
- Pan, F., Jackson, M., Ma, Y., and McNeil, M. (2001). Cell wall core galactofuran synthesis is essential for growth of mycobacteria. J. Bacteriol. 183, 3991–3998.
- Parish, T., Liu, J., Nikaido, H., and Stoker, N. G. (1997). A *Mycobacterium smegmatis* mutant with a defective inositol monophosphate phosphatase gene homolog has altered cell envelope permeability. *J. Bacteriol.* **179**, 7827–7833.
- Patterson, J. H., Waller, R. F., Jeevarajah, D., Billman-Jacobe, H., and McConville, M. J. (2003). Mannose metabolism is required for mycobacterial growth. *Biochem. J.* 372, 77–86.
- Pérez, E., Constant, P., Lemassu, A., Laval, F., Daffé, M., and Guilhot, C. (2004). Characterization of three glycosyltransferases involved in the biosynthesis of the phenolic glycolipid antigens from the *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* complex. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 42574–42583.
- Petit, J. F., Adam, A., Wietzerbin-Falszpan, J., Lederer, E., and Ghuysen, J. M. (1969). Chemical structure of the cell wall of *Mycobacterium smegmatis*. I. Isolation and partial characterization of the peptidoglycan. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 35, 478–485.
- Pitarque, S., Herrmann, J.-L., Duteyrat, J.-L., Jackson, M., Stewart, G. R., Lecointe, F., Payré, B., Schwartz, O., Young, D. B., Marchal, G., Lagrange, P. H., Puzo, G., et al. (2005). Deciphering the molecular bases of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* binding to DC-SIGN reveals an underestimated complexity. *Biochem. J.* **392**, 615–624.
- Pitarque, S., Larrouy-Maumus, G., Payré, B., Jackson, M., Puzo, G., and Nigou, J. (2008). The immunomodulatory lipoglycans, lipoarabinomannan and lipomannan, are exposed at the mycobacterial cell surface. *Tuberculosis* **88**, 560–565.
- Preiss, J., and Romeo, T. (1989). Physiology, biochemistry and genetics of bacterial glycogen synthesis. Adv. Microb. Physiol. 30, 183–238.
- Raetz, C. R. H., and Whitfield, C. (2002). Lipolysaccharide assembly. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 71, 635–700.
- Ragas, A., Roussel, L., Puzo, G., and Riviere, M. (2007). The *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* cellsurface glycoprotein Apa as a potential adhesin to colonize target cells via the innate immune system pulmonary C-type lectin surfactant protein A. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 5133–5142.

- Rastogi, N. (1991). Recent observations concerning the structure and function relationships in the mycobacterial cell envelope: Elaboration of a model in terms of mycobacterial pathogenicity, virulence and drug-resistance. *Res. Microbiol.* **142**, 464–476.
- Rawat, M., and Av-Gay, Y. (2007). Mycothiol-dependent proteins in Actinomycetes. FEMS Microbiol. Rev. 31, 278–292.
- Rawat, M., Johnson, C., Cadiz, V., and Av-Gay, Y. (2007). Comparative analysis of mutants in the mycothiol biosynthesis pathway in *Mycobacterium smegmatis*. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 363, 71–76.
- Rawat, M., Newton, G. L., Ko, M., Martinez, G. J., Fahey, R. C., and Av-Gay, Y. (2002). Mycothiol-dependent *Mycobacterium smegmatis* mutants are hypersensitive to alkylating agents, free radicals and antibiotics. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* 46, 3348–3355.
- Raymond, J. B., Mahapatra, S., Crick, D. C., and Pavelka, M. S. (2005). Identification of the *namH* gene, encoding the hydroxylase responsible for the *N*-glycolylation of the mycobacterial peptidoglycan. *J. Biol. Chem.* 280, 326–333.
- Reed, M. B., Domenech, P., Manca, C., Su, H., Barczak, A. K., Kreiswirth, B. N., Kaplan, G., and Barry, C. E., III (2004). A glycolipid of hypervirulent tuberculosis strains that inhibits the innate immune response. *Nature* **431**, 84–87.
- Reizer, J., Reizer, A., and Saier, M. H. J. (1992). A new subfamily of bacterial ABC-type transport systems catalyzing export of drugs and carbohydrates. *Protein Sci.* 10, 1326–1332.
- Ren, H., Dover, L. G., Islam, S. T., Alexander, D. C., Chen, J. M., Besra, G. S., and Liu, J. (2007). Identification of the lipooligosaccharide biosynthetic gene cluster from *Mycobacterium marinum*. Mol. Microbiol. 63, 1345–1359.
- Romain, F., Horn, C., Pescher, P., Namane, A., Rivière, M., Puzo, G., Barzu, O., and Marchal, G. (1999). Deglycosylation of the 45/47-kilodalton antigen complex of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* decreases its capacity to elicit *in vivo* or *in vitro* cellular immune responses. *Infect. Immunol.* 67, 5567–5572.
- Rose, N. L., Completo, G. C., Lin, S.-J., McNeil, M. R., Palcic, M. M., and Lowary, T. L. (2006). Expression, purification and characterization of a galactofuranosyltransferase involved in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* arabinogalactan biosynthesis. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 128, 6721–6729.
- Sambou, T., Dinadayala, P., Stadthagen, G., Barilone, N., Bordat, Y., Constant, P., Levillain, F., Neyrolles, O., Gicquel, B., Lemassu, A., Daffe, M., and Jackson, M. (2008). Capsular glucan and intracellular glycogen of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*: Biosynthesis and impact on the persistence in mice. *Mol. Microbiol.* **70**, 762–774.
- Sareen, D., Newton, G. L., Fahey, R. C., and Buchmeier, N. A. (2003). Mycothiol is essential for growth of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* Erdman. J. Bacteriol. 185, 6736–6740.
- Sareen, D., Steffek, M., Newton, G. L., and Fahey, R. C. (2002). ATP-dependent L-cysteine: 1D-myo-inositol 2-amino-2-deoxy-α-D-glucopyranoside ligase, mycothiol biosynthesis enzyme, MshC, is related to class I cysteinyl-tRNA synthetases. *Biochemistry* 43, 6885–6890.
- Schaeffer, M. L., Khoo, K.-H., Besra, G. S., Chatterjee, D., Brennan, P. J., Belisle, J. T., and Inamine, J. M. (1999). The *pimB* gene of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* encodes a mannosyltransferase involved in lipoarabinomannan biosynthesis. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 31625–31631.
- Scherman, M. S., Kalbe-Bournonville, L., Bush, D., Xin, Y., Deng, L., and McNeil, M. R. (1996). Polyprenylphosphate-pentoses in mycobacteria are synthesized from 5-phosphoribose pyrophosphate. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 29652–29658.
- Scherman, M. S., Weston, A., Duncan, K., Whittington, A., Upton, R., Deng, L., Comber, R., Friedrich, J. D., and McNeil, M. R. (1995). Biosynthetic origin of mycobacterial cell wall arabinosyl residues. J. Bacteriol. 177, 7125–7130.
- Schleifer, K. H., and Kandler, O. (1972). Peptidoglycan types of bacterial cell walls and their taxonomic implications. *Bacteriol. Rev.* 36, 407–477.

- Schwebach, J. R., Glatman-Freedman, A., Gunther-Cummins, L., Dai, Z., Robbins, J. B., Schneerson, R., and Casadevall, A. (2002). Glucan is a component of the *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* surface that is expressed *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *Infect. Immunol.* **70**, 2566–2575.
- Seidel, M., Alderwick, L. J., Birch, H. L., Sahm, H., Eggeling, L., and Besra, G. S. (2007). Identification of a novel arabinofuranosyltransferase AftB involved in a terminal step of cell wall arabinan biosynthesis in Corynebacterianeae, such as *Corynebacterium glutamicum* and *Mycobacterium tuberculosis J. Biol. Chem.* 282, 14729–14740.
- Shi, L., Berg, S., Lee, A., Spencer, J. S., Zhang, J., Vissa, V., McNeil, M. R., Khoo, K.-H., and Chatterjee, C. (2006). The carboxy terminus of EmbC from *Mycobacterium smegmatis* mediates chain length extension of the arabinan in lipoarabinomannan. *J. Biol. Chem.* 281, 19512–19526.
- Shi, L., Zhou, R., Liu, Z., Lowary, T. L., Seeberger, P. H., Stocker, B. L., Crick, D. C., Khoo, K.-H., and Chatterjee, C. (2008). Transfer of the first arabinofuranose residue to galactan is essential for *Mycobacterium smegmatis* viability. J. Bacteriol. **190**, 5248–5255.
- Stadthagen, G., Sambou, T., Guerin, M., Barilone, N., Boudou, F., Kordulakova, J., Charles, P., Alzari, P. M., Lemassu, A., Daffé, M., Puzo, G., Gicquel, B., et al. (2007). Genetic basis for the biosynthesis of methylglucose lipopolysaccharides in *Mycobacterium* tuberculosis. J. Biol. Chem. 282, 27270–27276.
- Stern, R. J., Lee, T. Y., Lee, T. J., Yan, W., Scherman, M. S., Vissa, V. D., Kim, S. K., Wanner, B. L., and McNeil, M. R. (1999). Conversion of dTDP-4-keto-6-deoxyglucose to free dTDP-4-keto-rhamnose by the *rmlC* gene products of *Escherichia coli* and *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. *Microbiology* 145, 663–671.
- Stokes, R. W., Norris-Jones, R., Brooks, D. E., Beveridge, T. J., Doxsee, D., and Thorson, L. M. (2004). The glycan-rich outer layer of the cell wall of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* acts as an antiphagocytic capsule limiting the association of the bacterium with macrophages. *Infect. Immunol.* 72, 5676–5686.
- Takayama, K., Wang, C., and Besra, G. S. (2005). Pathway to synthesis and processing of mycolic acids in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis Clin. Microbiol. Rev.* 18, 81–101.
- Tatituri, R. V. V., Illarionov, P. A., Dover, L. G., Nigou, J., Gilleron, M., Hitchen, P. G. H., Krumbach, K., Morris, H. R., Spencer, N., Dell, A., Eggeling, L., and Besra, G. S. (2007). Inactivation of *Corynebacterium glutamicum* NCgl0452 and the role of MgtA in the biosynthesis of a novel mannosylated glycolipid involved in lipomannan biosynthesis. *J. Biol. Chem.* 282, 4561–4572.
- Templin, M. F., Ursinus, A., and Holtje, J. V. (1999). A defect in cell wall recycling triggers autolysis during the stationary growth phase of *Escherichia coli*. EMBO J. 18, 4108–4117.
- Torrelles, J. B., Knaup, R., Kolareth, A., Slepushkina, T., Kaufman, T. M., Kang, P., Hill, P. J., Brennan, P. J., Chatterjee, C., Belisle, J. T., Musser, J. M., and Schlesinger, L. S. (2008). Identification of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* clinical isolates with altered phagocytosis by human macrophages due to a truncated lipoarabinomannan. *J. Biol. Chem.* 283, 31417–31428.
- Treumann, A., Xidong, F., McDonnell, L., Derrick, P. J., Ashcroft, A. E., Chatterjee, D., and Homans, S. W. (2002). 5-methylthiopentose: A new substituent on liporabinomannan in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis. J. Mol. Biol.* **316**, 89–100.
- Tsenova, L., Ellison, E., Harbacheuski, R., Moreira, A. L., Kurepina, N., Reed, M. B., Mathema, B., Barry, C. E., III, and Kaplan, G. (2005). Virulence of selected *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* clinical isolates in the rabbit model of meningitis is dependent on phenolic glycolipid produced by the bacilli. *J. Infect. Dis.* **192**, 98–106.
- Tuffal, G., Albigot, R., Rivière, M., and Puzo, G. (1998). Newly found 2-N-acetyl-2, 6-dideoxy-β-glucopyranose containing methyl glucose polysaccharides in M. bovis BCG: Revised structure of the mycobacterial methyl glucose lipopolysaccharides. *Glycobiology* 8, 675–684.

- Tuffal, G., Tuong, A., Dhers, C., Uzabiaga, F., Rivière, M., Picard, C., and Puzo, G. (1998). Direct evidence of methylglucose lipopolysaccharides/palmitoyl-CoA noncovalent complexes by capillary zone electrophoresis-electrospray/mass spectrometry. *Anal. Chem.* **70**, 1853–1858.
- Turnbull, W. B., Shimizu, K. H., Chatterjee, D., Homans, S. W., and Treumann, A. (2004). Identification of the 5-methylthiopentose substituent in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* lipoarabinomannan. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **43**, 3918–3922.
- VanderVen, B. C., Harder, J. D., Crick, D. C., and Belisle, J. T. (2005). Export-mediated assembly of mycobacterial glycoproteins parallels eukaryotic pathways. *Science* 309, 941–943.
- van Heijenoort, J. (1994). Biosynthesis of bacterial peptidoglycan unit. In "Bacterial Cell Wall" (J. M. Ghuysen and R. Hakenbeck, Eds.), pp. 39–54. Elsevier Medical Press, Amsterdam.
- van Heijenoort, J. (1996). Murein synthesis. In "Escherichia coli and Salmonella: Cellular and Molecular Biology" (F. C. Neidhardt, Ed.), pp. 1025–1034. ASM Press, Washington, DC.
- van Heijenoort, J. (1998). Assembly of the monomer unit of bacterial peptidoglycan. *Cell Mol. Life Sci.* **54**, 300–304.
- van Heijenoort, J. (2001). Formation of the glycan chains in the synthesis of bacterial peptidoglycan. *Glycobiology* **11**, 25R–36R.
- van Heijenoort, J. (2001). Recent advances in the formation of the bacterial peptidoglycan monomer unit. *Nat. Prod. Rep.* **18**, 503–519.
- Vetting, M. W., Frantom, P. A., and Blanchard, J. S. (2008). Structural and enzymatic analysis of MshA from *Corynebacterium glutamicum*: Substrate-assisted catalysis. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 15834–15844.
- Vilchèze, C., Av-Gay, Y., Attarian, R., Liu, Z., Hazbon, M. H., Colangeli, R., Chen, B., Liu, W., Alland, D., Sacchetini, J. C., and Jacobs, W. R. Jr. (2008). Mycothiol biosynthesis is essential for ethionamide susceptibility in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. *Mol. Microbiol.* 69, 1316–1329.
- Vollmer, W., and Holtje, J. V. (2004). The architecture of the murein (peptidoglycan) in gramnegative bacteria: Vertical scaffold or horizontal layer(s)? J. Bacteriol. 186, 5978–5987.
- Wang, C., Hayes, B., Vestling, M. M., and Takayama, K. (2006). Transposome mutagenesis of an integral membrane transporter in *Corynebacterium matruchotii*. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 340, 953–960.
- Wang, R., Klegerman, M. E., Marsden, I., Sinnott, M., and Groves, M. J. (1995). An antineoplastic glycan isolated from *Mycobacterium bovis* (BCG vaccine). *Biochem. J.* 311, 867–872.
- Wang, X., Weldeghioghis, T., Zhang, G., Imperiali, B., and Prestegard, J. H. (2008). Solution structure of Alg13: The sugar donor subunit of a yeast N-acetylglucosamine transferase. *Structure* 16, 965–975.
- Wietzerbin, J., Das, B. C., Petit, J. F., Lederer, E., Leyh-Bouille, M., and Ghuysen, J. M. (1974). Occurrence of D-alanyl-(D)-meso-diaminopimelic acid and meso- diaminopimelyl-mesodiaminopimelic acid interpeptide linkages in the peptidoglycan of mycobacteria. *Biochemistry* 13, 3471–3476.
- Wietzerbin-Falszpan, J., Das, B. C., Azuma, I., Adam, A., Petit, J. F., and Lederer, E. (1970). Determination of amino acid sequences in peptides by mass spectrometry. 22. Isolation and mass spectrometric identification of peptide subunits of mycobacterial cell walls. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 40, 57–63.
- Weston, A. R., Stern, R. J., Lee, R. E., Nassau, P. M., Monsey, D., Martin, S. L., Scherman, M. S., Besra, G. S., Duncan, K., and McNeil, M. R. (1997). Biosynthetic origin of mycobacterial cell wall galactofuranosyl residues. *Tuber. Lung Dis.* 78, 123–131.
- Wolucka, B. A. (2008). Biosynthesis of D-arabinose in mycobacteria A novel bacterial pathway with implications for antimycobacterial therapy. *FEBS J.* **275**, 2691–2711.

- Wolucka, B. A., McNeil, M. R., de Hoffmann, E., Chojnacki, T., and Brennan, P. J. (1994). Recognition of the lipid intermediate for arabinogalactan/arabinomannan biosynthesis and its relation to the mode of action of ethambutol on mycobacteria. *J. Biol. Chem.* 269, 23328–23335.
- Woodruff, P. J., Carlson, B. L., Siridechadilok, B., Pratt, M. R., Senaratne, R. H., Mougous, J. D., Riley, L. W., Williams, S. J., and Bertozzi, C. R. (2004). Trehalose is required for growth of *Mycobacterium smegmatis. J. Biol. Chem.* 279, 28835–28843.
- Yabusaki, K. K., and Ballou, C. E. (1978). Interaction of mycobacterial polymethylpolysaccharides with paranaric acid and palmitoyl-coenzyme A: Structural specificity and monomeric dissociation constants. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 75, 691–695.
- Yabusaki, K. K., and Ballou, C. E. (1979). Effect of polymethylpolysaccharides on the hydrolysis of palmitoyl Coenzyme A by a thioesterase from *Mycobacterium smegmatis*. J. Biol. Chem. 254, 12314–12317.
- Yabusaki, K. K., Cohen, R. E., and Ballou, C. E. (1979). Conformational changes associated with complex formation between a mycobacterial polymethylpolysaccharide and palmitic acid. J. Biol. Chem. 254, 7282–7286.
- Yagi, T., Mahapatra, S., Mikušová, K., Crick, D. C., and Brennan, P. J. (2003). Polymerization of mycobacterial arabinogalactan and ligation to peptidoglycan. J. Biol. Chem. 278, 26497–26504.
- Zhang, J., Khoo, K.-H., Wu, S.-W., and Chatterjee, C. (2007). Characterization of a distinct arabinofuranosyltransferase in *Mycobacterium smegmatis*. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 129, 9650–9662.
- Zhang, N., Torrelles, J. B., McNeil, M. R., Escuyer, V. E., Khoo, K.-H., Brennan, P. J., and Chatterjee, D. (2003). The Emb proteins of mycobacteria direct arabinosylation of lipoarabinomannan and arabinogalactan via an N-terminal recognition region and a C-terminal synthetic region. *Mol. Microbiol.* **50**, 69–76.
- Zlotta, A. R., Van Vooren, J.-P., Denis, O., Drowart, A., Daffé, M., Lefèvre, P., Scahndene, L., De Cock, M., De Bruyn, J., Vandenbussche, P., Jurion, F., Palfliet, K., et al. (2000). What are the immunologically active components of bacille Calmette-Guérin in therapy of superficial bladder cancer? Int. J. Cancer 87, 844–852.
- Zuber, B., Chami, M., Houssin, C., Dubochet, J., Griffiths, G., and Daffé, M. (2008). Direct visualization of the outer membrane of mycobacteria and corynebacteria in their native state. J. Bact. 190, 5672–5680.



Antimicrobial Properties of Hydroxyxanthenes

Joy G. Waite and Ahmed E. Yousef

Contents	Definitions and Chemica	al Structures	80
	Synthesis		81
	Applications		83
	A. Dyestuffs		83
	B. Pesticides		83
	C. Medical applications	•	84
	D. Antimicrobials		84
	Antimicrobial Mechanis	m	85
	A. Photooxidation and	antimicrobial properties	85
	B. Localization of hydro	oxyxanthenes	
	in microbial cell	,	88
	C. Relative resistance o	f microorganisms	
	to hydroxyxanthenes	5	91
	Conclusions		94
	eferences		94

Abstract Hydroxyxanthenes are commonly used as dyestuffs in the food, cosmetics, and textile industries. These compounds also have medical applications due to their unique staining and fluorescent properties. The halogenated hydroxyxanthenes exhibit antimicrobial properties that may be useful for reducing or eliminating bacterial pathogens from a variety of environments, including drinking water and food products. Antimicrobial characteristics of Eosin, Erythrosine, Phloxine, and Rose Bengal have been known for many years, but their application as antimicrobial agents has been

Department of Food Science and Technology, The Ohio State University, Columbus, OH 43210, USA

© 2009 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

Advances in Applied Microbiology, Volume 69 ISSN 0065-2164, DOI: 10.1016/S0065-2164(09)69003-1

limited primarily to selective agents in microbiological growth media. The primary mechanism of bacterial inactivation by hydroxyxanthenes is photooxidation. When halogenated hydroxyxanthenes are photooxidized, a variety of compounds are produced (e.g., singlet oxygen, superoxide anion and other radicals); these exhibit toxicity to the microbial cell. Gram-positive bacteria are particularly sensitive to inactivation by photooxidation of halogenated hydroxyxanthenes; however, different species vary in their sensitivity. Gram-negative bacteria are inherently resistant to inactivation by these compounds due to the barrier properties of the outer membrane that prevent the necessary localization. Treatments such as chelation and ultrahigh pressure may be used to destabilize the outer membrane leading to sensitivity of Gram-negative bacteria to halogenated hydroxyxanthenes.

Several xanthenes derivatives are approved for food, drug, and cosmetic use, in the United States and elsewhere, as coloring agents. The microbicidal properties of xanthenes have been reported since the early 1900s; however, the full antimicrobial potential of this class of compounds needs to be explored. Incidence and severity of food-transmitted diseases are increasing and these emerging hazards have not been matched with discoveries of new and effective food-grade antimicrobial agents. This is an overview of current literature on hydroxyxanthenes, an important subgroup of xanthenes, with emphasis on the potential applications for these compounds as antimicrobial agents. This review begins with definition and classification of xanthenes, and a brief account of their synthesis and industrial applications. Subsequently, details are provided about the antimicrobial potential of these compounds including mechanisms of microbial inactivation. The chapter is concluded with a discussion of the prospects of maximizing the efficacy of xanthene derivatives, particularly against Gram-negative bacteria.

I. DEFINITIONS AND CHEMICAL STRUCTURES

Chemically, xanthene is the heterocyclic organic compound, dibenzo[a,e] pyran (Fig. 3.1). Derivatives of xanthene, which are simply referred to as xanthenes, are divided into three subgroups: fluorenes, fluorones, and rhodols (Horobin and Kiernan, 2002). Fluorenes are amine-containing xanthene derivatives (aminoxanthenes), fluorones are the hydroxyl derivatives (hydroxyxanthenes), and rhodols are aminohydroxyxantnenes. Emphasis will be on the hydroxyxanthenes, which include fluorescein, Eosin, Erythrosin, Phloxine, and Rose Bengal (Fig. 3.2).



FIGURE 3.1 Basic structures of xanthene derivatives.

II. SYNTHESIS

Fluorescein was discovered by von Baeyer in 1871. Modification of this compound by halogenation to produce Eosine (1874), Erythrosine B (1872), Rose Bengal (1880–1884), and Phloxine (1887) was subsequently accomplished by other researchers (Hewitt, 1922; Neckers, 1987). Fluorescein is commercially synthesized by condensation of resorcinol and phthalic anhydride using heat or a condensing agent (Fig. 3.3). This condensation may be catalyzed by zinc chloride (Baeyer synthesis) or sulfuric acid (Ambler *et al.*, 1927; Hewitt, 1922; Jacobs, 1947; Neckers and Valdes-Aguilera, 1993).

Treatment of fluorescein with elemental bromine and iodine produces the halogenated hydroxyxanthenes, Eosin and Erythrosin, respectively.



FIGURE 3.2 Chemical structures of major hydroxyxanthenes.



FIGURE 3.3 Chemical synthesis of fluorescein and numbering of fluorescein molecule.

The substituting agents (i.e., bromine or iodine) will first attack positions 4' and 5', followed by positions 2' and 7' (See Fig. 3.3 for position numbers). Synthesis of Phloxine and Rose Bengal (each contains four chlorine atoms) requires production of the tetrachlorinated fluorescein prior to bromination or iodination. Production of 4,5,6,7-tetrachloro-fluorescein is accomplished by the acid condensation of resorcinol and tetrachlor-ophthalic acid (or anhydride). Alkaline hydrolysis is used to produce the disodium salts following halogenation (Hewitt, 1922).

III. APPLICATIONS

A. Dyestuffs

Xanthene derivatives are among the oldest and most commonly used of all synthetic dyestuffs. In 1938, 32 xanthene dyes were approved for certification by the United States Food and Drug Administration (US FDA) in the three categories: food, drug, or cosmetic. Approval of some xanthene dyes was later reversed due to safety concerns, but most were delisted due to lack of commercial impact (Lipman, 1995). Currently, 10 xanthenes derivatives remain certifiable by FDA. The US Code of Federal Regulations (2003) lists the current regulatory status, characteristics, and purity of the certifiable xanthene derivatives. Hydroxyxanthenes are difficult to purify and a number of contaminants from the fluorescein-producing reaction, along with byproducts resulting from incomplete halogenations, are commonly present in commercial products, including the US FDA certified colorants (Marshall, 1976). FD&C Red No. 3 (Erythrosine B) was one of the first seven color additives allowed by the U.S. Food and Drug Act of 1906 and is currently the only xanthene derivative to be certified for food use in the United States (Parkinson and Brown, 1981; United States Government, 2003). The dye form of FD&C Red No. 3 received permanent listing status for ingested drugs and foods in June of 1969 (Blumenthal, 1990). FD&C Red No. 3 closely matches primary red and is often used for blending; however, this compound is sensitive to light. Thus the predominant applications are confections, powders, and baked products (Henkel, 1993; Parkinson and Brown, 1981). The provisional listing for the lake (the water insoluble form) of FD&C Red No. 3 was terminated in 1990 due to potential safety concerns.

B. Pesticides

Xanthene derivatives have been known, since the late 1920s, to have lightdependent phototoxic insecticidal properties (Heitz, 1997). Crounse and Heitz (1984) listed a number of xanthene derivatives as effective insecticides against a large number of insect species. These compounds produce toxicity in insects following ingestion, and therefore a bait is included in the formulation to attract insects and encourage their consumption of the insecticide (Crounse and Heitz, 1984; Heitz, 1997). Appropriate bait selection provides the specificity of the insecticidal effects without damaging beneficial insect populations. Lethality of xanthene derivatives can also be improved by the inclusion of adjuvants, such as Tween 80 and Triton X-100, in the product formulation (Heitz *et al.*, 1997).

C. Medical applications

Hydroxyxanthenes are used in a number of medically related procedures. Fluorescein is commonly used for ophthalmic examinations and applied topically to determine the extent of corneal damage. The compound may also be injected intravenously for a procedure termed retinal angiography (Kim, 2000). Erythrosin has been used for many years as a plaque-disclosing agent in dental evaluations, and its antimicrobial activity toward dental microbiota has been noted (Caldwell and Hunt, 1969; Wood *et al.*, 2006). Application of Eosin as a histological stain has been known since the 1800s. Leukocytes are observed microscopically after staining with Eosin; hence, these are described as eosinophils (Neckers and Valdes-Aguilera, 1993). Rose Bengal has been used to test liver function in humans (Neckers, 1987). Emergence of antibiotic-resistant strains of human pathogens constitutes a serious medical challenge. According to Rasooly and Weisz (2002), Phloxine B is potent antimicrobial agent against methicillin-resistant *Staphylocccus aureus*.

D. Antimicrobials

Application of hydroxyxanthenes as antimicrobial agents is currently limited. Some of these compounds are used as selective ingredients in microbiological media. Eosin and Rose Bengal are well-known selective inhibitors that favor the growth of Gram-negative bacteria (i.e., Eosin Methylene Blue Agar) and fungi (i.e., Rose Bengal Chloramphenicol Agar), respectively (Begue *et al.*, 1965). Rose Bengal has been used to preferentially isolate fungi from soil samples for at least 60 years (Ottow, 1972).

Recent findings suggest that hydroxyxanthenes are potentially useful antimicrobial food additives (Waite, 2007; Waite and Yousef, 2008). Additional antimicrobial applications have been proposed, including wastewater treatment, seawater treatment, and as *Salmonella*-control agents for *in vivo* applications in chickens (Adams *et al.*, 1982; Bezman *et al.*, 1978; El-Adly, 2008; Jemli *et al.*, 2002; Martin and Perez-Cruet, 1987;

Rengifo-Herrera *et al.*, 2007). Rasooly (2005) demonstrated the antimicrobial efficacy Phloxine B against several *Bacillus* spp. The author also showed that Gram-negative bacteria became sensitive to the xanthene compound when their cells were pretreated with ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA). Phloxine B is potentially useful as a bactericidal agent against the plant pathogen, *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* (Willeford *et al.*, 1998). Rose Bengal has also been found to reduce the infectivity of the parasite *Trypanosoma cruzi* (Cruz *et al.*, 1984).

IV. ANTIMICROBIAL MECHANISM

Use of hydroxyxanthenes as antimicrobial agents is currently limited, but these compounds are potentially valuable for emerging applications in food, medicine and the environment. To explore their applicability in these fields, researchers should be aware of the mechanism of action of these compounds against various microorganisms. Reviewing the current understanding of the mechanism of antimicrobial action may help researchers develop suitable strategies for new applications.

A. Photooxidation and antimicrobial properties

Hydroxyxanthenes are potent photosensitizers with photooxidation believed to be the primary mechanism for their antimicrobial efficacy. The antibacterial activity of hydroxyxanthenes via photooxidation was first reported in 1904 by Jadlbauer and von Tappeiner and in 1908 by Reitz (Harrison, 1967; Karrer et al., 1999). Photooxidation is a light-dependent process in which the photosensitizer reacts with other compounds in the system to produce oxidized end products (Foote, 1991). The photosensitizer undergoes photoexcitation and transfers its energy to other molecules. Photooxidation is also referred to as photosensitized oxidation or the photodynamic effect. This process is shown schematically in Fig. 3.4. The singlet (ground state) photosensitizer contains two electrons with opposite spins in a low-energy orbital. Absorption of a photon of light results in the movement of one of the electrons to a high-energy orbital while maintaining its spin direction; this is referred to as first excited singlet state. Compounds at this state can lose energy by emitting light (fluorescence) or by giving off heat (internal conversion) to return to the ground state. Alternatively, the spin direction of the excited electron may invert, that is, become parallel with its partner electron, to form an excited triplet state of the photosensitizer. This triplet state is relatively long lived (microseconds). Molecules at the excited triplet state may lose energy in three different pathways: (i) reaction with cellular or soluble components (type I reaction); (ii) reaction with triplet oxygen, that is, oxygen in its



FIGURE 3.4 Illustrated interpretation of photooxidation of a generic hydroxyxanthene as a photosensitizer. Adapted from Castano *et al.* (2004).

ground state, to form the excited-state singlet oxygen (type II reaction); or (iii) light emission (phosphorescence). These reactions are not mutually exclusive for a particular photosensitizer and the ratio of reaction outcomes is dependent on the photosensitizer and concentrations of reactants (Castano *et al.*, 2004). Hydroxyxanthene triplets are presumed to favor type I reactions in biological systems due to the abundance of reductants, including NADH, resulting in reduced dye species (Martin and Logsdon, 1987a).

According to earlier studies, fluorescein had no antimicrobial potency against various Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria, and yeast at concentrations up to 500 μ M (Martin and Logsdon, 1987b; Wang *et al.*, 2006). In a recent study (Waite and Yousef, 2008), antimicrobial activity of hydroxyxanthenes against *Listeria monocytogenes* has been correlated with increasing substitutions of halogen on the fluorescein base (Fig. 3.5). The nonhalogenataed hydroxyxanthene (fluorescein) and its brominated derivative (Eosin), at 10 ppm level, were ineffective at decreasing the population of *L. monocytogenes*. Erythrosin B, Phloxine, and Rose Bengal produced considerable inactivation of *L. monocytogenes* under the conditions tested. Iodinated hydroxyxanthenes were significantly more effective than their brominated derivatives were more effective than non-chlorinated species at reducing the target population. This general trend of antimicrobial efficacy has been reported previously against a variety of



FIGURE 3.5 Surviving *Listeria monocytogenes* OSY-328 following treatment with various xanthene derivatives (10 ppm) and light exposure of 45 min in citrate-phosphate buffer, pH 7.0 (Adapted from Waite and Yousef, 2008). Error bars indicate standard error, n = 2. Different letter designations indicate significant differences (*p*-value <0.05) in survival of *L. monocytogenes* OSY-328 following treatment.

target microorganisms (Harrison, 1967; Iwamoto *et al.*, 1989; Karrer *et al.*, 1999).

Heavy halogen atoms, such as bromine and iodine, likely enhance the intersystem crossing of the excited singlet state of the photosensitizer molecule by spin perturbation to yield high levels of the reactive triplet molecule and also high phosphorescence quantum yields (Krasnoff et al., 1999; Rosenthal et al., 1988; Wang et al., 2006). The quantum yields of fluorescence, triplet formation, and singlet oxygen generation by selected hydroxyxanthenes are shown in Table 3.1. Increasing halogen substitution results in an increase in intersystem crossing from singlet to triplet state, thus, increasing the quantum yield of phosphorescence at the expense of that for fluorescence. Higher quantum yields of triplet formation for hydroxyxanthenes correlate with increased singlet oxygen yield and enhanced antimicrobial activity, particularly for Rose Bengal (Garland and Moore, 1979; Wang et al., 2006). Caution must be exercised in making generalizations about photooxidative pathways of different hydroxyxanthenes. Assumptions about Rose Bengal may not be valid for Erythrosin and vice versa. For example, Rose Bengal was found to be a potent photooxidizer of NADH, whereas Erythrosin was virtually incapable of causing NADH oxidation, indicating that the lethal mechanism may vary with chemical structure (Martin and Burch, 1988).

TABLE 3.1 Quantum yields of fluorescence, triplet formation, and singlet oxygen for selected hydroxyxanthenes upon photoexcitation (Gandin *et al.*, 1983; Inbaraj *et al.*, 2005; Jemli *et al.*, 2002; Neckers and Valdes-Aguilera, 1993; Otterstatter, 1999)

	Quantum yield			
Hydroxyxanthene	Fluorescence (Фf)	Triplet formation (Φt)	Singlet oxygen generation ($\Phi_{ m O2}$)	
Fluorescein	0.92-0.93	0.03	0.03–0.09	
Eosin	0.20-0.63	0.28-0.32	0.39-0.57	
Phloxine B		0.40	0.59-0.65	
Erythrosin	0.02-0.08	0.62-0.69	0.62-0.63	
Rose Bengal	0.018-0.08	0.76–0.86	0.75–0.79	

Excessive light exposure of hydroxyxanthenes leads to photobleaching and formation of stable photolysis products (Schafer *et al.*, 2000). Halogenated hydroxyxanthenes bleach when irradiated in the presence of oxygen. The bleaching of the dye occurs due to disruption of delocalized electrons, most likely via peroxide formation across the quinoid; however, this bleaching may be reversible if reducing agents are added (Neckers, 1987). The antimicrobial activity of these photolysis products has only been minimally studied and photolysis products of Erythrosin were found to be nonmutagenic in the *Salmonella*-based Ames assay (Ozaki *et al.*, 1998; Schafer *et al.*, 2000).

Irradiation of halogenated hydroxyxanthenes may also lead to dehalogenation via type I photooxidation. Debromination of Eosin can occur during photooxidation if the triplet reacts with amines and phenols (Neckers and Valdes-Aguilera, 1993). Irradiation with sunlight results in the debromination of Phloxine B, likely resulting in the formation of free radicals and yielding 2',4',5'-tribromo-4,5,6,7-tetrachloro-fluorescein and 4',5'-dibromo-4,5,6,7-tetrachloro-fluorescein as photolysis products (Wang *et al.*, 1998). It is not known whether the release of halogens from the hydroxyxanthene contributes to antimicrobial efficacy of these compounds.

B. Localization of hydroxyxanthenes in microbial cell

Localization of the hydroxyxanthenes to a sensitive compartment or region within the cell may be crucial for the mechanism of microbial lethality by these compounds. Hydroxyxanthenes are amphiphilic molecules and therefore should have variable affinities to different cell components. Several authors presented partition coefficients of various hydroxyxanthenes using water and octanol as solvents to estimate the

	Partition coefficient in different studies (log P)				
Hydroxyxanthene	Wang <i>et al.</i> (2006) ^a	Levitan (1977) ^a	Oros et al. (2003) ^b	Waite (2007) ^a	
Fluorescein	-0.28	-4.77		-0.49	
Eosin Y	-0.25	-1.27	6.49	-0.41	
Erythrosin B	-0.24	-0.15		-0.38	
Phloxine			8.98	-0.20	
Rose Bengal	-0.21	3.14	9.91	0.35	

TABLE 3.2 Partition coefficients of hydroxyxanthenes

^{*a*} Values based on partition coefficients between octanol and water.

^b Reported as calculated hydrophobicity using computer software by Advanced Chemistry Development, Inc.

degree of hydrophobicity of these compounds (Table 3.2). Oros *et al.* (2003) found hydrophobicity to correlate with antimicrobial activity of a wide variety of colorants, including hydroxyxanthenes. Lethal mechanisms have been suggested for hydroxyxanthene localization in membranes, critical proteins or enzymes, nucleic acids, and other targets. Localization to target cell components as prerequisites for antimicrobial efficacy of hydroxyxanthenes remains an unproven hypothesis. Some researchers, for example, treated contaminated water with immobilized Eosin and Rose Bengal and reported the effectiveness of these stationary molecules at reducing microbial populations (Bezman *et al.*, 1978; Neckers and Valdes-Aguilera, 1993).

1. Localization in membranes

Wang et al. (2006) indicated that xanthene derivatives typically localize to the cellular membrane and subsequent photooxidation leads to destructive damage of the lipid and protein components of this structure. The lipophilic tendency of hydroxyxanthenes suggests some partition of these compounds into the cell membrane; however, the transfer from aqueous solution to the cellular membrane may be impeded by the negative charges of both cell membrane and hydroxyxanthenes (Dahl et al., 1989). The cytoplasmic membrane contains unsaturated fatty acids that are susceptible to lipid peroxidation via photooxidation processes (Girotti, 2001; Neckers and Valdes-Aguilera, 1993). Excessive oxidation of the phospholipid bilayer can lead to loss of membrane integrity or to localized environmental changes that alter membrane protein functionality (Harrison, 1967; Phoenix et al., 2003; Stark, 2005). Oxidation of the cytoplasmic membrane also leads to changes in functionality of ion transport channels and depolarization of the membrane (Pooler and Valenzeno, 1979; Schafer et al., 2000; Stark, 2005). Oxidation of membrane components

by singlet oxygen may lead to downstream oxidative DNA damage via intermediate reactive oxygen species (Ouedraogo and Redmond, 2003).

2. Protein targets

Conway and Adams (1989) grew *Lactobacillus fermentum* in the presence of 0.1% Erythrosin, stained cells with cotton blue, and analyzed staining patterns using conventional and fluorescence microscopy. Cells associated with Erythrosin were not associated with cotton blue and vice versa. Cells were disrupted, and fractions were collected after ethanol and protease treatments. Ethanol precipitates without protease treatment contained Erythrosin, whereas ethanol precipitates with protease treatment did not contain the dye. These findings indicate that Erythrosin is likely associated with protein components of the cell wall (Conway and Adams, 1989).

Proteins and enzymes may be inactivated by direct binding of the photosensitizer and subsequent oxidation of critical amino acid residues within the protein. Protein binding is of particular importance when the photosensitizer is anionic in nature. Eosin and Erythrosin adsorbed to bovine serum albumin at approximately a 1:1 ratio (Garland and Moore, 1979). In vitro, Rose Bengal binds to DNA polymerase with enzyme inhibition being irreversible following light exposure but reversible without light exposure (Neckers and Valdes-Aguilera, 1993). Rose Bengal also inhibited RNA polymerase and several NAD⁺ and NADP⁺-dependent dehydrogenases, in vitro (Stern et al., 1980). Likewise, lysozyme activity is sensitive to photooxidation by Eosin (Bezman et al., 1978; Kepka and Grossweiner, 1973). Tryptophan, cysteine, methionine, tyrosine, and histidine are known to be important targets of photooxidation within protein molecules (Castano et al., 2004; Neckers and Valdes-Aguilera, 1993). Within a protein, histidine and tryptophan residues are particularly susceptible to oxidation via singlet oxygen (Castano et al., 2004; Estevam *et al.*, 2004).

3. Nucleic acids

DNA can be oxidatively damaged in the nucleic acid or sugar portion of the molecule. Additionally, DNA could be oxidatively crosslinked to proteins, a damage that is particularly difficult for cells to repair (Castano *et al.*, 2004). Several photosensitizers are known to cause DNA damage, usually with evidence of mutation; therefore, it has been proposed that photooxidation could lead to mutagenesis (Harrison, 1967; Phoenix *et al.*, 2003).

When investigated *in vitro*, Rose Bengal caused double-strand breaks in DNA as a result of photooxidation. These reactions are 20 times more efficient in the absence of oxygen, indicating the likelihood of a type I mechanism (Ciulla *et al.*, 1989; Neckers and Valdes-Aguilera, 1993). However, others reported lower efficiency under anaerobic conditions, thus implicating singlet oxygen as a reaction intermediate (Nieuwint *et al.*, 1985).

In vivo, hydroxyxanthenes are not likely to interact directly with DNA due to size, charge restrictions, and accessibility. Lakdawalla and Netrawali (1988) suggested that due to the potential planarity of the hydroxyxanthene molecules, there is a likelihood for intercalation in the DNA which would result in frameshift mutations. Halogenated hydroxyxanthenes have been shown to induce DNA damage in *B. subtilis* in the recombination repair assay (Yoshikawa *et al.*, 1978). Increased mutation frequencies were reported in *Neurospora crassa, Serratia marcensens, Escherichia coli, B. subtilis, Haemophilus influenzae*, and *Penicillium notatum*, following photooxidation with Eosin or Erythrosin (Harrison, 1967; Jemli *et al.*, 2002; Lakdawalla and Netrawali, 1988). However, FD&C Red No. 3 (Erythrosin) has repeatedly been negative for causing mutagenicity in *Salmonella*/Ames reversion assays (Jemli *et al.*, 2002; Lakdawalla and Netrawali, 1988).

4. Other targets

Critical redox molecules within the cell may be affected by photooxidation; these molecules include NADH, glutathione, and cytochrome c (Martin and Burch, 1988). Biologically important quinones or hydroxyquinones may be important targets of photooxidation, leading to cell death. Gutierrez and Garcia (1998) investigated interactions and complex formation between hydroxyxanthenes (Erythrosin and Rose Bengal) and quinones which led to a red shift in the absorbance spectra. *In vitro* studies by Katsuki *et al.* (1994) detected electron transfer reactions between xanthene dyes and *p*-quinones, with light exposure, as measured by electron paramagnetic resonance spectroscopy. Quinone anion radicals were the product of photooxidation using Eosin Y, dibromo-fluorescein, and Erythrosin B, but not fluorescein (Katsuki *et al.*, 1994). *In vivo* studies have not confirmed the interaction between xanthene derivatives and cellular redox components.

C. Relative resistance of microorganisms to hydroxyxanthenes

Microorganisms vary in their sensitivity to hydroxyxanthenes. Wang *et al.* (2006) found *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* to be more sensitive to photooxidation by hydroxyxanthenes than was the Gram-positive *Staphylococcus aureus*, with the latter being more sensitive than the Gram-negative *E. coli*. Most studies have reported minimal, if any, effect of hydroxy-xanthenes on Gram-negative bacteria. Erythrosin, at 0.5% and 1.0%, effectively inhibits the growth of numerous organisms found in dental plaque, including *Streptococcus* spp. and some yeast, but ineffective against

Gram-negative bacteria (Caldwell and Hunt, 1969). Inefficacy of these compounds against Gram-negative bacteria has been attributed to the barrier properties of the outer membrane (Dahl *et al.*, 1989). Efficacy of hydroxyxanthenes toward Gram-negative bacteria may be improved with increasing dye concentrations (10μ M) and excessive light exposure (240 min) (Jemli *et al.*, 2002). Hydroxyxanthenes are also more effective against Gram-negative organisms in simple media, for example, water (Bezman *et al.*, 1978; Neckers and Valdes-Aguilera, 1993). Dahl *et al.* (1988) suggested that Rose Bengal penetrates the outer membrane of Gram-negative bacteria, but the process occurs slowly.

Gram-negative bacteria are substantially more resistant to inactivation by photooxidation than are the Gram-positives, indicating the importance of the protective effect of the outer membrane (Begue *et al.*, 1965; Jemli *et al.*, 2002; Karrer *et al.*, 1999; Kreitner *et al.*, 2003; Schafer *et al.*, 2000). The barrier properties of the outer membrane may prevent localization of the photosensitizer or block the penetration of photooxidation products, for example, singlet oxygen or hydroxyl radical (Jemli *et al.*, 2002; Karrer *et al.*, 1999). Deep rough mutants of *Salmonella* and *E. coli* are sensitive to photodynamic inactivation, compared to wild-type strains; this indicates a protective barrier effect of the lipopolysaccharide of the outer membrane (Dahl *et al.*, 1987, 1989).

Disruption of the outer membrane barrier properties of Gram-negative bacteria may lead to sensitization of these organisms to the photooxidative mechanisms of hydroxyxanthenes. Recently, two approaches have been used to sensitize bacteria to xanthene derivatives: chelation and treatment with ultrahigh pressure.

1. Chelation

The hydrophobic barrier of the outer membrane of Gram-negative bacteria is primarily achieved by the lipopolysaccharide components. The inner core of these molecules is anionic and the electrostatic repulsion of neighboring molecules is neutralized by divalent cations (Mg^{2+}) and Ca²⁺) which help to stabilize the outer leaflet structure of the outer membrane (Nikaido, 1996). Rasooly (2005) investigated the sensitization of E. coli to Phloxine B by treating the cells with the divalent chelator, EDTA. Cells treated with EDTA and Phloxine B for extended periods of time (>5 h) showed some sensitivity to the photooxidation treatment (0.6 log reduction). These findings provide some evidence that destabilization of the outer membrane via divalent cation chelation may sensitize Gram-negative bacteria to xanthene derivatives. In our laboratory, EDTA treatments (<25 mM) in combination with Erythrosin B (10 ppm) were ineffective at reducing E. coli O157:H7 populations (Waite, 2007). Additionally, fluorescent microscopy confirmed that EDTA treatment did not cause accumulation of the xanthene derivative within *E. coli* cells.

It should be noted that EDTA and Erythrosin B treatment times were significantly less than those reported by Rasooly (2005). It should also be noted that this author used an *E. coli* K-12 descendent strain which, by definition as a K-12 strain, may or may not contain a complete core structure, but lacks the O antigen (Liu and Reeves, 1996). Therefore, K-12 strains would be expected to display different barrier properties than the *E. coli* O157:H7 strain used in our laboratory (Nikaido, 1996).

2. Ultrahigh pressure

Application of ultrahigh pressure, above 200 MPa, is lethal to microorganisms suspended in different media, including food (Lado and Yousef, 2002). Pressure treatments used in food processing range from 300 to 1000 MPa with holding times commonly less than 10 min. Pressure treatments may change the outer membrane of Gram-negative bacteria and alter its barrier properties. The nature of membrane changes has not been fully elucidated; however, depending on the dose of the pressure treatment, these changes may be described as reversible or irreversible.



FIGURE 3.6 Surviving *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 EDL 933 populations following treatment with combinations of various xanthene derivatives (10 ppm), ultrahigh pressure (400 MPa, 1 min, 25 °C), and light exposure of 45 min in citrate-phosphate buffer (pH 7.0) (Adapted from Waite and Yousef, 2008). Error bars indicate standard error, $n \ge 3$. Different letter designations indicate significant differences (*p*-value <0.05) in efficacy of treatments including pressure.

Pressure treatments above 250 MPa and below 300 MPa tend to display reversible changes in the outer membrane (Hauben *et al.*, 1996; Waite and Yousef, 2009). With pressure treatments that succeed in changing the barrier properties of the outer membrane, Gram-negative bacteria became sensitive to hydroxyxanthene treatment (Waite and Yousef, 2008; Waite and Yousef, 2009). Inactivation of *E. coli* O157:H7 by combinations of xanthene-derivatives, light exposure, and ultrahigh pressure is illustrated in Fig. 3.6. The halogenated xanthene derivatives act synergistically with ultrahigh pressure against *E. coli*. These results suggest the feasibility of applying hydroxyxanthene treatments to enhance the safety of pressure-processed food products.

V. CONCLUSIONS

Halogenated hydroxyxanthenes are capable of inducing lethality toward a variety of microorganisms. The mechanism of microbial inactivation by these compounds is primarily via photooxidative pathways. Gramnegative bacteria are exceptionally more resistant than other microorganisms to these treatments. Enhancing the efficacy of hydroxyxanthenes against Gram-negative bacteria is feasible when the barrier properties of the outer membrane are disrupted by chemical or physical means. These combinations treatments may be used to enhance the safety of processed food or other products.

REFERENCES

- Adams, R. F., Jones, R. L., and Conway, P. L. (1982). Reduction of *Salmonella typhimurium* in laboratory-inoculated chickens by the use of erythrosine. *Br. Poultry Sci.* 23, 461–468.
- Ambler, J. A., Clarke, W. F., Evenson, O. L., and Wales, H. (1927). Chemistry and Analysis of the Permitted Coal-Tar Food Dyes. United States Government Printing Office, Washington, DC.
- Begue, W. J., Bard, R. C., and Koehne, G. W. (1965). Microbial inhibition by erythrosin. J. Dent. Res. 45, 1464–1467.
- Bezman, S. A., Burtis, P. A., Izod, T. P. J., and Thayer, M. A. (1978). Photodynamic inactivation of *E. coli* by rose bengal immobilized on polystyrene beads. *Photochem. Photobiol.* 28, 325–329.
- Blumenthal, D. (1990). Red No. 3 and other colorful controversies. http://www.fda.gov/ bbs/topics/consumer/con00063.html, FDA Consumer.
- Caldwell, R. C., and Hunt, D. E. (1969). A comparison of the antimicrobial activity of disclosing agents. *J. Dent. Res.* **48**, 913–915.
- Castano, A. P., Demidova, T. N., and Hamblin, M. R. (2004). Mechanisms in photodynamic therapy: Part one – photosensitizers, photochemistry and cellular localization. *Photodiag. Photodyn. Ther.* 1, 279–293.
- Ciulla, T. A., Van Camp, J. R., Rosenfeld, E., and Kochevar, I. E. (1989). Photosensitization of single-stranded breaks in pBR322 DNA by rose bengal. *Photochem. Photobiol.* 49, 293–298.

- Conway, P. L., and Adams, R. F. (1989). Role of erythrosine in the inhibition of adhesion of *Lactobacillus fermentum* strain 737 to mouse tissue. *J. Gen. Microbiol.* **135**, 1167–1173.
- Crounse, N. N., and Heitz, J. R. (1984). Phototoxic Insecticidal Compositions and Method of Use Thereof. US Patent No. 4,647,578.
- Cruz, F. S., Lopes, L. A. V., de Souza, W., Moreno, S. N. J., Mason, R. P., and Docampo, R. (1984). The photodynamic action of rose bengal on *Trypanosoma cruzi*. Acta Tropica 41, 99–108.
- Dahl, T. A., Midden, W. R., and Hartman, P. E. (1987). Pure singlet oxygen cytotoxicity for bacteria. *Photochem. Photobiol.* 46, 345–352.
- Dahl, T. A., Midden, W. R., and Neckers, D. C. (1988). Comparison of photodynamic action by rose bengal in Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria. *Photochem. Photobiol.* 48, 607–612.
- Dahl, T. A., Valdes-Aguilera, O. M., Midden, W. R., and Neckers, D. C. (1989). Partition of rose bengal anion from aqueous medium into a lipophilic environment in the cell envelope of *Salmonella typhimurium*: Implications for cell-type targeting in photodynamic therapy. J. Photochem. Photobiol. B 4, 171–184.
- El-Adly, A. A. (2008). Evaluation of Phloxine-B as a photobactericidal agent against bacterial load in raw wastewater. *J. Appl. Sci. Res.* **4**, 1762–1768.
- Estevam, M. L., Nascimento, O. R., Baptista, M. S., Di Mascio, P., Prado, F. M., Faljoni-Alario, A., do Rosario Zucchi, M., and Nantes, I. L. (2004). Changes in the spin state and reactivity of cytochrome *c* induced by photochemically generated singlet oxygen and free radicals. *J. Biol. Chem.* 279, 39214–39222.
- Foote, C. S. (1991). Definition of type I and type II photosensitized oxidation. *Photochem. Photobiol.* **54**, 659.
- Gandin, E., Lion, Y., and Van de Vost, A. (1983). Quantum yield of singlet oxygen production by xanthene derivatives. *Photochem. Photobiol.* **37**, 271–278.
- Garland, P. B., and Moore, C. H. (1979). Phosphorescence of protein-bound Eosin and Erythrosin. *Biochem. J.* 183, 561–572.
- Girotti, A. W. (2001). Photosensitized oxidation of membrane lipids: Reaction pathways, cytotoxic effects, and cytoprotective mechanisms. J. Photochem. Photobiol. B 63, 103–113.
- Gutierrez, M. I., and Garcia, N. A. (1998). Dark and photoinduced interactions between xanthene dyes and quinones. *Dyes Pigments* **38**, 195–209.
- Harrison, A. P. (1967). Survival of bacteria: harmful effects of light, with some comparisons with other adverse physical agents. *Annu. Rev. Microbiol.* 21, 143–156.
- Hauben, K. J. A., Wuytack, E. Y., Soontjens, C. C. F., and Michiels, C. W. (1996). High-pressure transient sensitization of *Escherichia coli* to lysozyme and nisin by disruption of outer-membrane permeability. *J. Food Prot.* 59, 350–355.
- Heitz, J. R. (1997). Pesticidal applications of halogenated xanthene dyes. *Phytoparasitica* 25, 89–92.
- Heitz, J. R., Mangan, R. L., and Moreno, D. S. (1997). Phototoxic Insecticidal Composition and Method for Controlling Insect Populations. US Patent No. 5,676,959.
- Henkel, J. (1993). From shampoo to cereal seeing to the safety of color additives. http://www.cfsan.fda.gov/~dms/cos-221.html, FDA Consumer.
- Hewitt, J. T. (1922). Fluorescein and related dyestuffs. *In* "Synthetic Colouring Matters: Dyestuffs Derived from Pyridine, Quinoline, Acridine and Xanthene" pp. 289–317. Longmans, Green and Co., New York.
- Horobin, R., and Kiernan, J. (2002). Conn's Biological Stains: A Handbook of Dyes, Stains and Fluorochromes for Use in Biology and Medicine. Bios Scientific Publishers Ltd., Oxford.
- Inbaraj, J. J., Kukielczak, B. M., and Chignell, C. F. (2005). Phloxine B phototoxicity: A mechanistic study using HaCaT keratinocytes. *Photochem. Photobiol.* **81**, 81–88.
- Iwamoto, Y., Tominaga, C., and Yanagihara, Y. (1989). Photodynamic activities of food additive dyes on the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 37, 1632–1634.

- Jacobs, M. B. (1947). Synthetic coloring matters. In "Synthetic Food Adjuncts" pp. 9–30. D. Van Nostrand Company, Inc, New York.
- Jemli, M., Alouini, Z., Sabbahi, S., and Gueddari, M. (2002). Destruction of fecal bacteria in wastewater by three photosensitizers. J. Environ. Monit. 4, 511–516.
- Karrer, S., Szeimies, R.-M., Ernst, S., Abels, C., Baumler, W., and Landthaler, M. (1999). Photodynamic inactivation of staphylococci with 5-aminolaevulinic acid or photofrin. *Laser. Med. Sci.* 14, 54–61.
- Katsuki, A., Akiyama, K., Ikegami, Y., and Tero-Kubota, S. (1994). Spin-orbit couplinginduced electron spin polarization observed in photosensitized electron transfer reactions between xanthene dyes and *p*-quinones. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **116**, 12065–12066.
- Kepka, A. G., and Grossweiner, L. I. (1973). Photodynamic inactivation of lysozyme by eosin. *Photochem. Photobiol.* 18, 49–61.
- Kim, J. (2000). The use of vital dyes in corneal disease. Curr. Opin. Opthalmol. 11, 241-247.
- Krasnoff, S. B., Faloon, D., Williams, J. E., and Gibson, D. M. (1999). Toxicity of xanthene dyes to entomopathogenic fungi. *Biocontrib. Sci. Technol.* 9, 215–225.
- Kreitner, M., Wagner, K.-H., Alth, G., Eberman, R., Foissy, H., and Elmadfa, I. (2003). Finding optimal photosensitisers for the decontamination of foods by the photodynamic effect. *Forum Nutr.* 56, 367–369.
- Lado, B. H., and Yousef, A. E. (2002). Alternative food-preservation technologies: Efficacy and mechanisms. *Microb. Infect.* 4, 433–440.
- Lakdawalla, A. A., and Netrawali, M. S. (1988). Mutagenicity, comutagenicity, and antimutagenicity of erythrosine (FD and C Red 3), a food dye, in the Ames/Salmonella assay. *Mutat. Res.* **204**, 131–139.
- Levitan, H. (1977). Food, drug, and cosmetic dyes: Biological effects related to lipid solubility. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 74, 2914–2918.
- Lipman, A. L. (1995). Safety of xanthene dyes according to the U.S. Food and Drug Administration. *In* "Light-Activated Pest Control" (J. R. Heitz and K. R. Downum, Eds.), pp. 34–53. American Chemical Society, Washington, DC.
- Liu, D., and Reeves, P. R. (1996). Escherichia coli K12 regains its O antigen. Microbiology 140, 49–57.
- Marshall, P. N. (1976). The compositions of erythrosins, fluorescein, phloxine and rose bengal: A study using thin-layer chromatography and solvent extraction. *Histochem. J.* 8, 487–499.
- Martin, J. P., and Burch, P. (1988). Oxygen radicals are generated by dye-mediated intracellular photooxidations. *In* "Proceedings of an Upjohn – UCLA Symposia on Molecular and Cellular Biology: Oxy-Radicals in Molecular Biology and Pathology" (P. A. Cerutti, I. Fridovich and J. M. McCord, Eds.), vol. 82, pp. 393–404. Alan R. Liss, Inc., New York.
- Martin, J. P., and Logsdon, N. (1987). Oxygen radicals are generated by dye-mediated intracellular photooxidations: A role for superoxide in photodynamic effects. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 256, 39–49.
- Martin, J. P., and Logsdon, N. (1987). Oxygen radicals mediate cell inactivation by acridine dyes, fluorescein, and lucifer yellow CH. *Photochem. Photobiol.* 46, 45–53.
- Martin, D. F., and Perez-Cruet, M. J. (1987). Preparation of sterile seawater through photodynamic action. Preliminary studies. *Fla. Sci.* **50**, 168–176.
- Neckers, D. C. (1987). The Indian Happiness Wart in the development of photodynamic action. J. Chem. Educ. 64, 649–656.
- Neckers, D. C., and Valdes-Aguilera, O. M. (1993). Photochemistry of the xanthene dyes. *In* "Advances in Photochemistry" (D. Volman, G. S. Hammond and D. C. Neckers, Eds.), pp. 315–394. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York.
- Nieuwint, A. W. M., Aubry, J. M., Arwert, F., Kortbeek, H., Herzberg, S., and Joenje, H. (1985). Inability of chemically generated singlet oxygen to break the DNA backbone. *Free Rad. Res. Comm.* 1, 1–9.

- Nikaido, H. (1996). Outer membrane. In "Escherichia coli and Salmonella: Cellular and Molecular Biology" (F. C. Neidhardt, R. Curtis, J. L. Ingraham, E. C. C. Lin, K. B. Low, B. Magasanik, W. S. Reznikoff, M. Riley, M. Schaechter and H. E. Umbarger, Eds.), pp. 29–47. ASM Press, Washington, D. C.
- Oros, G., Cserhati, T., and Forgacs, E. (2003). Separation of the strength and selectivity of the microbiological effect of synthetic dyes by spectral mapping technique. *Chemosphere* 52, 185–193.
- Otterstatter, G. (1999). Coloring of Food, Drugs and Cosmetics. Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York.
- Ottow, J. C. G. (1972). Rose Bengal as a selective aid in the isolation of fungi and actinomycetes from natural sources. *Mycologia* 64, 304–315.
- Ouedraogo, G. D., and Redmond, R. W. (2003). Secondary reactive oxygen species extend the range of photosensitization effects in cells: DNA damage produced *via* initial membrane photosensitization. *Photochem. Photobiol.* **77**, 192–203.
- Ozaki, A., Kitano, M., Itoh, N., Kuroda, K., Furusawa, N., Masuda, T., and Yamaguchi, H. (1998). Mutagenicity and DNA-damaging activity of decomposed products of food colors under UV irradiation. *Food Chem. Toxicol.* **36**, 811–817.
- Parkinson, T. M., and Brown, J. P. (1981). Metabolic fate of food colorants. Annu. Rev. Nutr. 1, 175–205.
- Phoenix, D. A., Sayed, Z., Hussain, S., Harris, F., and Wainwright, M. (2003). The phototoxicity of phenothiazinium derivatives against *Escherichia coli* and *Staphylococcus aureus*. *FEMS Immunol. Med. Microbiol.* **39**, 17–22.
- Pooler, J. P., and Valenzeno, D. P. (1979). The role of singlet oxygen in photooxidation of excitable cell membranes. *Photochem. Photobiol.* **30**, 581–584.
- Rasooly, R. (2005). Expanding the bactericidal action of the food color additive phloxine B to gram-negative bacteria. *FEMS Immunol. Med. Microbiol.* **45**, 239–244.
- Rasooly, A., and Weisz, A. (2002). *In vitro* antibacterial activities of phloxine B and other halogenated fluoresceins against methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother*. **46**, 3650–3653.
- Rengifo-Herrera, J. A., Sanabria, J., Machuca, F., Dierfolf, C. F., Pulgarin, C., and Orellana, G. (2007). A comparison of solar photocatalytic inactivation of waterborne E. coli using Tris (2, 2'-bipyridine)ruthenium(II), Rose Bengal and TiO₂. J. Sol. Energ. Eng. 129, 135–140.
- Rosenthal, I., Yang, G. C., Bell, S. J., and Scher, A. L. (1988). The chemical photosensitizing ability of certified colour additives. *Food Addit. Contam.* 5, 563–571.
- Schafer, M., Schmitz, C., Facius, R., Horneck, G., Milow, B., Funken, K.-H., and Ortner, J. (2000). Systematic study of parameters influencing the action of rose bengal with visible light on bacterial cells: Comparison between the biological effect and singlet-oxygen production. *Photochem. Photobiol.* **71**, 514–523.
- Stark, G. (2005). Functional consequences of oxidative membrane damage. *J. Membr. Biol.* **205**, 1–16.
- Stern, A. M., D'Aurora, V., and Sigman, D. S. (1980). Inhibition of *Escherichia coli* DNA polymerase I by rose bengal. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 202, 525–532.
- United States Government (2003). Title 21. Food and drugs. Part 70. Color additives. Code of Federal Regulations. United States Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C.
- Waite, J. G. (2007). Combination of ultra-high pressure and xanthene-derivatives to inactivate food-borne spoilage and pathogenic bacteria. The Ohio State University, Columbus, OH. Ph.D. Dissertation.
- Waite, J. G., and Yousef, A. E. (2008). Enhanced inactivation of foodborne pathogenic and spoilage bacteria by FD&C Red No. 3 and other xanthene derivatives during ultra-high pressure processing. *J. Food Prot.* **71**, 1861–1867.

- Waite, J. G., and Yousef, A. E. (2009). Ultra-high pressure leads to destabilization of the outer membrane of *Escherichia coli* and induces sensitivity to FD&C Red No. 3. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* Submitted.
- Wang, L., Cai, W.-F., and Li, Q. X. (1998). Photolysis of Phloxine B in water and aqueous solutions. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 35, 397–403.
- Wang, H., Lu, L., Zhu, S., Li, Y., and Cai, W. (2006). The phototoxicity of xanthene derivatives against *Escherichia coli*, *Staphylococcus aureus*, and *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Curr. Microbiol.* 52, 1–5.
- Willeford, K. O., Parker, T. A., and Diehl, S. V. (1998). Efficacy of Phloxine B as a bactericidal agent in plants. J. Agric. Food Chem. 46, 1637–1641.
- Wood, S., Metcalf, D., Devine, D., and Robinson, C. (2006). Erythrosine is a potential photosensitizer for the photodynamic therapy of oral plaque biofilms. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 57, 680–684.
- Yoshikawa, K., Kurata, H., Iwahara, S., and Kada, T. (1978). Photodynamic action of fluorescein dyes in DNA-damage and *in vitro* inactivation of transforming DNA in bacteria. *Mutat. Res.* **56**, 359–362.


In Vitro Biofilm Models: An Overview

Andrew J. McBain

Contents I.	Introduction	100
II.	Choosing the Experimental System	102
	A. Pure culture, defined consortium or microcosm?	102
	B. Continuous, semi-continuous or batch culture?	103
III.	Closed System Biofilm Models	103
	A. The agar plate: A simple biofilm model?	103
	B. Biofilm models based on multi-well plates:	
	Potential for high-throughput analyses	105
IV.	Open System Biofilm Models	106
	A. Suspended substratum reactors	106
	B. Rotating reactors for control of shear stress	110
	C. The Robbins device and flow cells	110
	D. Drip-fed biofilms	112
	E. Perfused biofilm fermenters	116
V.	Overview and Conclusions	126
Re	ferences	126

Abstract Observing naturally occurring biofilms *in situ* or *ex situ* has revealed the wide distribution of sessile microbial communities. The ubiquity, variety and complexity of biofilms is now widely accepted by microbiologists. While they are associated with many beneficial functions such as nutrient cycling, bioremediation and colonization resistance, adverse effects including recalcitrance, their involvement in industrial fouling, contamination and infection have made

School of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences, The University of Manchester, Oxford Road, Manchester M13 9PT, United Kingdom

Advances in Applied Microbiology, Volume 69 ISSN 0065-2164, DOI: 10.1016/S0065-2164(09)69004-3 © 2009 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

biofilms a priority research topic. We know that most biofilms, other than within certain infections and laboratory flasks, are composed of multiple species and that there is arguably no unifying biofilm architecture. Biofilms do however share certain properties including the presence of gradients of nutrients, gasses and metabolic products, relatively increased cell density, deposition of extracellular polymeric substances and marked recalcitrance towards antimicrobial treatments. Much of our understanding of biofilm physiology and micro-ecology originates from experiments using in vitro biofilm models. Broadly speaking, such models may be used to replicate environmental conditions within the laboratory or to focus on selected variables such a growth rate or fluid flow, etc. This chapter provides an overview of some commonly used biofilm models including microtitre plate systems, flow cells, the constant depth film fermenter, annular reactors and the perfused biofilm fermenter. While perfused biofilm fermenters, in particular, enable growth rate to be controlled within thin, relatively homogenous, quasi steady-state biofilms through modulation of flow rate nutrient availability, other models provide representative modelling of *in situ* conditions where steady states may be uncommon.

I. INTRODUCTION

Biofilms have been described as "functional consortia of microbial cells within extracellular polymer matrices and associated with surfaces" (Brown and Gilbert, 1995). These "surfaces" may be more holistically considered as interfaces, particularly solid:liquid and solid:gas, although biofilms do form at liquid:gas interfaces and in the absence of substrata during flocculation. Since detailed consideration of biofilm physiology is outside the scope of the current chapter, the reader is directed to review articles such as the following which cover biofilm communities (Stoodley *et al.*, 2002), general "biofilmology" (Costerton, 1995), biofilm resistance (Gilbert *et al.*, 2001), dental biofilms (Marsh, 2009), intestinal biofilms (Macfarlane, 2008) and the role of biofilms in infections (Donlan, 2001; Wilson, 2001).

Dental microbiologists have studied the biofilms that are referred to as dental plaque for many decades, but the systematic study of biofilms as a coherent microbiological discipline can be traced back to around 1978 when the term "biofilm" was coined by Bill Costerton. It seems most likely that biofilms and the associated physiological specialization of sessile microbial growth have evolved as a microbial survival mechanism. Accordingly, the formation of biofilms is known to confer protection against desiccation (McAuliffe *et al.*, 2006), chemical inactivation (Gilbert

et al., 2002), physical disruption (Kumar and Anand, 1998), protozoan predation (Matz *et al.*, 2008), phagocytosis (Cerca *et al.*, 2006) and other inimical treatments and enables cell–cell communication and increased genetic exchange. While understanding and combating biofilm recalcitrance understandably remains a major focus of research attention, biofilms are ubiquitous and their presence is associated with benefits to human kind as well as problems.

In order to study biofilms in anything other than the natural environment (in situ) or by removing intact biofilm material and transporting it to the lab for analyses (ex situ), biofilm investigations require various in vitro and in vivo model systems. The simple definition of biofilms given earlier fails to portray the considerable diversity in composition, metabolism and structure manifested by biofilms growing within different environments or under varying physicochemical conditions. The development and validation of practical, reproducible and representative laboratory models for the study of biofilms has therefore been a challenge which those with a penchant for invention have eagerly accepted. A panoply of in vitro biofilm model systems have been developed, which range in complexity from a bacterial colony, growing directly upon solid nutrient media (agar), to sophisticated continuous culture fermentation systems. Variety is only an advantage where an informed decision about the best model for a given application can be made. There is, however, no single ideal model system and few standardized protocols. Selection of model systems therefore often reflects the preferences of the investigator and other pragmatic questions, together with more objective criteria. Inevitably, different models have particular strengths and weaknesses, being well suited to one application but less so for others. Systems developed for the maintenance of biofilms in the laboratory can be considered in terms of the degree of control they provide over various aspects of physiology, the realism with which they replicate in situ conditions and the ease with which they can be established, maintained and replicated.

The aim of this chapter is to provide an overview of methods commonly used to model biofilm growth in the laboratory and to consider common applications by providing examples of their successful deployment. Biofilm models have previously been rationally differentiated according to whether they are "closed" or "open" with respect to nutritional availability: "closed" systems being analogous to batch culture and "open" analogous to continuous culture (Brown and Gilbert, 1995). For the sake of consistency, the current chapter will adopt the same system of classification. The variety of models currently in use means that this cannot be all-inclusive. Rather, the intention is to cover a selection of models that have proved to be consistently useful.

II. CHOOSING THE EXPERIMENTAL SYSTEM

Before any decisions can be made regarding the most suitable model for a biofilm investigation, broader considerations of experimental approach must be considered, such as whether to adopt a reductionist approach with pure cultures or defined communities or alternatively to select complex communities or microcosms. A choice between closed (batch) systems or open (continuous culture) must also be made.

A. Pure culture, defined consortium or microcosm?

Just as is the case with planktonic-phase microbial investigations, when modelling biofilms, a key decision relates to selection of test microorganism(s) and whether to use axenic (pure) culture, a defined consortium (two or more organisms in combination) or a microcosm. Physiological studies are normally done in pure culture, where the response of the test organism through manipulation of a single variable can be monitored. Defined consortia are often used to investigate ecological phenomena that would otherwise be difficult to measure for reasons of complexity and culturability and make use of simplified combinations of organisms that are amenable to growth on artificial media and are readily identifiable when they have done so. An additional advantage of defined communities it is that it theoretically possible to achieve a high degree of reproducibility between experimental runs which cannot be relied upon when using complex inocula. An example of a defined consortium which has been successfully deployed in a large number of studies is often referred to as the "Marsh Consortium" (after Philip Marsh) and is composed of approximately 10 bacteria that represent important physiological and ecological groups within the mouth. McKee et al. (1985) developed a nine-member consortium comprising Streptococcus mutans ATCC 2-27351, Strep. sanguis NCTC 7865, Streptococcus mitior EF 186, Actinomyces viscosus WVU 627, Lactobacillus casei AC 413, Neisseria sp. A1078, Veillonella alkalescens ATCC 17745, Bacteroides intermedius T 588 and Fusobacterium nucleatum NCTC 10593. When provided with a complex, mucincontaining medium, the consortium can be maintained stably and, given experience, can be selectively counted using several types of selective agar. Similar approaches have also been developed by colonic bacteriologists (Newton et al., 1998) and for the investigation of aquatic microbial ecosystems (Buswell et al., 1997).

Julian Wimpenny defined microcosms succinctly as "laboratory models of the natural system from which they originate, but also from which they evolve" (Wimpenny, 1988). Microcosms are therefore laboratory models set up with the aim of closely mimicking the physicochemical, microbiological and nutrient conditions present *in situ* and are normally inoculated using material removed from the environment of interest. Microcosms have the advantage of maintaining much of the complexity and heterogeneity of the original sample, enabling *in situ* bacterial community dynamics to be replicated within the laboratory environment and the manipulation of variables of interest. Microcosms of dental plaque have, for example, provided further insight into the microbial ecology and physiology of dental (McBain *et al.*, 2003a; Pratten *et al.*, 1998a), colonic (Hopkins *et al.*, 2003; McBain and MacFarlane, 2001) and many other microbial ecosystems.

B. Continuous, semi-continuous or batch culture?

The batch culture paradigm, where microorganisms are provided with finite nutrients within an enclosed vessel and growth rates are rapid is comparatively rare in nature. The majority of natural ecosystems probably function in a manner that is analogous to fed-batch or continuous culture, whereby fluid flow serves to provide substrates constantly or discontinuously. *In situ* growth rates may be slow, extremely so in oligotrophic or otherwise unfavourable environments. While batch culture models have the advantage of simplicity, continuous culture systems enable better control of growth rates are adopted for biofilm studies by suspending or immersing substrata, the system will cease to operate as a chemostat in the strict sense, losing homogeneity and the steady-state conditions originally described by Herbert (Herbert *et al.*, 1956). Instead, mixing will be compromised and within certain limits, the nascent, sessile population will increase over time (Brown and Gilbert, 1995).

III. CLOSED SYSTEM BIOFILM MODELS

A. The agar plate: A simple biofilm model?

Bacterial colonies formed upon solid growth media reproduce many of the properties of a biofilm, particularly high cell density and gradients (gas, nutrient and metabolites). Brown and Gilbert (1995) suggested that the highest reproducibility in such models would be obtained by inoculating them as confluent bacterial lawns rather than separated colonies since colonies vary in size, and thus nutrient availability and differential gaseous gradients within each colony will increase variance (Shapiro, 1987).

The finite nutrient resources within an agar plate mean that biofilms can only be supported until nutrients become depleted and the system is inherently variable as a function of time. Nevertheless, while agar plate methods are considered simplistic, their utility should not be overlooked. A reproducible and efficient adaptation of this approach has been described by Charaf and colleagues who used it to evaluate susceptibility towards various antimicrobials (Charaf *et al.*, 1999). Their system utilizes trypticase soy agar (40 ml) which is poured into 10×10 cm Petri dishes onto which a filter paper (Whatman quantitative No. 2, Maidstone, UK) is overlaid. Overnight cultures of the test bacterium (1 ml) are then diluted 1/10 or 1/100 and pipetted onto the filter paper so that the paper is evenly moistened. Sterile, flat coupons of test substrata are then placed on the inoculated filter paper. Depending on the test bacterium, coupons can be removed after ca. 48 h and either used immediately for biocide efficacy testing or dried at 35 °C for 40 min in order to conduct the AOAC germicidal spray test (AOAC, 2000). Data so derived appears to be reasonably reproducible and differentiates between different antimicrobials (Charaf *et al.*, 1999).

More recently, agar colonies have been used in elegant studies into the molecular biology of bacillus biofilm formation where complex colonial morphologies have been used as indicators of variations in biofilm phenotype (Kearns *et al.*, 2005; Murray *et al.*, 2009; Verhamme *et al.*, 2009).

Bacterial growth on the surface of an agar plate can be distinguished from growth upon hard surfaces since the biofilm is fed from the substratum. A similar situation may occur in biofilms associated with soft tissue infections (Wolcott *et al.*, 2009), those associated with cystic fibrosis (Costerton *et al.*, 1983) and biofilms causing food spoilage. Care is required when interpreting data derived from this type of model since the availability of cationic nutrients such as iron and magnesium may be reduced through interaction with the anionic agar polysaccharide gel and the effectiveness of cationic antimicrobials may be similarly affected if these are incorporated into the agar. However, many of the polymers within the biofilm matrix are also anionic in nature. Therefore, whilst the and binding of cations within the biofilm matrix might similarly limit their diffusion it could also result in their sequestration and subsequent utilization (Sutherland, 2001).

An issue worth considering is that if agar plate colonies are to be regarded as a form of biofilm, why is the agar disc-diffusion method a poor predictor of therapeutic failure in infections associated with indwelling devices? (Bayston *et al.*, 2007). This is probably because in disc-diffusion assays, considerable concentrations of antimicrobial will be present very shortly after inoculation, many hours before cell density has increased sufficiency to create significant gradients. Growth is therefore suppressed when the physiology of target cells is analogous to that of a planktonic culture. Once colonies have formed however, there is evidence that some of the recalcitrance properties of biofilms are manifested. Cells sampled from agar plate surfaces have exhibited markedly lower susceptibility when compared to the same cells grown planktonically in broth culture in a range of studies including those of Al-Hiti and Gilbert (1983) and DeMatteo *et al.* (1981).

B. Biofilm models based on multi-well plates: Potential for high-throughput analyses

Microtitre (i.e., 96-well) plates can be used to good effect where a simple, quantitative assay for bacterial adherence and/or biofilm formation is required. To conduct such assays, wells containing sterile growth medium are inoculated and allowed to grow with or without mixing under aerobic or anaerobic conditions, depending on the species or consortium under investigation. Similarly, fresh human saliva can be used with or without supplemental growth medium. The basic assay relies on the time-dependent adherence to the wells, which are generally composed of polystyrene, polypropylene or polycarbonate. The biofilm prevention or removal potential of antimicrobials can be measured by adding various concentrations of test compounds to nascent or mature biofilms. Quantification of adherent biomass is achieved following removal of spent culture fluid from the wells and an optional wash in buffer to remove "loosely adherent cells" by staining for which crystal violet is commonly used as a non-specific stain. Protocols may also be modified to incorporate differential stains. The presence of biofilms is apparent as a ring at the air-medium interface from aerobic and facultatively anaerobic bacteria. The stain is then dissolved by the addition of a standard volume of ethanol and measured colorimetrically using a microtitre plate reader. This type of biofilm assay has been particularly useful in molecular genetic studies in order to screen large numbers of mutants for their ability to form biofilms. For example, Friedman and Kolter (2004) used such a system to confirm the involvement of the *pel* gene cluster in the production of a glucose-rich matrix material in a strain of Pseudomonas aeruginosa and to demonstrate that a second genetic locus, termed psl is involved in the production of a mannose-rich matrix material. The system has also been variously adapted to measure other parameters of biofilm growth including the time taken for re-growth following the application of biocides, obviating the need for staining following biocide exposure and to monitor biofilm formation as a function of opacity by applying algebra. This reportedly enabled the non-destructive generation of real-time biofilm growth curves in order to simultaneously determine MICs for planktonic and adherent populations against a range of antimicrobials (Das et al., 1998).

A versatile proprietary system has been developed and patented (Ceri *et al.*, 1999) and is marketed as the Calgary (Biofilm) Device or the MBEC Device. This is essentially a 96-well plate with a lid that incorporates 96 removable pegs which can be used a biofilm substrata. Biofilms formed

upon the pegs can be exposed to antimicrobials and re-growth in fresh medium is used as an endpoint in order to determine the minimum biofilm eradication concentration (MBEC). Others have adapted a microtitre plate lid marketed as a transferable solid phase screening system (Nalge Nunc International, Rochester, NY, USA) to support biofilm growth (Sandoe *et al.*, 2006).

For the investigation of population dynamics and antimicrobial efficacy in defined consortia (*Actinomyces naeslundii*, *Veillonella dispar*, *F. nucleatum*, *Streptococcus sobrinus and Streptococcus oralis*) of dental plaque bacteria, a simple and useful model utilizing a 24-well cell culture plate has been developed into which hydroxyapatite (the dominant tooth enamel mineral) discs are placed (Guggenheim *et al.*, 2001a,b). Similar systems have also been developed which utilize whole saliva, enabling control strategies upon replicated plaque microcosms to be determined. The latter system has been used, for example, to evaluate hydrolytic enzymes as potential control dental plaque agents (Ledder *et al.*, 2009). Similar models can be used to investigate biofilm formation by a range of different bacteria upon various substrata. For example, hydroxyapatite discs can be substituted with glass beads of ca. 3 mm diameter; several of which can be added to each well, providing replicate biofilms for time-course experiments. Alternatively, other solid material of interest may cut to size and used.

IV. OPEN SYSTEM BIOFILM MODELS

A. Suspended substratum reactors

The simplest biofilm model in this class can be set up simply by adding substrata to a planktonic batch culture, which could comprise any material of interest such as glass beads, dental enamel, portions of biomaterial or glass wool. Since continuous culture has many practical advantages however, "chemostats" have often been favoured for use in biofilm experiments. Experimental validity in chemostat experiments depends on homogeneity and the establishment of steady states with respect to bacterial biomass (Herbert, 1961; Herbert et al., 1956; Monod, 1950; Novick and Szilard, 1950). "Wall growth" which is biofilm growth on the glass surface of the fermentation vessel was a problem to be avoided, necessitating experimental runs to be abandoned and reducing the quality of generated data. Suspended substratum biofilm reactors (SSRs) however take advantage of the propensity for planktonic bacteria to form biofilms at solid-liquid interfaces by including removable, colonizable material within "chemostat" and other reactor vessels. Construction is relatively simple and can be achieved simply by hanging or placing substratum coupons within the vessels such that planktonic-phase cultures develop

within the fluid phase and form biofilms upon the suspended substrata. The coupons can then be removed from the vessels at various times during the experimental run and analysed.

1. SSRs in dental microbiology

As has often been the case in the biofilm field, dental microbiologists were pioneers in model development. In one widely quoted publication from the early 1980s, oral bacteria were grown planktonically in continuous culture and during the chemostat runs, the authors apparently realized that the wall growth could be sampled to provide a simulation of dental plaque (Marsh et al., 1983). The same research group went on to develop an early version of an SSR where removable hydroxyapatite substrata were suspended within the chemostat vessels following inoculation with a defined consortium comprising 10 oral bacteria (Bradshaw et al., 1996). The addition of sucrose to the system, without pH control, selected for cariogenic species. Importantly, the researchers were also able to ascertain that bacteria become deposited upon the hydroxyapatite in less than 1 h and that colonization density increased over 21 days thus illustrating that the sessile population developed in a time-dependent manner. The latter observation also indicates that biofilms within the model did not achieve a steady state (Bradshaw et al., 1996).

2. SSRs in colonic microbiology

A similar system has been developed by microbiologists who were conducting some of the first studies into biofilm formation within the human colon. Here complex gut microcosms, routinely used to study intestinal microbial ecology and metabolism, were adapted to study colonization and sessile (biofilm) growth. Much of the surface-associated bacteria growth in the colon occurs on particulate food matter (Macfarlane and Macfarlane, 2006, 2007) and within mucous layers (Ahmed et al., 2007). Instead of hanging inert solid substrata within their fermenter vessels, therefore, solidified polysaccharide and mucin "baits" were cast upon glass coupons within specially designed holder pans, which were then suspended within fermenters (see Fig. 4.1) enabling realistic modelling of the colonization of food particles. This approach is epitomized by Macfarlane *et al.* (1997) in an investigation that identified the presence of metabolically and or genotypically distinct assemblages of gut bacteria upon insoluble food particles. In a later study, the same research group observed the exclusive, apical attachment of a single species of Clostridium to retrograde starch granules within faecal microcosms (Sharp and Macfarlane, 2000) providing further evidence that in the intestine, chemically distinct solid-state growth substrates select for specific microbial populations.



FIGURE 4.1 (A) A pH-controlled fermentation system for the growth of planktonic and sessile intestinal bacterial ecosystems (Macfarlane and Macfarlane, 2007) comprising a ca. 200-ml working volume water-jacketed vessel (a). pH is continuously measured by electrode (b) and controlled by addition of 1 M NaOH via a pH control module (c). Mixing is done by magnetic stirrer (d). The fermenter is inoculated with freshly voided human faeces and biofilms develop upon "baits" cast on glass coupons held in a removable holder (B) which are suspended from wire bait hangers (e). The system is fed continuously with a complex, mucin-containing medium via the medium inlet tube (f). The medium outlet (g) functions as per a conventional chemostat. In this image, biofilm (i.e. wall growth) can be seen on the inner glass surfaces of the fermenter.

SSRs have utilized other forms of substrata such as glass beads that can simply be placed inside fermenter vessels before autoclaving. In mixed reactors, reasonable homogeneity can be achieved and replicate biofilms are easy to obtain simply by removing beads from within the fermenter during experimental runs. Park *et al.* (2005) used such a system to establish a denitrifying microbial community that was subsequently analysed using PCR denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis.

3. SSRs and gene expression in biofilms

This type of approach has also been adopted by investigators aiming to understand differential gene expression in biofilms versus planktonic growth modes. Whiteley *et al.* (2001), for example, used DNA microarrays

to investigate differences between free-living *P. aeruginosa* cells and those growing in biofilms established upon glass beads within a "chemostat" vessel. Surprisingly few genes (ca. 1%) showed differential expression between the two growth modes. In the same investigation, the authors sought to elucidate biofilm-specific mechanisms of resistance to the antibiotic tobramycin. Exposure of biofilms to the antibiotic caused differential expression of only 20 genes. Pysz *et al.* (2004) used a range of suspended substrata to support biofilms of *Thermotoga maritima*, an anaerobic, thermophilic bacterium within a chemostat vessel. Microarray analyses revealed differential expression of 114 open reading frames in sessile cells.

These are among a number of transcriptomic and investigations conducted with the aim of identifying biofilm-specific genes. As mentioned earlier, however, biofilm physiology within SSRs is dynamic and transcriptomic studies based on this approach, although demonstrably useful may be complicated by the action of multiple variables. Alternative biofilm models which allow growth rate to be controlled more accurately and heterogeneity to be minimized, such as the perfused biofilm fermenter, are therefore arguably more suited to studies aimed at characterizing differential gene expression within biofilms.

4. The CDC biofilm reactor

This commercially available, suspended substratum reactor was developed by Donlan et al. (2004) of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) (USA) and is marketed by BioSurface Technologies Corp. (Bozeman, MT, USA). It is often used to provide reproducible biofilm samples under consistent growth conditions for the evaluation of antimicrobial agents and surface materials. The system comprises a vessel with a port mid-way up the vessel. Biofilms develop upon coupons held within eight polypropylene holders (each housing three coupons of 12.7-mm diameter) suspended from the lid and immersed in growth medium. These are arranged such that they surround a centrally located stirring vane, which is operated magnetically. Test agents can be added to the bulk fluid phase, simultaneously exposing all coupons. Sampling is achieved by removing coupon holders from the lid that can then be replaced or substituted with a stopper. Coupons made from various materials are commercially available, or specific test material could be specially cut to fit. The CDC biofilm reactor is often used in industry to compare anti-biofilm strategies and is favoured by some because a standard protocol is available (ASTM 2562-07: "Standard Test Method for Quantification of *P. aeruginosa* Grown with High Shear and Continuous Flow using a CDC Biofilm Reactor") which has been systematically evaluated. When run according to standard procedures the CDC Biofilm Reactor has been shown to be reliable and is relatively insensitive to minor perturbations in the time allowed for initial surface colonization, culture temperature, nutrient concentration and fluid shear stress (Goeres *et al.*, 2005).

B. Rotating reactors for control of shear stress

Biofilms forming at solid-liquid interfaces may be exposed to varying fluid dynamic forces and these may have a significant effect upon composition (Dunsmore et al., 2002; Purevdorj et al., 2002; Stoodley et al., 1999b) and recalcitrance of biofilms (Crabbe et al., 2008). Efforts to maximize realism within modelled biofilms or experiments designed to investigate fluid flow as a key variable have therefore sought models which allow its control. While this can be achieved by altering flow rate and bore width in flow cells and within Robbins devices, submerged substratum reactors, incorporated rotating cylinders, have been developed and validated for a variety of applications aimed at better understanding the effects of fluid dynamic forces upon nascent and mature biofilms (see Flemming *et al.*, 2000). This type of reactor which can be operated as a batch or continuous culture system apparently originated in studies conducted by Kornegay and Andrews (1967) who were at the time interested in what were termed "biological films". "Annular reactors", named after annulus, the Latin word for ring were later adapted to study biofilms (Characklis et al., 1982). They are available from BioSurface Technologies Corp. and comprise two concentric cylinders. The outer, static one is the outer wall of the reactor vessel, while the inner one is rotated by a variable-speed motor and holds flush-mounted, removable test coupons. Shear forces are controlled by varying rotational speed. An extension of this concept was custom manufactured from food-grade stainless steel at the University of Manchester in order to study a variety of fluid dynamic forces in real time within the same milieu and comprises four concentric cylinders. This model has been used to determine the effects of varied shear force upon the development of potable water biofilms (Rickard et al., 2004).

C. The Robbins device and flow cells

Similar principles underlie the operation of these two commonly used biofilm models, whereby culture fluid is passed through a tube or cell and biofilms may be monitored microscopically (in flow cells) or formed on coupons (in some flat plate flow cells) or pegs (Robbins devices).

1. Flow cells

Flow cells are often used when microscopic examination of biofilm formation is required under fluid flow conditions that may be laminar or turbulent depending on the dimension of the cell and the rate of

fluid flow. Their use for microscopic examination of biofilms has been reviewed (Palmer, 1999). Flow cells are available commercially or bespoke units may be constructed, but they commonly involve the flow of culture fluid through a flat-walled transparent chamber such that biofilm formation can be visualized in real-time or using time-lapse photography. Access ports for the introduction of bacteria, antimicrobials or dyes may be located upstream of the cell, together with bubble traps which are often used to avoid biofilm disruption. Alternatively, flat plate flow cells can be machined from blocks of polycarbonate or other composites, with glass lids to enable visualization. Instructions for the construction of a three-cell flow chamber are available from the website of the Department of Systems Biology, Technical University of Denmark. BioSurface Technologies Corp. market several versions; some for example, can hold multiple, removable substratum coupons which can be subjected to a variety of analytical techniques and Stovall Life Science Inc. (Greensboro, NC, USA) market gamma irradiated, single-use flow cells incorporating bubble traps and feed tubing. Capillary flow cells can be constructed from square section capillary tubes so that biofilm formation can be directly visualized on the inner surfaces of the chamber and the use of small-bore capillaries enables turbulent flow and high shear forces to be developed when required. The apparatus is located onto a support block that is then sited upon the microscope stage. A good example of the deployment of a capillary flow is a study by Paul Stoodley (Stoodley et al., 1999a) which used square section glass flow cells to grow defined species biofilms under laminar and turbulent flow to challenge the view that biofilms are static entities. Marked differences were observed in biofilm structure under laminar vs. turbulent flow conditions. Time-lapse microscopic imaging revealed migrated ripples within biofilms with a maximum migration velocity of 2.2×10^{-7} m s⁻¹ when the liquid flow velocity was 0.5 m s^{-1} , corresponding to a Reynolds number of 1800). Flow cells have also been used by oral microbiologists in order to study coadhesion (Aspiras et al., 2000) and other ecological phenomena (Rogers et al., 2001).

2. The (modified) Robbins device

This commonly used model comprises a plastic or metal tube into which pegs can be inserted so that when in place, the end of the peg forms part of the wall of the tube. A version, modified by McCoy *et al.* (1981) and termed the Modified Robbins Device (MRD), comprises a rectangular-section cell into which retractable plugs are inserted and is marketed by Tyler Research Corporation (Edmonton, Canada). To use the MRD, batch or continuous culture fluid (or, e.g. tap water) is fed through the device, submerging the substrata (see Kharazmi *et al.*, 1999; Millar *et al.*, 2001 for overviews). Biofilms are sampled by removing plugs, which are then

replaced to maintain a closed system (Fig. 4.2). For obvious reasons, MRDs have been useful for studying biofilms formed within wastewater and other industrial pipe systems (Araujo *et al.*, 2004) and in medical lines (Dasgupta, 1994; Dijk *et al.*, 2000; Nickel *et al.*, 1985). MRDs are most commonly used in the laboratory but can also be connected to pipelines, etc. to study *in situ* biofilm formation.

D. Drip-fed biofilms

1. The constant depth film fermenter (CDFF)

The CDFF was originally developed by Atkinson and Fowler (1974) for growing "microbial films" and later by Peters and Wimpenny (1988). The CDFF allows the generation of large numbers of replicate biofilms. The basis of the model is that biofilms form on the top of plugs that are recessed to a measured depth within sample pans that are located within a turntable. Biofilms are fed by the drip-wise addition of growth medium onto the turntable and excess and/or spent medium flows downwards through a waste outlet (Fig. 4.3). Importantly, biofilms can be maintained at a constant depth by static scraper blades, which remove excess medium and biofilm as the turntable rotates. Various substrata, for example polytetrafluoroethylene (the pegs are manufactured from this material), hydroxyapatite, tooth enamel, dentin or other substrata may be utilized where discs of the test material are placed above the pegs before the depth is set. The system allows replication (5 plugs per pan and a total of 15 pans per CDFF) and standardization of physicochemical parameters and is particularly amenable to the study of mature biofilms, the effects of antimicrobials and different substrates on growth.

The CDFF reviewed by Wilson (1999) is favoured by many oral microbiologists because it allows the continuous culture of dental plaque while controlling biomass accumulation (i.e., depth) thus establishing what is arguably a dynamic steady state. CDFF pegs are normally set at a depths of between 50 and 500 µm but most commonly for maintenance of dental plaques, 200 µm (McBain et al., 2003a,b; Metcalf et al., 2006) or 300 µm (Pratten and Wilson, 1999). The model has been used to successfully monitor the effect of biocide exposure of pure (Pratten et al., 1998b), defined (Pratten et al., 1998a) and complex (McBain et al., 2003b) cultures of oral bacteria. Vroom et al. (1999) monitored pH in situ and in real time within oral biofilms that had been grown in a CDFF using fluorescence lifetime imaging and reported localized sharp pH gradients within dental biofilms. CDFFs have also been used to evaluate novel surface disinfection technologies (Wood et al., 1998), population dynamics of bacteria derived from cystic fibrosis patients (Al-Bakri et al., 2004) and to model domestic drain biofilms where biofilms of 0.5 cm were stably maintained (McBain et al., 2003c, 2004). Inocula can be added directly onto the



FIGURE 4.2 The modified Robbins device showing plan and elevation. These are commercially available with 12 or 25 individual ports. Biofilms form upon coupons at the end of the pegs that are flush with the upper surface of the flow chamber. These can be removed individually for sampling. (Tyler Research Corp.).



turntable through ports machined into the top plate. When running oral microcosm experiments, several separate inoculations with fresh saliva maximize the microbial diversity that develops within the modelled biofilms. Likewise, establishing defined communities is often best achieved by inoculation of individual species in a set order (aerobes and facultative species first followed by anaerobes) with multiple inoculations over several hours, or from an established chemostat consortium.

2. The drip flow biofilm reactor

Variations of this system have been used by oral microbiologists for many years and the basic principle involves the growth of biofilms upon slides which are fed by dripping growth medium onto the surface. The Drip Flow Biofilm Reactor is available from BioSurface Technologies Corp. and comprises four individual, parallel test channels, machined into polycarbonate blocks within which microscope slides may be placed (Fig. 4.4).



FIGURE 4.4 The drip flow biofilm fermenter. This model supports biofilms on slides that are maintained with growth medium drip-wise (BioSurface Technologies Corp.).

FIGURE 4.3 The constant depth film fermenter. This fermentation system facilitates the long-term, continuous culture of solid:liquid and/or solid/air biofilms (depending on the rate of medium addition). Biofilm depth can be approximately determined. The model is inoculated through the sampling port. For the establishment of dental and other complex communities several individual inoculations may be required. Distance between top and bottom plates, ca. 175 mm; diameter of sample plugs, 5 mm. (see Wilson, 1999).

Each chamber is fitted with a removable sampling lid and during operation; the module is placed at an incline to allow the flow of medium over the surface area of the slide. Medium inlets in the lid enable the continuous drop-wise addition of medium onto the slide that can be variously coated for specific applications. For example, hydroxyapatitecoated slides are available from Clarkson Chromatography Products Inc. (South Williamsport, PA, USA), providing an ideal substratum for the establishment of *in vitro* dental plaques.

Drip flow biofilm reactors have previously been used to study disinfection efficacy (Buckingham-Meyer *et al.*, 2007), to determine distributions of zinc and active biomass in within biofilms (Hu *et al.*, 2005) and to test the effectiveness of bacteriophage anti-biofilm strategies (Curtin and Donlan, 2006). The model can be adapted to hold other substrata. For example, sliced pork, human tissue, or portions of wound dressing may be used in order to simulate chronic wound biofilms. Whilst the Drip Flow Biofilm Reactor is a useful and robust system for the establishment of solid:liquid/solid:air interface biofilms, care is required in experimental design and in sampling because medium flow over the surface of the slide may not be uniform and hence there may be significant aerial heterogeneity over the surface of the substratum.

E. Perfused biofilm fermenters

Perfused biofilm fermenters (PBF) are constructed such that nutrients are supplied by continuous perfusion of growth medium, which is pumped through the substratum (a permeable membrane) and hence through the biofilm. Spent culture medium removes dispersed cells and metabolic products. The fact that media flow can be accurately controlled, daughter cells removed and that biofilm exposure to nutrients is proportional to flow rate means that quasi or dynamic steady states with respect to growth rate and cell turnover can be achieved, and therefore bacterial growth rate can be modulated by altering the rate of medium perfusion. The mean specific growth rates of biofilms maintained within these systems can be calculated as a function of the rate of elution of cells and the total biofilm population (Hodgson et al., 1995; Spencer et al., 2007). Models of this type have been particularly useful as tools to study biofilm recalcitrance associated with low growth rate which is believed to be an important determinant of biofilm recalcitrance (Gilbert et al., 2002). PBFs have also been used in studies designed to elucidate differential gene expression in biofilms, compared to planktonic cultures. In this type of investigation, growth rate is a significant and often overlooked variable and is probably not well controlled in SSRs. The two most commonly used perfused models are the perfused biofilm fermenter and the sorbarod biofilm fermenter. The former utilizes a 0.2- or 0.45-µm pore size cellulose

acetate or nylon membrane as the substratum, the latter uses sorbarod filters which are cylinders of compacted cellulose fibres, similar to cigarette filters in size and composition that are marketed for plant tissue culture.

1. Perfused membrane fermenters

a. The baby machine. These were originally developed by Helmstetter and Cummings (1963). The name comes from the fact that when bacterial cells attach to the membrane in a monolayer, newly formed daughter (baby cells) detach spontaneously during division, leaving the parent cells attached. This model provides an elegant means of studying the bacterial cell cycle since, if carefully maintained, bacteria released within spent culture medium exhibit synchronous growth (Omar and Gilbert, 2005). An additional application is that bacterial senescence may be investigated since the immobilized membrane-bound cells age relative to daughter cells through each successive division cycle.

b. The perfused (membrane) biofilm fermenter (PBF). Forty years after the model was first developed, Gilbert et al. (1989) demonstrated that this model could serve as an elegant model for the control of bacterial growth rate within the thin biofilms that formed upon the membranes. They conducted a number of studies to validate this, while making a significant contribution to the understanding of biofilm recalcitrance, which they indicated was partially attributable to growth-rate gradients. The original apparatus for the membrane biofilm reactor used custom-made waterjacketed fermentation fermenters (Brown and Gilbert, 1995). Exponential phase cultures (ca. 50 ml) were pressure filtered through a sterile, prewashed 47-mm diameter cellulose acetate membrane, and the filters were then aseptically inverted using sterile forceps and placed onto a fret within the fermenter (Allison et al., 1999). Fresh medium was passed into a chamber above the filter by peristaltic pump and the hydrostatic head of sterile medium which developed above the filter forced medium through the filter from the aseptic side to the inoculated side and hence through the nascent biofilm at essentially the same rate at which medium was pumped into the fermenter. Daughter cells within spent culture medium (perfusate) could be counted or biochemically analysed. Bacteria within the membrane-associated biofilm were harvested destructively. During validation experiments, it was observed that following inoculation, perfusate counts decreased rapidly within the first 2 h during which time loosely attached cells were displaced from the filter by fluid dynamic forces and thereafter with care and where fermenters did not become contaminated or membranes burst, a quasi or dynamic steady state could be attained. Importantly, bacterial counts of sacrificed filters indicated that only relatively minor (ca. two-fold) increases in membrane biofilm cell densities occurred during the course of an experimental run, even if

the models were maintained continuously for 2 weeks (Gilbert *et al.*, 1989). Light microscopy revealed that the membrane associated, approximated to a monolayer of cells. The method can be used alongside chemostats so that the biofilms can be compared to planktonic cultures growing at the same rate thus allowing differences in physiology to be attributed to the biofilm phenotype without the confounding variable of growth rate. A series of studies conducted using PDFs indicated that slow growth rate was a significant mediator of biofilm recalcitrance (Evans *et al.*, 1990a,b, 1991) and that detached daughter cells were phenotypically distinct in terms of susceptibility, hydrophobicity and charge (Allison *et al.*, 1990a,b).

c. The swinnex biofilm fermenter. While the adapted Baby Machine is an excellent model for studying the effects of growth rate on biofilm physiology, multiple replicated biofilms are often required, for example when determining the effects of varying concentrations of antibiotics. In such experiments, test antibiotics could be added to the growth medium and pharmacokinetic profiles of antibiotic concentration could be generated to mimic exposure to in the body or within growth-rate-stratified biofilms. Additionally, since it is not uncommon to lose models due to leaks, contamination or burst filters, it is prudent to set up multiple systems. This was impractical with the perfused biofilm fermenter due to the expense and scale of the model and, therefore, a more practical alternative was sought. Swinnex Filter Units (Millipore, Watford, UK) which are essentially reusable, autoclavable syringe filter housings into which various filters can be inserted proved to be ideal for adaptation as low-cost, small-scale perfused biofilm fermenters. Their use as biofilm models requires little more than adding an air inlet to minimize pooling of medium on the underside of the filters (Gander and Gilbert, 1997). They have been used successfully to study the effect of growth rate on biofilm susceptibility and remain an excellent and highly cost-effective choice for any biofilm study where growth rate control is required or where dispersion is of interest. The Swinnex fermenter does not, however, generate sufficient biomass for microarray analysis. While the perfused biofilm fermenter is of a larger scale, issues of cost and practicality led to the development of a further interpretation of the theme utilizing a larger proprietary filter housing manufactured by Sartorius (Goettingen, Germany).

d. The "Sartorious" filter apparatus biofilm fermenter. This was developed by Omar and Gilbert (2005) as a perfused biofilm fermenter capable of generating sufficient biomass for microarray experiments with *Escherichia coli*. A number of studies had previously applied such techniques to examine patterns of gene expression in biofilm bacteria that had been maintained in various types of fermenter, and patterns of gene expression had been compared between the biofilm and the planktonic phase. Omar and Gilbert (2005) observed that the biofilms used were probably subject

to physiological heterogeneity, reducing the quality of data generated and that results of microarray experiments may identify genes affected by changes in nutrient environment and growth rate as well as biofilm formation per se. The model comprises a Model 16510 polycarbonate filter holder (Sartorius, Gottingen, Germany) which is designed to deliver fluid from an input reservoir to receiver through a 47-mm filter. Additional gas filter units (0.2-µm porosity) are attached to the air inlets and outlets to ensure maintenance of sterility within. The unit is assembled with a 47-mm cellulose acetate membrane filter (0.45-µm porosity, Millipore, Watford, UK) prior to sterilization by autoclaving (Fig. 4.5). The model provides a cheap, robust apparatus by which perfused biofilms may be established. The filter holder can be housed within a static incubator and is re-useable. It is less prone to contamination than the original perfused biofilm fermenter since it is not necessary to remove and invert the membrane following inoculation; instead, the housing is inverted and perfused with fresh medium without the need for disassembly. An additional advantage of this system is that during perfusion, the membrane apparently becomes slightly concave, such that perfusate can be collected without pooling or otherwise interacting with the sides of the apparatus, which reportedly results in better synchrony within re-grown perfusate cells (Omar and Gilbert, 2005). When running this model, once perfusion of medium commences, loosely attached cells are removed, as



FIGURE 4.5 The "sartorious" filter unit adopted as a biofilm fermenter in assembled form (A) showing input reservoir (a), collection vessel (b) and 0.2- μ m air filters (c) and location of substratum filter (d). For inoculation, the membrane is moistened by the addition of sterile growth medium (20 ml) to vessel (a) and application of a vacuum to (c) followed by addition of stationary phase culture (70 ml). The system is then inverted as shown in (B) and placed on a collection vessel (g). Growth medium is fed by peristaltic pump through the inlet (e).

indicated increases in numbers of cells within perfusate samples over the first ca. 2 h. Following this, however, the rate of "daughter cell" generation becomes relatively constant which indicates that a quasi steady state has been achieved. Net biofilm growth rates may then be calculated and the test bacteria grown in a chemostat at the same growth rate to enable the comparison of biofilm and planktonic cells at equivalent growth rates.

2. Sorbarod biofilm fermenters

a. The sorbarod biofilm fermenter (SBF). Sorbarod filters are manufactured as supports for plant tissue culture. The SBF uses single Sorbarod filters as biofilm substrates which are perfused with culture medium. The filter plug consists of a paper sleeve wrapped around a matrix of cellulose fibres. This cost-effective model generates relatively large, heterogeneous biofilms (Fig. 4.6). The model is very simple to set up using readily available components including the barrel of a 2-ml syringe which are commonly manufactured from polycarbonate and may be autoclaved several times without distortion (Fig. 4.6). Viable counts on developed biofilms can be done by sacrificing filters and if required, longitudinal sections can be archived for subsequent biochemical or molecular analysis. As with the perfused membrane biofilm reactors, conditions approaching steady states are obtainable and spent culture fluid (perfusate) can be collected to monitor dispersed cells without disrupting the steady state. SBFs have proven utility for the study of biofilm physiology. Hodgson et al. (1995) used an SBF to grow reproducible pseudo-steadystate biofilms over several days, where the growth rate of the biofilm was measurable and significantly slower than in broth culture. Bacteria could be visualized in dissected filters growing in microcolonies in association with cellulose fibres by light microscopy and using environmental scanning electron microscopy within the filters and the high cell densities obtained facilitated SDS-PAGE analyses, which had previously been impractical with the perfused membrane fermenter. Significant differences between the protein profiles of biofilm and eluted populations were observed.

Due to the physical scale of Sorbarod filters and the heterogeneous properties of the cellulose fibres, the sorbarod model does not lend itself to investigations where homogeneity is a key requirement. For such applications, the perfused membrane fermenter has significant advantages. However, where a large amount of biomass is required and a simple, cost-effective and reliable method is required, the SBF remains a good choice and has been adopted by several researchers for a range of applications. Parveen *et al.* (2001), for example, used SBFs to monitor the effects of ciprofloxacin on *P. aeruginosa* biofilms in real time; Budhani and Struthers (1997) tested the efficacy of β -lactam antibiotics against sessile



FIGURE 4.6 The Sorbarod biofilm fermenter. Construction uses readily available, lowcost materials. The medium feed line can be connected to a 2-ml syringe barrel, which is then inserted into the needle luer. The filter can be retained by stapling the end of the silicone tube. This model can be destructively sampled and/or spent culture medium (perfusate) can also be collected, enabling non-destructive, real-time sampling of dispersed biofilm cells. *Caution:* Care is necessary when manipulating needles; to reduce risk, these can be aseptically blunted using pliers following insertion through the plunger seal.

populations *Streptococcus pneumoniae* biofilms, while Al-Bakri *et al.* (2004) studied population dynamics of *P. aeruginosa* and *Burkholderia cepacia* biofilms using Sorbarod models. The model has also been used to grow a bioluminescent strain of *P. aeruginosa* for non-destructive monitoring of bacterial responses to ciprofloxacin exposure (Marques *et al.*, 2005). An adapted SBF has been used to good effect by Greenman and colleagues to investigate tongue flora and oral malodour (Spencer *et al.*, 2007).

b. The multiple sorbarod device. A significant disadvantage of the SBF is the fact that, other than relying on perfusate samples, biofilm sampling can only be achieved by dismantling the apparatus and that experiments requiring multiple biofilms necessitate establishing multiple SBFs. The Multiple Sorbarod Device (MSD) comprises a stainless steel housing

resembling a revolver barrel into which five separate Sorbarod filters can be supported (Fig. 4.7). It was originally designed as a real-time system to determine the effectiveness of biocides for controlling biofouling within paper manufacturing plants (Coulburn, 2002). The original system incorporated a pressure sensor such that biofilm accumulation increased backpressure and effective anti-biofouling agents would in theory decrease backpressure without requiring filters to be removed and without the need to perform viable counts. Subsequently however it has also proved to be an ideal system in which to grow oral biofilms and has been validated for the maintenance of complex salivary microbial ecosystems (McBain *et al.*, 2005) and for the *in vitro* reproduction of inter-individual variation within oral microbiotas (Ledder *et al.*, 2006). Furthermore, the



FIGURE 4.7 The multiple sorbarod device showing plan and elevation. This model allows replicate (n = 5) biofilms to be established on five separate Sorbarod filters within the same housing. McBain *et al.* (2005).

	Applications	Comments	References
Agar plate biofilm models	Basic systems for modelling biofilms, particularly those with nutritive substrata	Readily accessible and simple to run; dynamic growth (non- steady state)	Charaf <i>et al.</i> (1999)
Multi-well plate biofilms	General biofilm models for replication and quantification; commonly used in biofilm molecular genetics	Simple to run, requires readily accessible materials; high degree of replication is possible; non-steady state; limited choice of substratum	Kearns <i>et al.</i> (2005)
Submerged substratum models	Various; these are commonly used, general biofilm models	Representative of many real biofilm scenarios; large common fluid phase mean that replication of treatment requires multiple runs or several models; non-steady-state conditions	Bradshaw <i>et al.</i> (1996)
Rotating reactors	Modelling fluid flow and shear forces	Excellent for intended purpose; large common fluid phase	Characklis <i>et al.</i> (1982)
The Robbins device	Modelling biofilms in flowing systems, medical biofilms, etc. A commonly used, general biofilm model	Readily available, robust; upstream/downstream conditions may (theoretically) differ	Kharazmi <i>et al.</i> (1999)
Flow cells	Real-time biofilm visualization in flowing systems, etc	One of the only choices for the primary application	Palmer (1999)

 TABLE 4.1
 An overview of some commonly used in vitro biofilm models

(continued)

TABLE 4.1 (continued)

	Applications	Comments	References
The constant depth film fermenter (CDFF)	Dental biofilm and other general biofilm work	Models biofilms at the solid:air and solid:liquid interface, depending on medium flow rate; excellent for long-term continuous culture biofilm studies; biofilm depth can be set; multiple identical biofilms for time course or other replication; difficult to obtain; replication of treatments <i>in situ</i> requires multiple runs or several models	Wilson (1999)
The drip flow biofilm reactor Perfused membrane biofilms	General biofilm work	Simple, elegant design; biofilms may be aerially non-uniform	Buckingham-Meyer et al. (2007) Allison et al. (1999)
(i) The baby machine	Generation of thin homogenous biofilms. Synchronous growth in daughter cells possible	Good control of growth rate; technically challenging to run	Helmstetter and Cummings (1963)

(ii) Perfused biofilm fermenters	As above	As above	Gilbert <i>et al.</i> (1989)
(iii) Swinnex fermenters	Antimicrobial studies where physiological control/ homogeneity are required	Small, robust and cost-effective; low biomass, technically challenging	Gander and Gilbert (1997), p. 41)
(iv) The "Sartorious" biofilm fermenter	As above but for proteomic or transcriptomic analyses	As above; ca. 5× biomass of the Swinnex fermenter	Omar and Gilbert (2005)
The Sorbarod fermenter (SBR)	General biofilm model; antimicrobial studies, dental plaque microcosms; cystic fibrosis biofilms, etc	Robust model generating substantial amounts of biomass; growth rate control possible but considerable heterogeneity within biofilms	Hodgson <i>et al.</i> (1995)
The multiple Sorbarod device	As above but allowing replication of biofilms within a single unit	Enables the replication of Sorbarod biofilms; bespoke manufacture required (not commercially available)	McBain <i>et al.</i> (2005)

MSD is a useful model where test agents are evaluated for their ability to promote dispersion from extant biofilms since successful treatments would increase the number of viable or dead cells within perfusates which can then be monitored by direct and/or viable counting (Ledder *et al.*, 2009).

Disadvantages associated with the MSD are similar to those of the single Sorbarod device and relate to the development of heterogeneous biofilms. Heterogeneity, however, is a characteristic of biofilms that arguably increases the validity of the system for microcosm studies where maintenance of microbial diversity is one of the main aims.

V. OVERVIEW AND CONCLUSIONS

A sufficient variety of biofilm models are now commercially available or may be constructed in the laboratory such that the availability of an appropriate model is unlikely to limit experimentation. One of the main issues for uninitiated researchers is making a rational choice regarding the best model to use. Generally, systems that closely reproduce *in situ* conditions should be chosen when the aim is solely to reproduce natural biofilms under lab conditions. Direct, non-destructive visualization of biofilms can be achieved using flow cells and for some physiological studies, steady-state models such as the perfused membrane fermenters and to some extent the CDFF offer major advantages. Much information is now available in the published literature and a selection of useful studies has been cited in Table 4.1. There is however, no single, ideal biofilm model for all applications; the idiom "horses for courses" applies.

REFERENCES

- Ahmed, S., Macfarlane, G. T., Fite, A., McBain, A. J., Gilbert, P., and Macfarlane, S. (2007). Mucosa-associated bacterial diversity in relation to human terminal ileum and colonic biopsy samples. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **73**, 7435–7442.
- Al-Bakri, A. G., Gilbert, P., and Allison, D. G. (2004). Immigration and emigration of Burkholderia cepacia and Pseudomonas aeruginosa between and within mixed biofilm communities. J. Appl. Microbiol. 96, 455–463.
- Al-Hiti, M. M., and Gilbert, P. (1983). A note on inoculum reproducibility: A comparison between solid and liquid culture. J. Appl. Bacteriol. 55, 173–175.
- Allison, D. G., Brown, M. R., Evans, D. E., and Gilbert, P. (1990a). Surface hydrophobicity and dispersal of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* from biofilms. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 59, 101–104.
- Allison, D. G., Evans, D. J., Brown, M. R., and Gilbert, P. (1990b). Possible involvement of the division cycle in dispersal of *Escherichia coli* from biofilms. J. Bacteriol. **172**, 1667–1669.
- Allison, D., Maira-Litran, T., and Gilbert, P. (1999). Perfused biofilm fermenters. *Methods Enzymol.* 310, 232–248.

- Association of Official Analytical Chemists (AOAC) (2000). Germicidal Spray Products as Disinfectants, 961.02. *In* Official Methods of Analysis of the AOAC, Chapter 6, Seventeenth Edition.
- Araujo, J. C., Mortara, R., Campos, J. R., and Vazoller, R. F. (2004). Development and analysis of anaerobic biofilms onto hydrophobic and hydrophilic surfaces. *Environ. Technol.* 25, 809–817.
- Aspiras, M. B., Kazmerzak, K. M., Kolenbrander, P. E., McNab, R., Hardegen, N., and Jenkinson, H. F. (2000). Expression of green fluorescent protein in *Streptococcus gordonii* DL1 and its use as a species-specific marker in coadhesion with *Streptococcus oralis* 34 in saliva-conditioned biofilms *in vitro*. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **66**, 4074–4083.
- Atkinson, B., and Fowler, H. W. (1974). The significance of microbial film in fermenters. Biochem. Eng. 3(221), 277.
- Bayston, R., Ashraf, W., Barker-Davies, R., Tucker, E., Clement, R., Clayton, J., Freeman, B. J., and Nuradeen, B. (2007). Biofilm formation by *Propionibacterium acnes* on biomaterials *in vitro* and *in vivo*: Impact on diagnosis and treatment. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. A 81, 705–709.
- Bradshaw, D. J., Marsh, P. D., Schilling, K. M., and Cummins, D. (1996). A modified chemostat system to study the ecology of oral biofilms. J. Appl. Bacteriol. 80, 124–130.
- Brown, M. R. W., and Gilbert, P. (1995). Microbiological Quality Assurance : A Guide Towards Relevance and Reproducibility of Inocula. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL; London.
- Buckingham-Meyer, K., Goeres, D. M., and Hamilton, M. A. (2007). Comparative evaluation of biofilm disinfectant efficacy tests. J. Microbiol. Methods 70, 236–244.
- Budhani, R. K., and Struthers, J. K. (1997). The use of Sorbarod biofilms to study the antimicrobial susceptibility of a strain of *Streptococcus pneumoniae*. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 40, 601–602.
- Buswell, C. M., Herlihy, Y. M., Marsh, P. D., Keevil, C. W., and Leach, S. A. (1997). Coaggregation amongst aquatic biofilm bacteria. J. Appl. Microbiol. 83, 477–484.
- Cerca, N., Jefferson, K. K., Oliveira, R., Pier, G. B., and Azeredo, J. (2006). Comparative antibody-mediated phagocytosis of *Staphylococcus epidermidis* cells grown in a biofilm or in the planktonic state. *Infect. Immun.* 74, 4849–4855.
- Ceri, H., Olson, M. E., Stremick, C., Read, R. R., Morck, D., and Buret, A. (1999). The Calgary Biofilm Device: New technology for rapid determination of antibiotic susceptibilities of bacterial biofilms. J. Clin. Microbiol. 37, 1771–1776.
- Characklis, W. G., Trulear, M. G., Bryers, J. D., and Zelver, N. (1982). Dynamics of biofilm processes: Methods. Water Res. 16, 1207–1216.
- Charaf, U. K., Bakich, S. L., and Falbo, D. M. (1999). A model for efficacy assessment of antimicrobial versus biofilm bacteria. *In* "Biofilms: The Good the Bad and the Ugly" (J. W. T. Wimpenny, P. Gilbert, J. Walker, M. Brading and R. Bayston, Eds.), 4, Bioline, Cardiff.
- Costerton, J. W. (1995). Overview of microbial biofilms. J. Ind. Microbiol. 15, 137-140.
- Costerton, J. W., Lam, J., Lam, K., and Chan, R. (1983). The role of the microcolony mode of growth in the pathogenesis of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infections. *Rev. Infect. Dis.* 5(Suppl. 5), S867–S873.
- Coulburn, J. (2002). Characterisation and *in vitro* modelling of biofilm formation and fouling in paper manufacturing. *In* "Faculty of Medical and Human Sciences" p. 264. The University of Manchester, Manchester, Ph.D.
- Crabbe, A., De Boever, P., Van Houdt, R., Moors, H., Mergeay, M., and Cornelis, P. (2008). Use of the rotating wall vessel technology to study the effect of shear stress on growth behaviour of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* PA01. *Environ. Microbiol.* **10**, 2098–2110.
- Curtin, J. J., and Donlan, R. M. (2006). Using bacteriophages to reduce formation of catheterassociated biofilms by *Staphylococcus epidermidis*. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother*. 50, 1268–1275.

- Das, J. R., Bhakoo, M., Jones, M. V., and Gilbert, P. (1998). Changes in the biocide susceptibility of *Staphylococcus epidermidis* and *Escherichia coli* cells associated with rapid attachment to plastic surfaces. J. Appl. Microbiol. 84, 852–858.
- Dasgupta, M. K. (1994). Silver peritoneal catheters reduce bacterial colonization. Adv. Perit. Dial. 10, 195–198.
- DeMatteo, C. S., Hammer, M. C., Baltch, A. L., Smith, R. P., Sutphen, N. T., and Michelsen, P. B. (1981). Susceptibility of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* to serum bactericidal activity. A comparison of three methods with clinical correlations. *J. Lab. Clin. Med.* 98, 511–518.
- Dijk, F., Westerhof, M., Busscher, H. J., van Luyn, M. J., and van Der Mei, H. C. (2000). *In vitro* formation of oropharyngeal biofilms on silicone rubber treated with a palladium/tin salt mixture. *J. Biomed. Mater. Res.* **51**, 408–412.
- Donlan, R. M. (2001). Biofilms and device-associated infections. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 7, 277–281.
- Donlan, R. M., Piede, J. A., Heyes, C. D., Sanii, L., Murga, R., Edmonds, P., El-Sayed, I., and El-Sayed, M. A. (2004). Model system for growing and quantifying *Streptococcus pneumoniae* biofilms in situ and in real time. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **70**, 4980–4988.
- Dunsmore, B. C., Jacobsen, A., Hall-Stoodley, L., Bass, C. J., Lappin-Scott, H. M., and Stoodley, P. (2002). The influence of fluid shear on the structure and material properties of sulphate-reducing bacterial biofilms. *J. Ind. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* 29, 347–353.
- Evans, D. J., Allison, D. G., Brown, M. R., and Gilbert, P. (1990). Effect of growth-rate on resistance of gram-negative biofilms to cetrimide. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 26, 473–478.
- Evans, D. J., Allison, D. G., Brown, M. R., and Gilbert, P. (1991). Susceptibility of *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa and Escherichia coli biofilms towards ciprofloxacin: Effect of specific growth rate. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 27, 177–184.
- Evans, D. J., Brown, M. R., Allison, D. G., and Gilbert, P. (1990). Susceptibility of bacterial biofilms to tobramycin: Role of specific growth rate and phase in the division cycle. *J. Antimicrob. Chemother.* 25, 585–591.
- Flemming, H. C., Szewzyk, U., and Griebe, T. (2000). Biofilms: Investigative Methods & Applications. CRC Press, New York.
- Friedman, L., and Kolter, R. (2004). Two genetic loci produce distinct carbohydrate-rich structural components of the *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* biofilm matrix. J. Bacteriol. 186, 4457–4465.
- Gander, S., and Gilbert, P. (1997). The development of a small-scale biofilm model suitable for studying the effects of antibiotics on biofilms of gram-negative bacteria. *J. Antimicrob. Chemother.* **40**, 329–334.
- Gilbert, P., Allison, D. G., Evans, D. J., Handley, P. S., and Brown, M. R. (1989). Growth rate control of adherent bacterial populations. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 55, 1308–1311.
- Gilbert, P., Allison, D. G., and McBain, A. J. (2002). Biofilms in vitro and in vivo: Do singular mechanisms imply cross-resistance? Symp. Ser. Soc. Appl. Microbiol. 31, 98S–110S.
- Gilbert, P., Das, J. R., Jones, M. V., and Allison, D. G. (2001). Assessment of resistance towards biocides following the attachment of micro-organisms to, and growth on, surfaces. *J. Appl. Microbiol.* **91**, 248–254.
- Goeres, D. M., Loetterle, L. R., Hamilton, M. A., Murga, R., Kirby, D. W., and Donlan, R. M. (2005). Statistical assessment of a laboratory method for growing biofilms. *Microbiology* 151, 757–762.
- Guggenheim, B., Giertsen, E., Schupbach, P., and Shapiro, S. (2001). Validation of an *in vitro* biofilm model of supragingival plaque. J. Dent. Res. 80, 363–370.
- Guggenheim, M., Shapiro, S., Gmur, R., and Guggenheim, B. (2001). Spatial arrangements and associative behavior of species in an *in vitro* oral biofilm model. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 67, 1343–1350.
- Helmstetter, C. E., and Cummings, D. J. (1963). Bacterial synchronization by selection of cells at division. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 50, 767–774.

Herbert, D. (1961). Continuous culture of microorganisms. SCI Monograph 12.

- Herbert, D., Elsworth, R., and Telling, R. C. (1956). The continuous culture of bacteria; a theoretical and experimental study. J. Gen. Microbiol. 14, 601–622.
- Hodgson, A. E., Nelson, S. M., Brown, M. R., and Gilbert, P. (1995). A simple *in vitro* model for growth control of bacterial biofilms. *J. Appl. Bacteriol.* **79**, 87–93.
- Hopkins, M. J., Englyst, H. N., Macfarlane, S., Furrie, E., Macfarlane, G. T., and McBain, A. J. (2003). Degradation of cross-linked and non-cross-linked arabinoxylans by the intestinal microbiota in children. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **69**, 6354–6360.
- Hu, Z., Hidalgo, G., Houston, P. L., Hay, A. G., Shuler, M. L., Abruna, H. D., Ghiorse, W. C., and Lion, L. W. (2005). Determination of spatial distributions of zinc and active biomass in microbial biofilms by two-photon laser scanning microscopy. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 71, 4014–4021.
- Kearns, D. B., Chu, F., Branda, S. S., Kolter, R., and Losick, R. (2005). A master regulator for biofilm formation by *Bacillus subtilis*. *Mol. Microbiol.* 55, 739–749.
- Kharazmi, A., Giwercman, B., and Hoiby, N. (1999). Robbins device in biofilm research. *Methods Enzymol.* **310**, 207–215.
- Kornegay, B. H., and Andrews, J. F. (1967). Characteristics and Kinetics of Fixed Film Biological Reactors. Federal Water Pollution Control Administration, U.S GPO, Washington, DCFinal Report, Grant WP-01181.
- Kumar, C. G., and Anand, S. K. (1998). Significance of microbial biofilms in food industry: A review. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 42, 9–27.
- Ledder, R. G., Gilbert, P., Pluen, A., Sreenivasan, P. K., De Vizio, W., and McBain, A. J. (2006). Individual microflora beget unique oral microcosms. J. Appl. Microbiol. 100, 1123–1131.
- Ledder, R. G., Madhwani, T., Sreenivasan, P. K., De Vizio, W., and McBain, A. J. (2009). An *in vitro* evaluation of hydrolytic enzymes as dental plaque control agents. J. Med. Microbiol. 58, 482–491.
- Macfarlane, G. T., and Macfarlane, S. (2007). Models for intestinal fermentation: Association between food components, delivery systems, bioavailability and functional interactions in the gut. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.* 18, 156–162.
- Macfarlane, S. (2008). Microbial biofilm communities in the gastrointestinal tract. J. Clin. Gastroenterol. 42(Suppl. 3 Pt. 1), S142–S143.
- Macfarlane, S., and Macfarlane, G. T. (2006). Composition and metabolic activities of bacterial biofilms colonizing food residues in the human gut. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 72, 6204–6211.
- Macfarlane, S., McBain, A. J., and Macfarlane, G. T. (1997). Consequences of biofilm and sessile growth in the large intestine. Adv. Dent. Res. 11, 59–68.
- Marques, C. N., Salisbury, V. C., Greenman, J., Bowker, K. E., and Nelson, S. M. (2005). Discrepancy between viable counts and light output as viability measurements, following ciprofloxacin challenge of self-bioluminescent *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* biofilms. *J. Antimicrob. Chemother.* 56, 665–671.
- Marsh, P. D. (2009). Dental plaque as a biofilm: The significance of pH in health and caries. *Compend. Contin. Educ. Dent.* **30**, 76–78, 80, 83–87.
- Marsh, P. D., Hunter, J. R., Bowden, G. H., Hamilton, I. R., McKee, A. S., Hardie, J. M., and Ellwood, D. C. (1983). The influence of growth rate and nutrient limitation on the microbial composition and biochemical properties of a mixed culture of oral bacteria grown in a chemostat. J. Gen. Microbiol. 129, 755–770.
- Matz, C., Webb, J. S., Schupp, P. J., Phang, S. Y., Penesyan, A., Egan, S., Steinberg, P., and Kjelleberg, S. (2008). Marine biofilm bacteria evade eukaryotic predation by targeted chemical defense. *PLoS ONE* 3, e2744.
- McAuliffe, L., Ellis, R. J., Miles, K., Ayling, R. D., and Nicholas, R. A. (2006). Biofilm formation by *Mycoplasma species* and its role in environmental persistence and survival. *Microbiology* 152, 913–922.

- McBain, A. J., Bartolo, R. G., Catrenich, C. E., Charbonneau, D., Ledder, R. G., and Gilbert, P. (2003). Effects of a chlorhexidine gluconate-containing mouthwash on the vitality and antimicrobial susceptibility of *in vitro* oral bacterial ecosystems. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 69, 4770–4776.
- McBain, A. J., Bartolo, R. G., Catrenich, C. E., Charbonneau, D., Ledder, R. G., and Gilbert, P. (2003). Effects of triclosan-containing rinse on the dynamics and antimicrobial susceptibility of *in vitro* plaque ecosystems. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* 47, 3531–3538.
- McBain, A. J., Bartolo, R. G., Catrenich, C. E., Charbonneau, D., Ledder, R. G., Price, B. B., and Gilbert, P. (2003). Exposure of sink drain microcosms to triclosan: Population dynamics and antimicrobial susceptibility. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 69, 5433–5442.
- McBain, A. J., Ledder, R. G., Moore, L. E., Catrenich, C. E., and Gilbert, P. (2004). Effects of quaternary-ammonium-based formulations on bacterial community dynamics and antimicrobial susceptibility. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **70**, 3449–3456.
- McBain, A. J., and MacFarlane, G. T. (2001). Modulation of genotoxic enzyme activities by non-digestible oligosaccharide metabolism in *in-vitro* human gut bacterial ecosystems. *J. Med. Microbiol.* **50**, 833–842.
- McBain, A. J., Sissons, C., Ledder, R. G., Sreenivasan, P. K., De Vizio, W., and Gilbert, P. (2005). Development and characterization of a simple perfused oral microcosm. J. Appl. Microbiol. 98, 624–634.
- McCoy, W. F., Bryers, J. D., Robins, J., and Costerton, J. W. (1981). Observations of fouling biofilm formation. *Can. J. Microbiol.* 27, 910–917.
- McKee, A. S., McDermid, A. S., Ellwood, D. C., and Marsh, P. D. (1985). The establishment of reproducible, complex communities of oral bacteria in the chemostat using defined inocula. J. Appl. Bacteriol. 59, 263–275.
- Metcalf, D., Robinson, C., Devine, D., and Wood, S. (2006). Enhancement of erythrosinemediated photodynamic therapy of *Streptococcus mutans* biofilms by light fractionation. *J. Antimicrob. Chemother.* 58, 190–192.
- Millar, M. R., Linton, C. J., and Sherriff, A. (2001). Use of a continuous culture system linked to a modified Robbins device or flow cell to study attachment of bacteria to surfaces. *Methods Enzymol.* 337, 43–62.
- Monod, J. (1950). La technique de culture continue: Théorie et applications. *Ann. Inst. Pasteur* (*Paris*) **79**, 390–410.
- Murray, E. J., Kiley, T. B., and Stanley-Wall, N. R. (2009). A pivotal role for the response regulator DegU in controlling multicellular behaviour. *Microbiology* **155**, 1–8.
- Newton, D. F., Cummings, J. H., Macfarlane, S., and Macfarlane, G. T. (1998). Growth of a human intestinal *Desulfovibrio desulfuricans* in continuous cultures containing defined populations of saccharolytic and amino acid fermenting bacteria. J. Appl. Microbiol. 85, 372–380.
- Nickel, J. C., Wright, J. B., Ruseska, I., Marrie, T. J., Whitfield, C., and Costerton, J. W. (1985). Antibiotic resistance of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* colonizing a urinary catheter *in vitro*. *Eur. J. Clin. Microbiol.* 4, 213–218.
- Novick, A., and Szilard, L. (1950). Experiments with the chemostat on spontaneous mutations of bacteria. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **36**, 708–719.
- Omar, A., and Gilbert, P. (2005). Towards a molecular analyses of whole genomic expression in *E. coli*. *In* "Biofilms: Persistence and Ubiquity" (A. J. McBain, D. G. Allison, J. Pratten, D. Spratt, M. Upton and J. Verran, Eds.), Vol. 7, pp. 47–56. Biofilm Club, Manchester.
- Palmer, R. J., Jr. (1999). Microscopy flowcells: Perfusion chambers for real-time study of biofilms. *Methods Enzymol.* 310, 160–166.
- Park, H. I., Choi, Y. J., and Pak, D. (2005). Autohydrogenotrophic denitrifying microbial community in a glass beads biofilm reactor. *Biotechnol. Lett.* 27, 949–953.
- Parveen, A., Smith, G., Salisbury, V., and Nelson, S. M. (2001). Biofilm culture of *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa expressing lux genes as a model to study susceptibility to antimicrobials. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* **199**, 115–118.

- Peters, A. C., and Wimpenny, W. (1988). A constant depth laboratory film fermenter. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* 32, 263–270.
- Pratten, J., Barnett, P., and Wilson, M. (1998). Composition and susceptibility to chlorhexidine of multispecies biofilms of oral bacteria. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 64, 3515–3519.
- Pratten, J., Wills, K., Barnett, P., and Wilson, M. (1998). *In vitro* studies of the effect of antiseptic-containing mouthwashes on the formation and viability of *Streptococcus sanguis* biofilms. *J. Appl. Microbiol.* 84, 1149–1155.
- Pratten, J., and Wilson, M. (1999). Antimicrobial susceptibility and composition of microcosm dental plaques supplemented with sucrose. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* 43, 1595–1599.
- Purevdorj, B., Costerton, J. W., and Stoodley, P. (2002). Influence of hydrodynamics and cell signaling on the structure and behavior of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* biofilms. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 68, 4457–4464.
- Pysz, M. A., Conners, S. B., Montero, C. I., Shockley, K. R., Johnson, M. R., Ward, D. E., and Kelly, R. M. (2004). Transcriptional analysis of biofilm formation processes in the anaerobic, hyperthermophilic bacterium *Thermotoga maritima*. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **70**, 6098–6112.
- Rickard, A. H., McBain, A. J., Stead, A. T., and Gilbert, P. (2004). Shear rate moderates community diversity in freshwater biofilms. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 70, 7426–7435.
- Rogers, J. D., Palmer, R. J., Jr., Kolenbrander, P. E., and Scannapieco, F. A. (2001). Role of *Streptococcus gordonii* amylase-binding protein A in adhesion to hydroxyapatite, starch metabolism, and biofilm formation. *Infect. Immun.* 69, 7046–7056.
- Sandoe, J. A., Wysome, J., West, A. P., Heritage, J., and Wilcox, M. H. (2006). Measurement of ampicillin, vancomycin, linezolid and gentamicin activity against enterococcal biofilms. *J. Antimicrob. Chemother.* 57, 767–770.
- Shapiro, J. A. (1987). Organization of developing *Escherichia coli* colonies viewed by scanning electron microscopy. *J. Bacteriol.* 169, 142–156.
- Sharp, R., and Macfarlane, G. T. (2000). Chemostat enrichments of human feces with resistant starch are selective for adherent butyrate-producing clostridia at high dilution rates. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 66, 4212–4221.
- Spencer, P., Greenman, J., McKenzie, C., Gafan, G., Spratt, D., and Flanagan, A. (2007). *In vitro* biofilm model for studying tongue flora and malodour. *J. Appl. Microbiol.* **103**, 985–992.
- Stoodley, P., Lewandowski, Z., Boyle, J. D., and Lappin-Scott, H. M. (1999). The formation of migratory ripples in a mixed species bacterial biofilm growing in turbulent flow. *Environ. Microbiol.* 1, 447–455.
- Stoodley, P., Lewandowski, Z., Boyle, J. D., and Lappin-Scott, H. M. (1999). Structural deformation of bacterial biofilms caused by short-term fluctuations in fluid shear: An *in situ* investigation of biofilm rheology. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* 65, 83–92.
- Stoodley, P., Sauer, K., Davies, D. G., and Costerton, J. W. (2002). Biofilms as complex differentiated communities. *Annu. Rev. Microbiol.* 56, 187–209.
- Sutherland, I. W. (2001). The biofilm matrix An immobilized but dynamic microbial environment. *Trends Microbiol.* 9, 222–227.
- Verhamme, D. T., Murray, E. J., and Stanley-Wall, N. R. (2009). DegU and Spo0A jointly control transcription of two loci required for complex colony development by *Bacillus subtilis*. J. Bacteriol. **191**, 100–108.
- Vroom, J. M., De Grauw, K. J., Gerritsen, H. C., Bradshaw, D. J., Marsh, P. D., Watson, G. K., Birmingham, J. J., and Allison, C. (1999). Depth penetration and detection of pH gradients in biofilms by two-photon excitation microscopy. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 65, 3502–3511.
- Whiteley, M., Bangera, M. G., Bumgarner, R. E., Parsek, M. R., Teitzel, G. M., Lory, S., and Greenberg, E. P. (2001). Gene expression in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* biofilms. *Nature* 413, 860–864.
- Wilson, M. (1999). Use of constant depth film fermenter in studies of biofilms of oral bacteria. *Methods Enzymol.* **310**, 264–279.
- Wilson, M. (2001). Bacterial biofilms and human disease. Sci. Prog. 84, 235-254.

- Wimpenny, J. W. T. (1988). Introduction. In "CRC Handbook of Laboratory Model Systems for Microbial Ecosystems" (J. W. T. Wimpenny, Ed.), pp. 1–17. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL.
- Wolcott, R. D., Kennedy, J. P., and Dowd, S. E. (2009). Regular debridement is the main tool for maintaining a healthy wound bed in most chronic wounds. J. Wound Care 18, 54–56.
- Wood, P., Caldwell, D. E., Evans, E., Jones, M., Korber, D. R., Wolfhaardt, G. M., Wilson, M., and Gilbert, P. (1998). Surface-catalysed disinfection of thick *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* biofilms. J. Appl. Microbiol. 84, 1092–1098.

CHAPTER 5

Zones of Inhibition? The Transfer of Information Relating to Penicillin in Europe during World War II

Gilbert Shama

Contents

I. Introduction	134
II. Early Penicillin Research in Great Britain	134
III. Germany	137
IV. Holland	144
V. France	148
VI. Conclusions	155
Acknowledgements	156
References	156

Abstract

Alexander Fleming published his first description of penicillin in 1929, but the journal articles that were to propel penicillin from its relative obscurity were those of Howard Florey and his co-workers at Oxford University. These were published in *The Lancet* in the early years of World War II and although wartime conditions restricted the flow of information on penicillin throughout Europe, they never succeeded in shutting it off altogether. In Germany an information-gathering initiative was established in the early phases of the war to systematically copy and distribute British and American scientific articles. A similar, though less well-resourced, operation was permitted to function in Occupied France. Both these operations were to yield up information on penicillin to

Department of Chemical Engineering, Loughborough University, Loughborough, Leicestershire LE11 3TU, United Kingdom

Advances in Applied Microbiology, Volume 69 ISSN 0065-2164, DOI: 10.1016/S0065-2164(09)69005-5 © 2009 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved. their respective scientists. However, workers in other countries of occupied Europe fared less well; there was a dearth of information on penicillin in Holland but despite this, activity to produce the antibiotic still took place. Central to the production of penicillin at this time was access to a strain of Fleming's strain of *Penicillium notatum*, and an attempt to explain how this particular strain found its way to various European laboratories is given here.

I. INTRODUCTION

Full appreciation of the therapeutic potential of penicillin really only came to be made in the early years of World War II, and in many ways the war was to shape penicillin's development. On the one hand there was unprecedented cooperation amongst British and American pharmaceutical companies. Whilst on the other, steps were taken to prevent the means for producing penicillin from falling into enemy hands. News about penicillin inevitably leaked into the public domain through newspaper articles and radio broadcasts (Shama, 2008), and the authorities in Britain and the United States found themselves having to explain why this miraculous new drug was being reserved exclusively to meet military needs and was unavailable to the civilian population.

This work is primarily concerned with how information about penicillin came to be diffused amongst scientists in Europe. This includes both those at academic institutions and those in industry and particular emphasis is placed on the countries of Germany, Holland and France. Interest in penicillin was based on its therapeutic potential and if this were ever to be realized it naturally implied production of the antibiotic. Therefore, in addition to tracking information transfers and exchanges via the medium of articles in learned journals, it is necessary also to consider transfers of a somewhat more tangible sort: cultures of penicillia – the *sine qua non* of penicillin production.

Despite the war researchers in Britain and the United States continued to publish their findings on penicillin almost without any form of control or censorship. The exception to this was studies relating to the determination of the chemical structure of penicillin and those intended to achieve its chemical synthesis (Anon, 1947). This was largely as a result of perceived German superiority in organic chemistry.

II. EARLY PENICILLIN RESEARCH IN GREAT BRITAIN

The precise circumstances by which Alexander Fleming came to isolate his celebrated mould are not known nor indeed is the exact date in time when this event occurred. Naturally enough this has led to all sorts of
speculation and ultimately to a forensic-like reconstruction of the most probable sequence of events that led to the isolation (Hare, 1970). Even Hare's work convincing as it is, is predicated to a very great extent on statements made when Fleming had achieved fame and was himself trying to piece together events that had occurred some 15 years or more earlier, and so should not be thought of as definitive (Root-Bernstein, 1989).

Sticking to verifiable facts, having isolated the mould, Fleming took steps to preserve it, determined the antibacterial spectrum of the active principle that he termed 'penicillin' and published an account of his findings in the *British Journal of Experimental Pathology* in 1929.

Fleming had been unable to extract and purify the penicillin from the crude broths in which the mould, a strain of *Penicillium notatum*, had been cultivated. This impasse was also encountered by what may be referred to as the 'first wave' of researchers who attempted to further investigate Fleming's observations. These were Harold Raistrick at the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine (Clutterbuck *et al.*, 1932) and Roger Reid at Penn State University (Reid, 1933, 1934). Thanks to Bennet and Chung (2001) the name of another penicillin pioneer, Bornstein (1940) has recently been brought to light.

There can be little doubt that Fleming's interest in penicillin waned in the years following his initial description of the antibiotic. However, it did not dry up altogether: working from Fleming's laboratory notebooks, Wainwright (2002) has ingeniously attempted a reconstruction of a paper that Fleming might have written, and which he speculates may even have been submitted, but not accepted, for publication.

If Raistrick and Reid could indeed be considered the first wave, the second wave was to be of tsunami-like proportions. In 1938 Howard Florey and Ernst Chain at the Sir William Dunn School of Pathology at Oxford University began a study of microbial antagonism. Having conducted an extensive literature review of the phenomenon, they narrowed their field of interest to three compounds; these were a bacteriolytic agent produced by *Bacillus subtilis*, pyocyanase and penicillin (Macfarlane, 1984). Pyocyanase proved to be too toxic to animals and therefore they turned to penicillin.

Chain was a skilled biochemist and he was soon able to extract and purify penicillin from crude mould broths. This permitted the Oxford workers to undertake crucial *in vivo* experiments. The results they obtained were to prove a dramatic testament to the chemotherapeutic powers of penicillin against deadly bacterial pathogens. Florey and his coworkers published their initial findings in *The Lancet* in August 1940 (Chain *et al.*, 1940).

The potential that penicillin held in a time of war was certainly not lost on Florey, and he set about organizing the manufacture of the antibiotic on a scale sufficient to permit clinical trials. However, if he had had no qualms about publishing the first of his first results in *The Lancet*, something happened to make him think again before making any further disclosures. Sometime in the spring of 1941 Florey was written to by the Swiss pharmaceutical firm Ciba requesting a culture of *P. notatum*. He saw in this request the possibility that the culture might be passed on to Germany, and this was something he was evidently determined not to let happen. Florey took immediate action, he knew that Fleming would have cultures, but so too would the National Collection of Type Cultures (NCTC) and he wrote to Sir Edward Mellanby of the Medical Research Council (MRC), under whose aegis the NCTC came, as well as to Fleming.

In his response, dated 23 April 1941, Mellanby admitted that Florey had raised 'a matter of some difficulty'. Mellanby could not see how he could instruct the NCTC not to send out cultures to a neutral country such as Switzerland. But Mellanby did not see this as serious matter, assuring Florey that he was 'miles ahead of any possible competition'. Fleming replied on 25 April 1941. 'I am entirely in agreement with you that we should not pass on cultures of the penicillium to the enemy, and if Ciba, or any similar firm, approach me I will refuse'. He went on to write: 'During the past ten years I have sent out a very large number of cultures of penicillium to all sorts of places, but as far as I can remember none have gone to Germany. In this country many people have (or had) cultures, including places like Burroughs Wellcome, Evans Leischer and Webb, May and Baker, Parke Davis, and Boots. It is unlikely that they would be approached, but it possible that an application might be made to Raistrick who has written on the subject. I have talked to Raistrick on the telephone and he agrees that, seeing we are at war, he will not supply cultures to Ciba'.

Fleming's response is revealing, and its wider implications have not been fully appreciated. Quite apart from the early industrial interest, it has become almost the convention to stress how little impact Fleming's (1929) paper had had. Yet Fleming states categorically that he had sent out 'a very large number of cultures' to various persons and organizations. This was evidently in response to requests from those who had read his article or otherwise heard about penicillin.

But returning to Florey, the responses he had received from Fleming and Mellanby evidently re-assured him and he went on to publish in August 1941 the second of his *Lancet* papers on penicillin (Abraham *et al.*, 1941). This paper contained all that was then known about culturing the mould and extracting and purifying the penicillin. Apart from Chain's masterful contribution, it owed much to the experimental ingenuity of Norman Heatley. Florey must have felt secure in the knowledge that without the mould no one in Germany could undertake production despite having what was in effect a blueprint for small scale manufacture.

It is interesting to reflect on Florey's attitude to Germany and the Germans. As has already been mentioned, Florey was to undertake what was to become virtually a one-man mission to recruit the combined resources of the British and American pharmaceutical industries in achieving mass production of penicillin. Another facet of this crusade of his appears to have been an equally strong determination to deny the benefits of penicillin to the enemy. Florey never quite lost his anxieties about the possibilities of Swiss-German collusion; when he was contacted by the Red Cross on 21 October 1942 for information on penicillin he declined to supply it responding curtly that work was at an experimental stage and that it was 'very improbable that [penicillin] will be available in any quantity for the general public or for such an organization as the Red Cross for a very long time to come'. Also, during the war Ian Fraser was sent to Oxford to receive instruction from Florey himself on the administration of penicillin in the forward battle area, Florey suggested to Fraser that he should not give penicillin to German wounded, something that Fraser absolutely refused to accept (Fraser, 1995).

III. GERMANY

The war had an obvious impact on the exchange of scientific information between countries by what might be called the normal channels of communication. Books and journals published by enemy states suddenly became unavailable. Germany took steps to access firstly British publications denied to them because of the war, and then with the United States' entry into the war, American publications. Similar measures were later put in place by the United States. The details of these informationgathering operations have been extensively documented by Pamela Spence Richards in a number of publications and the following two paragraphs draw heavily from Richards (1994).

Immediately after September 1939 the German government put into action a carefully prepared operation for the collection of foreign journals. German scientific attachés in neutral countries such as Sweden, Portugal, Turkey and Mexico obtained copies of journals and had them shipped to Germany in diplomatic pouches. These publications were forwarded to the Emergency Association of German Science at the Preussiche Staatsbibliothek from where they were forwarded to the Technische Hochschule in Berlin-Charlotenburg where a special photographic unit reproduced them by photostat or microfilm. Copies of articles or whole issues of journals were then distributed to the relevant research institutions and to reviewing organs such as *Chemisches Zentralblatt, Physikalische Berichte* and the medical reviews produced by Springer. Well planned as this scheme was, the intensification of the war soon began to hamper the process of acquisition particularly once the United States had joined the conflict. Interruptions to the flow of foreign scientific publications into Germany were evidently seen as having a negative impact on the German war effort, and the state intervened to remedy the situation. In 1941 a new organization was formed, the German Society for Documentation, which came under the direct control of the Minister of Education. One of this organization's most useful achievements was to publish in December 1943, an inventory of all foreign journals imported into Germany since September 1939 including, most crucially, details of their precise locations in the country.

In addition to these arrangements, there were also in operation unofficial channels by which foreign articles might be acquired. German industry evidently had its own networks for getting hold of Allied scientific publications. Unsurprisingly, material that was of particular commercial interest was sometimes withheld from potential competitors. Indeed Richards documents a case of a complaint being made to Goebbel's ministry that certain companies and research institutes were keeping the best new acquisitions for themselves.

Despite these arrangements there would inevitably have been delays in the distribution of enemy material to those most gualified to assess and exploit it. Florey's Lancet papers did reach Germany and once they did so it is not inconceivable to imagine that a search was instigated for a culture of Fleming's mould. And Fleming was wrong: he had sent a culture of P. notatum to a least one person in Germany. This information first came to light in Allied intelligence reports compiled immediately after the defeat of Germany. Teams of Allied scientists followed in the wake of the advancing armies with the objective of uncovering German research and development that had taken place during the war. There were priority areas such as advances in weapons technology, and nuclear weapons in particular, but every facet of German science and technology was to come under scrutiny. The teams came under the auspices of a number of different organizations and there was much duplication of effort. The two organizations of relevance here are the Combined Intelligence Objectives Subcommittee (CIOS) and British Intelligence Objectives Subcommittee (BIOS).

The recipient of Fleming's strain was referred to in the CIOS and BIOS reports simply as 'Dr Schmidt' who was at the IG Behring works at Marburg and at least three visits were made to the IG Behring works. It seems that Schmidt had obtained the culture at an unspecified time before the war but had not attempted to culture it. When Schmidt was finally called to perform his patriotic duty he was unable to coax the culture to grow. He passed it on to microbiologists at Berlin-based pharmaceutical firm Schering, but they too failed to grow it and must have concluded that it had lost its viability in the years that Schmidt had stored it.

There was, however, an obvious source to which one might turn to for cultures of penicillia: the fall of Holland in May 1940 had delivered into German hands what was undoubtedly the greatest mould collection in the world. This was the Centraalbureau voor Schimmelcultures (CBS) located in Baarn near Utrecht.

Shama and Reinarz (2002) had previously speculated that the time when German scientists found out about penicillin was in the autumn of 1942. This date was arrived at from letters that were received at the CBS from Germany. However, a recent discovery of a letter from the CBS archives now suggests that the actual date may have been earlier. The letter, from the Dutch offices of Bayer in Amsterdam and dated 3 August 1942, refers to earlier correspondence of February and March of the same year. It is a reminder; the CBS appear to have promised to send a new strain of *P. notatum* to Prof. Dr H. Schmidt of the Marburg works, and the letter is to inform the CBS that it is now urgently required. This must be the same Dr Schmidt referred to in the CIOS and BIOS reports. The letter goes on to stress the urgency of the request and mentions Fleming and penicillin by name. If this was indeed the first request to the CBS, by working backwards it enables some estimate to be made of the interval of time that elapsed between the appearance of Florey's first article on penicillin (August 1940) and the same article landing in Schmidt's lap. If the date of Bayer's Amsterdam office first letter o the CBS is taken as February 1942, then this represents a delay of 18 months. If one allows a period of 2 months to cover first Schmidt's, then Schering's failed attempts to culture the strain, then a more realistic estimate of the delay would be 16 months.

The CBS was subsequently to receive numerous requests from Germany for *Penicillium* cultures. The first wave was received towards the end of September 1942, but a steady trickle continued more or less continuously until well into 1944. News was evidently spreading throughout the German pharmaceutical industry. Any prospective purchaser of cultures from the CBS would almost certainly have turned to their latest catalogue of cultures. This was the List of Cultures published in 1937 and the Supplementary List of Cultures dated 1938. Neither contained reference to Fleming's strain, *P. notatum*, NCTC 4222. However, listed was *P. notatum* (Westling), and it was for this stain that German organizations applied for. This is indicative that at some stage scientists in Germany reached the conclusion that the CBS did not possess Fleming's strain and that they would try the next best thing.

The requests for *P. notatum* (Westling) came from a variety of organizations and seem to have included virtually every German company, research institute and university with even the slightest connection with pharmaceuticals. Amongst the more well known names are I. G. Farben in Frankfurt-am-Main, and also at Elberfeld, The Kaiser Wilhelm Institute for Medical Research and Chemistry, the director being the accomplished organic chemist Richard Kuhn.

The crucial question is whether *P. notatum* (Westling) produced penicillin. It may originally have done so, however, repeated subculturing since its deposition at the CBS probably just after 1911 for the purposes of maintenance would have meant that the trait would have not been preserved as it pre-dated even Fleming's work (R. H. Sansom, personal communication, 2001).

Shama and Reinarz (2002) had previously stated that the CBS did not possess the strain at the time. However, new information has come to light that suggests that this assertion may have been incorrect. The information comes from letters exchanged between the Postal and Telegraph Censorship Department and R. St. John-Brooks the Curator of the NCTC in June 1944 (reference, gratitude, etc.). A culture of P. notatum NCTC 4222 which St. John-Brooks had sent to the Sociedade Industrial Farmaceutica in Lisbon was intercepted by the Censor and returned to the NCTC. St. John-Brooks wrote to the Censor claiming that he 'did not know that there was any embargo on the sending of cultures of Sir Alexander Fleming's strain of *P. notatum* out of this country. This particular strain was without doubt, widely distributed on the continent before the war as it was sent to Holland in 1930 and was indeed correctly named there by Prof. Johanna Westerdijk, Director of the Centraalbureau voor Schimmelcultures at Baarn on 9 April of that year'. It is interesting that despite Mellanby's protestations to Florey that he was powerless to influence the NCTC an embargo was in fact imposed. Table 5.1 shows the organizations to whom St. John-Brooks claimed to have sent cultures of P. notatum NCTC 4222 to.

It now seems very likely that the CBS did after all have a culture. Moreover, the curator of the CBS, Prof. Johanna Westerdijk may have been the first to correctly identify it as *P. notatum*. In his original paper, Fleming thanks 'our mycologist, Mr la Touche, for his suggestions as to the identity of the penicillium' (Fleming, 1929). La Touche was famously incorrect in his identification; he had proposed *Penicillium rubrum*, and Macfarlane states that Raistrick was doubtful of the identification and sought the advice of the great American mycologist Charles Thom sending him a culture on 14 May 1930 (Macfarlane, 1984) *after* that received by Westerdijk.

Applying to the CBS for cultures of penicillia was one strategy, the other was to attempt isolation of strains of penicillin-producing strains of *Penicillium*. This was indeed put to effect at a number of laboratories throughout Germany. These efforts first came to light in a series of intelligence reports that were mentioned earlier and are described in greater detail in Shama and Reinarz (2002). Previous to this particular study, German activities in the field of penicillin research had been described in work published in German an excellent example being (Pieroth, 1992).

Division of Industrial Chemistry, Council for Scientific & Industrial
Research, East Melbourne, Australia
Indian Institute of Science, Bangalore, India
The British Council (for export)
S.A. Brewing Co. Ltd., Adelaide, S. Australia
N.Z. Government, Strand W.C. (for export)
School of Pathology, T.C.D., Eire
Aktiebololaget Marvello, Stockholm, Sweden
Imperial Mycologist, New Delhi, India
Guinness Brewery, Dublin, Eire
Department of Pathology, University College of Dublin, Eire
Ministry of Agriculture, Belfast, N. Ireland
Laboratorio Fidelis, Lisbon, Portugal
Alexr. Lipworth Pty. Co., Johannesburg, S. Africa
Bakubhai Ambalal & Co., Bombay, India
South African Institute for Medical Research, Johannesburg, S. Africa
Clinsearch Laboratories, Johannesburg, S. Africa
Sociedade Industrial Farmaceutica, Lisbon, Portugal ^a

^a This last item was sent but intercepted by the Postal and Telegraph Censors Department. Copied from letter sent by R. St. John-rooks, NCTC on 9th June 1944 to Dr A. N. Drury, CBE, FRS, Lister Institute of Preventative Medicine, Chelsea Bridge Road, London, S. W. 1.

Some German workers, notably Hans Knöll at the Schott Glass works, did succeed in making penicillin. It was never to have nothing like the impact that the Anglo-American initiative was to have. This was due to a number of factors; the first was the lack of any central co-ordinating authority. This would have been essential, as different strains would have needed to be compared with one another using standardized assays for penicillin so that the most productive could be cultured industrially. As the war progressed, the frequency and destructive power of Allied air raids over Germany increased. Any novel industrial process developed on a sufficiently large scale would have therefore drawn the attention of Allied military planners who would have singled it out for destruction. Similar fears had led Florey to seek American industrial help in mass-producing penicillin simply because American plants would have been beyond the reach of the Luftwaffe. When finally the need for a coordinating committee was appreciated by German researchers and a meeting called in Berlin in October 1944, the stark realization was made that it was already too late as the necessary raw materials and plant necessary would never be made available (Shama and Reinarz, 2002). The diverse and disparate attempts to isolate penicillin-producing moulds would almost certainly have led to the isolation of novel antibiotic compounds; an example being the work of von Kennel *et al.* (1943). Some of these compounds would undoubtedly have had therapeutic worth, whilst others would have proved themselves toxic and of no practical value.

The apparatus put in place by the German authorities to acquire Allied scientific and technical material was described earlier in some detail, and it is therefore interesting to gauge its efficiency towards the latter stages of the war. An article on penicillin appeared in a journal entitled Chemiker-Zeitung in October 1944 (Loewe, 1944). The journal appears to be aimed primarily at industrial chemists and engineers, and the article itself is a review of the status of work on penicillin. Despite mention in the Introduction of an embargo on publication of studies relating to the chemical structure of penicillin, some early proposals, for example Abraham et al. (1942) and Catch et al. (1942), were in fact published before the embargo was imposed. Both proved to be incorrect, but Catch et al.'s work is cited in Loewe's review. German workers, this article reveals, had become acquainted with the fact that penicillin was being made in the United States by submerged culture and that corn steep liquor was being used in its manufacture. The latter was apparently unknown in Germany, for it has been mis-translated as 'maisalkohol', that is grain alcohol. Information is provided to the journal's readership on the War Production Board and the names of all the American pharmaceutical companies involved in mass production. The latest American work cited dates to the latter part of 1943 and includes Science (July 1943), Oil, Paint and Drug Reporter (July 1943), Chemical and Engineering News (September 1943). The range of material is impressive but the elapse of time between publication in the United States and its arrival into the right hands in Germany is just over 12 months. Apart from Swiss articles dating to 1944, the article contains a citation of a piece of French work from January 1944 (Nitti, 1944) which is considered later.

Richards (1994) did not consider the Swiss contribution to German information gathering initiatives. As a neutral country, British and American publications would have been more readily available than in most of the rest of Europe. As a country having a sizeable pharmaceutical industry, publications on penicillin would have had particular interest. This led to the publications of reviews (e.g., Wettstein, 1944) that would have been readily obtainable in Germany.

Despite the attempts described and the 'near miss' with the Dr Schmidt's culture, the German authorities never quite gave up the quest for a culture of Fleming's mould. An American agent, Hamilton Southworth, visited the Pasteur Institute just after the liberation of Paris and was told that there persisted attempts to obtain Fleming's strain until as late as June 1944.

But the story of Fleming's strain of P. notatum in Germany does not end there. There had been at least one another microbiologist in Germany with a culture of this particular organism – at least until the year 1933. Julius Hirsch had obtained his PhD under the pioneer biochemist Carl Neuberg (1877–1956). At some stage in his early career Hirsch worked for a period of two years in London with D. D. Woods and H. McIlwain and acquired a culture of Fleming's mould whilst in London. He returned to Germany and was appointed Professor at the University of Berlin (Bartmann and Wagner, 1962) but because he was a Jew was deprived of his post in 1933. Although she does not specifically mention Hirsch, the expulsion of Jews from academia in Nazi Germany has been described by Deichmann (1999). Hirsch managed to escape to Istanbul where he became a Professor at the Institute of Hygiene. He evidently took his strain with him because he published some accounts of his work with the mould (Hirsch, 1944). This article serves to indicate how Hirsch had access to surprisingly up-to-date information in Turkey. In addition to revealing familiarity with the names Florey and Raistrick, Hirsch cites an article published in The Times on 12 February 1944. Hirsch's work came to be recognized outside Turkey; his studies of a glucose-oxidizing enzyme that possessed bacteriostatic properties produced by *P. notatum* (Fleming) was mentioned in the Editorial of The Journal of the American Medical Association in March 1944 (Anon, 1944). This work of Hirsch's on this particular enzyme, which came to be known as notatin, was also cited by Coulthard et al. (1945). It is interesting that these authors betray their incredulity that Hirsch could actually be in possession of Fleming's culture, for they state 'Hirsch (1944) observed the secretion of a glucose-oxidizing enzyme by *P. notatum* Fleming (sic)....'

A most curious aspect of this particular chapter of the history of penicillin is just what Hirsch considered to be vital to him as he fled his country of birth for Turkey. Had he left behind his precious culture of *P. notatum* in Germany someone might have found it and German penicillin production would have taken a very different turn. The final irony perhaps being that Hirsch's work on notatin was cited in the article by Loewe (1944) mentioned earlier.

Work published some 25 years ago reveals an interesting example of sharing of information between wartime allies. Manfred Kiese of Berlin University wrote a review on penicillin in which he abstracted articles that had appeared in Britain and the United States, including of course *The Lancet* articles. These were published in *Klinische Wochenschrift* in the issue of 7 August 1943 (Kiese, 1943). In his review of the early history of antibiotics in Japan, Yagisawa (1980) makes reference to a certain Mrs Fusako Tsunoda who conducted research to show that this issue of

the *Klinische Wochenschrift* was actually conveyed to Japan by submarine which she managed to identify as 'I-8' which left the port of Brest 5 October 1943 and arrived in Kure near Hiroshima on 21 December of that year.

Yagisawa also (1980) mentions a Prof. Masahiko Kuroya at Tohoku Imperial University who was active in penicillin research and he coincidentally was also the subject of an intercept by the Australian Special Wireless Group made on 18 September 1944 and sent to Florey for information. The message claims that Kuroya and his assistant Shikaji Kondo had discovered 'a new type of penicillin with surprising curative effects over Fleming's penicillin'.

IV. HOLLAND

The strategy adopted by a number of German organizations in contacting the CBS for cultures of *P. notatum* and those described would of course have alerted the staff there to the interest in this particular mould. Some of the requests for cultures sent by post from Germany specifically refer to Fleming. The latter's original paper on penicillin would have been available in academic libraries in Holland even though Florey's *Lancet* papers would not have been.

The Director of the CBS was the redoubtable Johanna Westerdijk. Westerdijk had commenced her studies in botany at Amsterdam University in 1900 before going on to study in Munich and then Zurich from where she obtained her PhD. She was appointed to a chair in botany at Utrecht University in 1917 so becoming the first woman professor in Holland (Ten Houten, 1963). Under her leadership the CBS expanded greatly becoming arguably the finest in the world. In her position as Director Westerdijk would have therefore been supremely placed to inform fellow Dutch scientists of German interest in penicillin. The question of whether she did or not is considered as follows.

Reference has already been made to teams of Allied technical specialists who followed in the wake of the armies as they swept through mainland Europe. Their mission was not confined to Germany and they interviewed a number of scientists in Occupied countries as they became liberated. Between 6 June and 5 July 1945 at least three teams were charged with uncovering medical research in Occupied Holland. Each of them seems to have interviewed Prof. J. V. Konigsberger. These reports contain much common material and the following is a distillation of the most important revelations contained in them.

Konigsberger carried out the clandestine production of antibiotics in Utrecht. This work was centred on *P. expansum* that produced an antibiotic that he termed 'expansine' but was in all probability patulin.

Expansine proved to be too toxic for systemic use but had some value for treating fungal infections of the skin. Konigsberger was not under any misapprehension that he was working with penicillin. That this can be asserted is due to the following. Koningsberger admitted contact with Dr J. J. Duyvené de Wit who was in charge of research at the pharmaceutical firm of Brocades, Stheeman and Pharmacia. Stheeman was closely involved with an activity for making penicillin in Delft at a company known as the *Nederlandische Gist en Spiritusfabriek* (NG&SF) and described in recent work (Burns and van Dijck, 2000).

Workers at NG&SF managed to get hold of a German review of penicillin mentioned earlier (Kiese, 1943). However, they obtained an additional source of information by a remarkable incidence of serendipity. Andries Querido had been associated with the company, but because he was Jewish, came to be interned at Westerbork transit camp in January 1943. The Germans appear to have conferred a 'reserved occupation' status on workers at the plant, and this evidently extended to Querido. He was allowed visits to the works at Delft but was obliged to leave behind his wife and children as hostages at Westerbork. At Amsterdam station he encountered by chance S. van Creveld, a senior lecturer in child health at Amsterdam University. Van Creveld told him about a 'Swiss medical journal' (almost certainly the Schweizer Medizinische Wochenschrift) dealing with 'a miraculous new compound - penicillin'. Van Crefeld lent Querido the article and Querido took it to the Gist works where a programme for producing penicillin came to be initiated (Querido et al., 1990).

Returning to Koningsberger, he also revealed that he had heard about penicillin from an RAF leaflet that had come into his possession. Shama and van der Els (2008) have recently speculated that the leaflet might have been one belonging to a series known as Wervelwind, that is Whirlwind, dropped over Holland on the night of 24/25 April 1944 (see Fig. 5.1). Finally, Koningsberger stated that he had a copy of the Schweizer Medizinische Wochenschrift of June 1944, and therefore would have known from this source the identity of penicillin-producing strains. In the course of his interviews Konigsberger made reference to fellow scientists with whom he was involved. Apart from the mention of Duyvené de Wit, there was also Dr B. C. P. Jansen, Director of the Laboratory of Physiological Chemistry, Netherlands Institute of Nutrition, Amsterdam, and Abraham van Luyk. The latter had been working alongside Konigsberger since 1940. Before that van Luyk had been Westerdijk's assistant from 1910 until his retirement from the CBS in December 1939 (Faasse, 2008). The interesting omission is Johanna Westerdijk. Despite this Koningsberger was aware that 'two or three dozen German institutes had obtained stains [of penicillia] from Baarn [i.e. the CBS]'.



FIGURE 5.1 Text of 'Wervelwind' Leaflet Dropped over N. Holland on the Night of 24/25 April 1944.

Konigsberger may have come across this information from van Luyk who, following his long service at the CBS, would almost certainly have maintained contacts there. Konigsberger and Westerdijk must have known each other well. Baarn is after all only a few miles from Utrecht. Faasse (2008) points out that Koningsberger and Westerdijk would have had occasion to meet formally at least once a year as both were on the board of the CBS. Faasse also states that Westerdijk corresponded with Koningsberger whilst the latter was temporarily interned. Possibly Konigsberger disapproved of her meeting requests from Germany for strains of penicillia. Possibly too he sought to prevent the knowledge of his own clandestine activities coming to the attention of the Germans, and only confided to those with whom it was strictly necessary to do so. It is however strange that with the worlds' greatest mould collection on his doorstep Koningsberger should choose to isolate his own strains of *P. expansum*.

Westerdijk was herself in a difficult position: she could hardly refuse to send cultures to Germany. Occupying a position of authority she must have been aware of the possibilities that amongst the people she came into professional contact were those who might denounce her to the Germans in order to secure preferment. According to Faasse (2008) one manifestation of such a threat at the CBS was Dr F. H. van Beyma thoe Kingma who demonstrated collaborationist tendencies, and who was apparently able to travel freely to Germany. Huub van der Aa, a onetime employee of the CBS, has in his possession letters revealing that plans were being considered to remove the entire CBS to Germany. Van Beyma thoe Kingma was apparently party to these discussions. These plans never materialized, partly it must be assumed, because of the objections of German researchers such as Hans Knöll who argued against the practicality of such a scheme. Notwithstanding, it seems likely that Westerdijk had at least some inkling of these plans and this might have actuated her conduct towards German agencies.

Following the liberation of Holland persons in positions of authority were obliged to account for their wartime conduct. In the first instance this comprised a questionnaire containing such questions as: 'have you accepted any new position during the occupation? Have you taken over the duties of anyone who had lost his position as a result of a German measure?' Westerdijk had to submit to this process, and her answers were in the negative. When asked whether she had maintained contact with Germans for the benefit of her academic work, she replied that she had kept contact with Prof. G. Gassner of Magdeburg University (Faasse, 2008).

There is in the Florey archive one piece of evidence that suggests that Westerdijk's contacts with German scientists went deeper than she was prepared to admit. The document comprises intercepted intelligence material sent to Florey for information by a certain Dr John Barnes at Porton Down. The documents are dated July and August 1944. This material reveals that Westerdijk was in correspondence with Prof. Eugen Haagen of the University of Strasbourg and also Chief of the Luftwaffe Medical Service, over penicillin production by various strains of penicillia. Westerdijk had apparently carried out assays for Haagen. Just how Barnes came across this intelligence is unclear. He formed part of a unit known as ALSOS charged with monitoring German capability to produce biological warfare agents.¹ The unsavoury fact was that in addition to his sideline in antibiotics, Haagen was also carrying out typhus experiments on human inmates of Natzweiler-Struthof concentration camp. He was eventually indicted with war crimes and sentenced to 20 years of imprisonment, but never served more than a couple of years (Baumslag, 2005). Naturally Westerdijk would not have known any of this.

The strains mentioned in the intelligence report were *P. notatum* (Westling), *P. puberlum* (Bainier), *P. corylophilum* (Dierckx) and *P. expansum* (Link) – none of which produce penicillin. Westerdijk's responses cannot have satisfied the authorities, for she was summoned to appear before the

¹ This information was provided by G. B. Carter author of Chemical and Biological Defence at Porton Down, 1916–2000, published in 2000 at The Stationary Office, Norwich.

Committee for the Restoration and Purification of Utrecht University and suspended from giving lectures. A flavour of what course the interview took can be gauged from an unsigned and undated note that Faasse came across in Westerdijk's case file.

After reports of the American penicillin research had reached the Netherlands and Germany, German researchers tried to produce the magic remedy. The Dutch research effort in this area went underground. The Germans contacted the CBS and demanded strains of the fungi *P. notatum* and *P. expansum*. Westerdijk had sent them these strains after first checking that they had lost the power to kill bacilli. The Germans had been unable to get anywhere with these strains.

The Committee considered the evidence and came to the conclusion that Westerdijk had not taken action that that was of significance to the German war effort. She was allowed to resume her lecturing on 20 September, the Committee writing to her that 'Albeit that we can appreciate the factors that caused you to take up the position you adopted, we nonetheless share your own feeling of regret that you did not display a spirit of resistance such as might have been possible, even in your circumstances'.

Reference to newly discovered documentary evidence discussed earlier strongly points to the CBS possessing a culture of Fleming's strain of *P. notatum*. If she did indeed possess this strain it seems that she did not hand it over. This was in itself an act of resistance that needs to be acknowledged.

The question of whether or not Westerdijk informed fellow Dutch scientists about penicillin must remain open. It seems strange that if she did possess Fleming's strain she did not pass it on to the *Nederlandische Gist en Spiritusfabriek*.

Florey seems either to have forgotten about the intelligence he had received of Westerdijk's communication with Nazi officials, or considered it to be insignificant, for after the liberation he replied to a letter of hers on 20 September 1945 stating that he was 'delighted to hear that your great fungus collection has been kept going'.

V. FRANCE

For a long time an image existed of the French population during World War II as standing united in resisting their German occupiers. Naturally this has been proved to be a myth. Studies appearing over the last 30 years or so paint a rather less heroic reality. All sorts of accommodations had to be arrived at with the Germans both at the level of the individual and of organizations. This is not of course to diminish in any way the heroic few who refused to enter into any compromises whatsoever and chose to resist to the end.

Conflicts of this sort were being played out at the Pasteur Institute. During the occupation it was obliged to produce therapeutic sera for export to Germany whilst at the same time serving as a secret store of medical supplies that were put at the disposal of French resistance movements (Chevassus-au-Louis, 2007). Some of the workers at the Institute, such as Ernest Fourneau, came to be charged with collaboration after the war had ended (Chevassus-au-Louis, 2004), whilst others such as Federico Nitti came to be decorated for the acts of resistance they performed.

The systems in place for accessing foreign publications in France during the war years have been documented by Richards (1994) and also serve as an example of this duality.

One system that was put into operation represented what, according to Richards, was an example of successful scientific co-operation and resulted in the exchange of journals between France and Germany. The driving force behind this particular initiative was Jean Gérard, Secretary General of the Maison de la Chimie. As such he was director of one of the best scientific periodical collections in the world and, moreover, its microfilming facilities were considered amongst the best in existence. Gérard was able to reactivate the Maison's subscriptions to German journals that had been cut off by the terms of the Armistice. The scheme was fairly successful but was ultimately limited to the material that Gérard's German contacts had access to, and whilst material from certain countries was readily accessible, that from other countries including the United States, soon fell into short supply. Richard's own assessment of Gérard is that while he performed valuable services to the Germans by thoroughly indexing French scientific publishing during the occupation, and by making German research available for French scientists, she found no evidence that he provided access to Allied science that the Germans did not already have.

Richards also describes the existence of a clandestine channel that provided French scientists with access to Allied research. An illegal indexing and abstracting service was operated throughout the period of the occupation by the Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique (CNRS). In this case the leading personality was Frédéric Joliot-Curie. At the beginning of 1941 Joliot-Curie asked a young scientist, Jean Wyart, to take over the embryonic documentation service started by the CNRS in 1939. Despite the division of France into free and occupied zones, Wyart was able to travel freely between the two, and as a result, access both British and American material.

A rivalry developed between Gérard and Wyart. This had consequences for Wyart because only Gérard had the authority to distribute paper for documentation purposes and he used that power to deny Wyart paper. However, printing – only possible with German permission – was arranged through an acquaintance of Wyart's, the head of the prestigious Hermann Scientific Editions. Thus was produced the CNRS's *Bulletin Analytique* that appeared monthly, offering three- to six-line summaries of French, British, and American articles and the possibility of ordering the original on microfilm.

Curiously the Germans made no efforts to suppress the illegal index, despite the protestations of Gérard, with whose service it was competing successfully because of its British and American content. Richards does not consider that this tolerance was in any way due to the German's need for the index as they already had an efficient system of their own as described. She considers that its very nature and low audience must have made it a low priority for the Germans.

Florey's papers may well have entered France by one of the routes described earlier. However, Quirke (2008) states that the French pharmaceutical company Rhône-Poulenc obtained 'English technical reports' at the end of 1942, and that these were probably Florey's *Lancet* papers. The approach that Ciba had made to Florey in April 1941 was described earlier; it is conceivable that news about penicillin may have circulated amongst the industrial pharmaceutical community in Switzerland. This would have included both Swiss companies and foreign companies with offices in Switzerland. Included amongst these was Rhône-Poulenc.² The possibility exists that Rhône-Poulenc employees may have learned about penicillin from their counterparts in Ciba and then have passed the information on to their parent company in France.

Some indication that information exchanges of this kind did occur within pharmaceutical circles is evidenced by a small wave of requests for *P. notatum* (Westling) that arrived at the CBS in Baarn starting in the summer of 1943. Indeed one can track the sequence by which news about penicillin spread. The first of these was from the Laboratoires du Dr Roussel (7 July 1943) followed by the Etablissements Byla (23 September 1943) and finally Maison L. Frere (3 February 1944). Missing from this list is Rhône-Poulenc and the reason for this must be that they already had access to Fleming's strain of *P. notatum*.

Rhône-Poulenc had a natural collaborator that they would turn to once they had copies of Florey's paper in their hands; this was the Pasteur Institute. They had previously worked closely together on research into novel of sulphonamides, and indeed, the then director Jacques Tréfouël had been instrumental along with Nitti in unravelling the mode of action of these antibacterial drugs. Most important of all for Rhône-Poulenc was

² Personal communication by V. Quirke, see also Quirke (2008).

the fact that the Pasteur Institute possessed a strain of Fleming's *P. notatum.* This was according to Quirke (2008) presented to the Institute by Fleming himself when he visited Paris, or alternatively, according to the testimony of one Bernard Sureau, to whom we shall return, presented to André Lwoff by Fleming when Lwoff visited London. Quirke also states that Raymond Paul, Research Director at Rhône-Poulenc, warned Nitti in late August 1943 that they should not fall behind in the penicillin race. She even mentions that the possibility that collaboration with Prof. Hörlein Director of the Bayer laboratories had been considered. The possibility cannot, therefore, be ruled out that Florey's papers may have reached Rhône-Poulenc directly from Germany. Certainly, the date that Quirke quotes 'the end of 1942' falls after the time when news about penicillin had reached German scientists.

Production started on a small scale at Rhône-Poulenc's site at Vitry, but assays were performed at the Pasteur Institute. The French researchers would almost certainly have employed the penicillin assay described in the second of Florey's Lancet papers (Abraham *et al.*, 1941). This was based on the use of small porcelain cylinders impregnated with penicillin solutions and deposited on petri dishes in which the agar had previously been seeded *Staphylococcus aureus*. However, they seemed also to have employed an assay that they had devised themselves. This was based on what they termed 'microbiophotometry' (Faguet and Nitti, 1943). The assay made use of a device that was in many ways ahead of its time and that was capable of automatically recording the growth of up to six individual cultures simultaneously. By this method the inhibitory effect of penicillin could be determined by the effect it had on the growth rate of the target organism – presumably cultures of *S. aureus*.

Bernard Sureau, who was mentioned earlier, was during the war a young intern based at the hospital connected to the Pasteur Institute. He worked with Nitti and has left an undated deposition in the archives of the Pasteur Institute that describes his involvement with penicillin. Sureau's account is a personal one but is somewhat at odds with other sources. There is no mention of Rhône-Poulenc in his account; instead Sureau attributes the initiation of penicillin research at the Pasteur Institute to Nitti having heard a BBC French service broadcast in the Autumn of 1943. Shama (2008) has established that there was in fact a French broadcast on penicillin made on 29 September 1943. In contrast to Home broadcasts, those made by the Foreign Services of the BBC were aimed at medical professionals and it is indeed possible that Nitti heard the broadcast and may have obtained useful information from it and even encouragement: it was almost certainly not what initiated penicillin research at the Pasteur Institute. Sureau gives an example of the lengths that the researchers at the Pasteur Institute were prepared to go to obtain Allied literature on penicillin. He claims that a colleague was dispatched to

Spain to acquire a copy of a special edition of *The British Medical Journal* of 15 April 1944 on penicillin.

Sureau also describes an early trial of their penicillin in January 1944 on a young infant dangerously ill with meningitis. Massive amounts of sulphonamides had been given to the infant but to no avail. An immediate improvement occurred once penicillin had been administered but their meagre stock of the antibiotic ran out and the infant succumbed once more to meningitis and finally died. This account bears a number of striking similarities to the first recorded use of penicillin in Oxford (Macfarlane, 1984). The patient was Albert Alexander who was at death's door with a relentlessly spreading infection occasioned from a scratch with a rose thorn. The precious stock of penicillin was administered with miraculous results that turned to tragedy when the penicillin was exhausted. In their desperation the Oxford medical team had even resorted to extracting the penicillin from the patient's urine and re-injecting it into him. In both cases despite the death of the patient those administering it had seen enough to become convinced of penicillin's therapeutic value.

This particular clinical case was to form the basis of a small clutch of publications in French journals. The first of these was by Nitti that appeared in print a matter of weeks after treatment of the infant ill with meningitis (Nitti, 1944). A second paper was to follow in March 1944 reporting on the same case. The authors were Martin, Sureau and Vittoz (Martin *et al.*, 1944) but interestingly not Nitti. A third paper appeared in June of the same year (Martin and Sureau, 1944).

Examining the British and American papers cited in these publications is indicative both of the efficiency of French document gathering procedures and of the time delays that researchers at the Pasteur Institute were obliged to incur. Both Nitti (1944) and Martin *et al.* (1944) cite Fleming (1929) and Raistrick's work (Clutterbuck *et al.*, 1932) both of which would have existed in Parisian libraries before the war. They also cite Florey's two *Lancet* papers (Abraham *et al.*, 1941; Chain *et al.*, 1940). The most recent British publication is a *Lancet* paper of 1943 (Clark *et al.*, 1943). They also refer to a German review on penicillin published by Kiese (1943)

Nitti's paper makes reference to Florey's *Lancet* papers and interestingly to a chemical composition for penicillin that seems to be that proposed by Abraham *et al.* (1942), but is not formally referenced. He also alludes to work of Coulthard's, possibly Coulthard *et al.* (1942). In addition, he provides his readers with some industrial intelligence – namely that a plant has been established in Canada for the production of 10 kg of penicillin per week. Martin and Sureau (1944) make reference to an article in the *Journal of Bacteriology* of August 1943 – this was almost certainly by Foster and Woodruff (1943). The latter indicates that the delay in obtaining foreign material was just less than 12 months.

The researchers at the Institute Pasteur must have published in the knowledge that their work would come to the attention of the Germans. They were possibly ignorant of the fact that no one in Germany possessed Fleming's strain. The true situation would have become plain when German officials turned up at the Institute demanding the strain. Hamilton Southworth, an American agent, who visited the Institute immediately after the Liberation and whose report on the situation prevailing is considered later, was told that about 8 months prior to his visit (i.e. January or February, 1944) – just after Nitti's publication – German officials tried to obtain the Fleming strain but were alleged to have been given a false one. The officials apparently told the researchers at the Pasteur Institute that they were organising their own programme. They tried again in June 1944, this time Schlossberger [This might have been Prof. H. Schlossberger, of the Hygiene Institute, Frankfurt] had been present. This account is verified to some extent by Bernard (1947). Nitti's paper certainly made its way to Germany, and was cited by in the review article on penicillin (Loewe, 1944) published in Chemiker-Zeitung in October 1944 and referred to earlier.

Hamilton Southworth was attached to the London Mission of the Office of Scientific Research and Development's Committee on Medical Research. He was the author of a weekly newsletter in which he reported on medical developments from Britain. These were not necessarily confined to British advances but also included intelligence material received in Britain from Germany and occupied Europe. In one newsletter (No. 103) dated 2 September 1944, Southworth reported on a trip to Paris he made between 28 August 28 and 2 September 1944. Charles de Gaul had marched into Paris just days before on 25 August.

Southworth went to the Pasteur Institute and met Jacques Tréfouël. He wrote: 'They were isolated, discouraged, and without equipment. Most of what they did was a continuation of their old traditions. The Germans asked for a few things like typhus vaccine and tetanus antitoxin but said very little of what they in turn were doing. When the French failed to cooperate, the breach grew even wider. Suspicion even developed between the different French workers as to which of their neighbours might be 'un peu collaborateur'. Southworth was given details of their penicillin work and of Rhône-Poulenc's involvement and that they possessed Fleming's strain. He discovered that only about 30 patients had been treated with penicillin. He commented 'most have had staphylococcal infections and the results have been good. Local use has predominated and there is particular enthusiasm for subconjunctival injection in conjunctivitis. We found no instance of the use of penicillin in syphilis, gonorrhea, or more unusual infections'. Southworth was told that Constantin Levaditi, also at the Pasteur Institute, had a strain of P. corylophilum DX obtained from Holland. It produced no penicillin and its activity *in vitro* was presumed to be due to notatin. (This incidentally was one of the strains that Westerdijk had assayed for Haagen).

Southworth's analysis is contrasted with that of Pasteur Vallery-Radot (Louis Pasteur's grandson) who wrote the foreword to a compilation of articles detailing French medical research during the war (Hamburger, 1947).

I was greatly surprised to learn that our good friends in America had never heard of our latest work in medical research. All were convinced that during those years of oppression France had been living coiled around herself and that her spirit had deserted her body... How could these men carry on with their work, under such seemingly impossible conditions? The equipment of laboratories was deficient, often the gas and electricity were cut off; to obtain the animals for necessary experiments was of the greatest difficulty.

They themselves led a miserable life, underfed, shivering with cold all winter, their minds beset with anguish. They lived under the constant threat of being deprived of their freedom, worrying about the fate or of their friends who were thrown into jail, deported or shot. How could they be successful in their scientific work? And successful they were, in spite of all the torments of servitude, in spite of their physical and moral tortures, of almost overwhelming difficulties, of this wall shutting off France from the outside world, and in spite of this numbing silence about all countries not included in the German Reich.

It is the contention here that the 'wall shutting off France from the outside world' was not entirely impermeable nor that the 'numbing silence' was total.

Southworth's revelation of the total numbers of patients that had received treatment with penicillin - some 30 in all - The numbers treated were very small and the overall impact on diminishing human suffering would have been negligible and one might justifiably ask 'was it worth it?' In normal times researchers at the Pasteur Institute would have found themselves at the centre of research on penicillin. The war ultimately did not prevent their involvement in research on penicillin. Despite the privations the researchers at the Pasteur Institute were working at what today be referred to as the 'cutting edge' of antibacterial chemotherapeutics. Their efforts to make penicillin against all odds provided them with valuable experience in the preparation and extraction of penicillin and this was to become of tremendous benefit in the immediate aftermath of the Liberation and until penicillin became available for civilian use. The opportunity to apply their hard-earned skills was an unusual one. Following the liberation of Paris, that city became the centre for a number of Allied hospitals. The American army made the Pasteur Institute a

generous and valuable gift; the urine of all servicemen that were undergoing therapy with penicillin. Therèse Trefouël, also at the Pasteur Institute even published a paper on the process (Tréfouël *et al.*, 1945).

VI. CONCLUSIONS

An absolute requirement for penicillin production in the 1940s was access to the most up-to-date literature and, most crucial of all, Fleming's culture of *P. notatum*.

Written requests to Fleming for cultures have not survived,³ but it is clear from the account given earlier that Fleming had been distributing cultures of his mould well before Florey had published his papers demonstrating the therapeutic potential of penicillin. Undoubtedly some of those who had obtained cultures in the period between Fleming and Florey – the *'inter regnum'* as Wainwright (2002) has referred to it – had not attempted to actually grow them until Florey's papers appeared. Moreover, those that did undertake work on penicillin during the *inter regnum*, for example Reid and Raistrick, cannot be said to have significantly advanced the study of the antibiotic.

It is unlikely that Fleming lived to know what the full consequences of his acts in distributing cultures were to have. Perhaps he may have divined the reason why neither Florey nor Chain had to approach him for a culture was that he had previously given one to Georges Dreyer, the former head at the Sir William Dunn School of Pathology in Oxford. Fleming would probably would not have known that when Florey and Chain were deciding which antimicrobial compound to study after pyocyanase proved to be too toxic that a certain Miss Campbell-Renton happened to be culturing *P. notatum* just along the corridor from them (Macfarlane, 1984).

Those scientists in Europe involved in research on penicillin were aware of the massive and well-resourced Anglo-American programme to mass produce penicillin through access to British and American publications that the state of war never succeeded entirely in cutting off. Their motives in pursuing their studies can only be guessed at. It would be reassuring to think that amongst them were humanitarian ones. There were undoubtedly others too including an understandable need to retain their professionalism. Perhaps just being able to produce any penicillin at all under straightened circumstances may have represented a victory of sorts. Being able to publicize the fact through journal publications, so representing a hope that just as British and American articles had reached

³ Kevin Brown, Curator of the Alexander Fleming Museum, St Mary's Hospital, London.

them, their work might reach the Allies, may have heightened the sense of achievement. Some of those who took part in these attempts are destined to remain unnamed and unknown, but perhaps this work has succeeded in salvaging the names of a few that might otherwise have been forgotten.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Huub van der Aa for hosting my visit to the CBS and making available private letters of his. Daniel Demellier of the Services des Archives at the Pasteur Institute in Paris for generously making available documents and photocopies of articles.

Barry Holmes, Head of the NCTC, HPA, Colindale, London for sending me copies of the correspondence of the wartime Curator of the NCTC. The late Hans Moonen for helping me to track down the leaflet dropped over Holland by the RAF. The staff of the Interlibrary Loans Section of the Pilkington Library, Loughborough University for tracking down obscure publications. Last, but by no means least, Rosemary Clayton for translating documents from Dutch.

REFERENCES

- Abraham, E. P., Baker, W., Chain, E., Florey, H. W., Holiday, E. R., and Robinson, R. (1942). Nitrogenous character of penicillin. *Nature* **149**, 356.
- Abraham, E. P., Chain, E., Fletcher, C. M., Gardner, A. D., Heatley, N. G., Jennings, M. A., and Florey, H. W. (1941). Further observations on penicillin. *Lancet* 238, 177–189.
- Anon (1944). Secretion of a glucose oxidizing enzyme with bacteriostatic property by *Penicillium notatum. J. Am. Med. Assoc.* **124**, 924.
- Anon (1947). The chemical study of penicillin: A brief history. Science 105, 653-659.
- Bartmann, K., and Wagner, W. H. (1962). Prof. Dr Julius Hirsch. Zentralblatt Bakt. Parasiten. Infektions. Hyg. 187, 145–147.
- Baumslag, N. (2005). Murderous Medicine: Nazi Doctors, Human Experimentation and Typhus. Greenwood Press, Westport, CT.
- Bennet, J. W., and Chung, K.-T. (2001). Alexander Fleming and the discovery of penicillin. Adv. Appl. Microbiol. 49, 163–184.
- Bernard, J. (1947). La pénicilline. Editions Correa & Cie, Paris.
- Bornstein, S. (1940). Action of penicillin on enterocci and other streptococci. J. Bact. 39, 383–387.
- Burns, M., and van Dijck, P. W. M. (2000). The development of the penicillin production process in Delft, The Netherlands, during World War II under Nazi Occupation. *Adv. Appl. Micro.* 51, 185–200.
- Catch, J. R., Cook, A. H., and Heilbron, I. M. (1942). Purification and chemistry of penicillin. *Nature* 150, 633–634.
- Chain, E., Florey, H. W., Gardner, A. D., Heatley, N. G., Jennings, M. A., Orr-Ewing, J., and Sanders, A. G. (1940). Penicillin as a chemotherapeutic agent. *The Lancet* 236, 226–228.
- Chevassus-au-Louis, N. (2004). Savants sous l'occupation. Enquête sur la vie scientifique française entre 1940 et 1944. Editions du Seuil, Paris, France.
- Chevassus-au-Louis, N. (2007). La résistance á l'Institut Pasteur (1940–1944)—Une confrontation de la mémoire pastorienne aux sources archivistique. *Association des Anciens Élèves de l'Institut Pasteur* **49**, 118–127.

- Clark, A. M., Colebrook, L., Gibson, T., Thomson, M. L., and Foster, A. (1943). Penicillin and propamidine in burns elimination of hæmolytic Streptococci and Staphylococci. *The Lancet* 245, 605–609.
- Clutterbuck, P. W., Lovell, R., and Raistrick, H. (1932). Studies in the biochemistry of micro-organisms. *Biochem. J.* 26, 1907–1918.
- Coulthard, C. E., Michaelis, R., Short, W. F., Sykes, G., Skrimshire, G. E. H., Standfast, A. F. B., Birkinshaw, J. H., and Raistrick, H. (1942). Notatin: An antibacterial glucose-aerodehydrogenase from *Penicillium notatum* Westling. *Nature* **150**, 634–635.
- Coulthard, C. E., Michaelis, R., Short, W. F., Sykes, G., Skrimshire, G. E. H., Standfast, A. F. B., Birkinshaw, J. H., and Raistrick, H. (1945). Notatin: An anti-bacterial glucoseaerodehydrogenase from *Penicillin notatum* Westling and *Penicillium resticulosum* sp. nov. *Bio. J.* **39**, 24–36.
- Deichmann, U. (1999). The expulsion of Jewish chemists and biochemists from academia in Nazi Germany. *Perspect. Sci.* **7**, 1–86.
- Faasse, P. E. (2008). In Splendid Isolation—A History of the Willie Commelin Scholten Phytopathology Laboratory, 1894–1992. Knaw Press, Amsterdam.
- Faguet, M., and Nitti, F. (1943). Enregistrement continu des courbes de croissance microbienne a l'aide du microbiophotomètre. Ann. Inst. Pasteur. 69, 126–128.
- Fleming, A. (1929). On the antibacterial action of a Penicillium with special reference to their use in the isolation of *B. influenzae. Br. J. Exp. Path.* **10**, 226–236.
- Foster, J. W., and Woodruff, H. B. (1943). Microbiological aspects of penicillin: I. Methods of assay. J. Bacteriol. 46, 187–202.
- Fraser, I. (1995). Random recollections: Part 2 penicillin and the Normandy landings. Ann. R. Coll. Surg. Eng. (Suppl.) 77, 198–201.
- Hamburger, J. (1947). Medical Research in France during the War (1939–1945). Éditions Médicales Flammarion, Paris.
- Hare, R. (1970). The Birth of Penicillin and the Disarming of Microbes. George Allen & Unwin, London.
- Hirsch, J. (1944). 15 jahre penicillin-forschung. Istanbul Seririyati 26, 94–106.
- Kennel, Von, Kimmig, J., and Lembke, A. (1943). Die mycoine, eine neue gruppe therapeutisch wirksamer substanzen aus pilzen. *Klin. Woch.* 22, 321.
- Kiese, M. (1943). Chemische therapie mit antibakteriellen stoffen aus niederen pilzen und bakterien. Klin. Wochenshr. 22, 505–511.
- Loewe, H. (1944). Über penicillin und andere bactericide wirksoffe aus niederen pilzen und bakterien. *Chemiker-Zeitung* 178–200.
- Macfarlane, G. (1984). Alexander Fleming. The Man and the Myth. Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- Martin, R., and Sureau, B. (1944). La pénicilline et ses applications thérapeutiques. Paris Médical 115–119.
- Martin, R., Sureau, B., and Vittoz, A. (1944). Un cas de méningite a pneumocoques sulfamido-résistants traitée par la pénicilline. Bulletins et Mémoires de la Société Médicale des Hôpitaux de Paris 117–120.
- Nitti, F. (1944). Un nouveau traitement des infections microbiennes par un produit élaboré par les moisissures: la pénicilline. *Le Progrès Médical* 10–12.
- Pieroth, I. (1992). Penicillin-Herstellung von den anfängen bis zur Grossproduktion. Wissenschaftliche Verlagssgesellshaft mbH, Stuttgart.
- Querido, A., Bax, J., and Overdijjk, R. (1990). Andries Querido De binnenkant van de geneeskunde. Meulenhoff, Amsterdam.
- Quirke, V. (2008). Collaboration in the pharmaceutical industry. Changing relationships in Britain and France, 1935–1965. Routledge, New York.
- Reid, R. (1933). A study of the bactericidal, bacteriolytic or inhibitory substance produced by molds and some factors which influence its production. *J. Bacteriol.* **25**, 31.

- Reid, R. (1934). Some observations on the ability of a mold, or its metabolic products, to inhibit bacterial growth. *J. Bacteriol.* **27**, 28.
- Richards, P. S. (1994). Scientific Information in Wartime. The Allied-German Rivalry, 1939–1945. Greenwood Press, Westport, Connecticut.

Root-Bernstein, R. S. (1989). Discovering. Harvard University Press, Cambridge, MA.

Shama, G. (2008). Auntiebiotics. Br. Med. J. 337, 1464–1466.

Shama, G., and Reinarz, J. (2002). Allied intelligence reports on wartime German penicillin research and production. *His. Stud. Phys. Biol. Sci.* 32, 347–367.

Shama, G., and van der Els, G. (2008). A whirlwind in occupied Holland. Microbe 3, 511-515.

Ten Houten, J. G. (1963). Obituary notice Johanna Westerdijk, 1883–1961. J. Gen. Microbiol. 32, 1–9.

Tréfouël, T. J., Beaugeard, N., and Lamensans, A. (1945). Récupération de la pénicilline dans les urines. *Bull. Soc. Chim. Biol.* **27**, 488–493.

Wainwright, M. (2002). Fleming's unfinished. Perspect. Biol. Med. 45, 529-538.

Wettstein, A. (1944). Penicillin. Schweiz. Med. Woch. 74, 617-625.

Yagisawa, Y. (1980). Early history of antibiotics in Japan. *In* "The History of Antibiotics : A Symposium" (Parascandola John, Ed.), pp. 69–90. American Institute of the History of Pharmacy, Madison, Wis.



The Genomes of Lager Yeasts

Ursula Bond

Contents	I. Introduction	160
	II. Classification	160
	III. The Lager Yeasts: Saccharomyces pastorianus	162
	IV. Lager Yeast Chromosomes: Types	162
	V. Genome Sequence Analysis of a Lager Yeast Strain	167
	VI. Chromosome Copy Number	168
	VII. Consequences of Genome Rearrangements	169
	VIII. The Dynamic Genome of Lager Yeasts	170
	IX. Gene Expression Patterns of Lager Yeasts	175
	X. Expression Compared to Haploid S. cerevisiae	178
	XI. Conclusions	178
	References	179

Abstract Yeasts used in the production of lagers belong to the genus Saccharomyces pastorianus. Species within this genus arose from a natural hybridization event between two yeast species that appear to be closely related to Saccharomyces cerevisiae and Saccharomyces bayanus. The resultant hybrids contain complex allopolyploid genomes and retain genetic characteristics of both parental species. Recent genome analysis using both whole genome sequencing and competitive genomic hybridization techniques has revealed the underlying composition of lager yeasts genomes. There appear to be at least 36 unique chromosomes, many of which are lager specific, resulting from recombination events between the homeologous parental chromosomes. The recombination events are limited to a defined set of genetic loci, which are

School of Genetics and Microbiology, Trinity College Dublin, Dublin 2, Ireland

© 2009 Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved.

Advances in Applied Microbiology, Volume 69 ISSN 0065-2164, DOI: 10.1016/S0065-2164(09)69006-7

highly conserved within strains of lager yeasts. In addition to the hybrid chromosomes, several non-reciprocal chromosomal translocations and inversions are also observed. Remarkably, in response to exposure to environmental stresses such as high temperatures and high osmotic pressure, the genomes appear to be highly dynamic and undergo recombination events at defined loci and alterations in the telomeric regions. The ability of environmental stress to alter the structure and composition of the genomes of lager yeasts may point to mechanisms of adaptive evolution in these species.

I. INTRODUCTION

Yeasts have been used in the production of alcoholic beverages such as beers, wines, mead and sake for many thousands of years due to their highly developed fermentative capacity. Historically, fermentations relied on the use of endogenous yeasts, present on the substrate such as grapes or the repitching of yeast from previous fermentations, as the source of the fermenting microorganism. The yeasts used for the production of ales and lagers were originally classified based on their flocculation properties. Ale yeasts tended to float to the top of the vat at the end of fermentation and were classified of top-fermenters, while lager yeasts sedimented to the bottom of the vat and were thus named bottom-fermenters. It was not until the development of pure culture techniques by Hansen in 1893 that individual strains of yeasts were cultured and pure strain stocks used for the production of ales and lagers.

II. CLASSIFICATION

Modern genetic and taxonomical classification techniques place the lager and ale yeasts into the genus *Saccharomyces sensu stricto* (Kurtzman, 2003; Vaughan-Martini and Martin, 1995). This genus incorporates many species that are industrially important and currently includes the species *S. cerevisiae*, *S. bayanus*, *S. pastorianus*, *S. paradoxus*, *S. kudriavzevii*, *S. cariocanus* and *S. mikatae* (Naumov *et al.*, 2000b; Replansky *et al.*, 2008; Sampaio and Goncalves, 2008) and the recently described *S. arboricolus*, isolated from oak trees in China (Wang and Bai, 2008). The lager yeasts, originally referred to as *S. carlbergensis*, are now

classified as *S. pastorianus* (Rainieri *et al.*, 2006) (Fig. 6.1). Ale yeasts are predominately *S. cerevisiae*; however, *S. bayanus* strains have also been isolated from beer.

While up to eight distinctive species have thus far been identified within the *Saccharomyces stricto sensu* genus, taxonomic classification can be complicated as the species display common physiological and morphological characteristics. Additionally, recent genetic studies have identified a number of hybrid strains containing genetic information from two or more *Saccharomyces* species. The species *S. bayanus* has been sub-divided into *S. bayanus* var. *bayanus*, which contains a number of hybrid strains and *S. bayanus* var. *uvarum*, typically isolated from enological environments (Rainieri *et al.*, 2003, 2006). Hybrids between *S. cerevisiae* and either *S. kudriavzevii*, *S. bayanus* var. *uvarum* or *S. bayanus* var. *bayanus* have been isolated in wine fermentations, and a triple hybrid of *S. bayanus* var. *uvarum*, *S. cerevisiae* and *S. kudriavzevii* has been identified in vineyards in Switzerland (Masneuf *et al.*, 1998; Naumov *et al.*, 2000a, 2005).



FIGURE 6.1 Origins of the species *Saccharomyces pastorianus*. *S. pastorianus* strains are interspecies hybrids of *S. cerevisiae* and *S. bayanus* var. *bayanus* and can be divided into two distinct groups. Adapted from Rainieri et al. (2006) and Dunn and Sherlock (2008).

III. THE LAGER YEASTS: SACCHAROMYCES PASTORIANUS

Sequence analysis of individual genes from lager yeast strains as well as the complete sequencing of the whole genome of one strain of S. pastorianus provided evidence that the lager yeasts are natural interspecies hybrids of S. cerevisiae and S. bayanus (Bond and Blomberg, 2006; Caesar et al., 2007; Casaregola et al., 2001; Kielland-Brandt et al., 1995; Rainieri et al., 2006; Smart, 2007) (Fig. 6.1). A recent study of a wide variety of lager yeast strains by competitive genomic hybridization (CGH) to S. cerevisiae and S. bayanus DNA microarrays indicates that the lager yeast strains can be further sub-divided into two distinctive groups (Groups I and II) based on the number of copies of the parental chromosomes, the location of genome rearrangements and DNA polymorphisms (Fig. 6.1) (Dunn and Sherlock, 2008). The classification of lager yeasts into two groups lends support to the notion that the lager yeast strains originated from multiple interspecies hybridization events between distinct but closely related progenitor strains. Partial sequence analysis of Group I and II sub-types suggests that Group 1 strains may have resulted from a hybridisation event between a haploid ale S. cerevisiae strain and a haploid S. bayanus strain, while Group II strains may be derived from a fusion between a diploid S. cerevisiae with a haploid S. bayanus (de Barros Lopes et al., 2002; Legras et al., 2007). The S. cerevisiae content of the Group I and II lager yeasts differs by only 0.3% indicating that the progenitor strains were highly related. The Group I strains appear to have lost large portions of the S. cerevisiae genome.

IV. LAGER YEAST CHROMOSOMES: TYPES

One of the earliest approaches to the characterization of the lager yeast chromosomes employed the technique of single chromosome transfer (Nilsson-Tillgren *et al.*, 1981). These classical experiments, in which single chromosomes from the lager yeasts were transferred into *kar1* mutants of *S. cerevisiae*, revealed that some chromosomes readily underwent homologous recombination with the *S. cerevisiae kar1* mutant while others displayed no ability to recombine. The former were thus identified as *S. cerevisiae*-like while the latter were referred to as lager type. The frequency of recombination differed substantially for chromosome to chromosome more readily recombined with the *S. cerevisiae* chromosome than other regions. This led to the hypothesis that mosaic chromosomes composed of *S. cerevisiae*-like genes and lager-type genes may exist in the lager strains. The complex electrophoretic patterns of lager yeast

chromosomes provided further evidence for the hybrid nature of the lager yeast genome. Analysis of lager yeast chromosomes separated by pulse-field electrophoresis, using chromosome specific probes, identified multiple forms of certain chromosomes, for example, three forms of chromosome X in the production strain *S. carlsbergensis* were identified by this method (Casey, 1986).

More recently, the chromosomal composition of S. pastorianus strains has been addressed using CGH (Bond et al., 2004; Dunn and Sherlock, 2008; Kodama et al., 2006). CGH analysis is performed by comparing the ability of a test genome to compete with a known control genome for hybridization to S. cerevisiae or S. bayanus DNA microarrays. In the initial analysis (Bond et al., 2004), DNA from two different strains of lager yeasts (6701 and CMBS) was competed with DNA from a haploid strain of S. cerevisiae (control genome) for hybridization to microarrays containing all known S. cerevisiae ORFs. Hybridization of the competing DNAs to the microarray chips depends on (i) the degree of homology between the target and control DNA to the S. cerevisiae DNA on the chips (generally the strain S-288C is used for the preparation of chips) and (ii) the copy number of genes in the test and control genomes. For example, hybridization of DNA from a haploid S. cerevisiae genome differentially labelled with Cy3- and Cy5-conjugated nucleotides should generate a ratio of hybridization (ROH) of 1.0, if there is no preferential hybridization of either labelled DNA. Using this as a control, it is possible to obtain a normalized value for the ROH to each gene on the microarray. Should the test genome contain more copies of an individual gene, the expected ROH should be greater than 1.0. Likewise if the test genome contains a gene with low levels of homology to the corresponding DNA on the chip or the gene is missing altogether from the genome, the expected ROH will be less than 1.0.

Characterization of these two lager yeast strains in this manner revealed a number of interesting features. Firstly, plotting the ROH for each gene arranged by chromosome and using the *S. cerevisiae* gene order revealed distinct changes in ROH at specific locations on eight of the sixteen chromosomes. These 'jumps' or changes in ROH reflect abrupt changes in copy number and/or homology to the *S. cerevisiae* microarrays and can be interpreted as points where recombination between the homeologous chromosomes has occurred or where *S. cerevisiae* genes have been deleted (Fig. 6.2). Such recombination events could generate mosaic chromosomes consisting of *S. cerevisiae*-like and lagertype genes as originally proposed by (Nilsson-Tillgren *et al.*, 1981). The exact location where recombination had occurred between homeologous pairs of chromosomes can be clearly defined at a single gene resolution (Table 6.1).



FIGURE 6.2 Ratio of hybridizations (ROH) for genes on chromosome XVI in the lager strain CMBS (black) and the haploid *S. cerevisiae* (grey). DNA isolated from these strains was competed with DNA from *S. cerevisiae* for hybridization to *S. cerevisiae* microarrays. The locations of 'jumps' in ROH are indicated by the closest ORF. Putative composition of chromosome XVI in CMBS: grey blocks represent *S. cerevisiae*-like and black blocks represent *S. bayanus*-like.

In this initial analysis, up to twenty eight locations were identified where specific changes ('jumps') in ROH occurred. Of these, nine reside in sub-telomeric X elements, which contain repetitive sequences and autonomous replication sequences (ARS), eight reside within 25 kbp of the telomere and appear to represent telomere deletions. The remaining eleven sites reside at unique sites on eight different chromosomes and all but one (YHR165C) were common to both lager yeast strains (Table 6.1). A large number of the jump sites lie next to or within a few open reading frames of a Ty element, a tRNA gene or an ARS sequences. The location of Ty and ARS elements next to some of the recombination sites points to roles for both transposon- and replication-mediated recombination in the generation of hybrid chromosomes. Surprisingly, many of the genes adjacent to the recombination loci encode proteins that play essential roles in fermentation, including AAD6, ADH2 and TDH2 (Bond et al., 2004; Nakao et al., 2009). Other genes at these loci include two genes encoding proteins involved in RNA metabolism (PRP8 and KEM1), and HSP82, a heat-shock protein.

Since this initial analysis, a more extensive CGH analysis of seventeen strains of *S. pastorianus* from a variety of geographic locations has been conducted using both *S. cerevisiae* and *S. bayanus* 60-mer oligo-microarrays. These experiments allowed for more fine mapping of the recombination sites between the homeologous chromosomes. In addition to verifying the

	Location	ORFS	Other features	Reference
S.c/S.b				
III	YCR039C	MAT locus	MAT locus	Bond et al. (2004), Nakao et al. (2009)
VI	YFL056C/YFL052W	AAD6/Un	ARS	Bond <i>et al.</i> (2004), Dunn and Sherlock (2008)
VII	YGL173C	KEM1	tRNA, ARS	Bond <i>et al.</i> (2004), Dunn and Sherlock (2008), Nakao <i>et al.</i> (2009)
VIII	YHR165C	PRP8	None	Bond <i>et al.</i> (2004), Dunn and Sherlock (2008)
Х	YJR009C	TDH2	ARS	Bond <i>et al.</i> (2004), Dunn and Sherlock (2008), Nakao <i>et al.</i> (2009)
XI	YKL044W/YKL045W	Dub/PRI2	None	Bond <i>et al.</i> (2004), Dunn and Sherlock (2008), Nakao <i>et al.</i> (2009)
XIII	YMR302C/YMR303C	YME3/ ADH2	None	Bond <i>et al.</i> (2004), Dunn and Sherlock (2008), Nakao <i>et al.</i> (2009)
XV	YOR343C	TYA	Ty2	Bond <i>et al.</i> (2004), Dunn and Sherlock (2008)
XVI	YPL240C/YPL241C	HSP82/CIN2	None	Bond <i>et al.</i> (2004), Dunn and Sherlock (2008), Nakao <i>et al.</i> (2009)
XVI	YPL160W	GPH1	tRNA, Ty1	Bond <i>et al.</i> (2004), Dunn and Sherlock (2008), Nakao <i>et al.</i> (2009)
XVI	YPL191C	QCR2	ARS, Ty4	Bond <i>et al.</i> (2004), Dunn and Sherlock (2008), Nakao <i>et al.</i> (2009)

TABLE 6.1 Major chromosomal translocations in Saccharomyces pastorianus

(continued)

TABLE 6.1 (continued)

	Location	ORFS	Other features	Reference
S.c/S.c				
V/XI	Unidentified in Nakao et al. (2009)	Ту	Ty LTR	Nakao et al. (2009)
XI/XV	YKL220C/YOR381W	FRE2/FRE3	ARA, Tel X	Nakao <i>et al.</i> (2009)
S.b/S.b				
II/IV	YBRO31W/YDR012W	RPL4A/ RPL4B	None	Nakao et al., 2009
	YDR012W / YBRO31W	RPL4B/ RPL4A	None	Nakao et al. (2009)
VIII/XV	YOR18W-19W/ YHR014W-15W	ROD1-Un/ SPO13- MIP6	tRNA/Ty1	Nakao <i>et al.</i> (2009)
VIII/XV	YHR014W-15W / YOR18W-19W	SPO13- MIP6/ ROD1-Un	tRNA/Ty1	Nakao <i>et al.</i> (2009)

Un, uncharacterized; Dub, dubious; ARS, autonomous replicating sequence.

location of the recombination sites identified in the original CGH study (Bond *et al.*, 2004), up to 80 additional putative recombination sites in both sub-genomes were identified although the majority of these sites are clustered at similar genome locations on 10 chromosomes and mainly correspond to the major sites previously identified (Table 6.1).

V. GENOME SEQUENCE ANALYSIS OF A LAGER YEAST STRAIN

While CHG analysis can provide clues to the chromosomal makeup of lager yeast strains, a complete understanding of the chromosome composition of lager yeasts would not emerge until the full genome sequence analysis of S. pastorianus (Weihenstephan strain 34/70) was obtained (Nakao et al., 2009). This whole genome sequence analysis suggests a genome size of 23.4 Mbp and a predicted number of chromosomes of 36. This is slightly more than the combined chromosome content of *S. cerevisiae* and S. bayanus which each contain 16 chromosomes. The sequence analysis confirmed the origin of the progenitor strains as S. cerevisiae and S. bayanus: S. cerevisiae orthologues (referred to as class 1 ORFs) showed on average 99.2% identity to the reference S. cerevisiae strain S-288C, while the corresponding paralogues (class 2 ORFS) on average were 92.7% identical to the reference S. bayanus strain CBS 7001 which is classified as S. bayanus var. uvarum. This lower level of identity may indicate that the progenitor strain may be more similar to S. bayanus var. bayanus, supporting prior analysis of genes from a number of lager yeasts by restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) which showed the greatest similarity was to the S. bayanus var. bayanus strain NBRC 1948 (Rainieri et al., 2006, 2008).

The full sequence analysis confirmed the presence of three types of chromosomes, (i) *S. cerevisiae*-like, (ii) *S. bayanus*-like and (iii) mosaic chromosomes. The location of the major recombination sites on the mosaic chromosomes previously identified by CGH analysis was also confirmed and a more detailed description of the events obtained (Table 6.1). Of the eleven major unique 'jump' sites, eight were confirmed while three of the sites (YHR165C, YOR343C and YFL056C/YFL052W) do not appear to be present in the Weihenstephen strain; seven of the conserved recombinations involved non-reciprocal translocations within homeologous alleles and one appears to be a reciprocal translocation.

The analysis also uncovered a series of chromosomal translocations which were not identified by CGH analysis (Table 6.1) and a number of gene inversions. One inversion was identified on the *S.c*-type chromosome XIV and three were identified on the *S.b*-type chromosomes XIV, V and VI, respectively. The latter two are also evident in the *S. bayanus*

progenitor strain and presumably occurred prior to the hybridization event. Of the translocation events, two reciprocal chromosomal translocations between *S.b*-type chromosomes II and IV and VIII and XV are also found in the *S. bayanus* progenitor strain and were previously identified in lager yeasts by pulse-field gel electrophoresis and Southern blotting (Ryu *et al.*, 1998; Tamai *et al.*, 1998; Yamagishi and Ogata, 1999). The two novel translocations between *S.c*-type chromosomes V and XI and between XI and XV are not present in the *S. cerevisiae* progenitor strain (Table 6.1). As predicted from the earlier CGH studies, the telomeric and sub-telomeric regions were the least conserved regions of the chromosomes and telomeric loss is evident. Surprisingly, eight novel ORFs with no corresponding orthologue in either *S. cerevisiae* or *S. bayanus* are located in the sub-telomeric regions. This finding suggests that the telomeres are highly adaptable and may be subject to adaptive evolutionary pressures.

VI. CHROMOSOME COPY NUMBER

While the presence of mosaic chromosomes within the lager yeast genome has been clearly established, it has been more difficult to definitively estimate the number and types of chromosomes present in the strain. Several lines of investigation have been used to determine the minimum number and type of chromosomes present. Firstly, gene replacement experiments, together with meiotic analysis of genes located on chromosomes VI, XI, XIII and XVI, suggest the presence of four copies of each of these chromosomes (Kielland-Brandt et al., 1995). Secondly, analysis of lager yeast strains by flow cytometry (FACs) indicated a general tetraploid DNA content (Kielland-Brandt et al., 1995; Usher and Bond, unpublished results). This is also consistent with DNA content estimated by DAPI-fluorometry analysis (James et al., 2003). Analysis of gene copy number by real-time PCR analysis in S. pastorianus strains estimated copy numbers of between 1 and 6 for individual S. cerevisiae ORFs (Bond et al., 2004). CGH analysis also provides evidence of the apparent amplification of the S. cerevisiae complement at multiple chromosomal sites. These regions of amplification can be interpreted in two ways. Firstly, there may be tandem amplification of S. cerevisiae genes at the same chromosomal location or secondly, such amplifications may represent multiple chromosome copies containing S. cerevisiae genes. For example, genes from the left telomere to YPL240C and from YPR192C to the right telomere of chromosome XVI show average ROH values of 1.8 (see Fig. 6.2A). Using real-time PCR to evaluate gene copy number, this value correlates with approximately four copies of S. cerevisiae genes. The remainder of genes on chromosome XVI show an average ROH of 1.0–1.2 with the exception of genes between YPR160W and YPR190W, which show an ROH of 0.2. These ROH values correspond to *S. cerevisiae* gene copy numbers of 2 and 0, respectively. Since there is no supporting evidence from the whole genome sequencing for tandem gene amplification, we interpret these data as indicating the presence of at least four copies of chromosome XVI in the lager yeast strains (Fig. 6.2B). Based on the ROH values, a plausible chromosome XVI complement would be four copies in a ratio of two *S.b*-like to two *S.c*-like chromosomes with all four containing *S.b* region from YPR160W to YPR190W and *S.c*-like ORFs at the telomeres (see Fig. 6.2B).

Dunn and Sherlock (2008) have conducted FACs analysis on a variety of Group 1 and 2 *S. pastorianus* strains and estimated that Group I strains appear to have a DNA content similar to a diploid consisting of one *S. cerevisiae* genome and one *S. bayanus* genome, while Group 2 appears to be triploid with two *S. cerevisiae* genomes and one *S. bayanus* genome. This is somewhat consistent with the estimated chromosome number of 36 for the Weihenstephan strain, which appears to be of the Group 2 variety, indicative of an overall diploid with some aneuploidy (Nakao *et al.*, 2009). The discrepancies in chromosome copy number estimation based on the various approaches outlined earlier may possibly be reconciled by invoking the presence of multiple copies of identical chromosomes that are indistinguishable at a genome level, although this remains to be determined.

VII. CONSEQUENCES OF GENOME REARRANGEMENTS

The novel genomic rearrangements that have occurred in the lager yeast genome have resulted in a number of loss-of-function events due to gene deletions and/or frame shift mutations, gain-of-functions due to the emergence of novel ORFs, gene fusions resulting from chromosomal translocations or clustered regional gene amplification, as discussed earlier. The full complement of genomic rearrangements are too numerous to mention in this review, but readers are referred to the supplementary data from (Dunn and Sherlock, 2008; Nakao et al., 2009) for the complete details. The most significant outcomes of these rearrangements include the apparent amplification of a number of genes that play significant roles during fermentation, such as the MAL3 cluster at the right telomere of chromosome II which is required for maltose metabolism. Likewise, the copy number of the MTT1 gene, encoding the maltotriose transporter, and MET 3 and MET 14, encoding proteins required for sulphite anabolism, have increased due to a chromosomal translocation events on chromosomes VII, X and XI respectively. Conversely, other genes encoding proteins with significant functions during fermentation such as the flocculation genes FLO9 and 5 show reduced copy number most likely due to telomere-associated gene loss. Likewise, there is a loss of the α -glucoside transporter MPH3 due to an apparent frameshift mutation in the ORF.

Of the eight lager specific genes identified from the whole genome sequence analysis, surprisingly, with the exception of one, all are located in the sub-telomeric regions and are between 350 and 795 amino acids in length. These novel ORFs appear to encode for proteins that may enhance the fermentative capacity of the yeasts through increased sugar and amino acid metabolism. How these novel ORFs originated is currently unknown; however, recent data suggest that the telomere regions of the lager yeasts are in a high state of flux which may be sufficient to drive such adaptive evolution (see below).

Finally, as many as 28 S.c-like and 33 S.b-like ORFS appear to encode truncated proteins as a result of frameshift or stop codon mutations in the ORFs. In general these deletions are not deleterious to the yeasts due to the presence of multiple homeologous alleles. Interestingly, these mutated genes do not coincide with any of the major genomic rearrangements listed in Table 6.1 and appear to be independent of these events. However, such genomic rearrangements, in particular, the reciprocal and non-reciprocal recombination events between homeologous chromosomes, have the potential to generate either loss- or gain-of-function phenotypes. A detailed analysis of one such recombination site on chromosome XVI at YPR160W, which encodes the enzyme glycogen phosphorylase, revealed that the recombination occurred at the 5' end of the gene generating a hybrid gene that is S. cerevisiae-like at the 5' end and S. bayanus-like at the 3' end (Usher and Bond, 2009). Northern blotting and real-time reverse transcriptase-PCR analysis indicates that the hybrid gene does not produce a mature RNA transcript and is non-functional due to a frameshift mutation. There is evidence from Northern blotting for a YPR160W-like transcript. This most likely emanates from the S.b-like copies of chromosome XVI (Fig. 6.2A and B). This loss of function in two of the four copies of YPR160W appears to alter glycogen metabolism in the lager yeast strains, which contain glycogen levels similar to haploid strains of *S. bayanus* and S. cerevisiae (Usher and Bond, 2009). Currently, there are no other reported phenotypic changes associated with homeologous recombination events, although it is possible that more will be uncovered upon detailed analysis of the other recombination sites.

VIII. THE DYNAMIC GENOME OF LAGER YEASTS

The presence of stable hybrid chromosomes in all lager yeast strains that are not present in the progenitor strains indicates that recombinations between the homeologous chromosomes occurred after the species hybridization event. The recombination events appear to have occurred within
short homologous regions of homeologous alleles, which share 81-96% sequence identity. However, since the vast majority of homeologous genes in the genome would share similar sequence identity levels, it is not clear why recombination at these specific 'hot spots' is more likely than at other regions of the genome. Recombination events are rare in Saccharomyces species and occur at frequencies in the order of 5×10^{-8} to 2×10^{-9} in genes with this level of sequence identity (Datta *et al.*, 1997). The frequency of chromosomal recombination events can be increased by the induction of double-strand breaks (DSBs) following exposure of cells to DNA damaging agents such as UV light, gamma irradiation or DNA-modifying agents (Admire et al., 2006; Haber, 2006). Polyploid and aneuploid strains of yeasts show increased sensitivity to gamma irradiation and DNA-damage-inducing agents (Mayer et al., 1992) and are known to have higher rates of genome instability compared to haploid strains (Mayer and Aguilera, 1990; Storchova and Pellman, 2004). Perturbations of internal cellular processes such as DNA replication can also contribute significantly to the induction if DSBs (Aguilera and Gomez-Gonzalez, 2008). There is a growing body of evidence suggesting that natural impediments to replication fork progression can lead to gross chromosomal rearrangements (Azvolinsky et al., 2006; Huang and Koshland, 2003; Lemoine et al., 2005; Mirkin and Mirkin, 2007; Schmidt and Kolodner, 2006).

It is quite possible that the chromosomal rearrangements encountered in lager yeasts occurred as a consequence of exposure to the harsh environmental conditions experience during the process of fermentation to facilitate adaptation to these conditions. Lager yeasts are exposed to high osmotic and hydrostatic pressure, anaerobiosis, low pH, low temperature, high alcohol concentrations and high cell densities during fermentation (Attfield, 1997; Brosnan *et al.*, 2000; Carrasco *et al.*, 2001; Gibson *et al.*, 2008; Zuzuarregui *et al.*, 2005). The hybrid genome of lager yeasts appears to confer a very high degree of resistance to these stresses. For example, the parental species of the lager yeasts, *S. cerevisiae* and *S. bayanus*, do not survive well under industrial fermentation conditions and are much less capable of metabolising the available sugars to ethanol. Likewise, the ability of the hybrid lager yeasts to adapt to growth at low temperatures is a trait conferred from the *S. bayanus* component of the genome (Belloch *et al.*, 2008).

The hypothesis that exposure of lager yeasts to stressful environmental conditions might facilitate chromosomal rearrangements has been tested in a series of experiments in which lager yeasts were exposed to the combined stresses of high temperature and high specific gravity (James *et al.*, 2008). Colonies surviving the initial stresses were subjected to repeated rounds of selection under the same stress conditions to ensure that the stress tolerance was heritable. Three of these stress-tolerant clonal isolates

(CM5, CM6 and CM10) were compared to the parental strain using CGH analysis. These studies revealed that each had undergone gross rearrangements, small deletions, regional amplifications and changes in chromosome copy number (James *et al.*, 2008). The strains CM5 and CM6 showed a similar pattern of chromosomal rearrangements but differed from each other in chromosome copy number. The strain CM10 showed the least amount of changes but again copy number differences from the parental strain were evident. The majority of the rearrangements present in strains CM5 and CM6 mapped to the previously identified recombination sites (refer to Table 6.1); however, the study uncovered a number of novel recombination sites that had not previously been noted. These include sites close to YER139C, YGL162W, YJL050W and YKL165C.

These experiments showed for the first time that genome rearrangements can be induced in allopolyploid yeast cells by exposure to environmental stress. Furthermore, the recombination events are not random but occur at specific defined 'hot spots'. The molecular mechanisms controlling these recombination events are currently unknown, but it is possible that these 'hot spots' represent fragile chromosomal regions susceptible to DSBs induced in response to environmental stresses. The major outcome of these recombination events is a change in the ratio of *S.c*-like to *S.b*-like alleles between the stress-tolerant and parental strains. This is most evident in an analysis of chromosome III (Fig. 6.3) where the ratio of *S.c*-like to *S.b*-like genes to the left of the MAT locus has changed from 2:2 in the parent to 4:0 in the stress-tolerant CM5 and CM6 strains, a net gain of *S. cerevisiae* genes.

The stress conditions used to induce the chromosome rearrangements described earlier are severe in nature and are not likely to be encountered by lager yeasts in the environment or during fermentation. However, the cumulative effects of several stresses such as anaerobiosis (high CO₂ concentrations), high sugar concentrations (up to 22%), low temperatures (as low as 7 °C) experienced during fermentation have the potential to influence the chromosome structure and copy number. To test this, the chromosome profiles of lager yeasts were examined following fermentation in either standard fermentation conditions in medium containing 16% maltose (low-specific gravity) at 13 °C or under more severe conditions of 22% maltose (high-specific gravity) medium at room temperature, 20 °C. While gross chromosomal rearrangements were not observed in the final population of cells, the study revealed that growth of cells in the higher sugar concentrations and at room temperature resulted in greater genome instability in a number of defined regions. In general, approximately 10-15% of genes on each chromosome showed significant changes in ROH with the majority of these changes occurring at the telomeres. Secondly, there was an overall loss of the S. cerevisiae gene complement on



FIGURE 6.3 Ratio of hybridizations ($Log_2 \text{ ROH}$) for genes on chromosome III in the stress-tolerant strains CM5 and CM6. DNA isolated from CM5 (grey) and CM6 (black) was competed with DNA from the parental strain for hybridization to *S. cerevisiae* microarrays. Putative composition of chromosome III in CMBS, CM5 and CM6: black blocks, *S. cerevisiae*-like, grey blocks, *S. bayanus*-like. Adapted from James *et al.* (2008).

chromosomes I, and VI. Significantly, a gradient of amplification of genes flanking the major ribosomal RNA gene cluster on chromosome XII was observed (Fig. 6.4). In S. cerevisiae, this locus consists of 100-200 copies of a 9.1-kb repeated unit (RDN1) containing the genes encoding for 5S, 5.8S, 25S and 18S rRNAs, respectively, as well as internal transcribed spacers (ITS1, ITS2), external transcribed spacers (5' ETS, 3' ETS) and non-transcribed spacers (NTS1, NTS2). The S. pastorianus Weihenstephan strain contains both S.c and S.b copies of chromosome XII, although there appears to have been a massive loss of rDNA copies in the S.b-like chromosome. Interestingly, two other lager yeast strains CBS-1513 (S. carlsbergensis) and CBS-1538 appear to have only S.b-like rDNA (Kodama et al., 2006). Thus, the rRNA cluster seems to be highly dynamic in the lager yeast strains. What may be driving these dynamics is currently unclear, but there are high levels of transcription from this region as well as high levels of replication as each rDNA unit contains an autonomously replicating sequence (ARS). The collision of the replication and transcription machinery may stall replication fork progression



FIGURE 6.4 Gene amplification adjacent to the rDNA locus on chromosome XII. Ratios of hybridization (ROH) for genes flanking the rDNA locus. CGH was carried out using DNA isolated from lager yeast strain CM1051 at the beginning (day 1) or end of an 8-day fermentation in high maltose (22%), high temperature (20 °C): black bars. ROH values for day 1 DNA differentially labelled with Cy3 and Cy5: grey bars. The location of the rDNA locus is indicated by an arrow. Adapted from James *et al.* (2008).

leading to an increased possibility of generating DSBs, which may facilitate such gene amplification. This hypothesis is supported by data showing that deletion of the DNA-binding protein Fob1p in *S. cerevisiae* leads to transcription-mediated replication stalling radiating from the rRNA locus (Takeuchi *et al.*, 2003).

The yeasts fermented under the high sugar and high temperature conditions also showed a second cluster of gene amplification on chromosome I. This site is located in a region referred to as DUP240, which contains genes belonging to one of the largest gene families in yeast. The multigene family consists of at least 10 genes with a high level of nucleotide identity (from 50% to 98%), scattered on four chromosomes and arranged either as tandem repeats or as isolated genes (Despons *et al.*, 2006). Short repetitive DNA sequences identified in this cluster have been implicated in large chromosomal rearrangements observed at the tandem DUP240 loci on chromosome I through non-allelic recombination events (Leh-Louis *et al.*, 2004).

It should be noted that the study described earlier examined the chromosome structures in a population of yeast cells at the end of fermentation, and thus any observed changes reflect significant changes in the population as a whole. While gross chromosomal rearrangements were not observed, such changes may be present but clonal selection would be required to detect such changes. In fact, karyotyping of DNA from individual colonies of lager yeasts, isolated at the end of a fermentation by pulse-field gel electrophoresis, revealed differences in the chromosomal profiles between colonies, suggestive of chromosomal rearrangements (U. Bond, unpublished data).

The finding that the lager yeast genomes are dynamic and susceptible to influence by the environment is of significance to the brewing industry as the stability of proprietary strains is of utmost importance to the industry. Since yeasts are harvested at the end of fermentations and repitched as many as seven times into subsequent fermentations, mixed populations of strains may emerge during the process. It is possible that dynamic changes in the genome may confer selective fitness on a subpopulation of cells, which may generate novel sub-strains on subsequent repitching.

IX. GENE EXPRESSION PATTERNS OF LAGER YEASTS

The co-existence of the multiple genomes in the lager yeasts coupled with the general aneuploid nature of the genome raises many questions regarding the gene regulation in these species. For example, what are the consequences of the co-expression of homeologous genes? What effect does polyploidy have on gene expression patterns? Does gene dosage occur to prevent overexpression of certain proteins? Does the presence of the *S. bayanus* genome alter the expression of the *S. cerevisiae* genes and vice versa? Subtle changes in gene dosage resulting from competition of alleles for transcription factors or other factors required for RNA biogenesis may directly influence the adaptive capabilities of the species, for example expression of additional copies of the alcohol dehydrogenase gene (ADH1) in *S. cerevisiae* can lead to increased chronological and replicative life-span (Reverter-Branchat *et al.*, 2007).

The genome sequence analysis identified multiple allelic forms of genes involved in maltose metabolism. For example there appears to be three copies of the MAL31 gene, which encodes an α -glucoside transporter. Two of these genes, the *S.c*-like LBYG0616 and the *S.b*-like LBYG03039, encode full-length proteins while a third the *S.b*-like gene LBYG09472 appears to be truncated. Likewise, two alleles of SUL1 (*S.c* and *S.b*-like) also appear to encode truncated forms of permeases, which are required for sulphate transport, while two other genes, *S.c.* and *S.b* forms of SUL2, can encode full-length forms of the permease. Thus, multiple isotypes of the same protein may be produced at any one time. The contribution of each of these alleles to the overall final biological activity may be quite complex.

Several transcriptome analyses have been carried to examine the gene expression patterns in these yeasts under fermentation conditions (Higgins et al., 2003; James et al., 2002, 2003; Olesen et al., 2002). These early studies used only S. cerevisiae microarrays and therefore are confined to an analysis of the S. cerevisiae component of the lager yeast genome. Meta analysis of these databases is complicated by the varying experimental conditions used in each study. For example, some studies were carried out on nylon filters (Higgins et al., 2003; Olesen et al., 2002), others on glass microarray slides (James et al., 2003; James et al., 2002). Additionally, differences in yeast strains analyzed, growth conditions, time points and hybridization conditions make comparisons difficult. In most studies, transcriptome analysis has been carried out under stringent hybridization conditions that allow selective detection of the S. cerevisiae and not the S. bayanus complement of the genome. Despite the differences in experimental conditions, common trends in the databases are evident and thus it is possible generate a picture of the gene expression profiles during the fermentation process in lager yeasts. The derived databases of gene expression patterns in the lager yeasts can be compared to the substantial transcriptome databases of haploid strains of S. cerevisiae under a vast number of environmental conditions (http:// www.yeastgenome.org) and (http://transcriptome.ens.fr/ymgv). No one dataset reflects the unique environmental conditions experienced by S. pastorianus during fermentation. For example, the majority of transcriptome analyses of S. cerevisiae have been carried out under aerobic conditions while standard fermentations are conducted under anaerobic conditions.

Two of the most comprehensive transcriptome analyses of the fermenting lager yeasts are described by Olesen *et al.* (2002) and James *et al.* (2003). The latter study used the *S. pastorianus* strain 6701, from the Guinness collection, fermented in a malt-wort (16% maltose) while the former used the production strain *S. carlsbergensis*, fermented in 14% malt-wort.

In James *et al.* (2003), the gene expression profile was examined on days 3 and 8 of fermentation comparing the expression patterns to those observed on day 1. The compiled data presented a picture of the metabolism of these cells and indicated that genes involved in sterol and fatty acid metabolism, cell transport, cell wall biogenesis, oxidative stress, peroxisome metabolism, protein degradation and oxidative phosphorylation were all upregulated as fermentation progressed. The most active period of transcription occurs in the early stages of fermentation. One of the surprising finding was the upregulation of genes involved in oxidative phosphorylation considering that the cells are grown under strict anaerobic conditions. The study by Olesen *et al.* (2002), also noted highest gene expression levels for genes involved in protein biosynthesis, glycolysis and lipid biosynthesis. In this study, gene expression levels were examined each day over 12 days of fermentation. Again, the period

showing the most active upregulation of genes occurred between days 1 and 3, although genes clusters of genes showing upregulation later in the fermentation process were also identified. Using gene ontology classifications, again the most active classes of genes induced early in fermentation were those involved in protein biosynthesis, ribosomal RNA biogenesis and glycolysis, while genes involved in transcription were induced mid-fermentation. A similar study by Higgins *et al.* (2003) also identified the same classes of genes being induced early in fermentation and specifically verified the upregulation of genes involved in fatty acid, lipid and sterol biosynthesis in the early stages of fermentation.

James *et al.* (2003) also identified a series of genes that are downregulated as fermentation proceeded. The largest categories were predictably those required for protein biosynthesis, transcription and rRNA processing, nuclear architecture, cell secretion, cell cycle and glycolysis with the exception of genes involved in alcohol and aldehyde metabolism which were generally upregulated. Since fermentations were carried out in a maltose-based wort medium, it is interesting to note that with the exception of the MAL 11 gene, which was upregulated on day 3 compared to day 1, the other genes involved in maltose metabolism (MAL 12, MAL 13, MAL 31, MAL 32, MAL 33, YDL247W, and YJR160C) showed no increase in mRNA levels. All MAL genes were downregulated on day 8. This gene expression profile agrees well with lack of cellular biogenesis as cell enters strict anaerobic conditions after day 3 of fermentation when metabolism is repositioned to alcohol production and survival.

One of the salient findings of all the transcriptome studies is the altered expression of so many genes of currently no known function. Some or many of these genes may be contributing to survival in the unusual environmental conditions experienced by these cells, as many of these have not been explored in gene expression analysis of *S. cerevisiae*.

More recently, Minato *et al.* (2009) have carried out an extensive microarray gene expression analysis in a lager yeast strain. The arrays consist of both *S. cerevisiae* and lager-specific information generated from expressed sequence tag (ESTs) analysis of cDNAs derived from RNA expressed during fermentation (Yoshida *et al.*, 2007). The study identified 976 gene probes capable of discriminating between *S.c*-type and Lager-type genes. Of these, 600 (60%) showed similar gene expression patterns while 40% showed differential gene regulation. The latter group was sub-divided into nine groups based on expression patterns. From the initial analysis of the data, there appears to be no overall apparent relationship between the clustered genes and few appear to be specific to the fermentation process. Of the seven genes encoding isoenzymes of alcohol dehydrogenase (ADH 1–6), only one (ADH3) is differentially regulated. None of the genes encoding proteins required for maltose metabolism are listed as being differentially regulated.

X. EXPRESSION COMPARED TO HAPLOID S. CEREVISIAE

While the microarray analyses described can provide a picture of the fermenting cell, these studies do not address the issue of the influence of polyploidy on the patterns of gene expression. In an initial attempt to examine the effects of polyploidy on gene expression in lager yeasts and to determine if the presence of the S. bayanus genome is influencing the expression of the S. cerevisiae genes, the transcription pattern of a haploid S. cerevisiae strain has been compared to that of the S. pastorianus strain grown under identical fermentation conditions (James et al., 2002). The results of these microarray experiments revealed that there was very little in common between the gene expression patterns of the two yeast species. Using the compiled transcriptome databases for S. cerevisiae mentioned earlier, a meta-analysis was conducted to compare the expression profiles. The patterns observed for the haploid S. cerevisiae strain were similar to those observed previously for *S. cerevisiae* grown to stationary phase and in the presence of antimycin D. These commonalities most likely reflect the high cell densities and anaerobic conditions experienced by cells during fermentation. Remarkably, the S. pastorianus strain showed a unique pattern of expression that did not resemble the patterns observed under any experimental condition for S. cerevisiae, indicating that the co-expression of the S. bayanus genome coupled with the existence of polyploidy greatly affects the observed gene expression patterns.

While the expression studies have provided a broad picture of the metabolic activity of fermenting yeasts and provide a greater insight into gene expression patterns in the lager yeasts, many more questions regarding gene regulation remain unanswered. For a complete understanding of the complex patterns of gene expression in lager yeasts, future studies will need to take into account the wide variations of chromosome composition, including variations in gene copy number of *S. cerevisiae*-like and *S. bayanus*-like genes in different strains of *S. pastorianus* and the dynamic nature of the genomes in response to changing environmental conditions.

XI. CONCLUSIONS

The recent availability of a complete genome sequence for the lager yeast *S. pastorianus* has allowed an in-depth analysis of the genome structure and composition of these species. The sequence analysis has confirmed the complex and hybrid nature of the genome of these yeasts and broadly confirms the prior conclusions drawn from CGH analyses and the classical studies using single chromosome transfer techniques. The findings that the genomes of these yeasts are dynamic and can undergo

chromosomal rearrangements, telomere loss or regional amplification in response to environmental stresses adds an additional layer of complexity to the analysis of the genomes of these yeasts and gene expression patterns during fermentation.

REFERENCES

- Admire, A., Shanks, L., Danzl, N., Wang, M., Weier, U., Stevens, W., Hunt, E., and Weinert, T. (2006). Cycles of chromosome instability are associated with a fragile site and are increased by defects in DNA replication and checkpoint controls in yeast. *Genes Dev.* 20(2), 159–173.
- Aguilera, A., and Gomez-Gonzalez, B. (2008). Genome instability: A mechanistic view of its causes and consequences. *Nat. Rev. Genet.* 9(3), 204–217.
- Attfield, P. V. (1997). Stress tolerance: The key to effective strains of industrial baker's yeast. Nat. Biotechnol. 15(13), 1351–1357.
- Azvolinsky, A., Dunaway, S., Torres, J. Z., Bessler, J. B., and Zakian, V. A. (2006). The *S. cerevisiae* Rrm3p DNA helicase moves with the replication fork and affects replication of all yeast chromosomes. *Genes Dev.* **20**(22), 3104–3116.
- Belloch, C., Orlic, S., Barrio, E., and Querol, A. (2008). Fermentative stress adaptation of hybrids within the *Saccharomyces sensu stricto* complex. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* **122**(1–2), 188–195.
- Bond, U., and Blomberg, A. (2006). Yeasts in Food and Beverages. In "The Yeast Handbook" (A. Querol and G. Fleet, Eds.), pp. 175–213. Springer-Verlag, Heidleberg.
- Bond, U., Neal, C., Donnelly, D., and James, T. C. (2004). Aneuploidy and copy number breakpoints in the genome of lager yeasts mapped by microarray hybridisation. *Curr. Genet.* 45(6), 360–370.
- Brosnan, M. P., Donnelly, D., James, T. C., and Bond, U. (2000). The stress response is repressed during fermentation in brewery strains of yeast. J. Appl. Microbiol. 88(5), 746–755.
- Caesar, R., Palmfeldt, J., Gustafsson, J. S., Pettersson, E., Hashemi, S. H., and Blomberg, A. (2007). Comparative proteomics of industrial lager yeast reveals differential expression of the cerevisiae and non-cerevisiae parts of their genomes. *Proteomics* 7(22), 4135–4147.
- Carrasco, P., Querol, A., and del Olmo, M. (2001). Analysis of the stress resistance of commercial wine yeast strains. *Arch. Microbiol.* 175(6), 450–457.
- Casaregola, S., Nguyen, H. V., Lapathitis, G., Kotyk, A., and Gaillardin, C. (2001). Analysis of the constitution of the beer yeast genome by PCR, sequencing and subtelomeric sequence hybridization. *Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol.* **51**(Pt 4), 1607–1618.
- Casey, G. P. (1986). Molecular and genetic analysis of chromosomes X in *Saccharomyces* carlsbergensis. Carrlsberg. Res. Commun. **51**, 343–362.
- Datta, A., Hendrix, M., Lipsitch, M., and Jinks-Robertson, S. (1997). Dual roles for DNA sequence identity and the mismatch repair system in the regulation of mitotic crossing-over in yeast. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 94(18), 9757–9762.
- de Barros Lopes, M., Bellon, J., Shirley, N., and Ganter, P. (2002). Evidence for multiple interspecific hybridization in *Saccharomyces sensu stricto* species. *FEMS Yeast Res.* 1(4), 323–331.
- Despons, L., Wirth, B., Louis, V. L., Potier, S., and Souciet, J. L. (2006). An evolutionary scenario for one of the largest yeast gene families. *Trends Genet.* **22**(1), 10–15.
- Dunn, B., and Sherlock, G. (2008). Reconstruction of the genome origins and evolution of the hybrid lager yeast Saccharomyces pastorianus. Genome Res. 18(10), 1610–1623.

- Gibson, B. R., Lawrence, S. J., Boulton, C. A., Box, W. G., Graham, N. S., Linforth, R. S., and Smart, K. A. (2008). The oxidative stress response of a lager brewing yeast strain during industrial propagation and fermentation. *FEMS Yeast Res.* 8(4), 574–585.
- Haber, J. (2006). Transpositions and translocations induced by site-specific double stand breaks in budding yeast. *DNA Repair* **5**, 998–1009.
- Higgins, V. J., Beckhouse, A. G., Oliver, A. D., Rogers, P. J., and Dawes, I. W. (2003). Yeast genome-wide expression analysis identifies a strong ergosterol and oxidative stress response during the initial stages of an industrial lager fermentation. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 69(8), 4777–4787.
- Huang, D., and Koshland, D. (2003). Chromosome integrity in Saccharomyces cerevisiae: The interplay of DNA replication initiation factors, elongation factors, and origins. *Genes Dev.* 17(14), 1741–1754.
- James, T. C., Campbell, S., and Bond, U. M. (2002). Comparative analysis of global gene expression in lager and laboratory yeast strains grown in wort. *Proc. IEEE* **90**(12), 1887–1899.
- James, T. C., Campbell, S., Donnelly, D., and Bond, U. (2003). Transcription profile of brewery yeast under fermentation conditions. J. Appl. Microbiol. 94(3), 432–448.
- James, T. C., Usher, J., Campbell, S., and Bond, U. (2008). Lager yeast possess dynamic genomes that undergo rearrangements and amplification in response to stress. *Curr. Genet.* 3, 139–152.
- Kielland-Brandt, M. C., Nillson-Tillgren, T., Gjermansen, C., Holmberg, S., and Pedersen, M. B. (1995). Genetics of brewing yeasts. *In* "The Yeasts" (A. H. Rose, E. Wheals and J. S. Harrison, Eds.), pp. 223–254. Academic Press Ltd, London.
- Kodama, Y., Kielland-Brandt, M. C., and Hansen, J. (2006). Lager Brewing Yeast. In "Topics in Current Genetics" (P. Sunnerhager and J. Piskur, Eds.), pp. 145–164. Springer-Verlag, Heidelberg.
- Kurtzman, C. P. (2003). Phylogenetic circumscription of *Saccharomyces*, Kluyveromyces and other members of the Saccharomycetaceae, and the proposal of the new genera Lachancea, Nakaseomyces, Naumovia, Vanderwaltozyma and Zygotorulaspora. *FEMS Yeast Res.* 4(3), 233–245.
- Legras, J. L., Merdinoglu, D., Cornuet, J. M., and Karst, F. (2007). Bread, beer and wine: Saccharomyces cerevisiae diversity reflects human history. Mol. Ecol. 16(10), 2091–2102.
- Leh-Louis, V., Wirth, B., Despons, L., Wain-Hobson, S., Potier, S., and Souciet, J. L. (2004). Differential evolution of the *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* DUP240 paralogs and implication of recombination in phylogeny. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **32**(7), 2069–2078.
- Lemoine, F. J., Degtyareva, N. P., Lobachev, K., and Petes, T. D. (2005). Chromosomal translocations in yeast induced by low levels of DNA polymerase a model for chromosome fragile sites. *Cell* **120**(5), 587–598.
- Masneuf, I., Hansen, J., Groth, C., Piskur, J., and Dubourdieu, D. (1998). New hybrids between *Saccharomyces sensu stricto* yeast species found among wine and cider production strains. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 64(10), 3887–3892.
- Mayer, V. W., and Aguilera, A. (1990). High levels of chromosome instability in polyploids of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Mutat. Res.* **231**(2), 177–186.
- Mayer, V. W., Goin, C. J., Arras, C. A., and Taylor-Mayer, R. E. (1992). Comparison of chemically induced chromosome loss in a diploid, triploid, and tetraploid strain of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Mutat. Res.* 279(1), 41–48.
- Minato, T., Yoshida, S., Ishiguro, T., Shimada, E., Mizutani, S., Kobayashi, O., and Yoshimoto, H. (2009). Expression profiling of the bottom fermenting yeast Saccharomyces pastorianus orthologous genes using oligonucleotide microarrays. Yeast 26(3), 147–165.
- Mirkin, E., and Mirkin, S. (2007). Replication fork stalling at natural impediments. *Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev.* 71(1), 13–35.

- Nakao, Y., Kanamori, T., Itoh, T., Kodama, Y., Rainieri, S., Nakamura, N., Shimonaga, T., Hattori, M., and Ashikari, T. (2009). Genome sequence of the lager brewing yeast, an interspecies hybrid. DNA Res. 16(2), 115–129.
- Naumov, G. I., James, S. A., Naumova, E. S., Louis, E. J., and Roberts, I. N. (2000b). Three new species in the Saccharomyces sensu stricto complex: Saccharomyces cariocanus, Saccharomyces kudriavzevii and Saccharomyces mikatae. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 50(Pt 5), 1931–1942.
- Naumov, G., Naumova, E., Masneuf, I., Aigle, M., Kondratieva, V., and Dubourdieu, D. (2000a). Natural polyploidization of some cultured yeast *Saccharomyces sensu stricto*: Auto- and allotetraploidy. *Syst. Appl. Microbiol.* 23(3), 442–449.
- Naumova, E. S., Naumov, G. I., Masneuf-Pomarede, I., Aigle, M., and Dubourdieu, D. (2005). Molecular genetic study of introgression between *Saccharomyces bayanus* and *S. cerevisiae*. *Yeast* 22(14), 1099–1115.
- Nilsson-Tillgren, T., Gjermansen, C., Kielland-Brandt, M. C., Petersen, J. G. L., and Holmberg, S. (1981). Genetic differences between *Saccharomyces carlsbergensis* and *S. cerevisiae*. Analysis of chromosome III by single chromosome transfer. *Carlsberg. Res. Commun.* 46, 65–76.
- Olesen, K., Felding, T., Gjermansen, C., and Hansen, J. (2002). The dynamics of the Saccharomyces carlsbergensis brewing yeast transcriptome during a production-scale lager beer fermentation. FEMS Yeast Res. 2(4), 563–573.
- Rainieri, S., Kodama, Y., Kaneko, Y., Mikata, K., Nakao, Y., and Ashikari, T. (2006). Pure and mixed genetic lines of *Saccharomyces bayanus* and *Saccharomyces pastorianus* and their contribution to the lager brewing strain genome. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **72**(6), 3968–3974.
- Rainieri, S., Kodama, Y., Nakao, Y., Pulvirenti, A., and Giudici, P. (2008). The inheritance of mtDNA in lager brewing strains. *FEMS Yeast Res.* 8(4), 586–596.
- Replansky, T., Koufopanou, V., Greig, D., and Bell, G. (2008). Saccharomyces sensu stricto as a model system for evolution and ecology. Trends Ecol. Evol. 23(9), 494–501.
- Rainieri, S., Zambonelli, C., and Kaneko, Y. (2003). Saccharomyces sensu stricto: Systematics, genetic diversity and evolution. J. Biosci. Bioeng. 96(1), 1–9.
- Reverter-Branchat, G., Cabiscol, E., Tamarit, J., Sorolla, M. A., Angeles de la Torre, M., and Ros, J. (2007). Chronological and replicative life-span extension in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* by increased dosage of alcohol dehydrogenase 1. *Microbiology* **153**(Pt 11), 3667–3676.
- Ryu, S. L., Murooka, Y., and Kaneko, Y. (1998). Reciprocal translocation at duplicated RPL2 loci might cause speciation of *Saccharomyces bayanus* and *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Curr. Genet.* 33(5), 345–351.
- Sampaio, J. P., and Goncalves, P. (2008). Natural populations of Saccharomyces kudriavzevii in Portugal are associated with oak bark and are sympatric with S. cerevisiae and S. paradoxus. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 74(7), 2144–2152.
- Schmidt, K. H., and Kolodner, R. D. (2006). Suppression of spontaneous genome rearrangements in yeast DNA helicase mutants. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 103(48), 18196–18201.
- Smart, K. A. (2007). Brewing yeast genomes and genome-wide expression and proteome profiling during fermentation. Yeast 24(11), 993–1013.
- Storchova, Z., and Pellman, D. (2004). From polyploidy to aneuploidy, genome instability and cancer. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 5(1), 45–54.
- Takeuchi, Y., Horiuchi, T., and Kobayashi, T. (2003). Transcription-dependent recombination and the role of fork collision in yeast rDNA. *Genes Dev.* **17**(12), 1497–1506.
- Tamai, Y., Momma, T., Yoshimoto, H., and Kaneko, Y. (1998). Co-existence of two types of chromosome in the bottom fermenting yeast, *Saccharomyces pastorianus*. Yeast 14(10), 923–933.
- Usher, J., and Bond, U. (2009). Recombination between homoeologous chromosomes of lager yeasts leads to loss of function of the hybrid GPH1 gene. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **75**(13), 4573–4579.

- Vaughan-Martini, A., and Martin, I. A. (1995). Facts, myths and legends on the prime industrial microorganism. J. Ind. Microbiol. 14(6), 514–522.
- Wang, S. A., and Bai, F. Y. (2008). Saccharomyces arboricolus sp. nov. a yeast species from tree bark. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 5, 510–514.
- Yamagishi, H., and Ogata, T. (1999). Chromosomal structures of bottom fermenting yeasts. Syst. Appl. Microbiol. 22(3), 341–353.
- Yoshida, S., Hashimoto, K., Shimada, E., Ishiguro, T., Minato, T., Mizutani, S., Yoshimoto, H., Tashiro, K., Kuhara, S., and Kobayashi, O. (2007). Identification of bottom-fermenting yeast genes expressed during lager beer fermentation. *Yeast* 24(7), 599–606.
- Zuzuarregui, A., Carrasco, P., Palacios, A., Julien, A., and del Olmo, M. (2005). Analysis of the expression of some stress induced genes in several commercial wine yeast strains at the beginning of vinification. J. Appl. Microbiol. 98(2), 299–307.

INDEX

A

Actinomyces viscosus WVU 627, 102 Agar plate and biofilm models, 103–105. See also Biofilm models Agrobacterium tumefaciens, Phloxine B treatment, 85 Alcohol dehydrogenase gene (ADH), 175 Ale yeast, 160-161 Annular reactors, 110 Antimicrobial mechanism, hydroxyxanthenes, 85 localization in microbial cell, 88-89 in membranes, 89–90 nucleic acids, 90-91 other targets, 91 protein targets, 90 photooxidation and antimicrobial properties, 85-88 excessive light exposure and, 88 first excited singlet state and fluorescence, 85 irradiation of hydroxyxanthene, 88 Listeria monocytogenes, study on, 86-87 process of photooxidation, 85 quantum yields, selected hydroxyxanthenes, 87-88 triplet state, 85 type I reactions, 85-86 relative resistance of microorganisms, 91-94 Arabinogalactan (AG), 50 biosynthesis, 50-54 and drug discovery, 54 structure, 50 Autonomous replication sequences (ARS), 164, 173

B

Bacillus subtilis, 3, 91, 135 Bacteroides intermedius T 588, 102 Batch culture paradigm, 103. See also Biofilm models Biofilm models, 100–101

closed system agar plate, 103-105 multi-well plates, 105-106 experimental system batch culture, 103 pure culture, 102-103 open system drip-fed biofilms, 112-116 PBF, 116-126 robbins device and flow cells, 110-112 rotating reactors, 110 suspended substratum reactors, 106-110 Biofilms definition, 100 gene expression, 108-109 (see also Suspended substratum reactors) BIOS. See British Intelligence Objectives Subcommittee BioSurface Technologies Corp., 109–111, 115 British Intelligence Objectives Subcommittee, 138-139 Brucella melitensis, GntR regulators, 15 Burkholderia cepacia, 121

С

Canetti strains. 44 CBS. See Centraalbureau voor Schimmelcultures CDFF. See Constant depth film fermenter Cell wall biosynthetic cluster, 54-55 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), 109 Centraalbureau voor Schimmelcultures, 139-140, 144-148, 150 Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique, 149-150 CGH. See Competitive genomic hybridization Chemisches Zentralblatt, 137 CIOS. See Combined Intelligence Objectives Subcommittee Closed system biofilm models. See also Biofilm models

Closed system biofilm models. See also Biofilm models (cont.) agar plate, 103–105 multi-well plates, 105–106
CNRS. See Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique
Colonic microbiology, SSRs, 107–108 See also Suspended substratum reactors
Combined Intelligence Objectives Subcommittee, 138–139
Competitive genomic hybridization, 162–163
Complement receptor 3, 29
Constant depth film fermenter, 112–115
Corynebacterium matruchotii, 41

D

DasR regulon, 16–17 Dental microbiology, SSRs, 107 *devA*, *S. coelicolor*, 14 DevA sub-family, GntR regulators, 10 α-D-glucan, *M. tuberculosis*, 29 DNA-binding HTH domain, GntR family, 3–4 Double-strand breaks, 171–172, 174 Drip-fed biofilms. *See also* Biofilm models CDFF, 112–115 drip flow biofilm reactor, 115–116 Drip flow biofilm reactor, usage, 115–116 DSBs. *See* Double-strand breaks

Ε

EmbC, *M. tuberculosis*, 42 Emergency Association of German Science, 137 Eosin. *See* Hydroxyxanthenes Erythrosin. *See* Hydroxyxanthenes Ethambutol, 54 Expressed sequence tag (ESTs), 177 External transcribed spacers (ETS), 173

F

FadR, *Escherichia coli*, 4, 8, 13 FD&C Red No. 3, 83, 91 Flow cells, usage, 110–111 Fluorescein. *See also* Hydroxyxanthenes commercial synthesis, 81–82 use in ophthalmic examinations, 84 Frameshift mutations, hydroxyxanthenes, 90–91 France, penicillin research, 148–155 Fusobacterium nucleatum NCTC 10593, 102

G

Gene duplication, 14 Gene expression patterns, lager yeasts, 175-177. See also Lager yeasts Genome sequence analysis, lager yeasts, 167-168. See also Lager yeasts Germany, penicillin research, 137-144 GlcNAc/DasR regulon, 17 Glycogen, 60-61 Glycoproteins, 49 GntR regulators, 2-4 biotechnology implications, 17-18 classification, 7-11 AraR sub-family, 11 DevA sub-family, 10 FadR, 8–9 HutC grouping, 8, 10 MocR sub-family, 10 PlmA sub-family, 10–11 YtrA sub-family, 10 distribution in, 4–6 bacterial Phyla, 4-5 Mycobacterium smegmatis, 5 Pfam database, 4 selected bacterial whole genomes, 6 DNA binding, operator sequences and regulation, 11-13 evolution, 13-15 in regulation of virulence, 15-16 role in primary metabolism, 15 in streptomyces development and antibiotic production, 16-17 structure, 6-7 alignment of HTH domain, 7 Gram-negative bacteria, hydroxyxanthenes treatment, 91-92 chelation, 92-93 ultrahigh pressure treatment, 93–94 Great Britain, penicillin research, 134–137

Η

Helix-turn-helix (HTH) DNA-binding proteins, 2–3 Holland, penicillin research, 144–148 HutC family member, GntR proteins, 8–10 Hydroxyxanthenes, 80–81 applications, 83 antimicrobial agents, 84–85 dyestuffs, 83 insecticides, 83–84 medical applications, 84 chemical structures, 82 mechanism of antimicrobial action (*see* Antimicrobial mechanism, hydroxyxanthenes) synthesis, 81–83

I

Internal transcribed spacers (ITS), 173

K

kar1 mutants, 162

L

LacI/GalR regulator family, 11 Lactobacillus casei AC 413,102 Lactobacillus fermentum, Erythrosin treatment, 90 Lager yeasts chromosome copy number, 168-169 chromosomes, types, 162-167 classification, 160-161 dynamic genome, 170-175 gene expression patterns, 175-177 genome rearrangements, 169-170 genome sequence analysis, 167–168 Saccharomyces cerevisiae, expression, 178 Saccharomyces pastorianus, 162 Lipoarabinomannan (LAM), 26, 29, 34-38, 41 - 44Lipomannan (LM), 26 Listeria monocytogenes, 86–87 LM and LAM biosynthesis of, 41-44 structure of, 35-38

M

MAL 11 gene, 177
Mannose-capped LAM (ManLAM), 34, 37, 42–44
Marsh Consortium, 102
MBEC. See Minimum biofilm eradication concentration
Medical Research Council, 136
Microcosms

advantage, 103
definition, 102–103

Microtitre plates, usage, 105

Minimum biofilm eradication concentration, 105-106 MocR sub-family, GntR regulators, 10 Modified Robbins Device, 111-113 MRC. See Medical Research Council MRD. See Modified Robbins Device Multiple sorbarod device (MSD), 121-122, 126 Mycobacterium bovis BCG, 34 Mycobacterium leprae, GntR regulators, 5 Mycobacterium marinum, 34 Mycobacterium smegmatis, GntR regulators, 5 Mycobacterium tuberculosis, 25 capsular polysaccharides, 28–29 biological functions, 29 glycosyltransferases, 30-33 types, 29 cell envelope, 25-28 architecture models, 26-28 structure, 26 cytosolic glycoconjugates glycogen, 60-61 mycothiol, 61-63 polymethylated polysaccharides, 58-60 glycoconjugate polymers of cell wall core arabinogalactan (AG), 50-54 peptidoglycan, 54-58 glycoconjugates of outer membrane, 34 acyltrehaloses, 44-47 glycoproteins, 49 mannosyl-β–1-phosphomycoketides, 48 - 49p-hydroxybenzoic acid derivatives and phenolic glycolipids, 47-48 PIMs, LM and LAM, 34-44 Mycobacterium tuberculosis, mce genes, 15 Mycolic acids, 26-28 Mycolyl–AG–peptidoglycan (mAGP) complex, Mycobacterium spp., 54, 56 Mycothiol, 61-63

N

N-acetylglucosamine (GlcNAc), 16–17 National Collection of Type Cultures (NCTC), 136 Nederlandische Gist en Spiritusfabriek (NG&SF), 145 Neisseria sp. A1078, 102 Nematostella vectensis, 5 Non-capped LAM (AraLAM), 37 Non-transcribed spacers (NTS), 173 NorG, role in Staphylococcus aureus, 13

0

6-O-methylglucose lipopolysaccharides (MGLPs), 58
3-O-methylmannose polysaccharides (MMPs), 58
Open system biofilm models. See also Biofilm models drip-fed biofilms, 112–116 PBF, 116–126 robbins device and flow cells, 110–112 rotating reactors, 110 suspended substratum reactors, 106–110 OtsAB pathway, 45

P

PBF. See Perfused biofilm fermenters P. corylophilum, 147, 153 pel gene, 105 Penicillin research in France, 148-155 in Germany, 137–144 in Great Britain, 134-137 in Holland, 144-148 Penicillium notatum, 135 distribution, 141 Penicillium rubrum, 140 Peptidoglycan (PG), 54–58 Perfused biofilm fermenters, 116-118 perfused membrane fermenters, 117-120 SBF, 120-126 P. expansum, 144, 146-148 Phloxine. See Hydroxyxanthenes Phosphatidyl-myo-inositolmannosides (PIMs), 34 biosynthesis early steps, 38 polar PIMs, 39-40 topology of PIM synthesis, 40-41 localization and biological activities, 34 - 35structure of, 35-37 Phospho-myo-inositol-capped LAM (PILAM), 37 Photooxidation, 85 Phthiocerol dimycocerosates, 47 Physikalische Berichte, 137 PimE (Rv1159), 39 PlmA sub-family, GntR regulators, 10-11 P. notatum, 147-148, 155 Polymethylated polysaccharides (PMPS), 58-60

Polyprenolmonophosphoryl-β-D-arabinose (DPA), 52 *P. puberlum*, 147 PREDetector tool, 12 Pressure treatments in food processing, gram-negative bacteria, 93–94 *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, 105, 109 Pyocyanase, usage, 135 *Pyrococcus horikoshii*, 41

R

Ratio of hybridization (ROH), 163–164, 174
Restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP), 167
Retinal angiography, 84
Robbins device, usage, 111–112
Rose Bengal. See Hydroxyxanthenes

S

Saccharomyces pastorianus, 160–161 chromosomal translocation, 165-166 origins, 161 sequence analysis, 162 Saccharomyces sensu stricto genus, species S. arboricolus, 160 S. bayanus, 160–161 S. cariocanus, 160 S. carlbergensis, 160 S. cerevisiae, 160-161 expression, 178 S. kudriavzevii, 160 S. mikatae, 160 S. paradoxus, 160 Sartorious filter apparatus biofilm fermenter, 118-120 SBF. See Sorbarod biofilm fermenter Sft0 (Rv0295c), 47 Sorbarod biofilm fermenter, 116-117, 120-126 Sorbarod filters, usage, 120 SSRs. See Suspended substratum biofilm reactors Staphylococcus aureus, 13, 91, 151 Streptococcus mitior EF 186, 102 Streptococcus mutans ATCC-27351, 102 Streptococcus pneumoniae, 121 Streptococcus sanguis NCTC 7865, 102 Suspended substratum biofilm reactors, 106 Suspended substratum reactors, 106–107. See also Biofilm models CDC biofilm reactor, 109-110

colonic microbiology, 107–108 dental microbiology, 107 gene expression, 108–109 Swinnex biofilm fermenter, 118

Т

TB, 24–25. See also Mycobacterium tuberculosis Thermotoga maritima, 109 Trehalose, 44–47 Trehalose synthase (TreS), M. smegmatis, 61 Trichomonas vaginalis, 5 Trypanosoma cruzi, Rose Bengal treatment, 85 Tyler Research Corporation, 111

U

United States Food and Drug Administration (US FDA), xanthene dyes, 83 US Code of Federal Regulations, 83

V

Veillonella alkalescens ATCC 17745, 102

W

World Health Organization, data on TB, 24–25 multi-drug-resistant TB (MDR-TB), 25 World war II, and penicillin research, 134 in France, 148–155 in Germany, 137–144 in Great Britain, 134–137 in Holland, 144–148

Х

Xanthene fluorenes, 80–81 fluorones, 80–81 rhodols, 80–81

Y

Yeasts, usage, 160 YtrA sub-family, GntR regulators, 10

CONTENTS OF PREVIOUS VOLUMES

Volume 40

Microbial Cellulases: Protein Architecture, Molecular Properties, and Biosynthesis Ajay Singh and Kiyoshi Hayashi

Factors Inhibiting and Stimulating Bacterial Growth in Milk: An Historical Perspective D. K. O'Toole

Challenges in Commercial Biotechnology. Part I. Product, Process, and Market Discovery Aleš Prokop

Challenges in Commercial Biotechnology. Part II. Product, Process, and Market Development Aleš Prokop

Effects of Genetically Engineered Microorganisms on Microbial Populations and Processes in Natural Habitats Jack D. Doyle, Guenther Stotzky, Gwendolyn McClung, and

Charles W. Hendricks

Detection, Isolation, and Stability of Megaplasmid-Encoded Chloroaromatic Herbicide-Degrading Genes within *Pseudomonas* Species Douglas J. Cork and Amjad Khalil

Index

Volume 41

Microbial Oxidation of Unsaturated Fatty Acids Ching T. Hou Improving Productivity of Heterologous Proteins in Recombinant Saccharomyces cerevisiae Fermentations Amit Vasavada

Manipulations of Catabolic Genes for the Degradation and Detoxification of Xenobiotics Rup Lal, Sukanya Lal, P. S. Dhanaraj, and D. M. Saxena

Aqueous Two-Phase Extraction for Downstream Processing of Enzymes/Proteins
K. S. M. S. Raghava Rao, N. K. Rastogi, M. K. Gowthaman, and N. G. Karanth

Biotechnological Potentials of Anoxygenic Phototrophic Bacteria. Part I. Production of Single Cell Protein, Vitamins, Ubiquinones, Hormones, and Enzymes and Use in Waste Treatment *Ch. Sasikala and Ch. V. Ramana*

Biotechnological Potentials of Anoxygenic Phototrophic Bacteria. Part II. Biopolyesters, Biopesticide, Biofuel, and Biofertilizer *Ch. Sasikala and Ch. V. Ramana*

Index

Volume 42

The Insecticidal Proteins of Bacillus thuringiensis P. Ananda Kumar, R. P. Sharma, and V. S. Malik

Microbiological Production of Lactic Acid John H. Litchfield Biodegradable Polyesters Ch. Sasikala

The Utility of Strains of Morphological Group II Bacillus Samuel Singer

Phytase Rudy J. Wodzinski and A. H. J. Ullah

Index

Volume 43

Production of Acetic Acid by Clostridium thermoaceticum Munir Cheryan, Sarad Parekh, Minish Shah, and Kusuma Witjitra

Contact Lenses, Disinfectants, and Acanthamoeba Keratitis Donald G. Ahearn and Manal M. Gabriel

Marine Microorganisms as a Source of New Natural Products V. S. Bernan, M. Greenstein, and W. M. Maiese

Stereoselective Biotransformations in Synthesis of Some Pharmaceutical Intermediates Ramesh N. Patel

Microbial Xylanolytic Enzyme System: Properties and Applications *Pratima Bajpai*

Oleaginous Microorganisms: An Assessment of the Potential Jacek Leman

Index

Volume 44

Biologically Active Fungal Metabolites Cedric Pearce

Old and New Synthetic Capacities of Baker's Yeast P. D'Arrigo, G. Pedrocchi-Fantoni, and S. Servi Investigation of the Carbon- and Sulfur-Oxidizing Capabilities of Microorganisms by Active-Site Modeling Herbert L. Holland

Microbial Synthesis of p-Ribose: Metabolic Deregulation and Fermentation Process P. de Wulf and E. J. Vandamme

Production and Application of Tannin Acyl Hydrolase: State of the Art P. K. Lekha and B. K. Lonsane

Ethanol Production from Agricultural Biomass Substrates Rodney J. Bothast and Badal C. Saha

Thermal Processing of Foods,
A Retrospective, Part I: Uncertainties in Thermal Processing and Statistical Analysis
M. N. Ramesh, S. G. Prapulla,
M. A. Kumar, and
M. Mahadevaiah

Thermal Processing of Foods,
A Retrospective, Part II: On-Line
Methods for Ensuring
Commercial Sterility
M. N. Ramesh, M. A. Kumar,
S. G. Prapulla, and M. Mahadevaiah

Index

Volume 45

One Gene to Whole Pathway: The Role of Norsolorinic Acid in Aflatoxin Research

J. W. Bennett, P.-K. Chang, and D. Bhatnagar

Formation of Flavor Compounds in Cheese P. F. Fox and J. M. Wallace

The Role of Microorganisms in Soy Sauce Production Desmond K. O'Toole

Gene Transfer Among Bacteria in Natural Environments *Xiaoming Yin and G. Stotzky* Breathing Manganese and Iron: Solid-State Respiration Kenneth H. Nealson and Brenda Little

Enzymatic Deinking Pratima Bajpai

Microbial Production of Docosahexaenoic Acid (DHA, C22:6) Ajay Singh and Owen P. Word

Index

Volume 46

Cumulative Subject Index

Volume 47

Seeing Red: The Story of Prodigiosin J. W. Bennett and Ronald Bentley

Microbial/Enzymatic Synthesis of Chiral Drug Intermediates Ramesh N. Patel

Recent Developments in the Molecular Genetics of the Erythromycin-Producing Organism Saccharopolyspora erythraea Thomas J. Vanden Boom

Bioactive Products from Streptomyces Vladisalv Behal

Advances in Phytase Research Edward J. Mullaney, Catherine B. Daly, and Abdul H. J. Ullah

Biotransformation of Unsaturated Fatty Acids of industrial Products Ching T. Hou

Ethanol and Thermotolerance in the Bioconversion of Xylose by Yeasts *Thomas W. Jeffries and Yong-Su Jin*

Microbial Degradation of the Pesticide Lindane (γ-Hexachlorocyclohexane)
Brajesh Kumar Singh, Ramesh Chander Kuhad, Ajay Singh, K. K. Tripathi, and P. K. Ghosh Microbial Production of Oligosaccharides: A Review S. G. Prapulla, V. Subhaprada, and N. G. Karanth

Index

Volume 48

Biodegredation of Nitro-Substituted Explosives by White-Rot Fungi: A Mechanistic Approach Benoit Van Aken and Spiros N. Agathos

Microbial Degredation of Pollutants in Pulp Mill Effluents Pratima Bajpai

Bioremediation Technologies for Metal-Containing Wastewaters Using Metabolically Active Microorganisms Thomas Pumpel and Kishorel M. Paknikar

The Role of Microorganisms in Ecological Risk Assessment of Hydrophobic Organic Contaminants in Soils C. J. A. MacLeod, A. W. J. Morriss, and K. T. Semple

The Development of Fungi: A New Concept Introduced By Anton de Bary *Gerhart Drews*

Bartolomeo Gosio, 1863–1944: An Appreciation *Ronald Bentley*

Index

Volume 49

Biodegredation of Explosives Susan J. Rosser, Amrik Basran, Emmal R. Travis, Christopher E. French, and Neil C. Bruce

Biodiversity of Acidophilic Prokaryotes Kevin B. Hallberg and D. Barrie Johnson

- Laboratory Birproduction of Paralytic Shellfish Toxins in Dinoflagellates Dennis P. H. Hsieh, Dazhi Wang, and Garry H. Chang
- Metal Toxicity in Yeasts and the Role of Oxidative Stress S. V. Avery

Foodbourne Microbial Pathogens and the Food Research Institute *M. Ellin Doyle and Michael W. Pariza*

Alexander Flemin and the Discovery of Penicillin J. W. Bennett and King-Thom Chung

Index

Volume 50

Paleobiology of the Archean Sherry L. Cady

A Comparative Genomics Approach for Studying Ancestral Proteins and Evolution *Ping Liang and Monica Riley*

Chromosome Packaging by Archaeal Histones Kathleen Sandman and John N. Reeve

DNA Recombination and Repair in the Archaea Erica M. Seitz, Cynthia A. Haseltine, and Stephen C. Kowalczykowski

Basal and Regulated Transcription in Archaea Jörg Soppa

Protein Folding and Molecular Chaperones in Archaea *Michel R. Leroux*

Archaeal Proteasomes: Proteolytic Nanocompartments of the Cell Julie A. Maupin-Furlow, Steven J. Kaczowka, Mark S. Ou, and Heather L. Wilson

Archaeal Catabolite Repression: A Gene Regulatory Paradigm Elisabetta Bini and Paul Blum

Volume 51

The Biochemistry and Molecular Biology of Lipid Accumulation in Oleaginous Microorganisms Colin Ratledge and James P. Wynn

Bioethanol Technology: Developments and Perspectives Owen P. Ward and Ajay Singh

Progress of Aspergillus oryzae Genomics Masayuki Machida

Transmission Genetics of *Microbotryum violaceum* (*Ustilago violacea*): A Case History *E. D. Garber and M. Ruddat*

Molecular Biology of the Koji Molds Katsuhiko Kitamoto

Noninvasive Methods for the Investigation of Organisms at Low Oxygen Levels David Lloyd

The Development of the Penicillin Production Process in Delft, The Netherlands, During World War II Under Nazi Occupation Marlene Burns and Piet W. M. van Dijck

Genomics for Applied Microbiology William C. Nierman and Karen E. Nelson

Index

Volume 52

Soil-Based Gene Discovery: A New Technology to Accelerate and Broaden Biocatalytic Applications Kevin A. Gray, Toby H. Richardson, Dan E. Robertson, Paul E. Swanson, and Mani V. Subramanian

The Potential of Site-Specific Recombinases as Novel Reporters in Whole-Cell Biosensors of Pollution Paul Hinde, Jane Meadows, Jon Saunders, and Clive Edwards

Microbial Phosphate Removal and Polyphosphate Production from Wastewaters John W. McGrath and John P. Quinn

Biosurfactants: Evolution and Diversity in Bacteria Raina M. Maier

Comparative Biology of Mesophilic and Thermophilic Nitrile Hydratases Don A. Cowan, Rory A. Cameron, and Tsepo L. Tsekoa

From Enzyme Adaptation to Gene Regulation William C. Summers

Acid Resistance in Escherichia coli Hope T. Richard and John W. Foster

Iron Chelation in Chemotherapy Eugene D. Weinberg

Angular Leaf Spot: A Disease Caused by the Fungus *Phaeoisariopsis griseola* (Sacc.) Ferraris on *Phaseolus vulgaris* L. Sebastian Stenglein, L. Daniel Ploper, Oscar Vizgarra, and Pedro Balatti

The Fungal Genetics Stock Center: From Molds to Molecules *Kevin McCluskey*

Adaptation by Phase Variation in Pathogenic Bacteria Laurence Salaün, Lori A. S. Snyder, and Nigel J. Saunders

What Is an Antibiotic? Revisited Ronald Bentley and J. W. Bennett

An Alternative View of the Early History of Microbiology Milton Wainwright

The Delft School of Microbiology, from the Nineteenth to the Twenty-first Century Lesley A. Robertson

Index

Volume 53

Biodegradation of Organic Pollutants in the Rhizosphere Liz J. Shaw and Richard G. Burns Anaerobic Dehalogenation of Organohalide Contaminants in the Marine Environment

Max M. Häggblom, Young-Boem Ahn, Donna E. Fennell, Lee J. Kerkhof, and Sung-Keun Rhee

Biotechnological Application of Metal-Reducing Microorganisms Jonathan R. Lloyd, Derek R. Lovley, and Lynne E. Macaskie

Determinants of Freeze Tolerance in Microorganisms, Physiological Importance, and Biotechnological Applications An Tanghe, Patrick Van Dijck, and Johan M. Thevelein

Fungal Osmotolerance P. Hooley, D. A. Fincham, M. P. Whitehead, and N. J. W. Clipson

Mycotoxin Research in South Africa *M. F. Dutton*

Electrophoretic Karyotype Analysis in Fungi J. Beadle, M. Wright, L. McNeely, and J. W. Bennett

Tissue Infection and Site-Specific Gene Expression in *Candida albicans Chantal Fradin and Bernard Hube*

LuxS and Autoinducer-2: Their Contribution to Quorum Sensing and Metabolism in Bacteria Klaus Winzer, Kim R. Hardie, and Paul Williams

Microbiological Contributions to the Search of Extraterrestrial Life Brendlyn D. Faison

Index

Volume 54

Metarhizium spp.: Cosmopolitan Insect-Pathogenic Fungi – Mycological Aspects Donald W. Roberts and Raymond J. St. Leger

Molecular Biology of the Burkholderia cepacia Complex Jimmy S. H. Tsang Non-Culturable Bacteria in Complex Commensal Populations *William G. Wade*

 λ Red-Mediated Genetic Manipulation of Antibiotic-Producing Streptomyces
 Bertolt Gust, Govind Chandra, Dagmara Jakimowicz, Tian Yuqing, Celia J. Bruton, and Keith F. Chater

Colicins and Microcins: The Next Generation Antimicrobials Osnat Gillor, Benjamin C. Kirkup, and Margaret A. Riley

Mannose-Binding Quinone Glycoside, MBQ: Potential Utility and Action Mechanism Yasuhiro Igarashi and Toshikazu Oki

Protozoan Grazing of Freshwater Biofilms Jacqueline Dawn Parry

Metals in Yeast Fermentation Processes Graeme M. Walker

Interactions between Lactobacilli and Antibiotic-Associated Diarrhea Paul Naaber and Marika Mikelsaar

Bacterial Diversity in the Human Gut Sandra MacFarlane and George T. MacFarlane

Interpreting the Host-Pathogen Dialogue Through Microarrays Brian K. Coombes, Philip R. Hardwidge, and B. Brett Finlay

The Inactivation of Microbes by Sunlight: Solar Disinfection as a Water Treatment Process *Robert H. Reed*

Index

Volume 55

Fungi and the Indoor Environment: Their Impact on Human Health J. D. Cooley, W. C. Wong, C. A. Jumper, and D. C. Straus

Fungal Contamination as a Major Contributor to Sick Building Syndrome De-Wei LI and Chin S. Yang

Indoor Moulds and Their Associations with Air Distribution Systems Donald G. Ahearn, Daniel L. Price, Robert Simmons, Judith Noble-Wang, and Sidney A. Crow, Jr.

Microbial Cell Wall Agents and Sick Building Syndrome Ragnar Rylander

The Role of *Stachybotrys* in the Phenomenon Known as Sick Building Syndrome *Eeva-Liisa Hintikka*

Moisture-Problem Buildings with Molds Causing Work-Related Diseases Kari Reijula

Possible Role of Fungal Hemolysins in Sick Building Syndrome Stephen J. Vesper and Mary Jo Vesper

The Roles of *Penicillium* and *Aspergillus* in Sick Building Syndrome (SBS) *Christopher J. Schwab and David C. Straus*

Pulmonary Effects of Stachybotrys chartarum in Animal Studies Iwona Yike and Dorr G. Dearborn

Toxic Mold Syndrome Michael B. Levy and Jordan N. Fink

Fungal Hypersensitivity: Pathophysiology, Diagnosis, Therapy Vincent A. Marinkovich

Indoor Molds and Asthma in Adults Maritta S. Jaakkola and Jouni J. K. Jaakkola

Role of Molds and Mycotoxins in Being Sick in Buildings: Neurobehavioral and Pulmonary Impairment Kaye H. Kilburn The Diagnosis of Cognitive Impairment Associated with Exposure to Mold Wayne A. Gordon and Joshua B. Cantor

Mold and Mycotoxins: Effects on the Neurological and Immune Systems in Humans Andrew W. Campbell, Jack D. Thrasher, Michael R. Gray, and Aristo Vojdani

Identification, Remediation, and Monitoring Processes Used in a Mold-Contaminated High School
S. C. Wilson, W. H. Holder, K. V. Easterwood, G. D. Hubbard, R. F. Johnson, J. D. Cooley, and

D. C. Straus

The Microbial Status and Remediation of Contents in Mold-Contaminated Structures Stephen C. Wilson and Robert C. Layton

Specific Detection of Fungi Associated With SBS When Using Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction Patricia Cruz and Linda D. Stetzenbach

Index

Volume 56

Potential and Opportunities for Use of Recombinant Lactic Acid Bacteria in Human Health Sean Hanniffy, Ursula Wiedermann, Andreas Repa, Annick Mercenier, Catherine Daniel, Jean Fioramonti, Helena Tlaskolova, Hana Kozakova, Hans Israelsen, Søren Madsen, Astrid Vrang, Pascal Hols, Jean Delcour, Peter Bron, Michiel Kleerebezem, and Jerry Wells

Novel Aspects of Signaling in Streptomyces Development Gilles P. van Wezel and Erik Vijgenboom

Polysaccharide Breakdown by Anaerobic Microorganisms Inhabiting the Mammalian Gut Harry J. Flint

Lincosamides: Chemical Structure, Biosynthesis, Mechanism of Action, Resistance, and Applications Jaroslav Spížek, Jitka Novotná, and Tomáš Řezanka

Ribosome Engineering and Secondary Metabolite Production Kozo Ochi, Susumu Okamoto, Yuzuru Tozawa, Takashi Inaoka, Takeshi Hosaka, Jun Xu, and Kazuhiko Kurosawa

Developments in Microbial Methods for the Treatment of Dye Effluents R. C. Kuhad, N. Sood, K. K. Tripathi, A. Singh, and O. P. Ward

Extracellular Glycosyl Hydrolases from Clostridia Wolfgang H. Schwarz, Vladimir V. Zverlov, and Hubert Bahl

Kernel Knowledge: Smut of Corn María D. García-Pedrajas and Scott E. Gold

Bacterial ACC Deaminase and the Alleviation of Plant Stress Bernard R. Glick

Uses of *Trichoderma* spp. to Alleviate or Remediate Soil and Water Pollution *G. E. Harman, M. Lorito, and J. M. Lynch*

Bacteriophage Defense Systems and Strategies for Lactic Acid Bacteria Joseph M. Sturino and Todd R. Klaenhammer

Current Issues in Genetic Toxicology Testing for Microbiologists Kristien Mortelmans and Doppalapudi S. Rupa

Index

Volume 57

Microbial Transformations of Mercury: Potentials, Challenges, and Achievements in Controlling Mercury Toxicity in the Environment Tamar Barkay and Irene Wagner-Döbler Interactions Between Nematodes and Microorganisms: Bridging Ecological and Molecular Approaches *Keith G. Davies*

Biofilm Development in Bacteria Katharine Kierek-Pearson and Ece Karatan

Microbial Biogeochemistry of Uranium Mill Tailings Edward R. Landa

Yeast Modulation of Wine Flavor Jan H. Swiegers and Isak S. Pretorius

Moving Toward a Systems Biology Approach to the Study of Fungal Pathogenesis in the Rice Blast Fungus Magnaporthe grisea Claire Veneault-Fourrey and Nicholas J. Talbot

The Biotrophic Stages of Oomycete–Plant Interactions Laura J. Grenville-Briggs and Pieter van West

Contribution of Nanosized Bacteria to the Total Biomass and Activity of a Soil Microbial Community Nicolai S. Panikov

Index

Volume 58

Physiology and Biotechnology of Aspergillus
O. P. Ward, W. M. Qin, J. Dhanjoon, J. Ye, and A. Singh

Conjugative Gene Transfer in the Gastrointestinal Environment *Tine Rask Licht and Andrea Wilcks*

Force Measurements Between a Bacterium and Another Surface In Situ Ruchirej Yongsunthon and Steven K. Lower

Actinomycetes and Lignin Degradation Ralph Kirby

An ABC Guide to the Bacterial Toxin Complexes Richard ffrench-Constant and Nicholas Waterfield

Engineering Antibodies for Biosensor Technologies Sarah Goodchild, Tracey Love, Neal Hopkins, and Carl Mayers

Molecular Characterization of Ochratoxin A Biosynthesis and Producing Fungi J. O'Callaghan and A. D. W. Dobson

Index

Volume 59

Biodegradation by Members of the Genus *Rhodococcus*: Biochemistry, Physiology, and Genetic Adaptation *Michael J. Larkin, Leonid A. Kulakov, and Christopher C. R. Allen*

Genomes as Resources for Biocatalysis Jon D. Stewart

Process and Catalyst Design Objectives for Specific Redox Biocatalysis Daniel Meyer, Bruno Bühler, and Andreas Schmid

The Biosynthesis of Polyketide Metabolites by Dinoflagellates Kathleen S. Rein and Richard V. Snyder

Biological Halogenation has Moved far Beyond Haloperoxidases Karl-Heinz van Pée, Changjiang Dong, Silvana Flecks, Jim Naismith, Eugenio P. Patallo, and Tobias Wage

Phage for Rapid Detection and Control of Bacterial Pathogens in Food Catherine E. D. Rees and Christine E. R. Dodd

Gastrointestinal Microflora: Probiotics S. Kolida, D. M. Saulnier, and G. R. Gibson

The Role of Helen Purdy Beale in the Early Development of Plant Serology and Virology Karen-Beth G. Scholthof and Paul D. Peterson

Volume 60

Microbial Biocatalytic Processes and Their Development John M. Woodley

Occurrence and Biocatalytic Potential of Carbohydrate Oxidases Erik W. van Hellemond, Nicole G. H. Leferink, Dominic P. H. M. Heuts, Marco W. Fraaije, and Willem J. H. van Berkel

Microbial Interactions with Humic Substances J. Ian Van Trump, Yvonne Sun, and John D. Coates

Significance of Microbial Interactions in the Mycorrhizosphere Gary D. Bending, Thomas J. Aspray, and John M. Whipps

Escherich and Escherichia Herbert C. Friedmann

Index

Volume 61

Unusual Two-Component Signal Transduction Pathways in the Actinobacteria Matthew I. Hutchings

Acyl-HSL Signal Decay: Intrinsic to Bacterial Cell–Cell Communications Ya-Juan Wang, Jean Jing Huang, and Jared Renton Leadbetter

Microbial Exoenzyme Production in Food *Peggy G. Braun*

Biogenetic Diversity of Cyanobacterial Metabolites Ryan M. Van Wagoner, Allison K. Drummond, and Jeffrey L. C. Wright

Pathways to Discovering New Microbial Metabolism for Functional Genomics and Biotechnology Lawrence P. Wackett Biocatalysis by Dehalogenating Enzymes Dick B. Janssen

Lipases from Extremophiles and Potential for Industrial Applications Moh'd Salameh and Juergen Wiegel

In Situ Bioremediation Kirsten S. Jørgensen

Bacterial Cycling of Methyl Halides Hendrik Schäfer, Laurence G. Miller, Ronald S. Oremland, and J. Colin Murrell

Index

Volume 62

Anaerobic Biodegradation of Methyl tert-Butyl Ether (MTBE) and Related Fuel Oxygenates Max M. Häggblom, Laura K. G. Youngster, Piyapawn Somsamak, and Hans H. Richnow

Controlled Biomineralization by and Applications of Magnetotactic Bacteria Dennis A. Bazylinski and Sabrina Schübbe

The Distribution and Diversity of Euryarchaeota in Termite Guts Kevin J. Purdy

Understanding Microbially Active Biogeochemical Environments Deirdre Gleeson, Frank McDermott, and Nicholas Clipson

The Scale-Up of Microbial Batch and Fed-Batch Fermentation Processes Christopher J. Hewitt and Alvin W. Neinow

Production of Recombinant Proteins in Bacillus subtilis Wolfgang Schumann Quorum Sensing: Fact, Fiction, and Everything in Between Yevgeniy Turovskiy, Dimitri Kashtanov, Boris Paskhover, and Michael L. Chikindas

Rhizobacteria and Plant Sulfur Supply Michael A. Kertesz, Emma Fellows, and Achim Schmalenberger

Antibiotics and Resistance Genes: Influencing the Microbial Ecosystem in the Gut Katarzyna A. Kazimierczak and Karen P. Scott

Index

Volume 63

A Ferment of Fermentations: Reflections on the Production of Commodity Chemicals Using Microorganisms *Ronald Bentley and Joan W. Bennett*

Submerged Culture Fermentation of "Higher Fungi": The Macrofungi Mariana L. Fazenda, Robert Seviour, Brian McNeil, and Linda M. Harvey

Bioprocessing Using Novel Cell Culture Systems Sarad Parekh, Venkatesh Srinivasan, and Michael Horn

Nanotechnology in the Detection and Control of Microorganisms Pengju G. Luo and Fred J. Stutzenberger

Metabolic Aspects of Aerobic Obligate Methanotrophy Yuri A. Trotsenko and John Colin Murrell

Bacterial Efflux Transport in Biotechnology *Tina K. Van Dyk*

Antibiotic Resistance in the Environment, with Particular Reference to MRSA William Gaze, Colette O'Neill, Elizabeth Wellington, and Peter Hawkey

Host Defense Peptides in the Oral Cavity Deirdre A. Devine and Celine Cosseau

Volume 64

Diversity of Microbial Toluene Degradation Pathways R. E. Parales, J. V. Parales, D. A. Pelletier, and J. L. Ditty

Microbial Endocrinology: Experimental Design Issues in the Study of Interkingdom Signalling in Infectious Disease Primrose P. E. Freestone and Mark Lyte

Molecular Genetics of Selenate Reduction by Enterobacter cloacae SLD1a-1 Nathan Yee and Donald Y. Kobayashi

Metagenomics of Dental Biofilms Peter Mullany, Stephanie Hunter, and Elaine Allan

Biosensors for Ligand Detection Alison K. East, Tim H. Mauchline, and Philip S. Poole

Islands Shaping Thought in Microbial Ecology Christopher J. van der Gast

Human Pathogens and the Phyllosphere John M. Whipps, Paul Hand, David A. C. Pink, and Gary D. Bending

Microbial Retention on Open Food Contact Surfaces and Implications for Food Contamination Joanna Verran, Paul Airey, Adele Packer, and Kathryn A. Whitehead

Index

Volume 65

Capsular Polysaccharides in Escherichia coli David Corbett and Ian S. Roberts

Microbial PAH Degradation Evelyn Doyle, Lorraine Muckian, Anne Marie Hickey, and Nicholas Clipson

Acid Stress Responses in Listeria monocytogenes Sheila Ryan, Colin Hill, and Cormac G. M. Gahan

Global Regulators of Transcription in *Escherichia coli*: Mechanisms of Action and Methods for Study

David C. Grainger and Stephen J. W. Busby

The Role of Sigma B (σ^{B}) in the Stress Adaptations of *Listeria monocytogenes*: Overlaps Between Stress Adaptation and Virulence *Conor P. O'Byrne and Kimon A. G. Karatzas*

Protein Secretion and Membrane Insertion Systems in Bacteria and Eukaryotic Organelles Milton H. Saier, Chin Hong Ma, Loren Rodgers, Dorjee G. Tamang, and Ming Ren Yen

Metabolic Behavior of Bacterial Biological Control Agents in Soil and Plant Rhizospheres Cynthia A. Pielach, Daniel P. Roberts, and Donald Y. Kobayashi

Copper Homeostasis in Bacteria Deenah Osman and Jennifer S. Cavet

Pathogen Surveillance Through Monitoring of Sewer Systems Ryan G. Sinclair, Christopher Y. Choi, Mark R. Riley, and Charles P. Gerba

Index

Volume 66

Multiple Effector Mechanisms Induced by Recombinant *Listeria monocytogenes* Anticancer Immunotherapeutics *Anu Wallecha, Kyla Driscoll Carroll, Paulo Cesar Maciag, Sandra Rivera, Vafa Shahabi, and Yvonne Paterson*

Diagnosis of Clinically Relevant Fungi in Medicine and Veterinary Sciences Olivier Sparagano and Sam Foggett

Diversity in Bacterial Chemotactic Responses and Niche Adaptation Lance D. Miller, Matthew H. Russell, and Gladys Alexandre Cutinases: Properties and Industrial Applications Tatiana Fontes Pio and Gabriela Alves Macedo

Microbial Deterioration of Stone Monuments—An Updated Overview Stefanie Scheerer, Otto Ortega-Morales, and Christine Gaylarde

Microbial Processes in Oil Fields: Culprits, Problems, and Opportunities Noha Youssef, Mostafa S. Elshahed, and Michael J. McInerney

Index

Volume 67

Phage Evolution and Ecology Stephen T. Abedon

Nucleoid-Associated Proteins and Bacterial Physiology Charles J. Dorman

Biodegradation of Pharmaceutical and Personal Care Products Jeanne Kagle, Abigail W. Porter, Robert W. Murdoch, Giomar Rivera-Cancel, and Anthony G. Hay

Bioremediation of Cyanotoxins Christine Edwards and Linda A. Lawton

Virulence in Cryptococcus Species Hansong Ma and Robin C. May

Molecular Networks in the Fungal Pathogen Candida albicans Rebecca A. Hall, Fabien Cottier, and Fritz A. Mühlschlegel

Temperature Sensors of Eubacteria Wolfgang Schumann

Deciphering Bacterial Flagellar Gene Regulatory Networks in the Genomic Era Todd G. Smith and Timothy R. Hoover

Genetic Tools to Study Gene Expression During Bacterial Pathogen Infection Ansel Hsiao and Jun Zhu

Volume 68

Bacterial L-Forms E. J. Allan, C. Hoischen, and J. Gumpert

Biochemistry, Physiology and Biotechnology of Sulfate-Reducing Bacteria Larry L. Barton and Guy D. Fauque

Biotechnological Applications of Recombinant Microbial Prolidases Casey M. Theriot, Sherry R. Tove, and Amy M. Grunden

The Capsule of the Fungal Pathogen *Cryptococcus neoformans* Oscar Zaragoza, Marcio L. Rodrigues, Magdia De Jesus, Susana Frases, Ekaterina Dadachova, and Arturo Casadevall

Baculovirus Interactions In Vitro and In Vivo Xiao-Wen Cheng and Dwight E. Lynn

Posttranscriptional Gene Regulation in Kaposi's Sarcoma-Associated Herpesvirus Nicholas K. Conrad